Lectures on diseases of the uterus / by Waller, Lisfranc, and Ingleby. Aphorisms on insanity / by J.G. Millingen.

Contributors

Waller, Charles, 1802-1862. Lisfranc, M. 1790-1847. Ingleby, John Thomas, 1794-1845. National Library of Medicine (U.S.)

Publication/Creation

Philadelphia: E. Barrington & G.D. Haswell, 1841.

Persistent URL

https://wellcomecollection.org/works/kbzedgae

License and attribution

This material has been provided by This material has been provided by the National Library of Medicine (U.S.), through the Medical Heritage Library. The original may be consulted at the National Library of Medicine (U.S.) where the originals may be consulted.

This work has been identified as being free of known restrictions under copyright law, including all related and neighbouring rights and is being made available under the Creative Commons, Public Domain Mark.

You can copy, modify, distribute and perform the work, even for commercial purposes, without asking permission.



Wellcome Collection 183 Euston Road London NW1 2BE UK T +44 (0)20 7611 8722 E library@wellcomecollection.org https://wellcomecollection.org

LECT,URES

ON

DISEASES OF THE UTERUS,

BY

WALLER, LISFRANC, AND INGLEBY,

AND

APHORISMS ON INSANITY,

BY

J. G. MILLINGEN, M.D.



80,

Philapelphia: ED. BARRINGTON & GEO. D. HASWELL.

1841.

DISEASES

OF

THE UTERUS.

LECTURES ON THE FUNCTIONS AND DISEASES OF THE WOMB,

BY CHARLES WALLER, M.D.,

Lecturer on Midwifery and the Diseases of Women and Children, Bartholomew's Hospital.

LECTURES ON DISEASES OF THE UTERUS AND ITS APPENDAGES,

BY M. LISFRANC,

Surgeon to La Pitie Hospital, etc., etc., etc.

CLINICAL LECTURES ON DISEASES OF THE PUERPERAL STATE,

BY J. T. INGLEBY,

Fellow of the Royal College of Physicians, Edinburg.

Philadelphia:

ED. BARRINGTON & GEO. D. HASWELL.

NEW YORK -- J. & H. G. LANGLEY: CHARLESTON, S. C. -- WM. H. BERRETT:
RICHMOND, VA. -- SMITH, DRINKER & MORRIS:
CINCINNATI, OHIO -- J. A. JAMES.

PREFACE.

The American editor of the three series of Lectures on the Diseases of the Uterus, included in the present volume, has confined himself to the task of selection and arrangement, under a belief that the copiousness of detail, both in pathology and treatment, might well dispense with annotations by even a more experienced hand. The only qualifying remark made in addition to the text, is that on amputation of the cervix uteri as performed by M. Lisfranc, whose too confident assertions of success in this operation are calculated to mislead the young and sanguine practitioner.

These Lectures are all taken from the London Lancet. To the American reader they are now, for the first time accessible.

CONTENTS

TO WALLER ON THE FUNCTIONS AND DISEASES OF THE WOMB.

LECTURE I.

LECTURE II.

DISORDERS OF THE MENSTRUAL FUNCTION.

Disorders of the menstrual function. — Amenorrhæa, or chlorosis; its varieties.

Emansio mensium. — Organic defects. — Imperfect formation. — Closure of the orifice of the vagina, or uterus, remedied by operation. — Case in which a female never menstruated. — Symptoms of chlorosis. — Treatment of chlorosis. — 15

LECTURE III.

LECTURE IV.

Active menorrhagia; symptoms and treatment. — Passive menorrhagia; symptoms and treatment. — Case where the plug was used. — Dr. Haighton's plan. — Transfusion of blood. — Menorrhagia repeatedly attacks women. — Sometimes results from diseased liver, or from actual disease of womb.

LECTURE V.

Dysmenorrhea, with membranous formation; symptoms.—Dr. Denman's opinion that the disease necessarily produces sterility incorrect. — Pregnancy sometimes the means of cure; danger of confounding the symptoms with miscarriage. —Opinion to be given under such circumstances. — Treatment of the disease. — Opinion of Dr. M'Intosh. — Dysmenorrhea without membrane; symptoms and treatment. — Cessation of menstruation. — Period various. — Considered by women as a critical time. — Erroneous opinions of old authors; treatment required; sometimes mistaken for pregnancy. — Means of diagnosis. — Sterility; its causes; various opinions, generally the result of constitutional defect.

LECTURE VI.

DISEASES OF THE UNIMPREGNATED WOMB.

LECTURE VII.

Malignant ulcer of the womb — generally occurs after menstruation has ceased — Symptoms in the early and in the more advanced stages of the disease. — Peculiarity of the pain; disease commences in the membrane covering the os tincæ; differs in its appearance from carcinoma; substance of the uterus in general not affected. — Treatment, palliative, except at the commencement, before ulceration has taken place; treatment when ulceration has occurred; various other ulcerations of the os uteri. — Cauliflower excrescence; symptoms. — Sir Charles Clarke's opinion as to its cause. — Prognosis always unfavourable regarding life; favourable and unfavourable symptoms as to duration of life; may be mistaken for placental presentation . P. 48

LECTURE VIII.

LECTURE IX.

LECTURE X.

Treatment of neuralgia of the uterus; necessity for the recumbent position, even where the disease is mild; treatment required when the os uteri is tumid. — General circulation in most cases at first but slightly affected: medicines required; opium, belladonna, tonics, nourishment. — Care required not to move about too early: hip-bath. — Tuberculated uterus: fleshy tubercle of Hunter; character of the disease; varieties of uterine tubercle; symptoms and progress; effects upon neighbouring parts; hemorrhage an occasional symptom. — Danger of forming an erroneous diagnosis; ill effects of pressure; necessity for prompt measures. — Treatment of uterine tubercle; in the early stages; may be stayed in its progress; illustrative cases. — Tympanitis uteri. . 70

LECTURE XI.

Polypus of the womb: polypus not confined to the uterus; situations of polypus uteri various; texture; colour; generally distinct growths; vascular; insensible; difference in size; may be combined with other diseases; no assignable cause for its production; its growth slow; sometimes spontaneously cured.

Symptoms of polypus: leucorrhea; hemorrhage; fætid discharge; bladder and rectum sometimes affected; dyspeptic symptoms; Sir Charles Clarke's case; examination per vaginam; diagnosis easy; tumour resembling polypus; when small polypus does not obstruct conception, prognosis favourable. Treatment: various plans proposed for its removal; ligature; description of instrument required; mode of using it; avoid the uterus; different periods of time elapse before ligature comes away.—After-treatment; polypus of vagina. Moles: various substances called mole; Vogel's definition; two distinct forms of moles; symptoms; treatment.—Calculus of womb; symptoms; treatment; worms

LECTURE XII.

Hydatids of the uterus; description of; sometimes many, at others single; size various; colour generally white; opinions respecting their formation; seldom occur in unmarried persons; generally combined with utero-gestation; symptoms; how to be distinguished from advancing pregnancy; mechanical effects; diagnosis; after a time the uterus begins to act; practitioner often not called until this period. — Treatment: their growth cannot be prevented; nothing required in early stage. — Treatment when hemorrhage supervenes: endeavour to excite uterine action; application of cold; ergot of rye not in all cases to be depended upon; discretion required respecting stimulants; plug; external pressure; introduction of the hand; after treatment. — Single hydatid of the uterus; hydrometra of the ancients; symptoms neither dangerous nor alarming; illustrative case; little or no treatment required. — Concluding remarks

CONTENTS

TO LISFRANC ON DISEASES OF THE UTERUS AND ITS APPENDAGES.

LECTURE I.

ON THE TOUCHER, AND THE APPLICATION OF THE SPECULUM.

Common mode of examining the genital organs in women; points of importance unnoticed by authors; the lecturer's mode; the whole vagina should be examined, and especially the neck and body of the uterus; varieties in the position and condition of the neck; capacity of the vagina; the toucher by the rectum; variations in the body of the uterus; surgical anatomy of the parts; mode of introducing the speculum; examination of the neck through the speculum; circumstances which contraindicate its use

LECTURE II.

THE INFLUENCE EXERCISED ON THE SPECIAL DISEASES OF THE UTERUS BY ITS FUNCTIONAL DERANGEMENTS.

Total and temporary absence of menstruation in women; causes which produce this, and its treatment; error of supposing the uterus always free from morbid alterations before menstruation; period of the first menstruation; cautions for that period; capriciousness of this function; menstruation attended by great pain; sudden arrest and diminution of the menses; excessive menstruation; cessation of the causes in advanced years; affections of the uterus not most common at this period; excessive venereal desire.

LECTURE III.

ON UTERINE HEMORRHAGE, OR METRORRHAGIA: LEUCORRHŒA AND HYSTERIA.

Flooding unconnected with pregnancy; its connexion with menstruation; danger of arresting it when of long standing; uterine hemorrhage not an

essential disease, but the result of organic change of the womb; specific causes; where it is curable; where the case is dangerous to some other viscus; where it is incurable; on plugging the vagina. — Of leucorrhæa, or the whites; its sources and causes not dropsy of the uterus; venereal character; treatment. Injections into the uterus; hysteria, its connexion with the uterus; treatment.

P. 107

LECTURE IV.

GENERAL REMARKS ON THE SYMPTOMS AND TREATMENT OF DISEASES OF THE UTERUS.

Seeming health during incurable disease of the uterus; cautions on this account; precursory symptoms; palpable disease—death.— Series of general remedies applicable to uterine diseases; viz., baths, repose, injections, lotions to the vulva; cataplasms to the vagina, irrigations, affusions, lavements, narcotics, bloodletting

LECTURE V.

TREATMENT OF DISEASES OF THE UTERUS (Continued). — SUB-IN-FLAMMATION, HYPERTROPHY, SIMPLE WHITE ENGORGEMENT AND HYPERTROPHY OF THE UTERUS.

Cupping, pessaries, and medicated drinks. — Sub-inflammation without enlargement, simple hypertrophy, prolapsus, and occult cancer of the uterus; simple white engorgement and scirrhous tumour. — Is scirrhus curable? . 122

LECTURE VI.

ENGORGEMENTS, TUMOURS, AND CANCERS.

LECTURE VII.

AMPUTATION OF THE CERVIX UTERI.

Of the neck of the uterus; general considerations on the operation; indications for and against it; the surgical anatomy of the parts; the lecturer's method of performing the operation; accidents which may arise from it; means proper for healing the wound

CONTENTS

TO INGLEBY ON DISEASES OF THE PUERPERAL STATE.

LECTURE I.

INTERNAL UTERINE HEMORRHAGE.

LECTURE II.

LACERATION OF THE WOMB.

Illustrative case; causes of laceration of the uterus; fibrous tumour; experience of Mr. Collins; post-mortem appearances; gastrotomy in laceration of the uterus; illustrative case; various opinions on this operation . 157

LECTURE III.

POLYPUS OF THE WOMB.

History of the case; post mortem appearances; hemorrhage as a symptom; appearances of the tumour; successful employment of the ligature P. 168

LECTURE IV.

CHOREA DURING PREGNANCY.

General remarks on chorea; causes of chorea; history of cases; treatment . 171

LECTURE V.

PLACENTAR PRESENTATION.

LECTURE VI.

OVARIAN DROPSY.

LECTURE VII.

UTERINE HYDATIDS.

Watery discharges of the uterus; definition of hydatids; characters of hydatid vesicles; their nature and origin; specimen of a single hydatid; history of uterine hydatids; illustrative cases; treatment of the disease . 188

LECTURE VIII.

ON DISEASES OF THE BLADDER IN FEMALES, IN CONNEXION WITH THE UNIMPREGNATED STATE AND WITH DELIVERY.

LECTURE IX.

ON THE DISEASE TERMED IRRITABLE UTERUS.

History of the case; nature of irritability of the uterus; opinions of Dr. Gooch; tumours of the pelvis; distension of the uterus; illustrative cases; diagnosis of irritable uterus; treatment of this affection

LECTURE X.

ON FIBROUS TUMOURS OF THE UTERUS.

LECTURE XI.

FIBROUS TUMOURS OF THE UTERUS (Continued).

Influence of the absorbents on fibrous tumours; earthy deposits in fibrous tumours; effect of loss of blood on fibrous tumours; discharges accompanying fibrous tumours; treatment of fibrous tumours; instances of cure; fibrous tumours producing retroversio uteri; sloughing of a fibrous tumour; removal of fibrous tumours.

LECTURES

ON THE

FUNCTIONS AND DISEASES OF THE WOMB,

BY CHARLES WALLER, M.D.

LECTURE I.

General Observations and mode of arrangement. — Function of the unimpregnated womb. — Age at which menstruation commences, various. — Symptoms attending its appearance. — Time of duration. — Period of cessation. — Use of the flow. — Discharge peculiar to the human female. — Secreted by the uterus. — Supposed to possess noxious qualities. — Lunar influence. — Enlargement of womb at the period of menstruation.

Your attention, gentlemen, having been in due course directed to the structure of the uterus, it will be my business now to proceed to the consideration of its diseases.

You will recollect, with respect to the anatomy of that organ, that it should be brought before you in a twofold point of view; viz., in the first place, by a description of the uterus in its unimpregnated condition, and afterwards by noticing those remarkable changes which take place after impregnation, or, in other words, the anatomy of the gravid uterus. The same order will be followed in the consideration of uterine diseases, and I shall now, therefore, request your undivided attention to a numerous, yet, I fear, too little studied class of affections, which frequently render the life of a female very irksome, not to say very miserable; I mean those to which the unimpregnated uterus is obnoxious.

Before, however, we enter upon a description of the more serious diseases of the womb, it will be better for us to make a few observations upon the function and functional disorders of this organ.

MENSTRUATION AND ITS DISORDERS.

It may with truth be asserted, that of all the derangements of function to which the female system is exposed, there are none more common, or which excite more uneasiness, than the irregular performance of the uterine at its monthly periods. Nor is this

without reason; for although in many instances, as we shall presently show, the disturbance of the catamenia is an effect, and not a cause, yet it is well known that the disorders producing it are generally of a very serious nature, and which, if not properly attended to, would prove highly detrimental, or even destructive to life itself. Hence I would impress upon your minds the necessity of careful investigation with regard to the nature of these affections, that you may not fall into the error of supposing the uterus to be the only part in fault. The state of the constitution generally, as well as that of each individual organ, must be inquired into, or we shall, in many cases, fail to effect a cure. Take, as an illustration, amenorrhæa, or defective menstruation: this is sometimes the mere result of a debilitated condition of the system at large; at other times it may be clearly referred to some particular organs, a diseased action occurring in which, derange the functions of other parts, and that of the uterus amongst the rest. opposite condition, menorrhagia, or an immoderate menstrual flow, is sometimes kept up, if not altogether produced, by congestion of the hepatic system, and may be considered as an effort of the vis medicatrix naturx for the purpose of relieving the over-distended vessels of the liver. The absurdity of attending to the condition of the uterus alone, without, at the same time, applying our remedies to the removal of the original cause of the disorder, is too obvious to require more than a passing notice. I shall consider this part of our subject under the three following divisions: - 1st, we shall direct your attention to the healthy function of the unimpregnated uterus, or menstruation; 2dly, to the disorders of that function; and 3dly, shall make a few observations on that important period of female existence at which the function ceases: this has popularly, though not inaptly, been designated "the turn of life."

THE FUNCTION OF THE UNIMPREGNATED UTERUS.

The womb, in its healthy unimpregnated state, is perhaps the most inactive organ in the body, having a function assigned it, the performance of which is required once only in the lunar month, and hence its name, the catamenial or menstrual discharge. It consists in the periodical flow of a dark red coloured fluid, sanguineous in appearance, and usually recurs with great regularity in females

who are neither pregnant nor nursing.

When this evacuation first makes its appearance, the female is said to have arrived at the age of puberty; although of this condition Dr. Denman has well observed, "it is an effect, and not a cause." At this period several important changes may be noticed in the development of the organs of generation themselves, and also of the bony case by which they are surrounded. The womb enlarges considerably, both in its length and breadth; the fissure between the lips of the os uteri becomes more distinct to the touch. The ovaria also increase in size and vascularity. The mons veneris

is much developed, and covered with hair; its precise size varies much in different individuals; in those of spare habits it is small,

whilst in those of an opposite character it is often large.

The alæ of the ossi ilii expand, and, with the other parts of the pelvis, now assume that particular form which so strikingly characterises it from that of the male; prior to this period you would find it much more difficult to distinguish the sexes from a mere inspection of the bones of the pelvis. There is also considerable enlargement of the glandular structure of the breasts; instead of being, as heretofore, flaccid and flabby, they become hard and tense. Not only do we observe these local alterations, but others also of a more general character; the countenance becoming more animated and expressive, the conversation more intelligent and agreeable, the powers of mind more developed, and the heart agitated by passions and emotions to which it had been previously a stranger. Listen to this circle of changes as described by the celebrated Hervey : - " Hoc minus notum est," he observes, "quanta virginea alteratio contingat, increscente primo et tepefacto utero: pubescit nempe, coloratior evadit, mammæ protruberant, pulchrior vultus renidet, splendent oculi, vox canora, incessus, gestus, sermo; omnia decora fiunt." With respect to the voice, however, it may be observed that the change is by no means so conspicuous in the female as in the male. Richerand has distinctly shown that this alteration in the voice at the time of puberty depends upon the larynx undergoing an increase in capacity. He states that, in the male, the aperture of the glottis augments in the proportion of 5 to 10, in the course of 12 months; that its extent is, in fact, doubled both in length and breadth, whereas the glottis of the female only enlarges in the proportion of 5 to 7.

The precise age at which these changes occur, differs in different individuals, being under the control of various moral and physical causes. The temperance of the individual, her habits of living, and the peculiar climate in which she resides, appear to be the principal agents in accelerating or retarding the period of puberty. We shall find, as a general rule, that females in the more southern and warmer regions, menstruate at a much earlier age than in cold and northern climes; for example, in Greece, the Morea, Java, &c., the discharge often appears in girls of 8, 9, or 10 years old. In Spain, Sicily, and the more southern parts of Europe, at 12 years of age; whilst in Lapland there are no symptoms of the flow until females are about 18, 19, or 20 years old. In the more temperate climates, as in our own country, an intermediate period is, for the most part, observed, menstruation usually commencing from about the fourteenth to the sixteenth year. Numerous exceptions might be adduced to this general rule, in which no inconvenience was experienced by the female. Dr. Wall relates a case in the Medico-Chirurgical Transactions, of singular precocity in a female infant, where the menstrual flux appeared at the age of nine months, and I have known an instance myself in which there was no appearance of the catamenia until nearly the twentieth year. The difference in the time of life at which puberty takes place has been assigned by the historian Hume as the reason why women in hot climates are so very commonly treated as slaves, and why, on the contrary, their influence is so extensive in the colder regions; in the former it may be said that woman is in the zenith of her beauty whilst a mere child in understanding, and long before her intellect is matured she ceases to be an object of love; the fact being the

very reverse as regards the latter.

The climate, manner of living, and the peculiar constitution of the female, appear also to have a manifest influence on the quantity of the secreted fluid, although there are in this respect also great variations in women of the same country, and even in the same individual at different times. In warm climates the quantity is usually large, in the cold regions it is small, and in our own land it observes a mean between the two, the average amount being about six ounces. If, however, the female live luxuriously, or confine herself to a warmer apartment than usual, the quantity will be greatly increased.

The menstrual discharge is generally completed in a period of time varying from three to six days, but here again we must notice great variations; some females menstruate for one day only, whilst in others, ten, twelve, or even fourteen days may elapse before the flow ceases. Its periodical return is, in some, marked by great regularity, not only as regards the day, but sometimes almost the hour. In others, on the contrary, it frequently takes place a week earlier, or a week later, than its natural and proper time; and all this may happen without any bodily suffering supervening.

The final cessation of the menstrual flow is regulated by the period of life at which it commenced, as it usually continues for the space of thirty years; thus, if a female commence menstruating at the age of from fourteen to sixteen years, the flow will, in all probability, cease about the forty-fourth or forty-sixth year, and after this has taken place conception cannot occur. We see from this fact that the process of child-bearing is wisely confined to the most vigorous period of female life. Arterial plethora is said to be the cause of this evacuation; it ceases when venous plethora commences. Its use appears to be that of preserving the uterus in a fit state for impregnation; at any rate it is well known that the due and healthy exercise of this function indicates a capability of conception, and, as a general rule, it may be stated that females whose menstrual action is disturbed, rarely conceive. There are, however, many exceptions to this statement; two cases have come under my own observation, in which conception occurred, although the females had never menstruated at all; the age of one was between 13 and 14, that of the other about 16. Again, there are numerrous instances in which females have become pregnant immediately after marriage, although the menstrual function had previously been performed with great irregularity. I repeat, however, that these are to be regarded as exceptions, or deviations from the ordi-

nary course of nature's proceedings.

In cases of obstructed menstruation vicarious discharges of blood occasionally take place from different parts of the body; this has been specially noticed in those who are the subject of ulcerated legs, for at the time when the menses ought naturally to appear, these parts inflame, and a little blood is seen to distil from the surface of the sore; in fact, all diseased parts seem to grow worse, their vessels becoming more turgid at that period. The nervous

system is also more irritable than at other times.

Menstruation is seldom completely established without the supervention of many unpleasant symptoms: there is pretty uniformly a feeling of languor and lassitude, headache, dull, heavy pains in the loins, hips, and region of the uterus, these frequently extending to the upper and inner parts of the thighs; the stomach is often sympathetically affected, the appetite bad, and the bowels confined. Nervous and hysterical symptoms frequently manifest themselves. After a longer or shorter continuance of some or all the symptoms just enumerated, a pale mucous discharge exudes from the vagina; this may in some instances be slightly coloured, but seldom assumes its sanguineous appearance until after several monthly periods. When the secretion is thoroughly established, and this will be known by its coming away in proper quantities, and of a red colour, these painful affections usually vanish, although in some females they recur with great violence, and with pertinacious regularity, throughout the whole term of menstruation, and these females rarely conceive.

The discharge is peculiar to the human female, none of the lower order of animals being subject to it; if, however, you examine their genital organs, you will find that in many there is a great determination of blood at certain periods: a well-known illustration of this fact is afforded by the common domestic rabbit.

The lining membrane of the uterus is the source whence it flows. from the vessels of which it is clearly a secretion, for, notwithstanding its bloody appearance, it possesses not the coagulating principle, and appears to have the power of resisting the putrefactive process for a lengthened period of time. In cases of imperforate hymen, where the fluid has been shut up within the cavity of the uterus for months and even for years, no clot has been detected, although some alteration in its consistence is observable; it becomes insipissated, somewhat resembling treacle. A doubt formerly existed regarding the part which furnished the secretion, whether the membrane of the womb or that of the vagina was employed in this office: this doubt has been, however, unequivocally set at rest, for in cases of recent inversio uteri it has been seen to ooze from the uterine membrane itself: the same fact has been also noticed in the dissection of females who have suddenly died whilst menstruating. Dr. Blundell had once an opportunity of seeing the discharge drop through the os uteri in a severe case of

procidentia.

An opinion, altogether unfounded in fact, was entertained by many of our old medical writers, that the menstrual fluid possessed properties of a malignant nature. This notion probably owed its origin to the severe regulations enforced under the Jewish dispensation, respecting the conduct of women at this particular time. The discharge, however, seems to be as innocuous as any of the other secretions of the body, and therefore we cannot agree with the opinion of De Graaf, who, in reference to this subject, expresses himself in the following words: - "Penis cum menstruatâ concumbentis excoriatur, si novella vitis eo tangatur, in perpetuum læditur, steriles sunt tactæ fruges, moriuntur insita, exuruntur hortorum germina: si mulier pregnans alterius menstrua progrediatur, aut illis circumlinatur, abortum facit : ei autem quæ uterum non gestat concipiendi spem adimit : purgantis spiritus, et vapor ab ore, specula atque eboris nitorem obscurat : gustatus hic sanguis canes in rabiem agit, homines vero diris cruciatibus affligit, comitialem morbum, pilorum effluvium, aliaque elephanticorum vitia: idcirco a veteribus inter venena relatus: pari malignitate existimatur

atque sanguinis elephantici potus."

In consequence of the monthly return of the evacuation, some physiologists have imagined that the influence of the moon was in some way or other concerned in its production. The late celebrated Dr. Mead entertained this opinion, for he states that the catamenia are equally with the tides the subject of lunar influence. This theory is too absurd to require any lengthened refutation; and I will merely observe, that an unanswerable objection is afforded by the well-known fact, that different females are menstruating every day throughout the month, whereas, had the secretion been the consequence of lunar influence, we should naturally expect it to take place on the same day, and even at the same hour, in all. Just before and at the time of the menstruation, the womb is greatly augmented in size, and this is easily accounted for by the increased quantity of blood determined to the organ at that time. Dr. Blundell had an opportunity of noticing this in a case of procidentia, which came under his immediate observation. He says, "the increase took place regularly, and the whole womb might distinctly be felt to throb, and hence we may reasonably infer," says the doctor, "that whatever may month by month be the cause of the topical increase of the vascular action in the menstruating vessels, it is the determination of blood on the uterus, produced by this topical excitement of the vessel, that gives rise to the discharge. When women are led from disease of the pelvis to examine the uterus, they sometimes imagine it to be larger at that time, or immediately before." I may also remark in conclusion, that there is often a sympathetic affection of the breasts; there is distinct enlargement, with a greater degree of firmness, not always unattended with pain. The menses, in popular language, has received various designations, such as the courses, the terms, the flowers, the change, and so on. More commonly, however, females during the flow call themselves unwell or out of order, or perhaps they will tell you they have not seen them for a longer period than usual, or they have been upon them for such and such a time. You should always be aware of their meaning when your patients thus express themselves, or they will have but a poor opinion of your knowledge of female disorders. Having considered the function of the unimpregnated uterus, and having noticed the various circumstances connected with its healthy action, we shall, in the next lecture, proceed with the description of its various disordered conditions.

LECTURE II.

Disorders of the menstrual function. — Amenorrhæa, or chlorosis; its varieties. Emansio mensium. — Organic defects. — Imperfect formation. — Closure of the orifice of the vagina, or uterus, remedied by operation. — Case in which a female never menstruated. — Symptoms of chlorosis. — Treatment of chlorosis.

DISORDERS OF THE MENSTRUAL FUNCTION.

Although in many women we find the function of the uterus proceeding with great order and regularity throughout the menstrual period of their existence, yet in others (and these by no means a few) you will observe great deviations from its natural and healthy action. For example, there may be an entire absence of the flow constituting the disorder amenorrhæa, or there may be excess in the quantity effused, menorrhæa; or thirdly, the secretion, though regularly performed as to time, may, nevertheless, be attended with pain and difficulty, dysmenorrhæa. These three varieties of disordered menstruation it will be necessary for us to examine in detail, when we shall find that, with probably the exception of the last (dysmenorrhæa), they are seldom idiopathic, but commonly depend upon some morbid condition of the general system, and consequently, unless this be attended to, all your endeavours to rectify the catamenial flow will prove unavailing.

AMENORRHŒA.—EMANSIO MENSIUM, OBSTRUCTION, RETENTION, SUPPRESSION, CHLOROSIS.

The term amenorrhoea is generic, and comprehends two distinct orders of disordered menstruation; first, those cases in which the discharge has never appeared, and this is called *emansio*, retention, or obstruction. In other cases the flow becomes interrupted after it has been continued for several months, or it may be years, and

this we designate suppression. In the first place, then, the menstrual action has never been established, whilst in the second, there

is a stoppage after it has been regularly set up.

Emansio Mensium. - The causes producing this disorder are twofold; they may arise from imperfect organisation, or they may be the effect of constitutional causes. I shall hastily pass over the former, as they are not of common occurrence. The genital organs, I have just stated, may be but imperfectly developed; thus, the uterus, with its appendages, the ovaries, may be of very diminutive size, and to these defects the non-appearance of the menstrual flow may be attributed. Certain appearances, connected with the female herself, will enable us to judge with a tolerable degree of accuracy of this condition of the parts, for in these individuals the usual changes, marking the period of puberty, do not occur either in the uterus, external organs of generation, or in the mammæ; there are no sexual appetites; the female, at the age of 20, or even 30 years, appearing, when compared with others of equal age, to be a mere Emansio mensium, arising from this cause, is, of course, Again, the catamenia may fail in making their appearance in consequence of another defect, viz., obstruction of the orifice of the vagina, or of the os uteri itself. It is not common for the uterus to be closed, but the vaginal orifice may be; the hymen (that membrane described as passing across the vagina, and usually perforated by a central opening) being completely imperforate, so that the fluid secreted by the inner membrane of the womb is prevented from escaping, and is, consequently, detained in its cavity. Some obscurity will arise, unless the case be thoroughly investigated, as the symptoms may be confounded with those of pregnancy. No inconvenience will be experienced until the age of puberty, the uterine function not being previously established; at this time, however, pains are felt in the breasts, loins, and lower part of the abdomen, which return periodically. If the girl be of spare habit, the fluid will be secreted in small quantities, and therefore the defect may remain undiscovered for many months, or perhaps years. Even in a strong, healthy female, the quantity is so small that no inconvenience will be felt at first, and the practitioner will not, in all probability, be consulted before she begins to suffer from distention.

At length the uterus increases in size, and the accumulated fluid pressing down behind the hymen, protrudes the vagina, upon which small specks of ulceration are occasionally discernible. The enlarged womb may also be stimulated to contraction; and if you make your *first* examination at this period, you might probably not only consider your patient to be pregnant, but actually in labour; the protruded and tense state of the hymen conveying the same sensation to the touch as the bag containing the fætus and liquor amnii. If the finger be retained until the uterine action has subsided, the mistake will be at once rectified, for you will find, on endeavouring to pass the finger forward, for the purpose of ascer-

taining the condition of the os uteri, that its progress will be resisted, or rather, altogether obstructed, the vaginal canal being

completely shut up by the imperforate hymen.

This state of parts is easily remedied by incision, and for this purpose a scalpel is the best instrument; far superior to the trocar recommended by some, as the intention of the operation is not simply the removal of the fluid, but also to afford space for sexual intercourse. The patient should be placed upon the back, on a table of convenient height, in a position similar to that in which surgeons place their patients before performing the operation of lithotomy; we are directed to pass the knife through the membrane first in a longitudinal direction, and afterwards transversely, so as to form a crucial incision, and then to make a number of little cuts in the divided edges. I do not think, however, it is necessary to do more than make a free longitudinal incision; for in a case I lately attended with Mr. Dunn of the Strand, in which the orifice of the vagina was closed up, the woman being in hard labour, I made but one incision in the longitudinal direction, after which the parts dilated sufficiently to allow the child to escape without difficulty. After the opening has been completed, pressure is to be made through the abdominal parietes with a tolerable degree of force, that the uterus may be thoroughly emptied of its contents, and the operation is finished by the injection of tepid infusion of chamomile into the womb. The fluid evacuated has usually the consistence of thick cream; the longer it has been detained the more dense it becomes. It is to be borne in mind, that this fluid never coagulates, and seldom acquires an offensive smell. Great attention should be paid, during the healing process, to prevent the parts uniting by adhesion, and this is readily effected by the introduction of pledgets or tents of sufficient size.

Should the os uteri be closed, I imagine a somewhat similar operation would be required. I never saw a case of occlusion of this part but once, and that was at the time of labour; the womb ruptured, and the unfortunate woman lost her life. A curious case of retention came under my notice some years ago; the lady was about 32 years of age, was married, but had never menstruated. She had the usual sexual appetite in rather a lively degree. I examined the organs of generation very carefully, both internal and external, and they appeared to be fully, nay, rather largely, developed. I had great difficulty in making up my mind as to the precise nature of this case; the fully-developed condition of the generative organs, and the presence of sexual desire, prove the existence of the ovaries, the opposite condition being the well-known effect of ovarian defection. I may, also, further observe, that the tone of voice in this individual was masculine, and her features coarse, and she had little hairs sprouting out from her upper lip, somewhat

resembling the beard of a male.

I observe, however, once more, that organic defects in the genital organs are very rarely met with. Imperfect menstruation is usu-

ally the result of other causes, to which we must now direct our

The most common condition of system in those who are the subjects of emansio mensium, is that which is designated chlorotic. This word is derived from the Greek xxxxxx, viridis, and it is applied more particularly to those cases where, from a deficiency of red blood circulating through the vessels, the skin becomes pallid, and assumes a yellowish-green tint, and hence its popular appellation, the "green sickness." These patients complain of weariness and languor; there is disinclination to move about; a slight degree of muscular motion producing symptoms of great debility and exhaustion; the pulse is small, irritable, and frequent; the tongue pale; pains are experienced in various parts of the body, more especially in the head, chest, or scrobiculus cordis.

The secretions are almost universally at fault, the appetite bad, and the bowels constipated; palpitation of the heart, difficulty of breathing, and a teazing cough, are produced upon slight exertion; the countenance exhibits most strongly a deficiency in the red particles of the blood, the cheeks becoming sallow and the lips pale; swelling of the lower limbs, especially towards evening, is also a

very common symptom.

In many cases there is cough, a somewhat difficult breathing, and occasional nightly perspirations, and hence mistakes have been committed; the female has been supposed to be labouring under, and erroneously treated for, pulmonary disease. A little consideration will, however, enable us to discover the true nature of the disorder, for although the symptoms just enumerated, to a certain extent, resemble incipient phthisis, yet we know that they may be produced altogether, in consequence of a defective supply of the circulating fluid, and these causes may be readily distinguished from each other. In chlorosis, a full inspiration gives no pain; exposure to a cold atmosphere excites no disposition to cough; there is little or no expectoration; the bowels are constipated; there is no inclination to take food; and the spirits are unusually depressed. In these particulars chlorosis differs materially from incipient phthisis; and I might add, as another distinguishing character of the former complaint, that hysterical symptoms are generally present. The distinction between these two diseases is highly important, as the treatment required for the one would be productive of serious mischief if employed in the other.

A female may not menstruate at the usual age of fifteen or sixteen years, and yet there shall be nothing radically wrong in her constitution. Some women do not arrive at puberty so soon as others, and suffer no inconvenience on that account. It must not, therefore, be hastily inferred that, because the secretion does not appear, there must of necessity be some defect, either of the system generally, or of the generative organs particularly.

Treatment of Chlorosis.—Upon a careful consideration of the symptoms just described to you, it will be evident that the non-

appearance of the menstrual discharge is not the disease, but a mere effect, in common with many others, of an impoverished condition of the system. The indication then to be fulfilled is not to force the evacuation, but to mend the constitution, which is in too languid a condition to support its usual functions, and cannot, therefore, be expected to take on a new action. The bowels should be thoroughly emptied in the first place, and their regular action afterwards secured by the use of occasional laxatives; but be careful not to use the saline, or indeed any other active purgatives. A sufficient quantity of pil. rhei compos. will answer your purpose exceedingly well, and, from the mildness of its operation, will not increase the symptoms of debility already present. By some it has been considered preferable to commence the remedial plan by the employment of an emetic: to this, as a general rule, I have a decided objection, believing it to be unnecessary. In some cases it may, however, prove serviceable; in those, for instance, where there is constant nausea, with frequent disposition to vomit, and nothing ejected; here you may prescribe sulphat of zinc grs. xxv., tepid water 3j. The preparations of antimony or ipecacuanha are not so serviceable, in consequence of the depressing effects upon the system which they invariably produce.

The most powerful tonic remedies will next be required: amongst which the different preparations of iron have long been held in deserved repute. The form in which this remedy is administered may be varied according to the patient's inclination, some preferring a liquid, such as comp. mixture of iron, tincture of muriate of iron, acetate of iron. This latter is the most agreeable of the liquid preparations. Again, you may give it in powder, sesquioxyd. of iron; or in pill, compound iron pill. In the dispensary to which I am attached, I have, what I term, my pilulæ ferri ready prepared: they consist of the sulphate of iron, made into the proper consistence, with extract of gentian, each pill containing one grain of the sulphate, and of these the patient may take one thrice or four times a day, where this remedy is indicated. This is a very efficient form of administering iron, and in dispensary practice is has this further advantage, that it is a very economical

The vegetable bitters sometimes are of great service, and where iron disagrees with the stomach, some one or other of these should be tried: either cascarilla, calumba, cinchona, or gentian. The combination of sulphate of quinine, with large doses of capsicum, made into a pilular mass of proper consistence with the extract of gentian, form a most valuable tonic. The medicine appears to excite a more lively and healthy action in the lining membrane of the stomach, producing a better secretion of gastric fluid, and thus materially aiding the process of digestion: it should, therefore, be given thrice in the day, about an hour before meals. A small dose of mercury, not more than a single grain of blue pill, given every night, will assist the cure, by improving the state of the secretions

generally. The effect produced by the mercury must be narrowly watched, as you must immediately discontinue it should the irrita-

bility of the system be increased by its use.

Some discretion is required with regard to exercise. It is popularly believed that strong muscular efforts are of peculiar service; but this is by no means the case: it is useless, nay, it is decidedly cruel, to enforce active exertions before the constitution has in some degree recovered its tone, and when that has been effected, the female will lose the disinclination to move about, and will take as much exercise as necessary. My general advice to my patients is, that no exertion should be taken which induces fatigue.

The regimen should correspond with the remedial plan; a generous diet is required, care being at the same time had that food be taken in small quantities at a time, so as to prevent the stomach becoming uneasy by distention. A certain portion of stimulating drinks must also be allowed: either wine, ale, or Dublin stout, the latter in most cases to be preferred: benefit will be derived from this fluid being taken not with the meal, but an hour or two afterwards. If the nights be sleepless, an anodyne, composed of tinct. of hyoscyamus, with syrup of poppies, will prove serviceable: opium should not be employed, as it has a tendency to interfere with the secretions necessary for the perfection of the digestive process. In by far the larger number of cases anodynes are not required; the symptoms are those of heaviness and torpor, rather than those of watchfulness and indisposition to sleep. There is occasionally a very irritable condition of the intestinal canal; the bowels, instead of being constipated, are relaxed, and it will be necessary early to correct this state, as the general debility will be greatly increased by its continuance. You can give nothing better for this purpose than tartrate of potassa and soda, syrup of poppies, each 3j., peppermint water, 3x. This draught may be repeated every three or four hours, and at night five grains of mercury with chalk, with five or eight of the compound ipecacuanha powder. Should there be much acidity of the stomach, ten or fifteen grains of the sesquicarbonate of soda may be added to each draught. With respect to diet in these cases, it is scarcely necessary to observe, that those articles should be selected which have the least tendency to undergo the acetous fermentation; the use of vegetables, and every kind of fermented liquor, should be interdicted; the best drink is sodawater, with an excess of alkali, and the occasional addition of two teaspoonfuls of brandy. A flannel dress greatly contributes to the comfort of the patient, as she usually feels cold; it tends, also, to encourage the cutaneous circulation. The tepid sea-water bath, followed by friction with flannels, and, in short, everything which rouses the system from its atonic and torpid condition, may be advantageously had recourse to. The cure of this malady, although in many instances protracted, is, nevertheless, in general certain.

When the remedies are successful more blood will be formed, and the effects soon manifest themselves; the countenance no

longer presents a pale, sickly appearance; the lips lose the peculiar tinge previously existing, and become florid; the eye brightens; the dyspnæa and cough are relieved. If at this time nature appears to be making an attempt to bring on the discharge, and this will be indicated by uneasiness and weight in the loins and region of the womb, it will be right to assist her by means of the hip-bath; but do not, I beseech you, so far forget rational principle as to have recourse to that empirical practice, the employment of stimulating and forcing remedies, called emmenagogues.

If the view I have taken of the nature of the complaint be correct, the absence of menstruation is to be considered as a symptomatic affection, and not the original disease, the fault resting with the system at large; and, indeed, we may consider it to be a merciful provision of nature, that in such an impoverished condition of the system this drain should not be established. When recovery of the general health takes place, the uterus will perform its proper

function in common with the other organs of the body.

From the natural diffidence and modesty of the female sex, the medical man is seldom applied to sufficiently early, and the opportunity thus afforded has been eagerly seized hold of by quacks and charlatans, who, by their bold and impudent assertions, and their unprincipled and flagrant violations of truth, have succeeded but too well in their attempts to deceive; and the poor, unfortunate chlorotic, by her easy credulity, has exposed herself to months of suffering, from which she might have been relieved by proper medical advice.

In conclusion, I would observe to you that there are no cases which more strikingly evince the superiority of correct treatment than those of chlorosis. A patient applies for relief in a debilitated and emaciated condition, a trouble to herself and all around her; probably half starved, and nearly poisoned by digitalis, under the supposition of commencing phthisis. By tonic medicines and a generous diet the system becomes invigorated, and the distressing symptoms vanish. Many cases of this kind have come under my own immediate observation.

LECTURE III.

Obstruction of the menstrual flow accompanied with plethora; symptoms and treatment. — Emmenagogues improper. — Suppression; its varieties. — Sudden suppression; symptoms and treatment. — Vicarious discharges of blood. — Suppression frequently the result of ill health, and treatment required. — Suppression natural under certain circumstances. — Menorrhagia; varieties. — Active and passive menorrhagia.

Although obstruction of the menstrual discharge (emansio mensium) is very generally dependent upon a chlorotic state of constitution, as described in our last lecture, yet you will now and

then find, though these instances are rare, that the interruption is occasioned by the opposite state, the system being in a plethoric condition, the vessels being over full. The symptoms differ so essentially, that it is impossible for you to commit an error in this respect, as they are just the opposite to those which have already passed under our notice. The general appearance of your patient will at once indicate this condition; her face is flushed instead of being pale and sallow, the pulse beats with force, and is not inordinately accelerated; there is frequently intense headache, thirst, dryness, and heat of skin, a furred state of the tongue, diminution of the secretions generally; in short, you will perceive all the marks of febrile disturbance, and these are liable to periodical exacerbations occurring, perhaps, once in every three or four weeks. You scarcely need be told that the treatment required for the cure of this kind of obstruction differs greatly from that which is required in ordinary cases of chlorosis. Your plan is, indeed, exceedingly simple; your single indication being to reduce vascular action, and this is done, 1st, by venesection: blood should be removed from the arm in small quantities, say from four to eight ounces, and this operation must be repeated every four weeks. If, upon careful examination, you find that there is determination of blood to any particular organ, cupping-glasses may be applied in the neighbourhood of the part, or, in some instances, leeches may be preferred. 2dly, by purgation: your object here is not simply to empty the bowels, but to lower the system; you will select, therefore, those remedies which, by acting upon the mucous membrane, produce a very copious watery secretion. A sufficient quantity of sulphate of magnesia dissolved in the infusion of roses, and administered three times daily, will be as serviceable as any; a grain or two of the chloride of mercury may also be given every night. 3dly, by spare diet: it is quite clear that no benefit would be derived from the method of treatment under consideration, if we were, at the same time, to allow full nourishment; the plan, therefore, must be carried out by allowing food in small quantity, and not of very nutritious quality. Animal food, for the most part, is to be abstained from, and all stimulating drinks avoided. By these three methods, then, viz., by venesection, by purgation, and by spare diet, the plethora is to be overcome, sometimes in a longer, sometimes in a shorter period of time; and the natural and healthy balance of the circulation having been restored, we may reasonably expect the appearance of the catamenial secretion. On no account should you have recourse to stimulating emmenagogues, as the cause of the non-appearance of the flow is the result of an action of the menstrual vessels almost amounting to inflammation.

After the use of the antiphlogistic remedies recommended to you,

the hip-bath will be of service.

Suppression of the Menstrual Flow. — The catamenial discharge is sometimes suddenly stopped during its flow; at other times causes which operate during the intervals prevent its occurrence; or, thirdly, it may be arrested in consequence of a debilitated state of system similar to that already described as the cause of emansio mensium, and to these cases the term adult chlorosis has been not improperly applied. The menses may be suddenly suppressed by any powerful mental emotion, such as excessive joy, grief, terror, &c. In the greater number of cases, however, the interruption of the secretion is referable to external causes, especially exposure to cold in combination with moisture; it is well known that if a female get wet in the feet during her monthly periods, suppression is a very common occurrence, and hence the reason why servant girls, whose avocations subject them to such exposure, are the most frequent sufferers from this affection. From whatever cause it may have been produced, its attendant symptoms are usually of an active or inflammatory character; sharp pains are felt in the hips, loins, and region of the uterus; you will observe symptoms of vascular activity, marked by increased frequency and force of the pulse; determination of blood to the head is also indicated by throbbing pains, attended with powerful pulsations of the carotid and temporal arteries. There is heat and dryness of skin, the tongue is dry and coated, the urine small in quantity and high coloured; in short, the secretions generally are diminished. There is palpitation of the heart, a sensation of choking in the throat (globus hystericus), with other symptoms of an hysterical nature. The cerebral symptoms occasionally run so high as to produce temporary derangement; these instances, however, are not often met with. Nausea and vomiting sometimes attend this variety of suppressed catamenial secretion.

Treatment of Sudden Suppression. - From the symptoms attendant upon this disorder, which have been enumerated, you will be prepared in some degree for its treatment; this must be of the antiphlogistic kind. Venesection is the first remedy required. The quantity of blood drawn away to be regulated by the violence of the febrile symptoms on the one hand, and by the general constitution of the patient on the other. If she be of full habit, and rigid muscular fibre, from 12 to 16 ounces of blood may be taken from the arm: this operation to be repeated or not according to circumstances. If the action of the heart and arteries be somewhat reduced, but not to a sufficient degree, a smaller bleeding will be necessary, either from the arm, or by the application of cupping-glasses to the loins. The circulation must also be lowered by exhibiting saline purgatives freely. Another mode of giving relief is by the use of medicines, which determine to the skin, such as the following: - Solution of acetate of ammonia, 3iij; syrup of poppies, 3ss; solution of tartar emetic, m xxv. One ounce every four hours. The warm bath is also serviceable. Great care should be taken, on the one hand, to avoid exposure to cold; whilst we should recollect, on the other hand, that excessive heat tends to increase vascular action, and is, therefore, positively injurious; a mean temperature is, therefore, to be preferred; but little nutriment, and no stimulating beverage, should be allowed. Should the obstruction occur at the commencement of a monthly period, and the treatment described be promptly put into practice, the discharge may be reproduced. More frequently it does not reappear until the next month, and where the case has been neglected, several periods will pass over before the constitution is restored to that healthy condition which will enable the uterus to perform its functions with regularity.

Where menstruation is in this way suppressed, you occasionally have a vicarious discharge of blood from other organs of the body, this may occur in the form of epistaxis, hemoptysis, hematemesis, or there may be blood effused by the rectum. The danger under these circumstances will necessarily depend upon the degree of the hemorrhage. If it be but trifling, the general plan of treatment is to be persisted in, without reference to this particular symptom.

Should month after month pass away without the restoration of the secretion, you will most probably find that other organs besides the uterus are in fault, and these, therefore, will require your

chief consideration.

The menstrual discharge may be suppressed, not during its flow in the sudden manner just described; but as the result of some cause operating during the interval. During pregnancy, you know, for example, the flow is naturally suppressed. This condition will be known by its attendant symptoms, and, not being a state of

disease, will not be further noticed at this time.

When the general health is suffering from any debilitating cause, the evacuation is frequently absent; and here I would use the words of the justly celebrated Burns, in his work on the Principles of Midwifery. He observes, "the effect is often mistaken for the cause, the bad health being attributed to the absence of the menses; and much harm is frequently done by the administration of stimulating medicines. In them the irregularity of the menses is symptomatic, and generally indicates considerable debility, induced perhaps by great fatigue, bad diet, loss of blood or long continued serous discharge, hectic fever, or dyspepsia."

Do not, however, imagine that I am claiming for the menstruating membrane of the womb a total exemption from disease. It is doubtless sometimes the original seat of the disorder which interferes with its function. Debility of this part is occasionally induced by too frequent sexual intercourse. Again, it is liable to a peculiar action of its vessels, similar to that which takes place in the vagina in leucorrhœa, and then, instead of the regular monthly flow, a white mucous discharge is constantly exuding, or there may be chronic inflammation of the membrane itself. In all these cases suppressio mensium is very obviously the direct effect produced, and to the uterus itself the remedies must be applied.

The primary indications in the cure of this form of the disorder is, however, still the same, viz., not so much to force the evacuation, as to alter that morbid action of vessels to which suppression owes its origin. Great care is required in investigating the state of health, in general, as well as the particular condition of the uterus. Having determined the seat of the disorder, your next inquiry will be to ascertain whether there be general or local plethora, or general or local debility, and according to the existence of the one or the other of these states, your selection of remedies will depend whether, for instance, you treat your patient upon the tonic or antiphlogistic plan. I entertain a very decided opinion that those medicines called emmenagogues, would scarcely, perhaps never, be employed, if the symptoms of the disorder were more generally traced to their cause. I must not dismiss this subject without saying a few words regarding the use of mercury, a remedy so frequently noticed, and so highly extolled as an emmenagogue. To the use of mercurials, under proper restrictions, and in certain cases, that is to say, when they are required for the relief of the disordered condition, either of the uterus or any other organ, there can be no objection. It sometimes produces a beneficial effect, but it does so indirectly; in other words, it does not act as a direct stimulus to the womb, but it alters the morbid action of its vessels, and thus accomplishes the grand primary indication before mentioned. A great variety of remedies have been from time to time recommended as local stimulants; but I shall not detain you by a consideration of these separately, as a long and tolerably extensive practice in these cases fully warrants me in expressing my disapprobation of this method of treatment.

The absence of the catamenia is not always the result of disordered action; it has been before noticed as one of the common consequences of pregnancy. The flow is also very generally suspended during the period of lactation. Still we occasionally find women of plethoric habits who menstruate whilst nursing; others, again, are said to continue "regular" whilst pregnant. If the discharge in these latter cases be particularly noticed, you will find it commonly consists of blood, often passing away in clots (a certain proof that it is not the menstrual secretion), the times of its appearance irregular, and by no means corresponding to the menstrual periods. I do not go the length of affirming that pregnant women have never menstruated, although, from the changes which the uterus then undergoes, it is difficult to explain the fact. Dr. Blundell, in his lectures, relates a case in which he noticed this occurrence. I stated to you, in a former lecture, that iron, in various forms, was to be administered in cases of amenorrhœa. Whenever you prescribe this metal, your patient should be apprised of its effect upon the colour of the alvine evacuations, or she would probably be alarmed at finding them perfectly black, an effect, you are aware, which is always sooner or later produced.

MENORRHAGIA.

The literal meaning of the word menorrhagia is, a bursting forth of the menstrual discharge; in other words, an immoderate flow

of the menses; but in the general acceptation of the term it is used much more extensively, for it is applied to almost every coloured discharge from the womb. It is especially to be noticed, that this appellation is made use of to designate those disorders in which there is no menstrual secretion at all, but where the discharge consists of blood solely: in fact, all sanguineous effusions from the unimpregnated uterus have been described under the name of menorrhagia. Profuse menstruation, in its strictest sense, very rarely occurs, and when present, it is hardly to be considered a disease, but is rather the effect of depletion, and may, therefore, be regarded as Nature's own remedy for the relief of this condition.

There are two distinct forms which this disorder assumes; first, a simply increased quantity of the secretion at its natural and stated periods; or, secondly, there may be no material alteration in the quantity, but the periods of recurrence more frequent, two or three weeks only intervening, instead of the lunar month. This state is exceedingly inconvenient to the female; means, therefore, must be had recourse to for the purpose of lessening the quantity of blood, and this is easily effected by small venesections, to be repeated, if necessary, and by an innutritious and spare diet.

The atmosphere in which the patient resides should not be overheated, although care is, on the other hand, required to avoid exposure to cold during the flow, as a sudden check might be induced which would inevitably be followed by unpleasant symptoms. It is proper, also, to advise the patient to place herself in the recumbent position when the time is approaching, and this posture is to be continued throughout the whole period. In forming your judgment in these cases, the *natural* quantity of the secretion, in each individual case, must be taken into the account, or you will be very likely to fall into error. In addition to bleeding and spare diet, moderate purgation should be employed.

In the more common cases of what is called menorrhagia, you will find not only an alteration in the quantity, but in the quality also of the fluid effused, for the discharge consists of pure blood, instead of the menstrual secretion, and hence might with greater propriety be called hemorrhage from the unimpregnated womb. These irruptions of blood take place in the two opposite conditions of system, viz., of plethora and inanition, from which the division into active and passive menorrhagia, the former connected with, if not depending upon, an increase in the force, as well as the frequency of the arterial circulation, the latter resulting from extreme weakness of vessels, appearing indeed to depend upon congestion, and a retarded motion of the blood. Before entering at large upon the subject, I must remind you of the diagnostic mark between blood and the proper menstrual flow, and this you will recollect is a very simple one. If it be the former (blood), it will coagulate, either passing away in clots, or stiffening the napkins, which imbibe it. In all cases of doubt, carefully examine what has passed away, and you will find no difficulty in distinguishing the one from the other, as the proper menstruous secretion never coagulates.

LECTURE IV.

Active menorrhagia; symptoms and treatment. — Passive menorrhagia; symptoms and treatment. — Case where the plug was used. — Dr. Haighton's plan. — Transfusion of blood. — Menorrhagia repeatedly attacks women. — Sometimes results from diseased liver, or from actual disease of womb.

ACTIVE MENORRHAGIA.

I MENTIONED to you, at the conclusion of our last lecture, that there were two forms of uterine hemorrhage, designated by the term menorrhagia, viz., the active and the passive, and I now call your attention to the former variety. The approach of active uterine hemorrhage is marked by a sense of general fulness and heat, or by an alternation of sudden flushings with chilliness. You will observe an unusually frequent, harsh, and throbbing pulse; and, in addition to these general symptoms, there are pains in the back and loins indicative of uterine irritation. In the most simple, although it must be confessed not the most common form of the disorder, after these sensations have continued for a longer or shorter period of time, a quantity of florid red blood, apparently arterial, escapes from the uterus, the pains are relieved, and the

constitutional symptoms subside.

You must not, however, expect, in the larger number of cases, such sudden terminations of this affection. You will, on visiting your patient, find her still labouring under febrile excitement, notwithstanding the discharge of blood; the pulse is hard and frequent, there is pain in the head, the skin hot and dry, the tongue furred, and the lips parched; the flow, also, may have produced no alleviation, as regards the uterine uneasiness. I have already told you, that the cause of this affection is to be attributed to increased excitement of the heart and arteries; your first indication, then, is to diminish vascular action generally. This may, in the first instance (provided you are called in the early stage), be effected by removing blood from the arm in the usual way, proportioning the quantity to the necessity of each individual case. Great caution should be exercised in determining the extent to which this remedy should be carried; do not forget, that there is hemorrhage going on which it may be difficult to arrest; on this account I scarcely ever, in my own practice, recommend a second venesection.

It is absolutely necessary that the recumbent posture be strictly enforced, and stimuli of every kind, whether of a general or local nature, be scrupulously avoided. Accumulations of a feculent matter in the rectum will greatly aggravate the disorder, whether it be of the active or the passive kind; you will, therefore, see the propriety of maintaining a free state of the bowels; the mildest laxatives are the most proper, such as castor oil, a combination of rhubarb with sulphate of potassæ, or the use of an enema of common gruel with salt; the latter, in most instances, is to be preferred,

care being taken that the fluid is not used too warm. Irritating purgatives are very improper, as their operation has a direct tendency to increase the flow of blood. After the use of blood-letting and laxatives, depressing medicines are the most proper, and I know not that you can select one which will answer your purpose better than nitrate of potash; some give the preference to digitalis, or the tartar emetic, but these are not such manageable remedies as the potash, and when we can secure the same good effects by our milder medicines, we are surely justified in making choice of them: from twelve to twenty grains of the nitrate may be given every few hours; the stomach will retain the larger dose, if given in a state of great dilution, say, in a teacupful of barley-water. Its effect is sensibly so diminish the frequency and force of the pulse,

producing, at the same time, a feeling of nausea.

By this plan the activity of the constitutional symptoms will be soon subdued; and, should the hemorrhage continue, topical remedies, directed to the uterus itself, will be required, the most common and most effective of which is, the application of cloths, wetted with the coldest water, to the vulva, perineum, and pubic region; I have seen great benefit derived from a bladder, containing pounded ice, placed in the latter situation. Do not thoughtlessly employ your cold applications, for there is no part of the treatment which requires a greater degree of circumspection; if used when febrile or inflammatory symptoms are present, no good, but harm would result; your first indication in the treatment of this disorder being, as I have already told you, not so much to stop the bleeding by any direct means as to lower the action of the heart and arteries; your object, in short, is the removal of the cause, and not the mere relief of the symptoms. The diet must necessarily be spare, and, as common beverage, iced lemonade, barley-water with acid, or toast-water, are the proper articles; fermented or spirituous drinks must not be allowed. Diaphoretics have been recommended by some, with a view of keeping up the action of the cutaneous vessels; no reliance can be placed upon this class of remedies. Mercury has also had its advocates, but its utility may be fairly doubted, especially during the continuance of the active symptoms. Menorrhagia cannot long continue in its active form, symptoms presently make their appearance, characterising

PASSIVE MENORRHAGIA.

This is not always preceded by active hemorrhage. In weakly, irritable, and delicate habits, it may have been passive from its commencement. The patient's situation is here much more alarming, and the case assumes a very formidable character, if the bleeding be not speedily arrested. The symptoms, as might be expected, are totally different, and the plan of treatment the reverse of what has been recommended in the active form of the complaint.

With this hemorrhage there is a rapid reduction of the little

strength previously existing; the countenance is pallid, and, in some cases, assumes a bloodless appearance; the pulse hurried and feeble; the extremities, and sometimes the general surface of the body, cold; there is weight and pain in the head, particularly over the eyebrows and forehead; a distressing sensation of faintness and giddiness, and occasionally nausea and vomiting; laborious respiration is a frequent attendant on the more severe and dangerous

forms of passive menorrhagia.

I mentioned to you, that the blood which passed away in active hemorrhage was of a florid red colour; here, on the contrary, it is dark-coloured, apparently venous. The symptoms enumerated occur in a more slight or a more aggravated form, and hence the disease may require for its relief a more or less energetic method of treatment. In the mildest variety, however, the recumbent position must be submitted to at once, for every remedy will fail unless the patient keep herself perfectly quiet. If the bowels be confined, a common enema should be prescribed, to be used nearly cold. Creat benefit will be experienced from the exhibition of astringent tonics, the mineral acids, for example, combined with vegetable bitters, such as calumba, gentian, quina. If your patient's taste be somewhat fastidious, and you wish to please her palate, order her the infusion of roses, with an additional proportion of acid, some syrup, and about a drachm of tincture of kino. This is a very agreeable draught, and, in many instances, has proved a medicine of no mean efficacy, and I should recommend it where the stomach is irritable. In my own practice I have seen more advantage from the use of the tincture of the muriate of iron, in doses of from fifteen to twenty minims every four hours, than from any other single remedy. It must, nevertheless, be admitted, that in many cases you will be obliged to try a variety of medicines before the proper one be ascertained, as the same does not agree equally well with every patient.

The milder cases of passive menorrhagia are those in which the application of cold is peculiarly serviceable, provided it be assiduously employed. An ordinary nurse is not to be trusted with this application; it ought to be superintended by the practitioner himself; if he leaves the room, simply directing cold to be applied, it is probable, on his next call, he will discover, not a cold napkin, but a warm fomentation to the vulva, in consequence of the nurse having neglected its frequent renewal. It is scarcely necessary to state, that, in the more severe degrees of the affections, where, for example, there is general coldness of the surface, these applications must not be had recourse to, as the powers of the system would inevitably sink under their use; on the contrary, it is often necessary to apply bottles of hot water to the feet, axillæ, &c., and in some cases to envelope the whole body in warm flannels; more powerful internal remedies will also be needed, and of these the superacetate of lead occupies the first place, its power as a styptic has been long known, from whatever part of the body the blood may be flowing; but as griping and colicky pains are so frequently produced by its use, we generally exhibit opium at the same time: to guard against this effect, superacetate of lead, half a grain, opium, quarter to half a grain, may be exhibited every two hours; after four pills have been taken, it is better to wait awhile, and should your patient complain of pains in the abdomen, you must discontinue the remedy; if there be no such unpleasant symptoms, after the lapse of three or four hours, the same number of pills may be again prescribed, watching the symptoms closely, in order that it may be immediately omitted, should circumstances require it. Under these restrictions, and with the exercise of proper care, the superacetate is invaluable, although we must acknowledge

it to be a dangerous remedy, if used imprudently.

I know not whether vegetable acids would be productive of more advantage than mineral, never having tried their efficacy. My thoughts have been directed to this subject from a fact related to me by one of my patients; she stated that she was always able to produce a temporary suspension of the menstrual discharge by taking a "gill of common vinegar," so that if she wished to pass the evening from home, during the catamenial period, her practice was to drink the vinegar, and this, according to her own statement, had the invariable effect of stopping the discharge until the following morning, when it regularly and constantly returned. The secale cornutum is supposed by many to operate beneficially in restraining these hemorrhages, and although much reliance cannot be safely placed upon it, yet it deserves a trial; half a drachm of the essence, as prepared by Battley, is a fair average dose, mixed with a cup of gruel, to which a small quantity of ardent spirit has been added; this potion may be repeated every six or eight hours. The secale should not be trusted to but as an adjuvant, and ought not to supersede others whose effects are more decided.

Should the hemorrhage still continue, something further must be attempted; and first I would recommend the use of the plug; strips of linen, either dry, or wetted with an astringent solution, are gradually and gently to be insinuated into the vagina until the cavity is completely filled up; the obvious effect of this is to detain the blood within the uterus, where it will coagulate, and, by forming a clot around the orifice of the bleeding vessels, must, at least for a time, prevent any further effusion. If the plug be too soon removed, or the female be suffered to move about, the little temporary barrier thus formed will be dislodged, and the hemorrhage will recur.

There are sometimes so much tenderness and irritability of the genitals and neighbouring parts, that the application cannot be borne for a sufficient length of time, the female complaining of pain, with a bearing-down sensation, and frequent desire to pass water and to empty her bowels; here the plan of proceeding is plain, you must remove the plug; where no such inconvenience is experienced, you will do well to allow it to remain for three or

four days, and should there be, on its removal, any indications of returning hemorrhage, a clean one should be at once introduced.

One of the most severe cases of this kind which ever fell under my own immediate notice, was one which I attended in conjunction with one of my pupils; here the plug proved of permanent benefit, after other measures had failed; the quantity of blood lost by this lady was enormous, very nearly, if not quite, equal to that which now and then bursts forth from the puerperal womb; on one occasion the bed was literally soaked with blood; it was long

before this patient was restored to perfect health.

Another plan was strongly recommended by the late Dr. Haighton, in his invaluable lectures on midwifery, viz., the injection of a styptic solution into the cavity of the womb itself: this may easily be effected by means of an elastic gum bottle, to which a curved pipe has been attached; the patient is to be placed on her left side, and the extremity of the tube introduced about three-quarters of an inch within the os uteri; on pressure being made upon the elastic bottle, the fluid will, of necessity, be diffused over the whole internal surface of the uterus, and by coming into contact with the bleeding vessels, will produce coagulation of the blood around, and, probably, to a certain extent, within them, and thus prevent, for a time, any further hemorrhage. The liquid recommended by Dr. Haighton for this purpose, consists of a solution of sulphate of iron in an infusion of strong green tea; other substances will answer your purpose as well, viz., common alum, sulphate of zinc, or sulphate of copper, dissolved in a decoction of oak bark; the choice of the styptic being left to the discretion of the practitioner. About half an ounce of such liquid may be safely injected three or four times in 24 hours. When you have made up your mind to this mode of proceeding, I would recommend you to superintend it yourselves, as it requires some little anatomical knowledge to pass the pipe through the mouth of the uterus. Dr. H. used to say that he believed he had saved many lives by his injections.

A very nourishing diet is essentially required in these cases, or the patient will soon sink below the possibility of recovery. Those articles are the most proper which contain the largest proportion of nutriment in the smallest bulk, as the stomach will not retain much at a time. This organ, in common with others, suffers from the debilitating effects of the hemorrhage, and, consequently, its digestive powers are proportionally decreased. Stimulants are also proper; ale, stout, or wine may be allowed, as best suits the inclination of the patient. The common form in which I administer nourishment is, the yolk of a new-laid egg beaten up with a small quantity of warm water, a table-spoonful of brandy, with sugar and nutmeg ad libitum; this is a most nutritious as well as an agreeable compound, and will often be retained by the stomach when everything else has been rejected; about half an ounce of this mixture may be frequently given until two or three eggs have

been taken; some prefer beef-tea, broths, or the animal jellies, all of which are beneficial; and as soon as the stomach is a little roused from its torpor solid food is admissible.

Change of air will contribute greatly to the restoration of health, when convalescence has sufficiently advanced, and then also the

daily use of the bidet is particularly useful.

Would the transfusion of healthy hot blood be of service in the more extreme forms of menorrhagia? I am inclined to give my opinion in the affirmative; for, in the dissection of those who have died from this cause, no organic change has been discovered in the womb. The organ has been seen to be enlarged, and the orifices of the small vessels ramifying on its lining membrane more patulous than in their natural and healthy condition. I am well aware of the objection which has been raised against this operation, and which has been often reiterated in nearly these words, or at any rate to this effect: - "What is the use of transfusion, whilst the drain is still going on? As fast as you put blood into the arm it would escape by the orifices of the uterine vessels." Let us examine this objection a little. We readily allow that the extremities of these vessels are sufficiently open to allow the passage of pure blood through them, yet this state is the result of debility, and this debility, be it remembered, occasioned by the loss of the vital fluid. Now, it is by no means inconsistent with sound principle to expect, under these circumstances, that, with an increase of pure, healthy blood, this condition of general exhaustion will be relieved, and such a degree of tonicity given to the muscular fibres of the uterus, as well as to its capillary vessels, as to produce a certain degree of contraction, which would be sufficient to avert the impending danger.

Do not for an instant suppose I am recommending transfusion as one of your common remedial means, where due attention has been paid, it will be very rarely indeed either necessary or proper; but the extreme case may occur, and our art is confessedly imperfect, if we have not a remedy for this case, as well as those which are attended with less danger. So far as regards myself, I should feel that I had not performed my duty if I had suffered a patient who had died of hemorrhage without having proposed the operation, especially as I can perceive no practical objection, being fully persuaded, when carefully performed, it is an operation which cannot injure, but, on the other hand, well calculated to be of immense benefit. I shall, however, have another opportunity of examining the merits of transfusion, and, therefore, for the present.

shall dismiss the subject.

Some women are the subjects of menorrhagia every month, so that as soon as, and in some cases before, they have recovered from one attack, they are, unfortunately, called upon to suffer another. It is here very desirable to employ those remedies in the interval which are likely to prevent a recurrence; the circumstances necessary to be attended to are, first, the state of the constitution;

secondly, the nature of the affection, whether active or passive; and, thirdly, the exciting cause. These preliminaries having been ascertained, the proper treatment will suggest itself to the mind of the practitioner. The indications are to build up the constitution where it is weakly, and to depress if there be too much power in the circulatory system.

In long-continued passive hemorrhages, the liver is a viscus, into whose condition you should carefully examine, as, next to the heart itself, there is, perhaps, no organ in the body the healthy state of which is so necessary to maintain the balance of the circulation; if there be hepatic derangement, the smaller doses of mercury, recommended in a former lecture, should be exhibited.

I have, lastly, to observe, that discharges of blood from the womb are not always the result of mere functional disorder; they are the never-failing attendants on many organic diseases. Hemorrhage takes place in polypus, hydatids, fungoid disease, cauliflower excrescence, malignant ulcer, carcinoma, &c. Some females, again, lose considerable quantities of blood during pregnancy. I have a patient who, for the first four months, has repeated floodings; these cases are easily distinguished by their appropriate signs. In every instance of protracted bleeding from the womb, a minute examination, per vaginam, must be made, that you may satisfactorily ascertain its nature and its cause, for incalculable mischief would be the result of erroneous opinions in this respect.

LECTURE V.

Dysmenorrhæa, with membranous formation; symptoms.—Dr. Denman's opinion that the disease necessarily produces sterility incorrect. — Pregnancy sometimes the means of cure; danger of confounding the symptoms with miscarriage. —Opinion to be given under such circumstances. — Treatment of the disease. — Opinion of Dr. M'Intosh. — Dysmenorrhæa without membrane; symptoms and treatment. — Cessation of menstruation. — Period various. — Considered by women as a critical time. — Erroneous opinions of old authors; treatment required; sometimes mistaken for pregnancy. — Means of diagnosis. — Sterility; its causes; various opinions, generally the result of constitutional defect.

DYSMENORRHŒA.

d

道道

ral

The last variety of disordered menstruation which I have to bring before your notice, is one which is very common, and also very harassing to a female, it is called dysmenorrhæa (difficult or painful menstruation). The subject of this malady menstruates at the regular and proper periods, but at the same time experiences an intensity of pain, scarcely exceeded in amount by the actual parturient efforts of the womb, at the time of labour. Dr. Denman

says, and says truly, "The pain with which some women menstruate, at each period, is sufficient to render a great part of their lives miserable." The excitement, attendant upon this state of suffering, has in some women, produced actual delirium. The evacuation, although regular in its recurrence, is, in some cases, very deficient in quantity; and, indeed, there is sometimes no proper menstrual secretion, but, in its stead, a tough, thick membrane, resembling the tunica decidua of pregnancy, is discharged, the uterus acting forcibly as in labour: a small quantity of blood generally attends its expulsion. The membranous portions vary greatly in size, being sometimes large, at others mere shreds, but they will be found to present the same general appearances; one surface is smooth, whilst the other is rough, and shaggy. Dr. Denman, who paid attention to this variety of dysmenorrhœa, asserts, that "No woman, in the habit of forming this membrane, has been known to conceive whilst such habit exists." This opinion is not correct; many well-authenticated cases, proving the contrary, have occurred: two or three have fallen under my immediate notice. Where impregnation takes place, and especially if the female should proceed to the full term of utero-gestation, a radical cure may, with some degree of confidence, be anticipated, the process of child bearing effecting so complete a change of action in the vessels of the menstruating membrane, that they afterwards perform their office with regularity and without pain. If, therefore, conception could, with any degree of certainty be calculated upon, there would be no objection, but, on the contrary, everything to encourage a recommendation which has been considered by many as a likely method to obtain a cure, viz., that the female should alter her sexual condition. It happens, however, unfortunately, that women suffering under dysmenorrhæa, attended with membranous formations, do not conceive so readily as those whose monthly secretion is regularly and properly performed; still you will find the exceptions to this general rule are sufficiently numerous to induce you to pause before pronouncing irregular menstruation to be an *obstacle* to marriage.

From the peculiar symptoms attending this form of the disorder, viz., the expulsion of membrane similar to the decidual, the bearing down pains, the discharge of blood, &c., you are liable to the mistake of supposing that the female has miscarried. If the subject be a married lady, the error will be of no consequence; but should she be unmarried, suspicions, the most unjust, unfounded, and fatally injurious to her reputation, will be excited, if not set at rest by the deliberate opinion of the practitioner in attendance. Now, it is very difficult, if not, in some instances, impossible, to distinguish the one membrane from the other; the general character of the female should be taken into the account with various other circumstances, which cannot well be brought before you in a lecture, but which will be suggested by your own judgment. I am persuaded, that in a very large majority of cases, it would be

better for you to quiet the suspicions which may have been aroused, and to treat the case as dysmenorrhæa, where no trace of a fætus is discernible.

Treatment. — So far as regards the cure of this affection, we must acknowledge the treatment to be very unsatisfactory, but relief may generally be obtained at the time, and, by a repetition of the same palliative means at each successive monthly period, the intense pain may be prevented, and the female rendered much more comfortable than she would otherwise have been. Anodynes are the only class of medicines upon which much reliance can be placed, and of these opium is the most certain, and should always be selected, unless contra-indicated by some peculiar idiosyncracy of constitution; if combined with a diaphoretic, the effect will be more decided; the following is my usual draught: —

Solution of acet. of ammonia, 3iij; Syrup of poppies, 3j; Tinct. of opium, drops x to xv; Camphor mixture, 3j.

A draught every 3d, 4th, or 5th hour; at night, mercury with chalk, grs. v.; compound ipecac. powder, gr. x. to gr. xv. The state of the alimentary canal must not be lost sight of, as an accumulation of fæces in the rectum aggravates every disorder of the womb. Should opium disagree, hyoscyamus may be tried; a draught, composed of tinct. of hyoscy. 3j; comp. sp. of ether, mxx; syrup of poppies 3j; camphor mixture, 3jss, will sometimes afford relief; you may likewise employ the hip-bath, followed by friction, with anodyne embrocations over the lumbar and uterine regions, but much con-

fidence cannot safely be placed upon these means.

In some cases the formation of this membrane may be attributed to an action of the vessels fairly amounting to inflammation, and here the antiphlogistic treatment, to a certain extent, will be necessary. Cupping from the loins, followed by the application of ten or twelve leeches to the vulva, should be immediately had recourse to; you relieve pain afterwards, by employing the anodyne plan before recommended. During the intervals of menstruation, a slight mercurial course will be serviceable as tending to alter the action of the menstrual vessels. Again, dysmenorrhæa may be the result of a rheumatic affection of the womb; this is usually accompanied with the signs of rheumatism in other parts of the body, the uterus not being the only part affected. Your remedial plan is here to be directed to the general disorder, and those medicines exhibited as are known to relieve rheumatic affections; the colchicum, for example, either in the form of wine or the powder; the old tinct. guaiaci. am., has also had its advocates; sometimes the pain seems to proceed from a spasmodic condition of the organ. Opium and the warm bath seldom fail in giving relief in these cases.

Dr. M'Intosh supposes this painful affection to be referable to a thickened state of the os and cervix uteri, by means of which its orifice becomes narrowed, and in some cases nearly closed; he, consequently, recommends the use of the bougies, for the purpose of dilating these parts. Of this plan, from personal experience, I can say nothing; but it seems to me difficult to explain the effect

by the cause here attributed to it.

Dysmenorrhæa without membranous formation. - Women sometimes experience great pain at the menstrual periods, quite equal to that already described, but the circumstances attending the discharge vary. There is no deficiency, but, on the contrary, rather an augmentation of the flow, and if this be examined, you will often find that clots of large size are passing away, showing that the effusion is in great measure sanguineous. So far as my own observation has extended, the subjects of this variety of dysmenorrhæa are weakly and delicate, of an easily excitable, nervous or hysterical temperament; great prostration of strength is experienced at the time; the extremities, and sometimes the body, generally are of an icy coldness; the pulse feeble, though quick; the countenance is sallow, and its expression anxious. The treatment of these cases is much more satisfactory than that of the previous variety; you will seldom fail in affording complete relief. if the patients will adhere to the plan proposed to them. The female should be confined to her bed, as nothing tends more to lessen if not altogether subdue her pains than external warmth: if she still remains cold, a glass of weak and hot gin and water is to be allowed her, and when reaction has taken place, the hyoscyamus, ether, and camphor mixture before prescribed, in some instances of membranous menstruation, with or without the addition of opium, as circumstances may require, will be found serviceable. This form of dysmenorrhæa does not interfere with conception, and it often happens that pregnancy cures the disorder, so that after marriage you frequently hear no more of the complaint, the action of the vessels of the uterus, as before stated, being so completely altered by the process of gestation.

Whilst you are attending to the uterus itself, at the period of menstruation, it is important for you not to neglect the general constitution during the intervals. Examine into its state, whether plethoric or debilitated; if the former, use depressing medicines, with low diet; if the latter, and this will generally be the case, you must employ tonics and a generous diet. In every case the bowels should be strictly attended to, and all sources of irritation avoided as the period is approaching; the recumbent position to be for the

most part enjoined, and all active exertion forbidden.

In conclusion, I would advise you to be exceedingly careful in giving your prognosis, I mean as regards a cure; in many instances you can only relieve; the disorder, however, in these cases, appearing at last to wear itself out.

CESSATION OF MENSTRUATION ("TURN OF LIFE") - ("CRITICAL PERIOD").

I have before observed, that the time when the menstrual discharge ceases is regulated by its first appearance, commonly continuing for the space of thirty years. Cases are, however, on record, where the catamenial function has regularly continued for a much longer period, the female, for example, begins to menstruate about her fifteenth year, but does not cease until the fiftieth, fifty-fifth, and in some very rare instances not until the sixtieth year; but it is generally found that about the forty-fifth year indications are experienced of the coming event. In some rare cases the discharge gradually diminishes, and at length totally disappears without producing any feelings of inconvenience, but this is not common; there are generally irregularities, the discharge sometimes being absent for six or seven weeks, and then appearing either more copiously than natural, or in deficient quantities. Again, you may, on the other hand, have the discharge not only profuse, but frequently repeated, and often sanguineous; in truth, in almost every case where there is profuse discharge, blood is effused; this, you will recollect, is easily distinguished by its This period is usually designated by power of coagulation. women "the dodging time," an epithet which characterises their condition with tolerable exactness. There is often at this time a considerable degree of constitutional irritation, with an increased determination of blood to the head, or to some other part of the body. If you are consulted by a female at this period, you will see the great necessity of directing attention not to the uterus alone, but to the state of the constitution at large. Most women look upon the cessation of menstruation as a critical time, which they call "the turn of life," and although their fears are often groundless, for it is not reasonable to suppose that the cessation of this function (which is as natural as its commencement) should invariably and of necessity give rise to disease, yet it is an unquestionable fact, that if there be a morbid disposition in any part of the body, more especially should it exist in the womb or in the breast, there will be a more rapid progress at this, than at any previous period. The older authors attempted to explain this circumstance by the supposition that the "menstruous blood" possessed qualities of a peculiar noxious quality, and, therefore, very naturally considered its retention to be the cause of disease in some part of the body. The opinion is perfectly erroneous, and the true explanation of the reason why we so frequently witness an advance of disease at this time is simply this, that the constitution, or the parts disposed to take on morbid action, are not now, as heretofore, relieved by the local evacuation. If, then, there be symptoms of uterine or any other disorder, the consequences may be most serious if they be not promptly attended to. Are there not many cases of cancer uteri which we may fairly ascribe to neglect at this important period? Females at this time frequently complain of great irritation in the pelvis generally, the uterus, bladder, and rectum being equally involved; the symptoms complained of, are a bearing down sensation, tenesmus, often described as a "forcing backwards," frequent inclination to pass urine, together with heat and smarting at the orifice of the urethra; the vagina is also in a tender condition, an examination producing great pain. This state of parts is effectually relieved by the application of a few leeches to the vulva, the use of warm fomentations and injections, with the internal exhibition of an alkaline laxative. My favourite combination is the following:—

Sulphate of potass, 9j to 3ss.
Solution of potass, mxv.
Tincture of hyoscyamus, 3ss.
Peppermint water 3xj. Thrice a day.

Where there is much irritability of the general system, sleep may be procured by the use of a full opiate at bed-time. In females of strong and plethoric habits, especially where there are marks of cerebral congestion, blood must be taken in larger quantities, either from the nape of the neck by cupping, or by venesection from the arm, and it will probably be necessary to repeat these means of lowering the circulation periodically, for a few months, allowing a four weeks' interval to elapse between each bleeding. Free purging is also required, and a very spare diet; in short, the antiphlogistic regimen should be enjoined in its full extent. Hepatic and dyspeptic disorders are by no means uncommon at this period, and require the same treatment as at other times. From the notion already referred to, that the cessation of menstruation necessarily produced disease, some have most injudiciously recommended the use of stimulating emmenagogues. I shall not insult your common sense by attempting to prove the absurdity of endeavouring to keep up a discharge, which nature intends should altogether cease, considering it too obvious to require more than a passing notice. Should the individual be in perfect health without any tendency to disease, she will suffer no particular inconvenience, unless we consider the increase of size which then takes place to be such, and really in some persons an increase in the adipose deposite occurs to a most uncomfortable degree. A tympanitic distension of the abdomen happening at the same time has often deceived the patient, she herself imagining that she was pregnant, an error for the rectification of which you will probably be but little thanked. "Most women," as Dr. Haighton (I think) used to observe, "had much rather fancy themselves with child than believe they are approaching that age when such an occurrence will be beyond the bounds of possibility." The medical attendant cannot be long deceived, for the usual signs marking the occurrence of pregnancy are absent, the abdomen enlarges generally, and feels soft and flabby, there is no protrusion of the umbilicus; if motion be felt, and this is often produced by flatulence, it will be experienced, not in the region of the uterus alone, but sometimes in one position, sometimes in another; there is a variation also in her size. I shall not now enlarge upon this subject, as we shall hereafter have to inquire more minutely into "the signs of pregnancy."

STERILITY, OR BARRENNESS.

Various opinions have been entertained respecting the causes of sterility. They may be divided into two sets, the organic and the functional. Under the former head (organic causes) we may notice imperfect development of the uterus or ovaries, and in some rare instances their entire absence; where these deficiencies exist, the changes described to you in a former lecture as characterising the age of puberty do not occur, and, as I have already observed, there is no menstrual flow. Obliteration of the fallopian tubes sometimes occurs, either as an original malformation, or as the result of inflammation, and where this happens, that access of the male semen to the ovarian vesicle which is necessary for the process of conception is unavoidably prevented, and barrenness is the It is believed by some that too frequent sexual intercourse may produce this closure of the tube by inducing inflammatory action, and they state this as an explanation of the reason why few prostitutes, comparatively speaking, conceive. But we should not hastily infer, that these unfortunate creatures rarely become pregnant, because they so seldom proceed to the full period of gestation. I apprehend if we were fully acquainted with their habits, that we should find a great number of miscarriages taking place amongst them, their dissolute and unhappy mode of living greatly conducing to this event. In the general I believe the cause of sterility is not attributable to organic defect, as the generative organs are usually well formed, but to derangement of their functions, this derangement not unfrequently depending upon constitutional causes. The state of the catamenial secretion should be carefully investigated, as this is the index which points out the healthy or unhealthy condition of the uterus. Should this function be deranged, your next inquiry is, whether the womb itself is at fault, or whether there is a generally disturbed state of action in other organs of the body. Where the womb appears to be the principal seat of this disorder, a very mild course of mercury, exhibited with caution, is well calculated to alter the morbid action of the vessels of the menstruating membrane, using at the same time a tepid sea-water bath. As there is in most cases debility of system, conjoined with, if not producing, faulty uterine action, the most condensed form of tonics will be required, and, indeed, in a great majority of cases, (the organs being perfect,) attention to the general health is the only probable method of removing this condition. I may lastly observe, that the uterine system may be acted upon by the semen of one person, and not of another. I recollect a case which strikingly exemplifies this fact; a female was married at 21, and lived with her husband for twenty years, but had no child. At 41 she was left a widow, and soon afterwards married again, and was delivered within the year of a healthy, full-grown infant. I would just say in concluding this subject, that very fat women do not conceive so readily as those of spare make; I do not mean to say that obesity in itself produces barrenness, but I cannot help reminding you of the well-known fact, that a defective condition of the ovary, as also its entire absence, is always attended by large deposits of adipose substance.

LECTURE VI.

DISEASES OF THE UNIMPREGNATED WOMB.

Diseases of the womb. — General observations. — Inflammation of the substance of the womb; symptoms; the practitioner seldom consulted sufficiently early. — Causes of hysteritis; treatment depends upon the state of the general system; enlargement sometimes the consequence of this inflammation. — Vaginal examination. — Inflammation of the os and cervix uteri; symptoms; examination necessary; treatment; occasional consequences of the disease. — Thickening of the os uteri; treatment. — Ulceration of the os uteri. — Formation of abscesses around the os uteri; treatment.

Although of late years a greater degree of attention has been paid to the diseases of the uterus, yet that attention has not been commensurate with their importance, for we find even now, in many cases referred to us, that the treatment has not been based upon sound practical knowledge; the practitioner has too often been content with attending to symptoms without tracing them to their source; this is, as regards uterine disorders, peculiarly unfortunate, for it often happens that very different affections of the organ are characterised by the same external symptoms; take, for example, discharges of blood or of mucus. Again, you will find that uterine pains, from whatever cause they may proceed, have the same general character; they commence at the back, extend forwards through the pelvis, and descend to the upper and inner part of the thigh. Whenever, therefore, I use the expression -"pain in the inner region of the womb," it is this sort of pain I intend to describe.

The uterus is liable to many diseases, various in kind, and differing entirely in their character; their great variety has been very properly referred to the difference of the textures which enter into its anatomical composition. The first I shall describe to you, is —

INFLAMMATION.

The substance of the unimpregnated womb is now and then the seat of inflammatory action: not so frequently, however, as the puerperal womb. The early symptoms of the disorder are somewhat obscure, inasmuch as they are very generally present in many other uterine affections. Uneasiness rather than violent pain is at first experienced in the region of the womb, never wholly remitting, but subject to occasional violent exacerbations; these soon subside, and are not unlike commencing labour pains. But little - constitutional disturbance is manifested, the surface of the body remaining cool, the tongue scarcely altered from its natural condition, and the pulsations of the artery at the wrist neither increased in frequency nor in force. From the intimate consent which subsists between the uterus and the stomach, we naturally expect the functions of the latter organ to become deranged, and this is always the case, nausea, with or without vomiting, invariably supervening. This symptom is much more distressing in some patients than in others, as it depends upon peculiarity of constitution on the one hand, and the state of irritability of the organ on the other. The well-known sympathy which exists between the womb and the bladder must be borne in mind, as it satisfactorily explains the reason why females, labouring under this inflammation, have such frequent, I might almost say such constant desire to pass urine: if the water be allowed to accumulate, their sufferings are greatly increased. Just before the period of menstruation, the pain already described becomes greatly aggravated; this effect, doubtless produced by the increased quantity of blood determined to the womb for the purpose of its secretion. After, however, the disorder has continued for a length of time, the uterine function is altogether suspended; a very decided increase of uneasiness generally as well as locally is then experienced. Firm pressure above the symphysis pubis increases the pain; but from the situation of the womb, low in the pelvis, a certain degree can be borne without inconvenience: recollect this circumstance, or you will be likely to commit an error in the diagnosis. You will seldom be consulted at a very early period of the disease, the pain and inconvenience being so trifling as scarcely to attract notice until a considerable time has elapsed; or, if these symptoms be noticed, they are seldom thought serious enough to render medical relief necessary; application, therefore, is not made until the disorder is completely established, and the time passed by when it might have been cured without difficulty. A leucorrheal discharge, varying in quantity, must be reckoned amongst the earlier symptoms of hysteritis; and where this is profuse it is useful, as tending to allay inflammatory action. most common cause of the disease is too frequent sexual intercourse; it not unfrequently occurs in newly married females: in these cases the vagina participates in the inflammation to a greater or less degree. I have already stated, that sudden suppression of the menses is occasionally followed by inflammation, particularly

where this arises from the application of cold.

Hysteritis is either of the active or passive kind; and according to the existence of either of these states, so will the symptoms be modified, and a corresponding modification of the treatment be required, although the general plan remains the same. Is inflammation of the womb, when it occurs in the pregnant condition, the cause of those morbid adhesions of the placenta which we meet with in the puerperal womb? I think it likely that adhesive matter, thrown out as a consequence of the inflammatory process, may, with great probability, be referred to as the cause, for we find, in these cases, that an extraordinary degree of pain has been felt in

some part of the uterus during gestation.

Treatment. - The treatment (as I have already hinted) of inflammation of the unimpregnated womb, should be regulated by its form, whether acute or chronic, and by the general constitution of the patient, whether she be strong and healthy, with a vigorous state of the circulation, or weakly and debilitated, the circulation being rapid and feeble. It should be remembered, that the uterus is an organ not actually essential to life, and not very sensitive, so that even if the disease should take on the active form, no very serious constitutional disturbance is excited at the commencement. Again, from its small size there can be no great extent of inflammation. In very few instances is general bleeding required, but in all, local abstraction of blood is necessary. This may be effected in two ways: either by the application of cupping-glasses to the loins, or of leeches in the immediate neighbourhood of the seat of disease. The greater amount of good is obtained by applying ten or fifteen leeches just within the os externum, and encouraging the oozing of blood from the parts by the use of a tepid bath; this will also prove highly beneficial by its acting as a fomentation; it should, therefore, be used for at least half an hour. In prescribing a repetition of the bleeding, you will be guided partly by its effect upon the disease itself, and partly from the influence it has had upon the female's constitution.

Purging must be employed with caution; two or three evacuations may be procured daily, by the use of any common aperient, but neither this remedy nor bleeding must be carried too far, more especially if the complaint arise in a delicate constitution, which it most frequently does, where much depressing medicine cannot be borne with impunity. A small quantity of any neutral salt, taken

every morning fasting, will answer the purpose very well.

Diaphoretics. — Determination to the skin is serviceable as assisting the equalization of the balance of the circulation, and acting upon the old principle of revulsion. For this purpose you prescribe solut. of acetate of ammon., 3 drachms; tartar emetic $\frac{1}{10}$ gr.; syrup of poppies, 1 drachm; camphor mixture, 1 ounce; a draught every four hours. Should there be great irritability, with

feeble vascular action, full doses of hyoscyamus or opium must be

given.

Diet. — Whilst you are careful in avoiding the use of a rich and stimulating diet, you will do well not to fall into the opposite extreme; the complaint, even when of the more active form, does not require starvation for its cure; a bland and at the same time a

moderately nourishing diet may be allowed.

In this disorder, and, indeed, we may speak generally, for the observation will apply to every other to which the human frame is obnoxious - the degree to which the antiphlogistic plan is to be . carried, can alone be judiciously determined by attention to what has been already urged upon you, viz., by observing the peculiarity of the individual's constitution, whether she be robust, and the circulation vigorous, or otherwise. And here let me remind you, that mere frequency of pulse does not at all indicate the propriety of active depletion, but rather the reverse; for we generally find the circulation to be the more rapid in proportion to the degree of debility present in the general system; and if antiphlogistic means were employed in these cases, it is quite clear we must of necessity aggravate the symptoms instead of diminishing them. I have already stated that suppression of the menses is one of the results of long-continued inflammation of the womb, and I mention it again to caution you against the use of stimulating emmenagogues, which, if given with a view of forcing the discharge, must be productive of great if not irreparable mischief, for an increase of inflammation would be the inevitable result. If the malady continue, and appear to be taking on the chronic form, mercury may be administered, but great caution is required with regard to this remedy, as it is apt to produce great irritation in weakly constitu-The form in which I have been in the habit of using it is the following: -Blue pill, 1 grain; extract of conium, 3 grains, thrice a day; comp. decoct. of sarsap. given at the same time will have a very soothing and beneficial effect, and enable the patient to bear the continued use of mercury longer than if no such remedy were employed. The bitter infusions in some instances may be advantageously substituted for sarsaparilla, and where the system is very much enfeebled, still more powerful tonics will be required. The diet must of course correspond with the general plan of treatment, being more or less generous, according to the particular circumstances of the case. I will only add, that in addition to this plan of treatment, the recumbent position must be kept to.

Complete restoration to health is almost always a very slow process. Many months frequently elapse before the strength is re-established; change of air, particularly removal to the sea-side, and the *tepid* and afterwards the cold bath, are useful, and we

might say necessary adjuvants.

We sometimes meet with considerable general enlargement of the substance of the uterus, as a consequence of chronic hysteritis, which in some cases has rapidly diminished after a somewhat sudden and rather copious discharge of blood: these effusions may be considered as very favourable in every form and degree of the

complaint.

Examination per vaginam will generally detect an alteration in the uterus, even in the early stage; it feels larger, fuller, and heavier; the pain will also be increased by the pressure of the finger. This will of course be more readily distinguished by those who are accustomed to examine the unimpregnated womb. One caution, in conclusion. Do not confound the sympathetic affection of the stomach with the original disease; many of our dyspeptic remedies are of a stimulating character, and would do harm in cases of inflammation.

INFLAMMATION OF THE OS AND CERVIX UTERI.

We have hitherto been considering inflammation as affecting the whole substance of the womb, but cases every now and then occur, where the upper parts are perfectly healthy, the disease being confined to the mouth and neck of the organ. The general symptoms very nearly resemble those of hysteritis, described in the former part of the lecture, but they occur in a slighter degree: patients complain, for example, of the same kind of uneasiness in the back and loins, great irritability of the bladder, with derangement of stomach, A dull heavy pain, at the upper part of the vagina, is also complained of, with an uncomfortable bearing-down sensation, this latter feeling often extending to the rectum. A white, opaque, slimy mucous discharge from the vagina is always present, the peculiarity of which will always assist the practitioner in his diagnosis, as it is present in no other variety of uterine disease. I will read to you a very accurate definition of its character, from the work of Sir Charles Clarke, "On the Diseases of Females," a book which ought to be in the library of every medical man, anxious to obtain information upon those subjects on which it treats, for it is clearly the product of experience and observation, not the act of a compiler. "This discharge," he observes, "is opaque, of a perfectly white colour, and it resembles, in consistence, a mixture of starch and water made without heat, or thin cream; it is easily washed from the fingers after an examination, and is capable of being diffused through water, rendering it turbid. A morbid state of the glands of the cervix of the uterus, probably gives rise to this discharge; at least the cases, in which it comes away, are those in which the symptoms are referred to that part; and when pressure is made upon it, the woman experiences considerable pain." In order to judge accurately, it is necessary, as Sir Charles Clarke rightly observes, to make the examination after the female has been for some time perfectly quiet, as the common transparent leucorrhœal discharge will sometimes appear thick and white after exertion; this is owing to a quantity of atmospheric air becoming entangled with it. Mark, however, the distinction drawn by Sir C. C.:—"Such a mixture of mucus and air will not render the water turbid with which it may be combined, and this forms a distinguishing mark between it and the white mucous discharge." The great difference in the quantity will also assist in the diagnosis between this and the leucorrhœal discharge, the latter often flowing in large, whilst the former always occurs in small quantities. After the disease has existed for a lengthened space of time, this white discharge is no longer observable, the secretion becomes decidedly purulent, and sometimes streaked with blood, so that, in ordinary cases, we do not perceive the diagnostic discharge, for the female at the beginning of the affection feels no inconvenience, with the exception of trifling pain; this, probably, too little to excite apprehension, or even attention, much less does she think it necessary to send for medical advice. Still, however, on inquiring into the early symptoms, you will be told that this

appearance has been observed.

A very careful vaginal examination is necessary before giving an opinion respecting the nature of the complaint. You will feel the os uteri to be tumid, the lips of which communicate to the finger the feeling of ædematous effusion. Pressure, I have already told you, gives a certain degree of pain, though, in many cases, this is not a very urgent symptom. The finger when withdrawn, is sometimes mixed with purulent matter, mingled with blood. The freedom of every part but the os uteri from disease, and the total absence of fœtor, will prevent you from confounding the disease with carcinoma of the uterus. From what has been already said, with regard to the few unpleasant symptoms produced, it is reasonable to believe that many of the cases get well without the medical man being referred to at all; at the same time it must be acknowledged, that the consequences of the disease are occasionally most painful, and, therefore, when the opportunity is afforded, means for arresting the progress of the inflammation, or for removing its effects, ought to be promptly had recourse to. The functions of the uterus are not necessarily interfered with, at any rate until the disease has existed for several months; menstruation and conception appear to take place just as readily as at other times.

Treatment. — If you are fortunate enough to be consulted soon after the commencement of the attack, you will be enabled to subdue it by very simple means, viz., by the observance of a moderately antiphlogistic plan. I have never known it necessary to bleed from the arm; but you will do well in every case to apply leeches to the os externum, or rather within the part; some have recommended that they should be inclosed in a tube, and carried up to the inflamed part itself; of this plan I have no practical experience, and should rather recommend you to be content with placing them near the seat of disease. The long-continued use of fomentations is advantageous after the bleeding. A warm injection of decoction of poppies, or conium, into the vagina, repeated

every four or five hours, has a remarkably soothing effect: the properties of these medicated waters have probably been somewhat overrated, but the faith of the patient will be greater, and hence the plan will be more likely to be persisted in, if something of the kind be recommended in preference to simple warm water. The recumbent position should be strictly preserved, the female not being allowed to sit up until the uneasiness has subsided. Guard against fecal accumulation; this would be injurious on many accounts; at the same time I would observe, that free purging is neither requisite nor proper; a simple laxative, which

will act once or twice daily, is all that will be needed.

This, then, is the treatment to be adopted in the more early stages; but if you have not an opportunity of seeing your patient until a later period, after it has, for instance, existed for many months, you will have a much more obstinate complaint to deal with. In consequence of this continuance of the inflammatory process, chronic thickening of the os and cervix uteri takes place; if this condition of the part be not removed by appropriate means, and the female should become pregnant, great and serious obstruction to the passage of the child's head will occur at the time of parturition, in consequence of the difficulty with which the os uteri dilates. I shall not very soon forget an extreme case of this kind which occurred some time since; the patient was attended by my esteemed friend Mr. Doubleday, of Blackfriars-road, in conjunction with myself. The woman's sufferings throughout nearly a whole night were most agonizing; the uterine efforts were frequent and powerful; the head of the child felt as if encircled by a thick ring or cartilage, and was with great difficulty expelled.

Where this thickening is known to exist, you will, from what I have just stated, perceive the importance of paying great attention, in order that its removal may be effected; but unless you explain the particular circumstances of the case to the patient herself, you can hardly expect her to persevere in the protracted plan of treatment which is often required. I know of no medicine on which you can place much reliance, excepting mercury given in the cautious manner which has been before recommended; sarsaparilla may be given at the same time, or, if needful, some more decided tonic. The mercury must be continued for 10 days, at least, after slight ptyalism has been induced; if you lay it aside earlier, you will fail of accomplishing your object; if there be some remains of inflammatory action, the occasional employment of leeches will be necessary, but in simple thickening, as a consequence of previous inflammation, it is not advisable to remove blood.

The advantage derived from the mercurial course, will, sooner or later (for the time varies in different women) become evident to the touch; the part will be felt to be smaller and softer, until at length the os uteri regains its natural size and shape, and, unless the constitution suffers, I should advise you not to discontinue the

remedy until this complete restoration of the parts has taken place; you can only proceed in this manner, however, with those who have been previously robust and healthy, for mercury is a most unmanageable remedy where the constitution is of the opposite character. Let me once again endeavour to impress upon your minds the necessity of great attention to these cases, not only from the reasons stated to you, but from a conviction, experienced in my own mind, that neglected chronic thickenings of the os uteri may lay the foundation of genuine scirrhus disease, where there exists in the system a disposition or tendency to cancer; just in the same way as a blow or fall upon the breast, by exciting inflammatory action, has been known to be the immediately exciting cause of carcinoma mammæ, where the latent disposition to that horrible disease has previously existed.

Common ulceration of the os uteri may also be the result of inflammation, which, although not dangerous to life, yet is attended with many unpleasant symptoms, and is often difficult of cure. Smarting pain is complained of; the discharge from the vagina will be mingled with that of the ulcer, whence it appears purulent or bloody. Examination per vaginam, in the ordinary manner, will generally discover the nature of the case; or you may use the speculum, an instrument of unquestionable utility, but I think oftentimes unnecessarily employed. The common method of examination is offensive enough to the feelings of a modest woman, and how much more must those feelings be shocked by a complete

exposure of the person.

Treatment. — Keep your patient perfectly quiet, in the horizontal position, and let warm decoction of poppies, or of hemlock, be frequently thrown up the vagina. Should the sore become indolent, you then use a stimulating lotion, such as a weak solution of nitrate of silver. Attention to the bowels is required, and regulation of the diet, according to circumstances. Formation of little abscesses, in the glandular structure surrounding the os uteri, is sometimes caused by chronic inflammation of the part; their existence is known by observing the vaginal discharge; it is purulent, and varies in quantity, being greater when the abscess bursts and first discharges its contents. The health is usually bad, and therefore constitutional means must be had recourse to. With regard to topical applications, warm fomentations should first be used, and afterwards stimulating injections.

LECTURE VII.

Malignant ulcer of the womb — generally occurs after menstruation has ceased.

— Symptoms in the early and in the more advanced stages of the disease. —
Peculiarity of the pain; disease commences in the membrane covering the os tincæ; differs in its appearance from carcinoma; substance of the uterus in general not affected. — Treatment, palliative, except at the commencement, before ulceration has taken place; treatment when ulceration has occurred; various other ulcerations of the os uteri. — Cauliflower excrescence; symptoms. — Sir Charles Clarke's opinion as to its cause. — Prognosis always unfavourable regarding life; favourable and unfavourable symptoms as to duration of life; may be mistaken for placental presentation.

MALIGNANT ULCER OF THE WOMB.

The os and cervix uteri are occasionally the seat of ulceration, which, from its character, has been termed "malignant," although it differs materially from what are usually called the malignant diseases, viz., cancer and hematoid fungus. Women are very seldom the subject of this affection until they arrive at the age when the monthly function of the womb ceases, and this observation will apply to most of the other dangerous varieties of uterine complaints, for as long as the local flow is continued, the tendency to morbid action appears to be prevented from developing itself; but when the vessels are no longer relieved by the evacuation, the hitherto latent germs of disease begin to manifest themselves, and, unless checked by appropriate treatment, soon acquire a fearful degree of

maturity.

Symptoms. — The symptoms which precede the formation of uleer are too frequently those which excite no alarm in the minds of our patients, particularly as they always expect some uneasy sensations at "the turn of life." A sense of heat in the vagina may be mentioned as one of the earliest signs, varying in intensity; in some hardly deserving the name of heat, the natural temperature being but slightly increased, whilst in others the sensation is described as being almost intolerable. A thin, acrimonious discharge is also noticed, its quantity sometimes very small, but its quality remarkably irritating, so that, unless cleanliness be observed, the surface over which it flows becomes inflamed, and afterwards excoriated. Soon, however, this discharge becomes purulent, often mixed with blood, and highly offensive. As the disease advances, there are occasional hemorrhages to a serious extent, produced in consequence of the coats of some of the larger vessels being destroyed by the ulcerative process.

The constitution soon gives way under these repeated drainings, the face becomes pale and sallow, muscular strength is diminished, the pulse feeble and rapid, and, in short, all the usual symptoms indicating prostration of the powers of life are observable. Pain is an uniform attendant on this form of uterine disease, but of a peculiar kind. When I speak of cancer I shall take occasion to repeat the observations, now about to be made, respecting the different kinds of pain experienced in the two diseases. In cancer, intense and agonizing pains are experienced, and these are described of a lancinating or stabbing character; in the malignant ulcer, they are designated of a burning or scalding kind, so that you could, from that circumstance, even prior to an examination, form a tolerably accurate opinion whether your patient were suffering under malignant or cancerous ulceration.

Malignant ulcer of the uterus commences in that portion of the vaginal membrane which is reflected over the mouth of the womb, soon extends over its whole surface, and, penetrating to the parts beneath, destroys entirely the os uteri; the cervix is next attacked, and in some rare cases the female has lived until nearly the whole

of the organ has been removed by ulceration.

I show you two very interesting specimens of the disease, one presented to me by my friend Mr. Pereira; the subject from whom it was taken was a patient of the General Dispensary, Aldersgatestreet, who died of fever. So little inconvenience was experienced, or at least so little impression was made upon her mind, that Mr. P.'s attention was not even directed to the uterus, and yet observe the ravages made by the ulcer; the whole mouth and part of the cervix completely gone. But notice also the upper portion of the organ; there is not the slightest apparent deviation from the healthy condition, no redness, no enlargement, no thickening. It is this circumstance which in so striking a manner characterises this variety of uterine ulcer. When you make an examination per vaginam, you easily distinguish by the touch to what extent absorption has taken place, but every part, with the exception of the actual seat of the ulcer, appears healthy. Even in some of the worst cases, where the bladder and the rectum have been involved, there has still been no thickening of the adjacent parts. In but few instances, however, do we find ulceration extending beyond the womb itself.

Treatment. — When ulceration of this kind has occurred, the powers of nature are never equal to restore the part to its natural condition; this I believe to be the concurrent testimony of our most celebrated practical men. Sir Charles Clarke says, "When once the ulcerative process has commenced in this disease, the part attacked by it never as far as the author's experience has gone, recovers its healthy structure, but increased action of the blood-vessels of the os uteri, which would eventually terminate in ulceration, may, probably, be diminished or controlled, so that the ulceration may not take place, and by such a mode of treatment

much advantage is gained."

Another author states, that though the cure of this ulcer is exceedingly difficult, and notwithstanding it is "nearly as severe as cancer itself," yet it has been cured by "mercury alone, or combined with hemlock, hyoscyamus, and other narcotics." My own

experience induces me to coincide in the opinion of Sir C. Clarke, and I therefore wish to impress upon your minds, I had almost said, the awful necessity of attending to the symptoms antecedent to the formation of ulcer. My opinion, formed from not a very limited circle of observation, is very decided as regards this and most other species of malignant disorganizations of the uterus; viz., that inflammation is their cause, the fons et origo mali ; that it is not essentially specific in its character, but observes the same laws, and yields to the same treatment, as any ordinary case of inflammation; that the specific character, which the disorder afterwards assumes, depends not upon the application of any peculiar exciting cause, but that the character of such disease is determined by the tendency which exists in the individual constitution; and, lastly, that therefore the same immediate cause produces in one, simple inflammation, with chronic enlargement; in a second, malignant ulcer; in a third, carcinoma; and in a fourth, cauliflower excrescence. Do not, therefore, as you value your own reputation, and the wellbeing of those patients who commit themselves to your care, do not negligently pass over, but, on the other hand, carefully attend to, the slightest symptoms of uterine uneasiness, more especially if they appear when the menstrual discharge is about finally to cease.

I have already told you, that in some the flow gradually lessens, and by degrees disappears without any uncomfortable sensations being experienced; this, however, though "a consummation devoutly to be wished," is not often the case, for almost every female, even where there is no tendency to malignant disease, feels some annoyance at this period, and as we seldom know beforehand what is the affection to which the constitution may be predisposed, it behoves us to treat every case with the same attention we should direct towards it if we were certain that life or death would be the

result of our remedial plan.

Suppose, then, a patient applies to you at about the age of fortyfive, complaining of heat in the genitals, pain in the back, dragging sensations about the hips, uneasy feelings in passing urine, with or without tenesmus, do not dismiss her with such a sentence as this, "Well madam, you must expect all these uneasy feelings at your age, but if you have patience they will subside." True, they might disappear, but it is equally true that these symptoms are very often the forerunners of fatal diseases; consider, therefore, such a case to be at least of threatened malignancy, and attack it accordingly. The removal of blood will be suggested to your mind as likely to relieve incipient inflammatory action; in some persons who are of plethoric habit, where there is force as well as frequency of the arterial circulation, it may be removed from the arm, but in most, cupping from the loins, or leeching the vulva, will be sufficient; the latter method I would recommend, believing it advisable to empty the vessels in the immediate neighbourhood of the disease. After the lapse of a longer or shorter interval, which must vary according to the circumstances of each case, the bloodletting should be repeated. If, after the application of the leeches, discharge of a leucorrhœal character makes its appearance, you may regard it as a good sign, and should by no means endeavour to check it.

Purging, to a moderate extent, is required, and for that purpose you employ the alkaline aperient prescribed in a former lecture, with or without the hyoscyamus, as the nature of the case may require. Although powerful purgatives, as is well known, will, in many instances, quickly reduce inflammatory action, yet here, from the proximity of the rectum to the womb, if you were by drastic aperients to act violently upon the former you would of necessity irritate the latter. A warm hip-bath, the temperature of which is not very high, say from 90 to 93 degrees, should be used every evening, the immersion to be continued until a slight degree of faintness is beginning to be felt; after this a sufficient quantity of any anodyne may be given to procure rest for the night. Longcontinued fomentation of the part itself will often lessen pain, and this may be easily effected by throwing up the vagina, by means of a syringe, warm decoction of poppies or of hemlock; the diet must necessarily be abstemious, and everything which excites the action of the parts avoided; should the female be married, she should be advised to separate from her husband for a time.

This treatment, then, is proper, and, in many cases, will be successful if you have an opportunity of putting it into practice before ulceration has taken place; when, however, you have the ulcer actually formed, you must, I fear, entertain very slender hopes of a cure, although, by proper management, relief, to a certain

extent, may be obtained.

It is of the first importance that the offensive discharge be removed from the parts, and not suffered to irritate the delicate vaginal membrane; warm fomentations, before mentioned, will answer your purpose very well at first; but when the discharge is in large quantity, or where hemorrhage supervenes, some cold astringent solution is to be substituted, e. g., a weak solution of sulphate of zinc, sulphate of copper, &c., in decoction of oak bark or galls. A pencil of nitrate of silver has been used by some, introduced through the speculum, and applied to the ulcer itself, with a view of destroying the diseased ulceration, and of producing a healthy sore beneath. I am not prepared to say that this would be a useless application where the disorder is confined to a small surface; at the same time, the irritation produced is so great, that a reasonable doubt may be entertained respecting its efficacy; it is a plan not adopted by myself. The operation of cutting away the os and part of the cervix uteri, as proposed and practiced by Lisfranc, would be much more likely to remove the disease altogether, but of this I cannot speak from experience.

The horizontal posture must be constantly kept to; you cannot too strongly enforce upon the mind of your patient the necessity of

strict obedience in this particular. Where the strength is failing, and emaciation rapidly advancing, a more nutritious diet will be required, care being taken to avoid stimulants; a tonic remedial plan is also indicated; the mineral acids are very agreeable, and serviceable also; they may be combined with any bitter infusion; the hydrochloric acid is peculiarly grateful to a weakened stomach, though sometimes it disturbs the bowels.

Other ulcerations are sometimes seen on the neck of the womb, such as the syphilitic, scrofulous, &c.; these should be treated in the same manner as when they are externally situated. In scrofulous abscess of the glands of the os uteri, the cheesy-looking matter, peculiar to that affection, will pass away mixed with the

vaginal discharges.

CAULIFLOWER EXCRESCENCE OF THE OS UTERI.

This disease has been so designated, from the tumour bearing some resemblance in its texture to the vegetable of that name; it consists of a larger or smaller swelling, which possesses a considerable degree of firmness, made up of an indefinite number of projecting bodies, varying in size and figure, being in some parts rough, in others smooth. It grows from the exterior of the os uteri, and has never yet been discovered within the cavity. The enlargement in some is rapid, in others slow; this depends upon the constitution, in part, and partly upon the condition of the

vagina, whether it be relaxed or firm.

The tumour is covered over by a membrane, which secretes a limpid, watery fluid, the quantity of which necessarily depends upon the size of the swelling, as it is poured out from the whole of its surface; whenever, therefore, the discharge is copious, we may be assured, before an examination has been made, that we shall find extensive disease; at the commencement there will be little more than the ordinary moisture of the parts; this will increase until it becomes inconvenient to the patient; but as no pain is felt, her mind is not impressed with the idea that she is labouring under disease; at length the constitutional powers begin to fail, the countenance becomes sallow, and great weakness supervenes, or, perhaps, she is alarmed by the sudden irruption of a large quantity of blood; this hemorrhage may occur spontaneously, or, probably, be brought on by exercise, or by some sudden concussion of the body; where this has once taken place it is apt to be renewed by very slight causes, and then the powers of the system are speedily reduced. Sir G. Clarke remarks, that fatal syncope has been known to follow one of these hemorrhagic attacks; ædema is a very common attendant in the latter stages of the complaint, the patient being carried off by dropsical effusions into some of the eavities of the body, and thus may be said to have been destroyed by the remote effects of her original disease. In the post-mortem inspection of those who have died from cauliflower excrescence,

no distinct tumour, but a mere flocculent appearance, has been observed, growing from the os uteri. With the cause producing the disease we are not fully acquainted; it seems, however, to be a vascular and, in fact, an arterial tumour, and the conjecture of Sir C. Clarke appears so reasonable, that I shall read to you what he has said respecting it: - "Hitherto it has not been ascertained what circumstances produce in the parts a disposition to take on the formation of this disease. It might be conjectured that an injury inflicted upon the os uteri in labour, either by the head of the child, or by violent attempts made to dilate it, might become an exciting cause; but many examples are to be met with, in which such injury has been done to the os uteri, and no such disease has followed. Married women who have never been pregnant - nay, single women - are liable to the complaint, in whom no violence can have been offered to the os uteri; it cannot be traced to any syphilitic cause; the common prostitutes of this metropolis are by no means more liable to it than any similar number of women in different stations of life. The disease arises as often in the strong and in the robust, as in the weak; in persons who live in the country, as those who live in large towns; in those whose situation in life obliges them to labour, as well as in those who, from their rank in society, sometimes consider themselves privileged to be useless members of it. No period of life, after the age of twenty, seems to be exempt from the disease. The author has known it fatal at the age of twenty; and he has met with the disease at different periods of life up to old age. The complaint may arise, perhaps, before the woman has reached her twentieth year, but no such case has occurred in the experience of the author.

"It has been observed above, that arterial blood escapes from the tumour when injured; indeed, the tumour appears to be made up of a congeries of blood-vessels, and those blood-vessels, arteries; the infinitely small branches of these vessels, terminating upon the surface of the tumour, exhale in the most abundant manner an aqueous fluid. Perhaps some small arteries near the os uteri may undergo that morbid dilatation of their coats which is analogous to aneurism in larger trunks, and thus the disease may be produced. Something similar to this takes place in the arterial or blood-red nævus; but there, the surface being covered by cutis and cuticle, no moisture of the part is met with; but if the surface of such a nævus be injured, arterial blood escapes. May such a state of blood-vessels exist at the time of birth, remain con-. cealed in early life, from the very small quantity of blood which circulates in the organs of generation at that age, and be developed at that period at which blood rushes with greater force, and in greater quantity, to enlarge those organs, and in the female to render them fit for the performance of new duties? It may be that the increased circulation which is present at puberty, may not be sufficient to elicit the phenomena of the complaint; the stimulus of marriage may be required in some, whilst in others the further development of the organs in pregnancy, or the exertions of labour

may be necessary to call forth the morbid symptoms of such hitherto dormant disease."

The vaginal examination of these patients should be conducted with caution, as a rough examination would break down the

tumour, and produce considerable hemorrhage.

Prognosis. - When called upon to give an opinion, it must be always unfavourable as regards life; but there are circumstances to be taken into the account with regard to its probable duration. The favourable symptoms are, 1st, The health of the female not being impaired. 2dly, The tumour being small, not occupying the whole of the os uteri, but only a portion of it; the discharge being in proportion to the extent of surface from whence it flows will here be much less; again, the blood-vessels are smaller, and, therefore, hemorrhage will be much less profuse. 3dly, A firm and contracted state of the vagina, the pressure of which tends much to retard the growth of the tumour. 4thly, The female being unmarried. Whatever determines blood to the part will more or less cause an increase of the swelling, as it is entirely composed of arteries. Moreover, repeated coitus will relax the parietes of the vagina, thus producing a double disadvantage, for you not only have an increased flow of blood to the tumour, but a diminution of resistance on the part of the vagina; if, then, the patient be unmarried, the chance of life being prolonged is much greater. The unfavourable signs are the reverse of these; the patient's constitution giving way, the tumour occupying the whole surface of the os uteri, the discharge profuse, the vagina relaxed, and, lastly, the patient being married. Again, if married, she may become pregnant; when from the greatly-increased capacity of the uterine arteries during that state, the tumour rapidly increases in size.

If a female affected with cauliflower excrescence should prove with child, and you have no opportunity of examining before labour comes on, you would, probably, at first mistake the case for placental presentation, in consequence of the profuseness of the hemorrhage, for the blood will then come away in most alarming

quantities.

I have already told you there is no cure for this disease. In the next lecture we shall consider what means are best adapted for the relief of those unfortunate individuals who are the subjects of it.

LECTURE VIII.

Treatment of cauliflower excrescence of the os uteri. — Necessity of commencing early; treatment at its commencement; bloodletting; application of cold; straight syringe to be preferred; quietude necessary; recapitulation.—Treatment in the more advanced stage; symptoms attending that stage; indications; remedies required, local and constitutional; ligature; means of distinguishing this excrescence from placental presentation; treatment when occurring at the time of labour.—Carcinoma uteri, not always begins in the cervix.—Definition of scirrhus; symptoms; danger of confounding the symptoms with those of dyspepsia; character of the pain. — Ulcerated carcinoma; symptoms; does not of necessity prevent impregnation.

TREATMENT OF CAULIFLOWER EXCRESCENCE.

If the treatment of this disease be begun sufficiently early, the female's life may be greatly prolonged; and not only so, but may be rendered tolerably comfortable, as the complaint, throughout its whole progress, is attended with a very inconsiderable degree of pain. The want of this success is in most cases to be attributed to delay on the part of the sufferer herself, in not applying for advice until the most favourable period has passed over; however, to use a homely maxim, "if we cannot do all we could wish, it is our duty to do all we can." Now, what is the disease we are anxious to relieve? Coinciding in opinion with Sir Charles Clarke, I reply, that it is a morbid growth or enlargement of blood-vessels. action of those vessels is capable of being excited by anything which increases the force of the general circulation. Here, then, is your first indication, viz., to prevent or to moderate vascular action generally, and thus, as a matter of course, to lessen the action of the vessels forming the swelling. This indication is more certainly fulfilled by removing blood from the arm; ten or twelve ounces may be safely drawn away, if the constitution be healthy, and the pulse beating with force.

If the strength be reduced, and the system unable to bear this abstraction of blood, you must be content with cupping the loins, or the use of leeches to the vulva, groins, or perineum. Recollect I am now speaking of the treatment of the disease in its early stage. I shall have occasion, presently, to tell you of a different plan required after it has existed for a length of time, and where it has produced its debilitating and exhausting effects upon the system.

Upon bloodletting, judiciously employed, and, where necessary, occasionally repeated, great reliance is to be placed; not only for retarding the growth of the tumour, but even for diminishing its size, for a time at least. I mentioned, in my last lecture, that a tonic and contracted condition of the vagina was to be regarded amongst the favourable signs, the pressure or resistance of which would prevent a sudden increase of the morbid excrescence. This

will open to your minds a second indication, and you will make use of such local applications as have a tendency to preserve this contraction, or to restore it where relaxation has taken place. You know already, from what has been observed in former lectures, that cold, properly employed, has great power in effecting this object. In some cases, frequent ablution of the parts in the neigh-

bourhood will be useful.

The most effectual method of applying cold with which I am acquainted, is to procure a large bladder, about half-filled with pounded ice, and lay it over the lower part of the abdomen; it is also much more comfortable for the female, as she will be kept perfectly dry, whereas, if you use the cold water in the ordinary way, no care will be sufficient to prevent the bed-clothes from becoming wetted, and this will add greatly to the annoyance of the patient. Injections of iced water into the vagina should at the same time be employed; a common straight female syringe is the best instrument to effect this purpose, the nurse being cautioned not to introduce it more than one inch beyond the os externum. There is a great objection to the long-tubed syringe (so serviceable on many other occasions) on this account, that as the tumour is easily broken down by slight pressure, a degree of injury might be inflicted by the extremity of that tube, sufficient to produce an alarming hemorrhage. It is, probably, better in the first instance for the medical man to perform the operation himself, that the attendant may see the proper mode of doing it. I need hardly say, that all stimuli, whether topical or general, would of necessity greatly interfere with your remedies; perfect quietude is required, and everything likely to excite the system, whether physical or mental, is to be studiously guarded against. You well know, that even when the body is in a state of quiescence, the circulation may be greatly disturbed by powerful emotions of the mind; by whatsoever cause this effect is produced, the disease will be increased. Confinement to the couch is also absolutely indispensable, in order that the influence of gravity may not have an unfavourable effect in producing enlargement of the swelling, by allowing the vessels to become distended with blood. As so little pain or inconvenience is felt by the patient, it will be right for you to explain to her the nature of the case, and your reasons for insisting so strongly upon this position, or she may, perhaps, think you are subjecting her to an unnecessarily severe regimen; and an indiscreet deviation from the plan laid down will be the very probable result. A soluble state of the bowels should be preserved; this is exceedingly important; first, because a constipated condition of bowel would have a directly injurious effect upon the parts in the neighbourhood; and, secondly, because strong muscular straining efforts, for the purpose of expelling hardened fæces, would be very likely to break away portions of the excrescence, and produce effusions of blood. On the other hand, when diarrhoea supervenes, it should be immediately restrained, as its weakening effects are highly prejudicial. The diet must be simple and unstimulating; fish, poultry, and the animal jellies form an useful and not unpleasant bill of fare; you will, of course, allow neither fermented nor spirituous drinks.

Let us shortly recapitulate the several means to be employed in the early stage. First, venesection or topical bleeding repeated occasionally; secondly, the application of cold; thirdly, the employment of mild laxatives; fourthly, the use of a spare diet; and

fifthly, the strict maintenance of the recumbent posture.

We now pass on, and shall speak of the treatment of the more advanced stages. This must necessarily be very different. The constitutional powers are here sinking; the patient is exhausted by a constant drain, of reddish colour, with occasional gushes of florid arterial blood; various hysterical symptoms are present, palpitation of the heart, a sensation of choking, and so on; the countenance is pale; the lips livid; the pulse feeble and rapid; and, perhaps, a general state of ædema has supervened. What are your indications here? They are two; to constringe the vessels of the tumour, and thereby to lessen the discharge, and to rally the sinking powers of the constitution. For the accomplishment of the first, powerfully astringent injections are required, e. g., a solution of alum in water, decoction of galls, or decoction of oak bark; sulphate of copper or sulphate of zinc may be substituted for alum, in some cases. applications will also have the effect of contracting the vagina, an object of no mean importance in the treatment of these affections.

The powers of the constitution are to be supported by tonic medicines, and by as nourishing a diet as the stomach will bear, or, rather, digest. The more solid food, such as a mutton-chop, is to be preferred, if the patient can take it; if not, strong soups, or raw eggs beaten up with milk or water, with the addition of a little white wine, nutmeg, and sugar may be substituted. Where exhaustion is rapidly advancing, you will find it necessary to administer small quantities of stimulants, occasionally throughout the day; great circumspection is, however, required in their employment, lest the circulation be too much excited, and the dis-

charge be thereby increased.

I have little to say with regard to medicines, as they frequently require to be varied. Capsicum and quinine pills, given an hour before dinner, and the mineral acids continued at intervals throughout the day, are among the best you can employ; if these do not appear to succeed, other tonics should be tried. I have found the larger doses of tinct. ferri. muriat., of essential service in these cases, giving from fifteen to twenty-five minims thrice or four times a-day, in an ounce of camphor mixture. I have at this moment a lady under my care in whom the hemorrhage has been greatly restrained by the tincture, although there can be no doubt that the disease is advancing, and that it will certainly prove fatal. Still you know it is the duty of the medical man to relieve, and to prolong life where he cannot preserve it. With this view it has

been proposed to tie a ligature around part of the tumour, not with the hope of permanent good, but for the purpose of restraining the flow of blood for a time by closing the vessels. When the ligature has come away, the growth continues to increase, and the female is soon in the condition she was in prior to its application. I have never met with a case myself wherein I felt justified in recommending this plan; others, however, have done so, and I, therefore, urge it upon your consideration, neither warmly recommending, nor absolutely condemning it.

A profuse hemorrhage sometimes destroys the patient in a very sudden manner, by producing mortal syncope, whilst in others, especially those whose constitutions were previously healthy, life is protracted to a longer period, the strength being more gradually

worn out.

At the conclusion of our last lecture I told you, that if a patient whilst labouring under this disease, should unfortunately become pregnant, and proceed to the full term of gestation, the hemorrhage would be most alarming. This is the natural result of the injury inflicted upon the vascular excrescences by the pressure of the head of the child. If the tumour is large, you will find it occupying the upper part of the vagina, and, on examination, your first impression will be, that it is a presentation of the placenta. Examine with care, and you will at once correct this mistake. in mind, in the first place, the part from whence the cauliflower excrescence grows, the exterior of the womb. It has never been found within its cavity. I am aware (for I have experienced this difficulty in practice) that you cannot at all times trace the swelling up to its attachment. The finger, if I may use the expression, becomes entangled in the various lobes of which the tumour is composed, and does not reach the upper part of the vagina, so that you feel at first nothing but a confused lobular mass, the os uteri and the child being beyond the easy reach of the finger.

Now just contrast this with the presentation of the placenta. If you are called early in the labour, you discover the substance presenting altogether within the cavity of the womb, not at all interfering with the os uteri; the degree of its dilatation can be as easily ascertained as in a natural labour. Nor is any difficulty experienced in reaching the womb, even in those cases where, from the violence of the uterine efforts, a portion of the placenta has been pushed through the os uteri. The child may often be distinctly felt behind it, and whatever the mass may be, you easily discover that it grows from withip, and not on the outside of the

iterus.

In cases of cauliflower excrescence, if the parturient action does not speedily expel the child, delivery must be effected by art; and if the tumour be large, it is better to lessen the bulk of the head by performing the operation of craniotomy. The life of the woman will, under all circumstances, be in great jeopardy, in consequence of the blood necessarily lost. Should she survive the shock of labour, the plan already detailed to you should be pursued with vigour, and all future intercourse with her husband prohibited.

CARCINOMA OF THE WOMB.

Of all the malignant disorganizations of the uterus, cancer is the most frequent. It sometimes attacks females in the very prime of life, but is most commonly developed after the catamenial secretion has ceased. The true scirrhus enlargement of the womb, which ends in cancerous ulceration, very generally commences at the cervix uteri; so commonly does this happen that some authors have asserted that the genuine disease has never been known to begin in the body of the womb. The preparation which I hold in my hand, proves this opinion not to be correct, for here the ulceration commenced high up, and gradually extended downwards. Sennertus, in his work "On the Diseases of Women," was quite aware of the fact just adverted to, for he says, "Etsi cancer etiam ipsi uteri substantiae accidere potest, tamen hoc rarius accidit, et vixtum satis cognoscitur, multo minus curatur; frequenter vero in cervice uteri generatur, quapropter hoc loco de eo agemus."

Before proceeding further, it is right for me to say, that I restrict the term scirrhus to that hardened formation which, if not checked in its progress, will inevitably end in ulcerated carcinoma. These morbid growths seldom acquire a large size, and, therefore, differ very materially from that diseased mass into which the uterus is occasionally converted, and in consequence of which it sometimes acquires an enormous magnitude; this is what has been termed indolent scirrhus," but as it does not ulcerate, and appears more closely to resemble tubercle, I shall describe this variety of disease

under the name of "tuberculated uterus."

Carcinoma of the uterus, I have said, generally begins at the cervix, either by a firm and distinct tumour, or, which is more frequently the case, by a general enlargement and thickening of the part. The symptoms attending the beginning of the disease are slight; women seldom apply for relief until, upon examination, you find such changes have taken place, which could not have occurred in a very short space of time; and if you occasionally examine a patient who has submitted herself to proper treatment, you will observe the changes to be taking place very slowly. The preparation which I now show you, was taken from the body of a female who had been for six years a patient of a neighbouring dispensary; during the whole of that period she laboured under the symptoms of carcinoma.

Leucorrhœal discharge, in a greater or lesser degree, is present in the very early stages of scirrhus uteri; it is sometimes streaked with blood, more especially if much exercise be taken, or the woman indulge in stimulating food or drink, and in some cases free hemorrhage is induced, the quantity being sufficient to alarm her mind. After a while, uneasiness and a sense of weight are complained of, with darting pains about the hypogastrium, aching pains in the back and loins, extending forward to the upper and inner part of the thigh. If menstruation has not ceased, it becomes more profuse, and blood is mixed with the secretion; after this local evacuation, the tumour generally remains stationary for a

time, and the pain is somewhat relieved.

The stomach, as usual, sympathises with the womb; there is often want of appetite, nausea, vomiting, heartburn, with other symptoms characterising dyspepsia; care is required not to confound these with the original disease, which you might do, I had almost said, without blame, in some instances; many women are so exceedingly diffident, that, even when consulting their medical adviser, they will conceal every circumstance which would direct attention to the genital organs, unless you were to put what the lawyers call "leading questions" to them. In all cases of female disorders, particularly when they occur about the "critical period," the state of the uterus should form a very principal object of your inquiry, and should you suspect any disease, let your patient be immediately submitted to a careful examination per vaginam. Frequent inclination to pass water is a very common symptom, sometimes the mere result of the close sympathy which exists between the womb and the bladder, at other times the result of a disordered condition of the mucous membrane of this latter organ. The pain attending carcinoma, I have before mentioned, is of a peculiarly lancinating or stabbing kind, and you will generally observe that this pain is greatly aggravated at periods; these are, however, very uncertain, both as regards their duration and the intervals between them. Should hemorrhage occur during one of these attacks the pain will be relieved. If you make an examination before the ulcerative process is established, you will feel the os uteri to be more open than usual, and irregular in its figure; in this respect, however, there are great variations; in some you may, without the slightest difficulty, introduce the top of the finger, which will appear as if surrounded by a thick, cartilaginous ring, so great a change having been effected in the natural structure of the part. Where this substance is easily broken down by pressure, you will find, on examination, that the finger is tinged with blood, and this may always be regarded as an unfavourable sign, as it marks that kind of softening which immediately precedes ulceration. An examination by the rectum should be made also, as a scirrhous affection of the bowel, producing somewhat similar symptoms, is occasionally to be met with.

When ulceration has taken place, the most dreadful state of suffering awaits the unfortunate patient; the pains become agonizing, and experience but little remission; there are frequent hemorrhages in consequence of the coats of the arteries being destroyed: the discharge, instead of consisting of mucus, becomes changed into a sort of purulent ichor, most irritating to the surfaces over which it flows, and of an almost intolerably offensive smell;

in one of the last cases of carcinoma, which I was called upon to superintend, the fætor was distinguishable as soon as the street-door was opened, although the house was of large size; this circumstance adds greatly to the annoyance, not only of the sufferer herself, but of all around her. The bladder in front, or the rectum behind, or both, are frequently laid open by the extension of the process of ulceration, and then, in addition to the symptoms already enumerated, the urine and fæces pass involuntarily. I need not tell you that the fætor of the discharge is thereby greatly increased, and that it is rendered much more irritating to the genitals. It is scarcely possible to imagine a state of greater bodily torment than it often experienced at this stage of carcinomatous disorder; these cases are rendered doubly afflictive by the absolute certainty of there being no cure, and the great uncertainty of obtaining even a little relief, our hopes being often disappointed in this respect.

Horrible as is this disease, it does not always prevent impregnation; observe the preparation on the table before you. I will shortly relate the particulars of the case, so far as I had myself an opportunity of witnessing them. The poor woman from whom this uterus was taken resided in this neighbourhood; she became pregnant, went to the full period of gestation, and was delivered by one of the midwives belonging to the Royal Maternity Charity. Her labour, she informed me, was remarkably favourable. visited her for the first time about three weeks after confinement, when she complained of the most excruciating torture in her back; the discharge from the vagina was very fætid, the pulse rapid, but feeble; there was a fiery-red appearance of the tongue, and an obstinately constipated condition of the bowels. On examination, the vagina and rectum appeared to be nearly blocked up by a hardened mass, consisting of a number of tubercular feeling bodies, which, I supposed, were the glands of the bowel and vagina in a state of scirrhous enlargement; the os uteri could not be felt. You will see why it could not, if you look at the preparation; the part had been completely destroyed by ulceration. The parts in the neighbourhood of the uterus were greatly indurated and thickened. On making pressure above the pubis great tenderness was complained of. You will often find this to be the case; it arises from the peritoneal covering of the womb becoming inflamed Peritonitis often occurs to a great extent, so that, on inspecting the body after death, you find extensive adhesions to have taken place as the result of this inflammation. To return to the case, however, the patient's complaint continued to advance, and soon extended into the rectum; colliquative diarrhoa then came on, which I was unable to restrain, although sedatives and astringents were employed. The bladder also gave way, producing a frightful mass of disease; the three passages, namely, that of the bladder, the vagina, and the rectum, being laid into one. This individual lived three weeks after I first saw her, making a period of six weeks after her delivery.

I once more call your attention to the difference in the appearances of this malady when contrasted with malignant ulcer. In carcinoma the whole uterus is thickened, enlarged, and indurated, and, indeed, all the adjoining parts become so; the upper portion of the vagina is as completely scirrhus as the womb itself, rendering it difficult in the latter stages to determine where the vagina ends and the uterus begins. Look again at this preparation; you will observe that the cellular membrane at the posterior part of the rectum is converted into a substance at least an inch in thickness.

Now, no such appearances are observed in the malignant ulcer; there is the ulcer, greater or less in different persons, but beyond it and around it there is a healthy appearance of parts. When you have once had an opportunity of examining a case of true carcinoma, there is hardly a possibility of your confounding it with malignant ulcer. This peculiar condition of the surrounding parts will also prevent your mistaking it for any other uterine affection.

These, then, are the symptoms which characterise the beginning and progress of one of the most distressing and deadly diseases to which the human body is obnoxious; when we meet again I shall consider the various means which are best adapted for its alleviation, I wish I could say for its cure.

LECTURE IX.

Treatment of carcinoma uteri; might be prevented from developing itself if treatment were begun sufficiently early; cases illustrating this point. — Treatment of scirrhus uteri; age at which it generally commences; necessity for careful investigation; antiphlogistic remedies required at the onset; local applications; regimen; variety of medicines recommended at different times; vegetable diet and distilled water. — Ulcerated carcinoma: progress of the ulceration; symptoms; treatment merely palliative; local applications; opium; appearances noticed on dissection; extirpation of the womb proposed by Dr. Blundell; opinion respecting it; Sir Astley Cooper's advice; fungoid tumour of the uterus; character of the disease; symptoms and progress; ulceration may take place in various situations; treatment, palliative. — Neuralgia of uterus: character of the pain; increased during the menstrual period; illustrative case; general appearance of patients labouring under uterine neuralgia; os uteri sometimes swollen; state of the vagina; leucorrhœa sometimes present.

TREATMENT OF CARCINOMA UTERI.

I NEED not tell you, Gentlemen, that we possess no remedy which is capable of curing cancerous affections, whether of the womb or of any other part, and yet I believe many cases of threatened carcinoma might be adverted, had we the opportunity of attacking first symptoms, before the specific character of the disease has

developed itself; for, however we may differ in opinion from those who consider cancer to be the mere result of common inflammatory action, still I must again express my belief, that in a multitude of instances, if not in all, inflammation, and that of a common kind, brings into action what might otherwise have lain dormant in the constitution; and, further, that where proper attention has been paid to this previous condition of the womb, the development of cancer has been altogether prevented. Two cases recur to my remembrance where the symptoms were those I have described to you as indicating scirrhus, and where there was also that stony hardness which in so striking a manner characterises this kind of tumour; nevertheless, both patients recovered perfectly, the hardened deposit being removed by absorption. One of these females was brought exceedingly low, in consequence of frequent hemorrhage, under which she suffered for upwards of a year. I am inclined, however, to believe that the loss of blood contributed in no trifling degree to the perfection of the cure. The result of this case gave me unmixed satisfaction, and has amply repaid me for many apparently unsuccessful attempts to administer relief in similar circumstances.

Treatment of Scirrhus. - The disease generally, though by no means universally, commences about the 45th year of a female's age, or, at least, makes but little progress prior to the cessation of menstruation, and hence, as before noticed, the necessity of making special inquiry into the state of the uterus at that particular time. The first symptoms are, you have been told, inflammatory, and, therefore, the first remedy must be antiphlogistic; in determining, however, the extent to which this plan should be pursued, great discrimination is required; the condition of the uterus, on the one hand, and of the system in general, on the other, should be carefully investigated. The local inflammation is sometimes of a very decided character, and the constitution in a vigorous, nay, in a plethoric condition; and here the propriety of abstracting blood from the arm cannot be questioned. In other cases, and these constitute a considerable majority, general bleeding is improper, and then you will find relief from the application of leeches to the vulva, or cupping-glasses to the loins. Carefully observe the effects of the bleeding, both as regards the uterus and the system at large; it will generally be necessary to repeat the operation occasionally, at intervals proportioned to the circumstances of each individual A moderately relaxed state of the bowels should be constantly preserved, but violent purgatives are decidedly improper; still, however, it is better to select those which produce a certain degree of watery discharge, as your object is not simply to empty the bowels, but also, in a measure, to lower the system. Perfect quietude of body, in the recumbent position, forms a very essential part of the remedial plan; and as all powerful mental emotions have the effect of disturbing the circulation, the mind should also be preserved in as tranquil a state as possible. In those whose

constitutions have not been enfeebled, the aperient medicines may be employed for a week or two, and then you may have recourse to the mild mercurial plan recommended already to your notice, when we described chronic inflammation of the womb; the effect of the mercury must be narrowly watched, that the patient may not be weakened by its protracted use. Food should be taken in sparing quantities, and its quality mild and unstimulating; small doses of ext. of hyoscyami, taken at bed-time, will often relieve irritability and procure sleep. The proper local applications are those which encourage the mucous secretion of the vagina, such as the warm decoction of poppies or of hemlock, and these ought to be employed at least four times within the twenty-four hours, the patient using, at the same time, a hip-bath nightly. Even in the early stages of scirrhus uteri, some females are liable to hemorrhages, and where the quantity of blood lost is considerable, the pain is usually relieved for a time; unless, therefore, it be excessive, no attempts should be made to restrain it; if the loss of blood should be sufficient to weaken the constitutional powers, the common treatment for the arrest of uterine hemorrhage will be required.

The longer you can retard the ulcerative process the longer you will keep the disease at bay, and as local stimuli must necessarily have a tendency to hasten on this event, it becomes of the utmost consequence for the female, if married, to have a separate bed from her husband. I have just stated the diet should be light, and the quantity such that the stomach may at no time be rendered uneasy from distention. Where there is an acid state of stomach, no food which has a tendency to pass into the acetous fermentation must be allowed; you will, in these cases, recommend small portions of animal food, broths, and so on, in preference to vegetable diet. Alkaline remedies are here indicated; 15 minims of liquor potassæ, with or without a laxative, as circumstances may require, exhibited twice or thrice a day, will generally afford relief; or you may prescribe half a drachm of magnesia suspended in a glass of milk.

There is no disease for the cure of which a greater variety of medicines has been, from time to time, recommended. The vegetable kingdom has been explored by some, and conium, aconitum, sarsaparilla, &c., &c., have had their advocates; others have employed the various metals, and have been loud in their praises of the different preparations of iron, antimony, gold, arsenic, &c. All have, however, with the exception of a few unprincipled quacks, at length arrived at the same conclusion, viz., that we possess no

specific remedy for cancer.

I must not omit to notice the opinion of a certain physician now living (to whom the term quack is not intended to apply) with regard to the disease, viz., that it may really be cured by a very simple method. According to his notion, all you have to do is to desire the patient to live upon vegetables alone, and to drink nothing but distilled water. Absurd as the practice appears at first view, still I think it not unlikely that the total abstinence from

stimulation, which this plan enforces, may, in the very early stage, be attended with advantage; but, certainly, not at every period, whether ulceration have taken place or not, as recommended by the author.

These, then, are the remedial means to be made use of in scirrhus of the uterus; and I conclude my observations on the subject by earnestly imploring you not to imagine, because the disease is generally fatal, that therefore nothing can ever be done effectually for the patient's relief. I confidently restate my conviction, that much may be accomplished at the commencement, not only in the way of palliation, but for the eventual arrest of its progress,—insurmountable difficulties, which, it is confessed, we frequently meet with, being the result of delay, this manifestly arising from the slight, and, to the patient, unimportant symptoms which cha-

racterise its first and only curable stage.

Treatment of ulcerated carcinoma. - The patient's sufferings are, in this stage, greatly increased; the discharge becomes highly offensive, irritating, and greatly increased in quantity; the bloodvessels become destroyed, and hence there are frequent and large effusions of blood. The constitution is greatly impaired, partly, doubtless, from the hemorrhage, and partly, probably, from absorption of morbid matter into the system; the countenance is sallow, the eyes sunken, the pulse quick and feeble; ulceration advances, and the bladder is opened; the urine then passes involuntarily, and the fætor of the discharges is thereby greatly increased, or the rectum may be ulcerated into, and the patient will then have no control over her fæces: before this takes place, however, there is frequently difficulty in procuring evacuations, owing to pressure of the surrounding thickened parts upon the bowel. In one case, a difficulty of this kind was produced by the pressure of a number of enlarged and hardened glands situated along the course of the vagina. The inguinal glands frequently are involved in the disease, so that the central parts of the patient become one mass of disease, and this of the most painful kind.

After the occurrence of ulceration, all hopes of a cure must be abandoned; but we should endeavour by every means within our power to alleviate the misery of our suffering patient. Her state, however, is truly deplorable, and it frequently happens, that the best directed and most judicious means fail even to afford tempo-

rary relief; still it is your duty to make the attempt.

First, then, on the list of palliative measures, I would place cleanliness. Frequent, nay, almost constant ablution of the parts is required, that the acrimonious and highly offensive discharges be not suffered to accumulate, and to become more fætid; these applications must not be used very warm, lest the hemorrhage be increased; in some cases, indeed, it is necessary to use them perfectly cold, that they may act as styptics to the bleeding vessels; a little chloride of lime may be advantageously added to the liquid employed; the female will thereby be relieved, in part, from the

annoyance produced by the unpleasant smell; solutions of the same substance should also be placed in various parts of the room. The bowels are to be emptied rather by enemata than by the exhibition of aperient medicines. The sinking powers of the system must be upheld by a diet somewhat nutritious, but great care should be exercised in this respect, lest an unfavourable degree of over-excitement be produced; in general, no stimulating drink is allowable, although, in some cases, from the great degree of debility and exhaustion which is present, this rule may be departed from. Where the hemorrhage is alarming, I have known good effects to result from the internal use of the muriated tincture of iron, combined with tincture of henbane; of course the relief is but temporary, for, as ulceration advances, more blood-vessels will be opened, and a repetition of the hemorrhage follows of necessity. Something must be done to lessen the agonizing pain, and nothing but opium will answer your purpose. This remedy must not, however, be given in the ordinary doses, or you will altogether fail in your object; you must be guided, Gentlemen, not by the number of grains, but by the effect produced. I have known from twenty to thirty grains given within the twenty-four hours, and but little relief was experienced; this large quantity did not produce sleep, and only in a triffing degree did it seem to deaden pain. My usual plan is to exhibit two grains of opium at bed-time, and repeat the dose in the course of a few hours, if necessary. In a case which occurred some months since, ease was procured by adding one grain to the first dose, making it to consist of three grains. As the disease proceeds, emaciation increases, and at length, although, generally, not until after many years of pain, death puts an end to the patient's sufferings. In the dissection of patients who have died of cancer of the uterus, you often find that inflammation has extended to the neighbouring parts, the surrounding intestines being frequently glued to the uterus by very tight adhesions.

I must not dismiss the subject without allusion to a very bold operation which has been performed on the continent, and more recently in our own country, by Dr. Blundell; I mean the removal of the entire womb. The Doctor operated upon four females who were the subjects of cancer uteri, and the following are the results. as given by himself: - "Having in fact and inference laid a foundation for this formidable undertaking, and feeling persuaded that in some few cases, at least, life might now and then be saved by extirpation, I determined to take the operation in my own hands on some proper occasion, and the more readily, as it seemed rather to require obstetrical dexterity than that of the general surgeon, and I have now operated in four cases, and in four cases only, of which the results are before the profession. Of these cases one was followed by recovery beyond my hopes, though the woman is since dead, and three proved fatal; one in the course of two or three hours after the operation; one in the course of four or five

hours; and one not until nine and thirty hours had elapsed after the uterus had been taken away. Of the three failures, one was in a manner hopeless from the first, though under all circumstances, and at the express and urgent desire of the patient, it seemed but right to give the only remaining chance; one, namely, that in which the patient survived for nine and thirty hours, was a failure of an encouraging kind, for the case, during a good part of the time, manifested many hopeful symptoms; and one, namely, the last in which I operated, and with more dexterity and readiness than in the preceding cases, considerably obscured my expectations, never very sanguine, by proving fatal within some four or five hours after the extirpation was completed, although, previous to the operation, it appeared, both to my medical friends and myself, that all the apparent circumstances were auspicious, and highly conducive to success."

These are the results of Dr. Blundell's operations; the cases are at present too few to enable us to decide positively with regard to the propriety of such an operation. In the present state of our knowledge, I should hesitate in recommending its performance. Sir Astley Cooper, in his admirable Lectures on Surgery, used to say, "Never recommend an operation to another that you would not have performed on yourselves under similar circumstances." If this rule were observed in regard to uterine extirpation, I think it would be seldom had recourse to. In conclusion, I will only just state, that there is no chance of success if the uterus be adherent to the neighbouring parts, or if the vagina be much involved in the disease; in other words, unless the operation be undertaken at an early period.

FUNGOID TUMOUR OF THE UTERUS.

The womb is sometimes the seat of the peculiar affection called "fungus hematodes:" the disease puts on the same characteristic appearances as when it attacks other parts of the body; the tumour is soft but elastic, and composed of an indefinite number of cells, which vary in size; these cells contain serum, mixed with the red particles of the blood. The symptoms attending its early formation are very slight, and are those which are common to most uterine affections. The female complains of uneasiness in the region of the womb rather than actual pain, and there is occasionally, though not always, a slight leucorrheal discharge from the vagina. In time the uterus enlarges, so as to be distinctly felt through the parietes of the belly; this tumour is to be distinguished by the two characteristics already described, viz., its softness and elasticity. Hemorrhage in a slight degree is often present at an early stage, but not sufficient to alarm By examination, per vaginam, the os and cervix uteri will be found converted into a soft tumour, and if ulceration have taken place, its extent will be easily detected; when, however, this latter effect has occurred, the discharge of blood is very profuse,

and it is accompanied by the fætid sanious discharge which is so generally met with in fungus hematodes. The ulceration may occur in different situations; sometimes, as in carcinoma, it begins at the cervix, and extends to the bladder in front and the rectum behind; cases are also related where the fungus uteri has given way, the fungus projecting from its external surface into the abdominal cavity, producing inflammation and adhesion of the intestines; or it may adhere to the parietes of the belly, which yield, and the fungus makes its appearance at the external wound. The female is sooner or later worn out, the constitutional symptoms being similar to those of cancer.

Treatment. — The treatment of this disease is palliative only, and consists in attending to the peculiar symptoms which may arise in the progress of the disease. The treatment recommended in

ulcerated carcinoma may be employed in hematoid fungus.

NEURALGIA OF THE UTERUS.

The uterus is occasionally the seat of a painful disorder, which seems to have a very close resemblance to the neuralgic affections

which are so frequently met with in other parts.

The pain is far more severe than that which accompanies inflammation of the organ, although it partakes somewhat of the same character, inasmuch as there is an occasional remission, though never an interval of perfect ease. So far as my own personal observation extends, I should say that the malady generally attacks women of an excitable and nervous temperament, who are subject to hysterical affections, and who generally suffer from painful menstruation. The pain is felt at the lower part of the abdomen, darting through to the back and extending to the thighs; there is often a distressing sensation of dragging or bearing down, so that the female feels quite unequal to any exertion; if she persist in moving about her sufferings are greatly increased, and she finds herself in consequence compelled to lie down: this alteration, from the upright to the recumbent position, commonly gives relief, but by no means removes the pain altogether. Women who are naturally irritable experience a greatly increased degree of excitability during the menstrual flow, and you are aware that there is also at this period a larger supply of blood sent to the womb. These facts afford a satisfactory explanation of the reason why the pains are so greatly aggravated at that time; in some cases they amount to perfect agony. I never recollect witnessing a case of more intense and acute suffering than one which came under my notice some years since. My patient was a lady about 26 years of age; she had been the subject of uterine neuralgia for several years, and menstruation was just approaching. I found her sitting in a chair, suffering pains far more severe than those of labour; she had repeated rigors; the body was of an icy coldness, and her stomach rejected everything presented to it. She remained in this condition for about six hours, and then she became somewhat relieved, but far from being easy. She had been long under medical advice, and had been married for three years, but had borne no child; indeed, her medical adviser had confidently told her she never would bear children. This lady had suffered so much that she was willing to submit to any plan likely to procure relief; and, after the lapse of about four months, I had the satisfaction of pronouncing her cured; she experienced no pain even at her monthly periods, soon afterwards became pregnant, went to the full term of utero-gestation, and was delivered of a fine, healthy child.

Although the sufferings attendant on this painful uterine affection are so great, yet at the commencement you will not find the vascular system to be much influenced by it; the general circulation remains tolerably tranquil; it should be remembered, however, that when patients are subject to long-continued and violent pain, the constitutional powers will at length fail, and then there will be a more frequent, but, at the same time, a powerless condition of the pulse. The general aspect of females who are the subject of this disease, varies; in some there is a pallid and somewhat chlorotic appearance of countenance, whilst in others a clear red-and-white colour is observable, together with that peculiar brightness and animated expression of the eye which is so often witnessed in

those who are the subjects of hysterical affections.

In consequence of the continuance of the pain, you might, prior to an examination, be induced to believe the uterus to be affected with some disorganising disease; but, with the exception of pain, there is scarcely a symptom common to both. The uterus, on examination, will in some cases be felt in its normal condition, there being no perceptible alteration either in size or shape; or there may be a slightly enlarged and tumid condition of its mouth and neck: whether there be enlargement or otherwise, there is an exquisite degree of sensibility, the slightest pressure producing an acuteness of pain never experienced in the malignant diseases of the womb. The vagina is sometimes involved in this state of irritability, but at other times is perfectly free, the introduction of the finger giving no uneasiness until the womb itself is touched. A leucorrhœal discharge, varying greatly in degree, is an occasional concomitant, and the stomach very generally is sympathetically affected; there is loss of appetite, nausea or vomiting, and a general failing of strength.

These, then, Gentlemen, are the symptoms which characterise what I have termed neuralgia of the uterus; when we meet again, we will enter upon the consideration of its appropriate treatment.

LECTURE X.

Treatment of neuralgia of the uterus; necessity for the recumbent position, even where the disease is mild; treatment required when the os uteri is tumid. — General circulation in most cases at first but slightly affected: medicines required; opium, belladonna, tonics, nourishment. — Care required not to move about too early: hip-bath. — Tuberculated uterus: fleshy tubercle of Hunter; character of the disease; varieties of uterine tubercle; symptoms and progress; effects upon neighbouring parts; hemorrhage an occasional symptom. — Danger of forming an erroneous diagnosis; ill effects of pressure; necessity for prompt measures. — Treatment of uterine tubercle; in the early stages; may be stayed in its progress; illustrative cases. — Tympanitis uteri.

NEURALGIA OF THE UTERUS.

In the treatment of uterine neuralgia your first indication consists in the endeavour to procure some alleviation of the acute pain under which your patient is suffering, and this will never be effected without strict attention to the position of the body. On no account whatever should the female be allowed to rise from the recumbent posture; all your attempts to relieve pain will most assuredly fail, without compliance on the part of the patient with this recommendation: you had better not undertake the treatment of a case of this kind if your patient prove refractory in this respect. In general, however, her own feelings will bear testimony to the propriety of the plan, so that in the more severe cases no difficulty will be experienced. But my own conviction is, that it is actually necessary, even in the milder forms of this disorder, to prevent the symptoms increasing in urgency. The recumbent posture, then, is the first and most important of all your remedial measures. Where you find, on examination, that the os uteri is in a tumid condition, local abstraction of blood will be found to be serviceable: twelve or fifteen leeches may be applied to the orifice of the vagina, and the bleeding encouraged by the application of warmth and mois-

In some cases where there is little or no tumefaction, if, for example, the pains be severe, and the constitution unimpaired, local bloodletting still affords relief. I have never known it necessary to remove blood from the arm, or to apply cupping-glasses to the loins, although I would not go the length of asserting that the necessity for such practice never exists; I can easily imagine a case in which means for the reduction of vascular action in the system at large might be required, and there you will see the necessity for venesection or cupping, as the particular case might require.

A regular state of the bowels should be preserved, the remedies employed for this purpose being the mildest you can select; great care is required not to irritate the intestinal canal by the exhibition of drastic purgatives: these would act in an unfavourable manner on the uterus itself, and on the constitution also, inasmuch as they would of necessity tend to reduce the general strength of the patient, which it is most material to preserve. The daily use of a mild injection will answer your purpose better than any aperient by the mouth.

Anodynes are generally required for the relief of pain; a full opiate administered at night is often necessary to procure sleep; either of the preparations of morphia may be prescribed: take care that the dose be sufficiently large, as the exhibition of minute doses

will effect little in these cases.

The extract of belladonna sometimes operates in a remarkably soothing manner when given in neuralgic affections; you may order from one grain to one grain and a half to be taken at bedtime every night; or if you prefer the smaller and more frequently repeated doses, the same quantity may be divided in four parts,

and one administered every sixth hour.

If there be reason to suppose a certain degree of inflammatory action present (for the two complaints are by no means incompatible) a very mild mercurial course may be instituted. Careful investigation is, however, required before this plan be adopted, for if mercury does no good, it will certainly do harm: in my own practice I have not found, upon the whole, much benefit from this

mineral, unless given in merely alterative doses.

Where, as is generally the case, the constitution appears giving way, this being marked by the rapid and feeble pulse, the pallid countenance, cold extremities, weight over the eyebrows, &c., the remedies employed should be of a most decidedly tonic character, and of this class the best are the various preparations of iron. I mentioned, in a former lecture, that where the use of this metal is indicated, I believe the sulphate will be found in most instances to be the more convenient form, and also the most pleasant, as it may be given in the form of pill, and, therefore, need not offend the palate; from one to two grains may be taken thrice in the day, combined with extract of camomile, extract of gentian, of each three grains. A lengthened perseverance in these tonic remedies will always be required, and for this the patient ought to be prepared, as she will be grievously disappointed if she expects a sudden recovery. An occasional substitution of some other tonic is often necessary, but as a general medicine the sulphate of iron is to be preferred. With this remedial plan the diet should correspond, nourishment, with small portions of stimuli, should be cautiously administered, their effects being under the close observance of the medical adviser; removal into a purer air, where practicable, will greatly assist in restoring the general health - probably a seavoyage would, of all other means, be the best adapted for this purpose, the recumbent posture being at the same time kept to.

It is very difficult to determine the precise time for discontinuing this position of the body - no complaint is so subject to a relapse; this has often followed the slightest exertion. You should not, therefore, allow the female to walk about whilst any pain remains, and under the most favourable circumstances she must commence with great caution, I had almost said, with fear and trembling; if these slight movements of the body are attended with pain, they ought immediately to be discontinued. During the early stages of the complaint the hip-bath sometimes will give relief, but as its frequent repetition would have a tendency to produce debility, it must not be often used, unless it be followed by a very decided mitigation of pain. I conclude my observations on this suffering complaint by again recommending you to warn your patient against the supposition that it can be easily cured.

TUBERCULATED UTERUS.

This singular disease was accurately described by Dr. Wm. Hunter, and called by him the fleshy tubercle of the womb; it is in its nature perfectly innocent, and when of small size does not materially interfere with the health, or even the comfort of the patient. Several patients have been under my own superintendence who merely complained of a slight degree of "bearing down:" the growth has been termed fleshy in consequence of being at first soft, like the fleshy substance of the womb from whence it grows; but as the disease advances, it becomes hard, like cartilage, and in the specimen now exhibited, which is larger, you perceive, than the head of a child, there are large deposits of bone. This specimen was kindly presented by Mr. Leeson, of Finsbury-square: in this case the tumour must have been of long standing. The remarkable peculiarity of the disease consists in this—that although the tumour may have existed for a number of years, yet it neither suppurates nor ulcerates. These tubercles vary in size, and in number sometimes there is but one, at others many, some only the size of a walnut, whilst others weigh many pounds. situation is also various; they sometimes grow from the exterior of the uterus, and project into the cavity of the abdomen, and, where the female is of spare make, they can even be felt through its parietes, or they may adhere to the interior of the uterus. whilst in many instances the entire uterus itself enlarges, and is converted into a complete tubercle of large size, with or without smaller masses, growing from its exterior. I feel greatly indebted to my friend, Dr. Roberts, of New Bridge-street, for the preparation I now show you; the entire womb is greatly enlarged, forming a great tubercle, and there are no less than six smaller ones proceeding from its outer surface. The tumour is not vascular, or at least does not admit red blood, neither can the finest injection be made to enter its substance, and, perhaps, this low degree of organization explains the reason why it does not undergo those changes to which many other tumours are disposed.

The growth of uterine tubercle is exceedingly slow, for in those unfortunate cases where the appropriate treatment fails to arrest its progress, many months, and in some instances years, may elapse before its size materially inconveniences the patient, by obstructing the functions of the surrounding parts. The symptoms marking the disease are at first very slight; there is a degree of uneasiness which can scarcely be designated pain in the back, accompanied with a slight bearing-down sensation, and often an increased vaginal discharge; the menstrual secretion is not necessarily suppressed, nor is conception prevented by the existence of an external tubercle: these are often the only symptoms attending the formation of those morbid growths; but as they increase in size, various parts are pressed upon, and much inconvenience is thereby experienced; the bladder, from its situation, must necessarily suffer. In the early stages there is a frequent, and almost constant inclination to pass the urine, the female being unable to retain it for any lengthened period of time; as the tumour enlarges, the pressure upon the bladder is sufficient to produce complete retention, and here it will be necessary to introduce the catheter (or to teach the patient how

to use it herself) twice at least every 24 hours.

The rectum suffers in a very similar manner: there is, at first, tenesmus, with frequent motions; and afterwards, should the tumour acquire a large size, the fæces will be retained. At this stage of the disease inflammation frequently supervenes, and may prove destructive to life, by extending to the bowels or over the peritoneal membrane. In some cases I have known a very alarming hemorrhage to supervene, and this has been repeated many times at uncertain intervals, in consequence of which the patient has been greatly debilitated. I have a patient now under my care whose pelvis is completely blocked up by a very large tuberculated uterus: some months since the effusion of blood so frequently occurred, that her life appeared in jeopardy; by the careful use of the usual means employed in uterine hemorrhage it subsided, and I trust she is now getting on well, as she has not applied to me for several weeks; the last time I saw her she called at the Forestreet Dispensary, having walked about three-quarters of a mile. Tubercular enlargement of the uterus may be mistaken for disease of the ovarium, or pregnancy; from the former it may easily be distinguished, by its feeling so much more firm and immovable when examined through the abdominal coverings: in ovarian dropsy there is generally a sort of elastic feel, and not unfrequently, if the cyst be of large size, a tolerable distinct sense of fluctuation; a vaginal examination will at once solve the doubt; the uterus will be felt to be enlarged, and much heavier than when in a natural condition, and if the tumours be low down, the irregularity of its surface can be ascertained without difficulty; pressure with the finger sometimes, though not uniformly, is productive of pain.

The disease is not very likely to be confounded with pregnancy, for in its early stage there are none of the usual attendants on utero-gestation, viz., no amenorrhæa, no morning sickness, nor are there any changes observable in the breast, or in the areola surrounding the nipple; in the more advanced stages, when the

tumour has acquired so large a size as to be easily felt by the hand, the absence of motion will enable you to form a correct opinion

regarding the presence or absence of a fætus in utero.

Great pain is sometimes the result of pressure sustained by the nerves of the pelvis, and ædema of the lower limbs is occasioned in consequence of the interruption to the circulation through the returning veins and lymphatics. From an attentive survey of the symptoms described as characterising this disease, it will be seen that the effects are purely mechanical, and are the obvious results of pressure. It should be remembered, however, that these effects are in some cases such as to render the woman's life very miserable, and in others so much disturbance of function is produced, that her very existence is in imminent danger; the treatment, therefore, must be prompt and energetic, that, on the one hand, the tumour may be prevented from increasing, and, on the other,

that the absorbents may be stimulated to increased action.

Treatment of Tuberculated Uterus. — There is good reason for believing that fleshy tubercle of the uterus is the result of slow inflammation, for if the progress of the disease be narrowly watched, it will commonly be found, that there are occasional attacks of pain, though, probably, trifling in its degree. Should this prove to be the case, from eight to twelve leeches may with great advantage be applied to the vulva, just within the os externum; their re-application to be determined by circumstances. If the constitutional symptoms should require the loss of blood from the general system, venesection in the common way should be had recourse to, not as superseding the use of leeches, but as an addition to the plan. A soluble state of the intestinal canal must be maintained, either by the daily employment of a common injection, or of any ordinary aperient. It is my practice afterwards to administer small doses of blue pill, combined with either the extract of hyoscyamus or conium. This plan ought to be persevered in until a trifling degree of soreness of the mouth has been produced. this treatment, especially if aided by confinement to the recumbent position, I believe much relief may be afforded, for although in most cases the tubercle is not absorbed, yet, by quieting vascular action, its further progress may be arrested at its commencement.

I well recollect the case of a middle-aged female, who twice applied to me for relief (long intervals elapsing between her visits), who was rendered very comfortable by this plan of treatment; the uneasiness subsided; the tumour, which was about the size of a pullet's egg, and situated on the posterior part of the uterus, remained stationary: this person's health was not affected. Should great restlessness be present with general irritability of system, a

full anodyne may be given at bed-time.

I have already stated, that where there is retention of urine, the catheter must be employed; difficulty will be experienced in the performance of this operation if the tumour be of large size; its introduction may be assisted by pushing the uterus a little upwards and backwards, and thus removing the pressure from the meatus

urinarius; a long, elastic-gum catheter is the best instrument you can use in these cases. Recollect, lastly, that the position of the bladder may be altered, and, therefore, the direction necessary to be given to the point of the instrument must be made to correspond with this altered situation.

If the tubercle be very large, and the abdominal integuments flabby and pendulous, the bladder will, in some cases, completely overhang the symphysis pubis. It becomes necessary, also, to attend to the rectum, and here, again, the pressure may be so great as to render it advisable to raise up the tumour with the finger before throwing up the enema. Acute inflammation of the peritoneum is occasionally set up; this is easily distinguished by the character of the pain, conjoined with the other symptoms attendant on peritonitis: the same powerfully antiphlogistic plan as would be required under other circumstances, must be put into practice without delay, or life will be speedily destroyed. By the plan just recommended to your notice, the disease is frequently stayed in its progress, and the female may enjoy many years of comparative comfort, experiencing no pain and no inconvenience, with the exception of a certain degree of weight and bearing down, or, if the tumour be situated posteriorly, an occasional feeling of tenesmus.

TYMPANITIS UTERI (PHYSOMETRA).

The formation and detention of air in the uterine cavity forms that peculiar disease called tympanitis uteri, or physometra. After a certain degree of accumulation, the womb contracts, and the wind is suddenly expelled, sometimes with an audible noise. Cases are recorded wherein, from want of irritability of the uterus, the organ has so greatly enlarged as to resemble pregnancy; but these are very uncommon occurrences. Physometra is a painful and very harassing disease, its very nature preventing the subject of it from appearing in company, for, as the uterine contractions are involuntary, she of course possesses no power of controlling them. The constitution of those who suffer from this disease is very generally weak and delicate, a collection of air in the cavity of the womb not being the only symptoms under which she is suffering, but one in common with many others. The air appears to be secreted by the menstruating membrane of the uterus, for, if pregnancy occurs, the disease is for a time, if not permanently, cured. I have seen no case of genuine physometra after impregnation. I know it has been said by some, that these explosions of air now and then take place at the time of labour; wherever this has happened in my own practice it has been invariably not the result of disease, but the simple expulsion of gas arising from the commencement of decomposition in the child, the fætus having been always dead. It is possible, without care, for you to be mistaken with respect to the source whence the wind proceeds, air, as you know, being often suddenly and violently forced away from the bowel at the time of labour.

Treatment of Physometra. — The treatment of this disorder may be resolved into two indications — 1st, to restore the tone of the system generally; and 2dly, that of the uterus in particular. A very gentle laxative should at first be employed, which may be repeated as occasion requires, and then powerfully tonic remedies are required. From fifteen to twenty minims of the tincture of muriate of iron given thrice a-day in any aromatic menstruum will be found useful in most cases; or any other medicine of this class may be substituted, should iron disturb the stomach or bowels.

If hysteria, in any of its multiplied forms, should manifest itself, a draught, composed of compound tincture of cardamoms, ammoniated tincture of valerian, of each one drachm, camphor mixture one ounce and a half, will seldom fail in giving relief. Removal to a different air, and in the neighbourhood of some chalybeate spring, where your patient may "drink the waters," is another remedial measure of great efficacy. Exercise, to a certain extent, is necessary; but fatigue must be avoided. Riding on horseback is to be preferred, where practicable. The second indication is fulfilled by directing an astringent solution to be injected into the cavity of the uterus, by means of the elastic-gum bottle and curved pipe, heretofore recommended to your notice. Perhaps, nothing will answer your purpose better than the sulphate of zinc dissolved in water, the strength about three grains to the ounce, at first, which may be gradually increased, should it be deemed necessary. You may quiet the female's mind by assuring her that, so far as the uterus is concerned, there is no danger whatever; that it is a mere symptom depending upon a deranged condition of the health, and that as the one improves the other will also.

LECTURE XI.

Polypus of the womb: polypus not confined to the uterus; situations of polypus uteri various; texture; colour; generally distinct growths; vascular; insensible; difference in size; may be combined with other diseases; no assignable cause for its production; its growth slow; sometimes spontaneously cured. Symptoms of polypus: leucorrhæa; hemorrhage; fætid discharge; bladder and rectum sometimes affected; dyspeptic symptoms; Sir Charles Clarke's case; examination per vaginam; diagnosis easy; tumour resembling polypus; when small polypus does not obstruct conception, prognosis favourable. Treatment: various plans proposed for its removal; ligature; description of instrument required; mode of using it; avoid the uterus; different periods of time elapse before ligature comes away—.After-treatment; polypus of vagina.—Moles: various substances called mole; Vogel's definition; two distinct forms of moles; symptoms; treatment.—Calculus of womb; symptoms; treatment; worms.

POLYPUS OF THE WOMB.

Tumours of a polypoid kind, you are aware, Gentlemen, are not confined to the uterus, they are frequently seen to grow from other parts of the body; uterine polypus, the disease now under con-

sideration, is not common in very early life, although very young girls have been known to be the subjects of this affection. From different parts of the uterus this growth arises, viz., from the fundus at its upper part, from the cervix just within the mouth, or it may proceed from the lips of the womb exterior to its cavity. The texture of polypus varies; you sometimes meet with them as hard as cartilage, at others they are so soft and lacerable that they are easily broken down by the finger, and in this manner in a few cases a perfect cure has been effected. Some polypi, again, are of a white colour, whilst others are dark-brown; they are usually attached by a single peduncle, which may be either large and broad, or small and narrow, or they may adhere to the womb by several roots. They are generally distinct substances growing from the lining membrane of the womb; at other times, according to Denman, they are partly composed of the substance of the organ itself, "which shoots out so as to be intermingled with that of the polypus, or to form a covering over it." A number of little vessels, principally veins, may be observed ramifying on the membrane covering the surface of the tumour, and from these considerable hemorrhage sometimes takes place. No nerves have been discovered entering into its composition, and hence insensibility is its peculiar characteristic. The size of this growth varies greatly; it is at first so small that it is impossible to feel it, gradually increasing, if no remedial means be had recourse to, until it acquires the size of a child's head; these large polypi are very appropriately designated by Dr. Blundell by the term "scandalous," as they cannot by possibility occur without gross neglect on the part of the medical attendant. In most cases there is no other uterine disease present, but we should not forget that there may be a complication with some other disease, such as scirrhus, which is in its nature fatal; where there is no such combination, there may be prolapsus or inversion.

Causes. — Polypus has been supposed, by some, to be the result of some accidental injury inflicted upon the womb, either during labour, or otherwise. This opinion is not, however, well founded; it appears to be a spontaneous disease, and often occurs in women previously healthy, and sometimes in unmarried females. The growth of the tumour is very generally slow, many months usually elapsing before the attention of the practitioner is directed towards it, and indeed women may die of other diseases without any suspicion having been entertained of the existence of polypus, provided it be of small size. Cases are recorded where the polypus has fallen off spontaneously, apparently from pressure on its

peduncle.

The symptoms attendant on this form of uterine affection are the following: in the first place there is a greater or less degree of mucous discharge, often, although at irregular intervals, mixed with blood; this latter symptom is occasionally profuse, and this is a fortunate circumstance for the female, as it will lead to a more

careful investigation of the true nature of the disease. Whilst the discharge is trifling, the patient is probably supposed to be suffering under profuse menstruation, from which, however, it is to be distinguished by the irregularity of its flow. When the blood is retained for a time within the cavity of the womb or the vagina, decomposition occurs, and this will render the mucous discharge dark in colour, and will also communicate to it a very offensive smell. Do not imagine from this circumstance that the disease is malignant; the entire absence of pain, or at least its comparatively trifling degree, will soon convince you that such is not the case. Sir Charles Clarke observes that coagula of blood are occasionally voided of a ring-like form, produced in consequence of a certain quantity of blood adhering to the surface of the tumour, and there coagulating; it at length slides off, and comes away. I have never noticed in my own practice these ring-like coagula. A sense of weight, uneasiness, and bearing down, are early experienced; all these symptoms of course increasing as the tumour enlarges. In very large polypi the neighbouring parts, viz., the bladder and rectum, suffer from pressure; the uterus generally descends, and from the stretched state of the broad ligaments, pain will be experienced in the groins.

As in every other disease of the uterus, so here, the stomach intimately sympathizes, various symptoms characterising dyspepsia manifest themselves; these symptoms differ according to the different degrees of irritability of the individual. For example, you may have simply want of appetite, or there may be nausea or vomiting. When these tumours form at the fundus uteri, they gradually increase in size, the womb enlarging and its mouth opening until it passes through and projects into the vagina. If nothing be done for its relief the enlargement goes on, and the tumour will at length be seen, lying between the thighs of the female, and then it belongs to the "scandalous" kind. Sir Charles Clarke relates a case of polypus, which happened to an unmarried female, and which completely filled the cavity of the pelvis; this was of the hard kind; and after its peduncle was cut through, could only be

removed by means of a pair of midwifery forceps.

Before the tumour has passed into the vagina, or at any rate before it occupies the lower part of the uterus, a vaginal examination will not detect it; but when it is situated lower we ought not to mistake it. Recollect, it is a firm, round, smooth, and insensible tumour, perfectly unattached to the parietes of the vagina; the finger can therefore be passed around it, and from the insensibility of the mass, pressure, or even a scratch with the finger-nail, gives no pain; but although the substance itself is insensible, yet it grows from a very sensible part, viz., the uterus, and therefore unless the examination be conducted with gentleness, pain will be experienced; and this circumstance might deceive an inexperienced practitioner. Where the body of the polypus is small, we are sometimes enabled to pass up the finger beyond it, and dis-

tinctly feel the stalk or peduncle passing into the os uteri, but not being attached to it. Where the stalk is fixed to the cervix uteri, the finger can only be passed on one side, the attachment preventing it from being carried completely around it; to use the language of Dr. Gooch, in one case the stem is completely surrounded by the os uteri, in the other it is only semicircled by it. Where, on the contrary, the tumour grows from the exterior of the uterus, from the outside of one of the lips of the os uteri, the whole of its

attachment can be distinctly felt to be without the uterus.

The diagnosis in polypus is unattended with difficulty, indeed it is scarcely possible to confound it with any other affection, with probably the exception of chronic inversion, and the cauliflower excrescence. I speak doubtingly, because the mistake is not very likely to occur; from the former it is at once distinguished by its characteristic insensibility, and by an attentive inquiry into the history of the case in its earlier stages: it differs from the latter by not being accompanied by any watery discharge, by its being a single tumour attached to a stem, which in most cases passes through the os uteri, whereas the cauliflower excrescence is com posed of an indefinite number of lobules of various sizes, connected to the outside of the mouth of the womb, often extending over a

considerable part of its surface.

It will be right to mention one variety of disease, which from the symptoms it produces bears so near a resemblance to polypus that it might, without very great care, be mistaken for it. This tumour is insensible, grows from the interior of the uterus, and passes through the os uteri; it is therefore encircled by it, but there is no distinct peduncle or stalk. Its surface also differs from polypus; instead of being smooth and rounded, it appears rough and irregular. Hemorrhage and other symptoms present in polypus are observed here. This form of complaint is fatal, and arises from a diseased condition of the organ generally, which is often found considerably enlarged; relief has in some few instances been obtained by removing portions from time to time by means of a ligature; the effect is, however, but temporary, as the tumour is reproduced in a short period of time, so that sooner or later the patient sinks under its influence. Whenever, therefore, an operation is decided upon, the mind of the female and her friends should be prepared for such a result.

The existence of polypus, if it be of small size, does not interfere with the process of conception or gestation; in some cases the contractions of the uterus, after the expulsion of the child and placenta, have separated the mass, and thus effected a perfect

cure.

Prognosis. - This in true polypus may always be favourable, provided an operation be performed in due time. Many unfortunate females have nevertheless fallen a sacrifice to the inattention or ignorance of the medical man, who, being content with treating symptoms only, without ascertaining the cause which has produced

them, has considered the case to be one of common menorrhagia, and has gone on prescribing his astringents, until, from the frequent repetition of the discharge, his patient's strength has been exhausted, and her sufferings terminated by death. Such an occurrence, however, Gentlemen, is most disgraceful; for by attention to the symptoms, and careful vaginal examinations, the true character of the affection is without difficulty ascertained, and by a very simple, bloodless, nay, even painless operation, the disease is removed and permanently eradicated, there being no disposition in the uterus again to renew it. I well recollect having a patient sent me from the country, some few years ago, who was said to be labouring under a malignant and consequently fatal uterine affection. The case was decided as hopeless; but it was thought advisable that she should have the opinion of a London obstetric before she died. The symptoms under which she laboured were those just described to you; by an examination per vaginam a small polypus was discovered protruding through the os uteri; a ligature was applied around it, and in the short space of one week, instead of this lady returning to her habitation in the country to die, I had the satisfaction to pronounce her perfectly cured.

Treatment. — Removal of the morbid growths is the only plan which can be adopted, but various means to effect this have been recommended, viz., excision, cauterization, tearing it away, and the ligature; the latter method is, however, invariably had recourse to in the present day, and, therefore, it will be needless to take up your time in describing the others, except by simply stating that small polypi of the softer kind (the substance of which has been such as not to bear the pressure of the ligature) have occasionally been removed by the thumb and finger, an interesting example of which you will find recorded in Dr. Gooch's work on

the "Diseases of Women."

Removal of the Polypus by Ligature. - The best instrument you can employ for the cure of polypus, is the double canula of Levret, as improved by the late Dr. Gooch; this instrument, you perceive, consists essentially of two straight silver tubes, about eight inches in length. There is a third piece composed of a double tube at its lower, and two rings at its upper extremity, and these joined together by a long, thin, silver rod; these tubes and rings are just large enough to admit the two other long tubes already shown you, and thus to form the whole into one piece. Different kinds of ligature have been recommended; the best, in my judgment, is the gold twist, easily procured at any gold-lace warehouse. The advantage of this material is, that it possesses firmness, and also a sufficient degree of flexibility to allow of its application without difficulty. The aim of the operator is to pass this ligature around the stem of the polypus, and, therefore, in the absence of any particularly urgent symptom, it is better to wait, and make no attempt for this purpose until the finger can be passed beyond the body of the tumour, and the peduncle easily reached. There will, in this case, be comparatively little danger of including the os uteri

in the ligature, as it will then be considerably dilated; if, however, threatening symptoms should make their appearance, you would be justified in making an effort for its removal, even although, on an examination, the polypus might be felt to be wholly contained within the uterine cavity. Before commencing the operation the instrument is to be prepared in the following way: - Pass one end of the ligature up one of the tubes and down the other, so that the centre of the ligature may extend from the upper part of one tube to the upper part of the other, and thus the loop is easily formed. I usually thread the third piece also, by carrying the ligature through the corresponding rings and tubes, taking care that the gold twist is of sufficient length to allow of the tubes being freely moved about prior to their junction. The female being placed on her left side in the usual obstetric position, the two canulæ thus armed with the ligature are to be carried up the vagina as high as that portion of the stem of the polypus which you are about to tie; one of the tubes is to remain in that position whilst the other is to be removed, and carefully carried around the polypus until it again meets with the other. By this manipulation it is quite clear that the peduncle will be completely encircled by a loop of the ligature; the third part of the instrument is then to be slipped over the long tubes in the way now shown to you, and the ends of the ligature are to be tightened and carried through the rings or shoulders situated at the lower extremity, where they are to be firmly secured.

It is a point of immense importance, in the application of a ligature, to avoid including any portion of the uterus within its grasp. Where there is inversion this accident might occur; and, indeed, it did happen to no less celebrated a practitioner than Dr. W. Hunter. Where there is no inversion, if the stem be large, and especially if it grow from the mouth of the womb, this part (the os uteri) might be tied, and although it perhaps does not of necessity follow that the woman would die, yet it is certain that a great aggravation of pain would be the result. The polypus, I have said, is insensible; and it follows, therefore, if nothing but this morbid growth be encircled by the ligature, there will be no pain; whereas, if a part of the womb be included, great pain will be immediately felt. The presence or absence of pain, then, will enable you at once to determine whether the ligature be properly applied or not, and it must be slackened or tightened as circumstances may require, or even, in some cases, altogether removed, and reapplied. Where the stem is attached to the fundus uteri, great difficulty would be experienced if it were necessary to apply the ligature around its upper part: fortunately no such necessity exists; it has been found by experience, that if the body of the polypus be passed, and the lower part of the stem encircled by the loop of the ligature, the cure will be perfect, as the whole of the stem will moulder away when the body has been removed.

The time occupied in the performance of this operation varies

according to the size of the stem which has to be cut through; where this is very small, a few days only elapse before the cure is completed; whilst in others, ten or fifteen days may be required: again, in some few instances, the first application of the ligature has immediately separated it. The instrument must be left in the vagina, the female kept in bed, and strictly cautioned to avoid unnecessary movement of her body; and when she does alter her position, she should be directed to steady the instrument by holding it in her hand, lest some of the soft parts should be injured. No medicine will be required, unless there be a feverish excitement of the vascular system, when a moderately antiphlogistic plan should be had recourse to.

Before the use of the ligature, the rectum and bladder should be thoroughly emptied, the former by means of castor oil, or a common enema. The advantages of this plan are obvious, as the female will be enabled to lie perfectly quiet for some time afterwards. Should there be great restlessness, or inability to sleep, an opiate must be administered; and for this purpose the acetate of morphia is well adapted. The ligature is to be tightened daily, until, after a longer or shorter period, the stem is cut through. The substance of the polypus, in many cases, will be found to be, in a great measure, dwindled away. Observe the preparation now exhibited; it appears a mere membranous bag, whereas, before the application of the ligature, it was firm and hard, about the size and shape of a small pear; in the larger and more solid polypi the shape is retained after the peduncle has been cut through; their removal from the vagina is easily accomplished by the hand; or if the mass be of large size, the midwifery forceps may be required, as in Sir Charles Clarke's case. During the process of cure there is often a very offensive discharge, disagreeable to the patient and her friends also; this may be regarded as a favourable symptom, as it indicates incipient putrefaction, and, therefore, affords a proof that the ligature has been sufficiently tightened. To relieve the fætor, a weak solution of chloride of lime, or cold decoction of camomile, may be injected into the vagina twice or thrice daily: the patient should be assured that this is a matter of no importance, or rather, the reason of this appearance properly explained to her.

After the extraction of the polypus, the vagina is to be well washed out with a solution of the sulphate of zinc, and this application continued so long as there are any discharges, whether of mucus or blood: these seldom remain for any length of time, and frequently there are none at all, so that your patient is speedily restored to her wonted health and strength; this, however, is not always the case, for where the disease has not been detected sufficiently early, the constitution suffers greatly from the long continuance of the drain, and a course of tonic medicine becomes

necessarv.

Polypus of the Vagina. — I stated, at the commencement of the lecture, that polypi were not confined to the uterus; and I would,

in concluding the subject, mention that you will sometimes find them adhering to the surface of the vaginal membranes, not entering the womb at all; they may be either hard or soft, and are, without difficulty, removed by ligature, the operation being similar to that performed in polypus of the uterus itself. If they are growing from the upper part of the vagina, be careful not to pass the ligature around the projecting os uteri.

MOLES IN THE UTERUS.

The term mole has been very injudiciously applied to denote various productions of the uterus. These products or excretions differ totally in their nature, and, therefore, ought not to be classed under the same name -for example, a blighted ovum, a polypous tumour, and a peculiar, flesh-like substance, occasionally formed in the womb, have all, in their turn, been designated as "moles." Vogel's definition is the following: "Mola - massa carnea, vas-culosa, ex utero excreta - ovum deforme." I restrict the term mole to those masses resembling flesh, which may form independently of sexual intercourse, and, therefore, are now and then observed in unmarried females, though this, I apprehend, is not a common occurrence. Of these moles there are two distinct, the first is nothing more than a mere coagulum of blood which has been retained for some time, perhaps for months, in the cavity of the uterus; it acquires a firm consistence in consequence of the removal of its more fluid parts, so that, when it is expelled, it seems composed principally of fibrin; a careful inspection will enable you to determine its nature. The second variety appears to be an unnatural product of the organ, varying in consistency, being hard in one case, soft in another; sometimes there is a single mass, at other times several; these have a vascular as well as cellular connection with the womb, and hence hemorrhage is a frequent attendant on this variety of mole.

If the subject of this affection be married pregnancy will be suspected, as there will be suppression of the catamenial flow, with enlargement of the abdomen, and, very probably, those sympathetic affections of the breasts and stomach which are the usual concomitants of utero-gestation. The womb being considerably enlarged, its parturient action becomes excited, and the woman experiences strong bearing-down pains, by means of which the mole or moles

will be expelled.

Treatment. — Where no dangerous symptoms are present, the practitioner will do well not to interfere; but these cases are sometimes attended with fearful, not to say dangerous hemorrhage; and here the usual means for its arrest should be promptly had recourse to, viz., the application of cold, the employment of friction, the internal exhibition of the ergot of rye, and, should these means fail, you may, as a last resource (provided the os uteri be well dilated), introduce your hand and bring away the entire mass. If

you cannot effect this, in consequence of the rigidity of the parts,

the temporary use of the plug might be of service.

Calculus in the Uterus. — Of this disease I have never myself seen an example. I mention it on the authority of Burns, who states that earthy concretions occasionally form in the womb.

The presence of calculus will, of necessity, be the cause of much uterine irritation, and be accompanied by the usual sympathetic affections. If allowed to remain, inflammation and ulceration are the consequences. Examination of the os uteri is the only method of detecting its presence, and this may be done either with the finger or a probe. If within, it should be removed, attending, at the same time, to any particular symptom that may arise. A case is related by Ganbius, where calculus was complicated with prolapsus uteri. After a length of time severe pains came on, and in an hour a large stone was expelled; next day a larger stone presented itself, but could not be brought away until the os uteri was dilated. From time to time, after this, small calculi were expelled: but, at length, the female recovered.

Worms in the Uterus. — In a few rare instances, after considerable irritation of the womb, combined with a fætid discharge, worms have been discovered passing away with the secretion. The treatment consists in the injection of strong decoction of aloes,

or of some bitter infusion, as wormwood, &c.

LECTURE XII.

Hydatids of the uterus; description of; sometimes many, at others single; size various; colour generally white; opinions respecting their formation; seldom occur in unmarried persons; generally combined with utero-gestation; symptoms; how to be distinguished from advancing pregnancy; mechanical effects; diagnosis; after a time the uterus begins to act; practitioner often not called until this period. — Treatment: their growth cannot be prevented; nothing required in early stage. — Treatment when hemorrhage supervenes: endeavour to excite uterine action; application of cold; ergot of rye not in all cases to be depended upon; discretion required respecting stimulants; plug; external pressure; introduction of the hand; after treatment. — Single hydatid of the uterus; hydrometra of the ancients; symptoms neither dangerous nor alarming; illustrative case; little or no treatment required. — Concluding remarks.

HYDATIDS OF THE UTERUS.

The disease called hydatids is not a peculiar production of the uterus, as it is often found in other parts of the body; neither is it confined to the human subject alone, some animals, the sheep especially, are frequently affected by it.

Hydatids, according to the Linnean system, constitute a tribe of the genus tenia, and belong to the class and order of intestinal worms. They are characterised by being furnished with a vesicle, which is sometimes attached to them posteriorly, or in which some of them are altogether enclosed. They occasionally exist singly in the uterus, but more generally hang together in clusters, each little vesicle being attached to its fellow by a very delicate filamentous thread, the whole presenting an appearance very similar to a bunch of grapes; they are connected with the lining membrane of the womb by a thickish substance, resembling fibrin, having, nevertheless, a bloody appearance when first expelled from the uterus. The size of these vesicular bodies varies, some are very small, whilst others are as large as the egg of a thrush; when macerated and perfectly freed from blood, they are generally colourless. Dr. Baillie, however, states that he has, in many cases, seen

hydatids of the liver of a pale amber colour.

Various opinions have been entertained with regard to the formation of uterine hydatids. As they so commonly exist in connection with a dead ovum, some have attributed their origin to this circumstance, whilst others believed that the death of the ovum has been the effect of the previous existence of hydatids in the cavity of the womb; that, in truth, these animalculæ were the actual devourers of the fœtus. Dr. Blundell, late of Guy's Hospital, has preparations showing this work of destruction in progress. I have never seen a case of uterine hydatids in an unmarried female, and am not aware that it has been observed by others; still it would be wrong to assert that these bodies cannot possibly form without sexual intercourse; and, therefore, if called to an unmarried woman, from whose uterus hydatids were growing, I should not feel justified in expressing an opinion which might prove injurious to her reputation. Wherever there exists a reasonable doubt, it is but an act of common justice to give the patient the benefit of such doubt.

I have stated to you that married women are very generally the subjects of this disease, and not only married, but in a state of pregnancy; the symptoms, therefore, at first are those which are attendant upon that condition, but after the death of the ovum the signs of pregnancy disappear. The uterus, instead of diminishing, increases in size, in consequence of the enlargement of the hydatids within its cavity; and, therefore, it often happens that the medical man, as well as the patient, is deceived, as they imagine pregnancy to be still advancing. There is this marked difference, however, between the two: the enlargement which is the result of conception is slow, whilst that from hydatids is very rapid. Again, there is the absence of the sensation called "quickening," although there may be a kind of indistinct flutter perceived by the patient herself, probably caused by flatus; or, perhaps, it may depend upon that power of contraction which the hydatids themselves possess. Charles Clarke states, that although hydatids in other parts havethis power, yet it has never been observed in those of the womb; it, however, by no means follows that because they have not been

seen to contract out of the body, that they therefore never contract within it; indeed, a presumption to the contrary may, I think, be

fairly entertained.

Again, in contra-distinction to pregnancy, I may observe, that with this increasing tumid condition of the abdomen, the correspondent changes in the breasts, so commonly observed in pregnancy, are absent; they become flaccid, diminishing, rather than increasing in size. The uterus itself, when examined through the abdominal coverings, will be felt to be distinctly enlarged, but it does not oppose so firm a degree of resistance to the hand as the impregnated womb; and in some instances, where the parietes of the organ are preternaturally thin, an obscure sense of fluctuation may be easily felt.

Symptoms. — The usual symptoms of uterine irritation are present in this disease, namely, pains in the back, loins, and fore-part of the pelvis; the stomach is often sympathetically affected; there is loss of appetite, nausea, or vomiting. As the womb increases in size, various unpleasant symptoms, which are the mere mechanical effects of pressure, will be produced; thus the functions of the bladder and the rectum will be interfered with. Attention to these organs forms a very important part of the duty of the practitioner, as it is probable that several months may elapse before symptoms, demanding any but palliative measures, manifest themselves.

It is thought by some that there is a disposition in the uterus to remain in a quiescent state during nine months, the usual period of gestation. My own experience does not corroborate this opinion, the time appearing to depend principally, if not entirely, upon the degree of irritability of the uterus. In some women a greater degree of distention will be borne than in others, before the organ is sufficiently irritated to be stimulated to action. Before this time, there is, in most cases, a discharge of pale, limpid fluid, resembling water, without colour or smell, more especially if the female make use of any considerable exertion, or be subjected to any sudden shock, such as a blow or a fall. This effusion arises from the bursting of the vesicular bags, and the consequent escape of their watery contents. These discharges occur in gushes, and at intervals only, a circumstance worthy of being retained in your memory, because it will assist in forming a correct diagnosis, as there is another disease of the uterus, the cauliflower excrescence, in which discharge of water forms a very prominent symptom; but in this latter affection, it proceeds from the uterus in a constant and uniform drain, and not in occasional gushes. From those large and frequently repeated effusions of water, which now and then takes place for weeks, and sometimes for months during the pregnant condition, and which appear to arise from a diseased state of the membranes of the ovum, we may distinguish this disease, by observing that all the symptoms of pregnancy have subsided, a subject which has already been referred to. I may just remark, in passing, that although the membranes of the ovum are not in a sound state, yet these discharges do not interfere materially either with the general health of the individual, or with the process of gestation. Perhaps it may be asked, why disease should be inferred if no inconvenience be necessarily produced? My opinion is formed from the two following circumstances: first, because these effusions are certainly not natural; and, secondly because in these cases the placenta will often be found morbidly adhering to the sides of the womb.

After an uncertain period of time, the distention of the uterus is such as to produce an active state of contraction, when, from the bursting of a large number of the vesicles, water is discharged in considerable quantities. But the discharge is not often merely water, for at this period it is usual for a very alarming and dangerous hemorrhage to supervene, in a degree sufficient to place the life of the patient in immediate and imminent peril, and if it be not speedily arrested, her destruction is certain. If any doubts had previously existed regarding the true character of the disease, they may now be set at rest by examining what is passing away, for by the uterine contraction the filaments or stalks, already described as connecting the vesicles together, are broken off, and hence there are frequently bunches of unbroken hydatids mixed with the water and the blood. They are sometimes of large size, at others small and exceedingly delicate. Here is a specimen of the former variety, presented to my museum by Mr. Cox, of New Bridge-street; and here is an exceedingly beautiful preparation, showing the latter, the gift of Mr. Finer, of Kingsland-road. Observe another preparation in which the hydatids have formed within the substance of the womb itself.

It is very probable that no reference will be made to the medical practitioner before the occurrence of the alarming symptoms just noticed, and he therefore finds himself suddenly called upon to act in a case of great and urgent danger, where the utmost promptitude of treatment is required. Many of these cases do not admit of a radical cure, even where the efforts of the womb have expelled the whole of its contents, for they are apt to be reproduced, when

the same dangerous symptoms will be renewed.

Treatment of Uterine Hydatids. — There are no known remedies which will prevent either the formation or growth of uterine hydatids, nor do we possess any means whereby we can procure their expulsion in the more early months; all that can be done is to explain to the female the nature of her disorder, and to attend to any symptoms that may arise, patiently waiting until, from the distended state of the womb, its extraordinary action is excited; and this, as before stated, will occur, sooner or later, varying greatly in different individuals; the sooner this contraction takes place, the better will it be for the patient, as the blood-vessels increase in proportion to the enlargement of the uterus, and, consequently, are of smaller size in the earlier months. The os uteri, under these circumstances, is usually considerably dilated,

so that the finger can, with ease, be introduced into the cavity, and the hydatids distinctly felt. If, however, the hemorrhage be not alarming, no manual interference of this kind is either necessary or proper: the main object of the practitioner is to control the hemorrhage; to this purpose all his efforts must be directed. The flow of blood, be it remembered, is in some instances so excessive, that the female's life is in immediate peril, the gushes being as profuse as during the puerperal condition; indeed, they appear much more so in consequence of the large quantity of watery fluid with which they are mixed. In the attempt to restrain these bleedings, we must not forget that the only effectual method consists in exciting a general, perfect, and permanent action of the muscular fibres of the uterus, without which its renewal is certain. Confinement to the recumbent position is imperatively required, and every circumstance carefully avoided, which would be likely to produce either bodily or mental excitement. In some cases (that they are rare must be admitted) this plan of treatment, combined with great attention to diet, is all that is required, especially where the action of the uterus is powerful; of course no nutriment, of a stimulating kind, should be allowed, and everything should be received into the stomach nearly or quite cold, caloric, as you know, having a great tendency to excite the action of the heart and arteries. Next, in the list of remedial means, I would place the application of cold: a bladder, containing pounded ice, as recommended, in a previous lecture, should be placed upon the lower part of the abdomen; a piece of ice has by some been recommended to be introduced within the vagina, by which a sudden state of contraction is often procured.

The ergot of rye may be employed in these cases with some degree of confidence, much more so than in the disordered condition of the function of menstruation, called menorrhagia. From what I have myself observed, respecting the operation of this medicine, I infer that its action cannot be relied upon, unless the uterus be developed and endowed with its extraordinary power of contraction, nor even then unless that action has been already excited; in other words, that it will never produce, although it will increase, when already present, the parturient efforts of the organ: and, consequently, that even during labour, when there is a complete suspension of uterine action, its effects are by no means so certain as when the pains are regular, but trifling in degree; it does not appear to me to have the power of communicating irritability to the womb. In the disease under consideration, however, there is a developed condition of the womb, and there are also the regular expulsatory pains: your intention in giving secale is to increase their force, that the diseased mass may be the more quickly detached and expelled, and thereby to obviate the danger to be apprehended from the continuance of the hemorrhage. About half a drachm of Battley's concentrated solution should be administered, at occasional intervals; the medicine may be taken in a glass of water, or in brandy and water, or any other vehicle,

according to the judgment of the practitioner.

Discretion is required in the use of stimulants. I have already stated that they are altogether inadmissible in the early stages, before the discharge of blood is considerable, and even in the more copious hemorrhagies, where a tendency to faintness has supervened, they should not be too hastily had recourse to, for under these circumstances, not only is the momentum of the blood greatly diminished, but that fluid coagulates much more speedily: by this coagulation clots are formed, which, by adhering around the orifices of the bleeding vessels, act as little plugs, and afford a temporary barrier to the farther eruption of blood. Now, the obvious effect of a stimulus is the excitement of the arterial circulation, in all probability the removal of these coagula, and then, as a necessary consequence, the renewal of the hemorrhage. Do not consider the observation just made to contain a general condemnation of the use of all stimulants; I believe we shall scarcely ever be able, altogether, to dispense with them; but I wish to impress upon your minds the propriety of waiting until the symptoms, really demanding their employment, have manifested themselves. When hemorrhage has continued for a lengthened period, and the attacks of syncope becomes frequent and formidable, a stimulant is peremptorily required, for without it the patient, in many cases, would never rally; a tablespoonful of some ardent spirits (and of these brandy is to be preferred) must be given undiluted or mixed, with part of the volk of an egg, and repeated at such intervals as the peculiar case requires.

A well applied *plug* is productive of advantage where the uterus is not greatly increased in size, especially if its mouth be nearly closed; this will not only assist in restraining the flow of blood, but by its presence in the vagina will excite the uterus to action, and thus afford permanent as well as temporary relief. Pressure upon the uterine region should be maintained by the application of a pad, round the lower part of the abdomen, around which a tight bandage or belt is to be fastened; a small book, enveloped in a napkin, forms an excellent pad for this purpose, and this is one which can be obtained without any delay, which is of great

advantage in cases of such emergency.

Notwithstanding the assiduous employment of all these means, there are instances wherein the dangerous symptoms continue or increase, and the constitutional powers of the female appear to be rapidly sinking. This will be manifested by repeated attacks of syncope, by a general coldness of the surface, by a rapid though feeble pulse, combined with that pallid and peculiar cast of countenance exhibited in hemorrhagic patients: in this extreme form of the disease manual interference is necessary. As soon as the os uteri is sufficiently dilated, the hand is, with great caution and gentleness, to be introduced into the cavity of the womb, and the hydatids carefully separated from their attachment, taking especial

care that the whole mass be removed before the hand is withdrawn. This operation is attended not only with difficulty, but with some degree of hazard, and this will be increased if the attempt be made too early, for the womb is not in so dilatable a condition as at the time of labour, and, therefore, resists rather than yields where force is applied; and hence, if Dr. Blundell's motto "arte non vi" be disregarded, rupture of the uterus might possibly be induced.

After Treatment. - After all the hydatids have been expelled by nature, or removed by art, we must treat our patient precisely in the same manner as if she had been recently delivered, and her labour complicated with hemorrhage. The bandage around her abdomen is to be tightened, and no change of position allowed: our feelings sometimes get the better of our judgment in this respect, for in consequence of the often-repeated desire expressed by our patient, we permit that change. This restlessness, however, is merely the effect of loss of blood, and will not be relieved by any alteration in her bodily position; even were it otherwise, perfect quietude must be enjoined, as the vital powers are so exhausted, that a movement, even from one side to the other, would probably produce such agitation that fatal syncope might be the result. When the circulation has become somewhat tranquil, the female may be placed comfortably in bed; but my advice is, that after every serious case of hemorrhage the practitioner should be in the room to give necessary directions, and especially to prevent her body being raised from the recumbent posture during the time of undressing. I generally recommend a mattrass to be placed on the floor, upon which the patient is to be placed, whilst the nurse is attending to her bed, &c.

After hydatid disease, there is sometimes a tolerably copious secretion of milk, which soon subsides after a laxative has been administered. Lastly, it is often necessary, in consequence of extreme debility resulting from this affection, to employ tonics and cardiacs for a long space of time, a return to perfect health and strength being often very protracted and tedious. Everything likely to increase tone in the general system is here required,

avoiding, of course, all local stimuli.

SINGLE HYDATID OF THE UTERUS.

Hydrometra-Ascites Uterinus. — "There are upon record," says Dr. Denman, "many histories of this dropsy, which is described as a collection of water, or thin gelatinous fluid, in its cavity, the os uteri being so perfectly closed as to prevent its escape." The doctor, however, in common with other practitioners who have directed their attention to uterine diseases, is not inclined to believe that cases of this kind ever exist, as it is difficult to conceive that large collections of water can take place in a womb, as this organ communicates with the os externum by an open mouth, and, consequently, the fluid would of necessity escape

as fast as it was secreted. Moreover, it has been noticed in several instances that after the water has escaped a membranous bag has been expelled, which, on being blown up with air, put on the form of the womb itself, indeed, appearing like the lining of that organ. From this circumstance it has been considered probable, that what by the older authors was designated uterine dropsy, really belongs to a class of hydatid disease, the difference being this: that instead of consisting of bunches of little cysts, there has been a single one of large size, sufficient to distend the uterus to a very considerable extent. Cases of this nature, you may suppose, are very rare, when I tell you Sir Charles Clarke states in his work that he never

witnessed an instance of the kind.

The symptoms characterising the disease are those which are very likely to be mistaken for preganacy. There is suppression of the catamenial flow, with stomach irritation; the breasts are also sympathetically affected. I cannot, however, better describe these symptoms then by relating the only case of the kind which has come under my own personal observation. The lady was under the care of my esteemed friend, Mr. Austin, of Red Lion-street, Clerkenwell, a surgeon in very extensive practice. She supposed herself to be pregnant, the menstrual function having been suspended, and the uterus gradually increasing in size. After the lapse of some months, labour pains came on, and Mr. Austin was sent for, the patient believing she was about to miscarry. An immense quantity of water passed away, and the uterus returned to its original unimpregnated size. The female soon recovered, and has since borne several children. This, then, is the history of these cases: the womb enlarges to a greater or less extent, according to the degree of irritability of that organ; then contraction occurs, and the watery contents of the bag are evacuated; and, lastly, the bag itself is forced away. In this variety of hydatid growth there is no danger, as there is no attendant hemorrhage, and for this reason the doubt that probably existed, with regard to the nature of the affection previously to the occurrence of uterine action, will be of comparatively little consequence, especially as no particular treatment will be required. It will be proper, however, carefully to examine into the state of the patient's general health, and to apply such remedies as her peculiar condition may require. I have previously stated, that when the hydatids grow in masses or bunches, the disease is very apt to be renewed; here, on the contrary, the expulsion of the cyst is usually followed by perfect restoration, the patient being ever afterwards entirely free from this disorder. The proper functions of the uterus are only for a time interfered with. The accumulation of water is often very large; in the case just mentioned to you, as attended by Mr. Austin and myself, the account given by the patient was, that a pailful of fluid had been discharged.

I have now, Gentlemen, brought to a conclusion my remarks on the function and diseases of the unimpregnated womb.

Let me, before we part, advise you to pay great attention to uterine diseases; seek every opportunity of becoming acquainted with them; mark well their diagnostic signs; and, above all, aim at acquiring that manual dexterity, without which your examinations, per vaginam, will be worse than useless. By so doing you will be preserved from the commission of many blunders, saved from much mortification, and prove yourselves a blessing, instead of a curse, to the more interesting portion of mankind.

LECTURES

ON

DISEASES OF THE UTERUS AND ITS APPENDAGES,

BY M. LISFRANC.

LECTURE I.

ON THE TOUCHER, AND THE APPLICATION OF THE SPECULUM.

Common mode of examining the genital organs in women; points of importance unnoticed by authors; the lecturer's mode; the whole vagina should be examined, and especially the neck and body of the uterus; varieties in the position and condition of the neck; capacity of the vagina; the toucher by the rectum; variations in the body of the uterus; surgical anatomy of the parts; mode of introducing the speculum; examination of the neck through the speculum; circumstances which contraindicate its use.

The general rules for examining the state of the female genital organs by the touch, are sufficiently well known; most commonly we make our examination with the index finger of the right hand, moistened with some oily or mucilaginous substance. The finger passes first along the perineum, and is then made to enter the orifice of the vagina near its posterior commissure, in order to avoid touching the clitoris.

Such is a brief description of the common method, but a great many points of some importance have either been forgotten or neglected by those who have described the mode of practising the toucher. Thus, it is by no means indifferent whether we moisten the finger with oil, butter, or cerate, especially if the toucher precedes the application of the speculum. Cerate obscures the parts, and butter often sticks upon the parietes in such a manner, that it may be mistaken afterwards for some morbid secretion; oil, therefore, is in all cases preferable. In some females the neck of the uterus is situate so high up, that the finger can reach it with great difficulty. This peculiarly occurs in fat women, where the labia are excessively developed; in this case it is useful to place the woman on an inclined plane of from 25 to 30°, as in the opera-

tion for the stone, or on the edge of a bed, the legs widely separated, and the feet supported by a chair. The surgeon must separate with care the labia majora, in order that the hand may arrive directly at the opening of the vagina; by this means we gain at least an inch. In these cases, also, we should be careful to employ the general rule of placing the thumb between the great lips, and the three last fingers extended and separated from the index, between the thighs and against the perineum, which the medius may, in case of necessity, push up a little; at the same time we desire the woman to force down, and we endeavour to depress the uterus with the left hand applied to the abdomen above the pubes. Sometimes it is necessary to make the woman walk about for an hour or two before touching her. In this way I succeeded in bringing down the uterus of a female in the ward of St. Augustin, who had a polypus attached to the neck of the uterus: before using this precaution, I could not reach the pedicle at all.

In more difficult cases it may be well to introduce the medius and index fingers together; here the whole hand may be introduced, for the vagina will yield sufficiently to admit it, though the woman be not pregnant, or near the time of labour; but this requires great slowness and management, and the observance of the rules which belong more properly to the introduction of the speculum; we may hence, however, remark, that abstracting the difficulty of its introduction, exploration with the whole hand is more easy, and leads to more certain results than do one or two

fingers.

In the common toucher we should always be careful to examine the whole length of the vagina, as the finger continues to penetrate, describing with its point various arches of a circle. I well remember having to repent the omission of this rule some six years ago, in the case of a woman whom I touched frequently, without perceiving a polypus of the size of a nut, which grew from the posterior and middle part of the vagina. In some scrofulous women, when we press the finger backwards, or on the sides of the vagina, we sometimes feel a crepitation produced by gorged or inflamed lymphatic glands, which give rise to certain accidents analogous to some affections of the vagina or uterus; it is sufficient to point out this error, or to prevent you from falling into it.

But it is especially the examination of the neck and body of the uterus which requires great dexterity and a perfect knowledge of this organ; and in the first place, if it be necessary to examine the whole circumference of the neck, it is essential to touch with both hands; for the pulp of one index-finger can touch and examine the vagina and neck of the uterus in that surface only which is opposed to it. To examine the whole circumference with one finger, would require that the arm execute a complete rotation, which is impossible. The neck of the uterus presents a great number of varieties, not only in different women, but in the same

women at different periods, and we can readily conceive how important it is not to confound these natural varieties with a diseased

state of the organ.

It would be impossible for me to point out to you all their varieties; long practice on the living, and examination of the dead body, will teach you more than any description can do; however, a few considerations on the subject may be useful. At the period of the menses, and even a few days later, the neck of the uterus is more soft and voluminous than natural, and gives the same sensation to the touch as at the second month of pregnancy; the same state is observed after frequent sexual intercourse. During the menses, the orifice of the neck is also dilatable, and admits readily the first phalanx of the finger, which, when introduced thus far, feels a

smooth tissue, like a serous membrane.

Hence, in these cases, our conclusions should be very guarded; at any other period the dilatation of the neck indicates some present or imminent malady of a severe kind. If the finger, instead of meeting a polished membrane, feels one which gives a sensation similar to that when we touch a mucous surface, there is certainly something wrong. The neck is also dilated during hemorrhage, or when the uterus contains a polypus; but then we have other symptoms to assist the diagnosis. In some women the neck naturally resembles an elongated cone, with the apex inferior, presenting a round orifice, as if it were made with a gimblet. Its length is very variable, and may extend even to an inch and a half; hence, the indications drawn by accoucheurs from the effacement of the neck of the uterus at different periods of preg-

nancy, are subject to numerous exceptions.

We should also avoid mistaking for a diseased state, those cicatrices which result from slight laceration of the neck during labour; they are hard, linear, and give the sensation to the finger of a small thick plate, on the edges of which the two lips of the wound are united. Finally, in old women the neck of the uterus becomes more contracted and wasted even than the uterus itself. The vagina becomes equally contracted round the os tincæ, and almost forms there a cul-de-sac. In other cases the neck projects either forwards or backwards, without there being any trace of disease, which we are not to conclude, unless there be present at the same time tumefaction and sensibility. Thus, women who are accustomed to receive men frequently have the neck always pushed backwards, with a slight interversion of the uterus; this arises from the circumstances, that during copulation the glans lodges in front of the neck, and pushes it back. Besides, you all know, that when an obliquity of the neck presents an obstacle to the touch, the neck of the uterus may always be brought into a more favourable direction by changing the position of the woman.

Other precautions are necessary when we wish to explore the body of the uterus. Some anatomists have erroneously believed, that the superior part of the vagina is as narrow as the inferior.

M. Cruveilhier has shown that its capacity is truly astonishing. This fact is important in the history of the toucher. In fact, if we confine ourselves to simply pushing the finger from below upwards, it soon reaches the attachment of the vagina round the neck, and exploration of the body of the uterus becomes impossible; but the capacity of the vagina at this part permits us to push up its parietes sufficiently high to examine, in most cases, the lower half of the body of the uterus. In the vaginal toucher we may also gain that by the rectum and hypogastrium.

To practise the toucher by the rectum requires long experience; the womb, which we feel through the recto-vaginal parietes, appears of an enormous magnitude, to which we should be accustomed in order to appreciate its just value; by this means we may reach as high as the middle of the uterus; but it is most applicable to an examination of the broad ligaments, which are touched with

the greatest facility across the parietes of the intestine.

The volume of the body of the uterus is just as variable as that of its neck; but we may conceive how necessary it is to judge correctly on this point, when we reflect that a slight difference of volume may contraindicate an operation otherwise necessary. In general every irritation in the neighbourhood of the uterus attracts the blood to this organ, and always increases its size more or less, particularly any affection of the neck. Ventral pregnancy will cause it to swell one-third.

I have said the womb wastes in old age; if, then, at this period of life the neck should require an operation, should the uterus seem more developed than in an adult, it is a sign of too great engorgement, and an indication for deferring the operation. The position of the uterus often changes, without our being well able to assign the cause of this change. In women who have borne children it is lower in the pelvis; in women who cohabit much, it is inclined forwards; and as for more considerable displacements, of which most practitioners have made an essential disease, I consider them in general as a simple symptom of engorgement, and I have as yet found no reason for changing my opinion.

It may be well to remark now, that some women, especially those who come from the country, have the genital organs, though healthy, so excessively sensitive, that the least touch determines great pain, and even convulsive attacks. Bleeding, baths, opiate

glysters, &c., are necessary to calm this state of irritability.

ON THE APPLICATION OF THE SPECULUM.

When we wish to judge simply of the size, consistency, or sensibility of the neck of the uterus, the finger is, without doubt, sufficient; but we must have recourse to the speculum in order to recognise the existence of excoriation, miliary eruption, or the nature and extent of various ulcers. I prefer the conical pewter tube to all others; but as the ordinary length of five inches is not sufficient

for all women, I have increased the length to seven, and have re-

jected the handle as useless.

Before we describe the method of introducing this instrument, it may be useful to say a few words on the surgical anatomy of the parts. In women who have not had children, the external orifice is not placed exactly in the same direction as the vagina; the posterior demi-circumference is formed by a transverse slip of skin and mucous membrane, called the fourchette. This fold, of various sizes, but always large in proportion to the distance between the anus and vulva, forms above and behind it a small cul-de-sac. From this disposition it follows, that if we at once attempt to introduce the speculum in the direction of the vagina, we push against this fold of membrane, cause great pain to the women, and fail.

It is necessary, then, to commence by directing the instrument backwards and a little downwards, in a line drawn from the orifice of the vulva to the point of the coccyx, and, when we touch the bottom of this cul-de-sac, to raise the instrument into the direction of the vagina. This dimensions of this orifice are also very variable; in virgins, it is in part closed by the hymen, which we should respect unless the indication is very pressing. It is useful to know, that in young girls it is extremely dilatable, more so than in adults. From the moment of the cessation of the menses its rigidity becomes greater and greater; so much so, that at an advanced age, instead of finding a simple ring which yields to the finger, we find an orifice which is hard, and, as it were, cracking under the least effort made to overcome the resistance; sometimes in these old women it scarcely admits the little finger, and the vagina presents smooth walls, and a very contracted cavity, instead of its usual folds.

From what I have said we may draw these conclusions, that in young girls, however narrow this orifice may appear, we may expect to dilate it sufficiently; — that in adults we cannot count on this so much, and should not use any speculum much larger than the apparent capacity of the orifice; — finally, in advanced life, we should be very guarded in the use of the instrument, and proceed with great caution and slowness, in order to avoid lacerations, which cicatrise with difficulty, and are caused even by very small speculums. It is the great labia which contribute chiefly to enlarge this orifice and the vagina, as we see during labour, when the head of the fœtus begins to traverse the vulva.

The same thing takes place when any large body is introduced into the vagina; hence the assistant who supports the great labia when the speculum is first applied, should be careful to let them go the moment the instrument begins to enter; without this the parts will be too much dragged, and the vagina, not being able to

dilate, will oppose the free passage of the speculum.

You may now comprehend more readily the method of introduction. The woman must rest across a bed, supported on its edge, the feet fixed on two chairs, and the legs sufficiently separated to permit the surgeon to place himself between them; a pillow should be placed under the head and another under the pelvis. The instrument should be oiled and warmed, for in winter the coldness of the metal may cause the vagina to contract, and may produce other inconveniences. I have seen one case in which this coldness determined excessive colic, and nearly all the symptoms

of peritonitis.

We commence by touching, in order to ascertain with certainty the position of the neck. Without this previous examination, we run the risk of introducing the instrument in a wrong direction, and of being obliged afterwards, in order to find the neck, to execute various movements which irritate and injure the uterus; besides this, the toucher will give some preliminary idea of the volume of the neck, which may direct us in choosing the size of the speculum to be employed. With the left hand we separate the hair and labia; we take the handle of the instrument in the other, placing the thumb in the cavity of the speculum, and the two first fingers below the handle. The introduction should always take place slowly; if the fourchette extends far backwards, we should avoid any transverse pressure on the perineum, which would only make it more tense; it is even better to draw this part forward.

When the centre of the instrument corresponds exactly with the centre of the vagina, it must be pushed on, first in a line passing from the centre of the orifice to the lower part of the coccyx; and when it has penetrated about an inch in this direction, we make it execute a slight movement of rotation to bring it in the line of the sacro-vertebral angle. As the speculum advances, the woman feels herself compelled to make some involuntary efforts: the vagina presses the speculum on all sides, and presents at the extremity of the instrument a reddish ring formed by the contracted parietes of the vagina, having an orifice in the centre: but if the neck of the uterus is inclined to either side, then the orifice is usually seen on

one side or other of this red ring.

This reddish tumour of the vagina, having some resemblance to the neck of the uterus, may lead to an error; but we should remember that the neck does not present any folds like the vagina, and is, besides, of a different colour. In a state of inflammation the neck is more brown than the vagina; in a state of health it is much more pale; however, to remove all doubt, it is well to push up gently the presenting part with a little tube of wood rounded at the tip; when, if it be the vagina, it yields to the least pressure. Sometimes the neck is so much inclined backward, that it cannot be brought into the field of the speculum. In this case the instrument should be drawn back an inch, and the handle raised upwards and forwards, in order to direct its apex between the posterior wall of the vagina and the neck, when this organ may be raised and caught in the orifice of the speculum.

When the neck is too large to be seen at one view, the speculum

may be moved from one part to the other, until the whole has been examined, but these manœuvres require that the neck should be completely insensible, otherwise they are not without danger.

When the speculum is well placed, we should introduce into its cavity a small mop, to clean the parts. The neck of the uterus, even in a state of health, is always covered with mucus, more or less thick, which may obscure any small ulcerations. Sometimes its lips, soft and hypertrophied, are applied exactly to one another, and conceal ulcerations of its inner surface; in this case we should raise up the anterior lip with a female sound; this is often sufficient to bring into view certain eating ulcers, or small tubercles situate within the neck, which are the commencement of cellulo-vascular polypi. For such examination, if we use the sun-light, the patient should be placed facing the light, and the surgeon must stand on

one side; a candle is easily managed by the assistant.

There are certain circumstances which contraindicate the use of the speculum, or render its introduction more difficult. Sometimes the hymen exists in whole, or in part, and the introduction of the speculum becomes so painful, that it should be absolutely renounced, unless the emergency is very pressing. If, however, there existed some severe disease of the internal organs of generation, it would be preferable to divide the membrane by a crucial incision, and to remove altogether the little flaps, taking care to choose as small an instrument as possible: the same observation applies to old women, on account of the great contraction of the vagina already noticed. Sometimes the vagina is traversed by membranary bands, which impede the passage of the speculum. I once found a circular membrane placed about one inch from the neck of the uterus, which divided the vagina like a diaphragm, and prevented at the same time the application of the toucher and the speculum. More frequently the vagina is contracted in its upper third into a funnel-like tube; and this alteration involves all the membranes; above this contraction it assumes its usual caliber. I have seen this disposition five or six times, and in one case was forced to traverse this narrow passage, in order to cauterise the os tincæ. Finally, in some cases the vagina is the seat of certain tumours, which must be removed, if we wish to form a passage for the speculum.

In speaking of the toucher, I mentioned some cases where the vagina was so sensitive, that the pressure of the finger produced the most disagreeable accidents; it is still more necessary to calm this irritation before we use the speculum; the presence of deep ulcerations of the vagina or neck of the uterus also contraindicate the use of the speculum: I was witness to a case of this kind, where the unreasonable introduction of this instrument gave rise to an enormous laceration of the vagina, hemorrhage, and death, in two hours. If the neck be surrounded by vegetations of such a magnitude that they cannot be embraced by the speculum, its application is useless. Finally, we should defer the application of this instrument when an extreme hypertrophy of the uterus is accom-

panied by a state of sub-inflammation of the organ; for as we cannot attempt to cauterise, or apply local treatment to the excoriations or superficial ulcers until the engorgement has nearly totally disappeared, the use of the speculum would be useless, and might be attended with inconveniences.

LECTURE II.

THE INFLUENCE EXERCISED ON THE SPECIAL DISEASES OF THE UTERUS BY ITS FUNCTIONAL DERANGEMENTS.

Total and temporary absence of menstruation in women; causes which produce this, and its treatment; error of supposing the uterus always free from morbid alterations before menstruation; period of the first menstruation; cautions for that period; capriciousness of this function; menstruation attended by great pain; sudden arrest and diminution of the menses; excessive menstruation; cessation of the causes in advanced years; affections of the uterus not most common at this period; excessive venereal desire.

In the former lecture we described at length the two chief means employed in the diagnosis of morbid alterations of the uterus, viz., the touch and the speculum. Before, however, we pass to an examination of its special diseases, it will be useful to consider the influence exercised on them by functional derangements of the uterus, — a study which is as necessary for the prophylactic treatment, as the etiology, and which has not hitherto been described by any author in a copious manner.*

The derangement of the uterus as regards menstruation, may be referred to four heads, viz., 1st, deranged menstruation at the period of its establishment in the young female; 2d, at any time during its usual course; 3d, at the period of the cessation of the menses; 4th, and finally, the various accidents which accompany

their derangement of function.

1. Absence of Menstruation. — There are certain females who never menstruate. I have had occasion, within a period of ten years, to notice fourteen cases of this kind. The influence exercised by this state on the constitution varies according to the individual. Some of them, at each return of the menstrual period, become extremely sensitive, irritable, and ill-humoured; they experience dizziness, suffocation, a feeling of weight in the pelvis, colicky pains, &c., without the discharge of a single drop of blood. Other females arrive at an advanced age without experiencing periodic indisposition, but they are commonly women of infirm health, more or less emaciated, whose flesh is soft, flaccid, &c.; their yellow complexion announces suffering, and in some cases

^{*} Certainly by no author in the original and copious manner of M. Lisfranc. - Ep. L.

they are harassed by cholic, diarrhœa, palpitation of the heart,

headache, &c.

What are we to do in similar cases? Some physicians attribute these phenomena to the organization of the woman, and content themselves with a rational inactivity; others, regarding the absence of menstruation as the morbid cause to be combated, endeavour by all means in their power to establish this function. The remedies used for this latter purpose are frequently more injurious than beneficial, and increase the congestion of the uterus, by causing an afflux of fluid toward the pelvis. Hence the symptoms are frequently aggravated, and, persisting from one menstrual period to another, do not give the unfortunate patient a moment's repose.

Before we attempt any treatment, it is above all things necessary to assure ourselves of the cause which prevents the establishment of the menses. In many cases, the toucher reveals an engorgement of the uterus, which must be got rid of. In two instances of the kind, I have succeeded in bringing about a regular menstruation, by dissipating the state of congestion. One of the females has since become a mother. When this cause does not exist, and when the derangement is of many years' standing, the disease is in general beyond the power of art, and we should give over any attempt at re-establishing the function of the uterus. But we do not mean by this that the women are to be abandoned to their sufferings; we may supply the neglect of nature, and set up an artificial sanguineous evacuation. Thus, whenever the return of pains announce a menstrual period, blood should be drawn from the arm to the amount of five or six ounces; or five or six leeches may be applied to the arm, and the blood allowed to flow for a short time from the bites. These means may be aided by warm-baths, moderate exercise, and appropriate regimen; thus if the woman be feeble and not nervous, a nourishing diet with some tonics must be prescribed. When the nervous system predominates, we should employ narcotics in the form of frictions and clysters. If the pain, instead of returning periodically every month, should be continual, the indication is the same; we endeavour, by observing some aggravation of the symptoms, to fix on the period corresponding with the menstrual one; and if there be no remission, we must only choose a period at hazard, and employ the above-mentioned means at its monthly recurrence.

As it is necessary in these cases to make a deep impression on the constitution, the treatment must be continued for several months, and even years, but perseverance in this way will almost always effect a considerable diminution of the pains, or end by removing them altogether. To this absolute absence of the menses we may add their periodic absence during a time more or less considerable. I have seen females who menstruated only every four or six months, or even every three, four, or six years. In some of these cases the women suffer habitually, and the mode of treatment is the same as that which has been indicated for com-

plete absence of the menses; but sometimes they enjoy, to all appearance, the most perfect health. But we have to fear lest this deceptive calm may conceal some dangerous affection which will break out at a later period in some disease of the heart, some chronic pulmonary affection, or a latent peritonitis. I was acquainted with three young females who had never been pregnant, and who menstruated at very long intervals; they are all now dead. One was cut off by an aneurism of the heart at the age of 21; the two others died at the ages of 19 and 24, of tubercular phthisis. Hence I think it prudent to draw blood from the arm occasionally in cases of this kind. I have thus treated a woman of 36 years of age, who has not menstruated for ten years. The precautionary bleeding has preserved her in a good state of health.

2. Period of the first Menstruation.—It is generally believed that the uterus is free from morbid alterations before the period when menstruation usually commences: this is an error. M. Carron du Billards found a polypus accompanied with uterine engorgement in a child of seven years. Many women of an advanced age refer the commencement of their indisposition to puberty. Thus, I have had occasion to treat the wife of a lawyer, in whom general health commenced to give way before the period of menstruation. She experienced pain in the loins; constant sensation of weight, with pain in the pelvis. At first she was treated for gastro-enteritis; but I suspected a quite different cause; examination of the uterus showed a sub-inflammatory engorgement of that organ. This condition was combated by appropriate means, and the patient now enjoys perfect health.

The theory of menstruation might lead us to the same conclusion as these facts have established. The menses never appear all on a sudden. For a long time before their appearance the blood is determined towards the uterus; if the issue of the menstrual fluid meet any obstacle (and we know with what difficulty menstruation is in general established), this fluxion of blood, repeated every month, must naturally end in an engorgement of the organ. To this cause we must refer the lumbar pain, the weight which young girls feel in the pelvis, the consequent paleness of countenance, the puffiness of the face, the loss of appetite, of strength, the sense of suffocation with palpitation, which more than one physician has attributed to an aneurism, or to something

still more vague, a disease of the heart.

What contributes still more to render the diagnosis obscure, is, that the female suffers much less at the commencement of the affection, and that a feeling of ill directed modesty prevents them, especially at this age, from explaining clearly the sensations and

inconveniences which they experience.

The preceding observations prove how important it is in the prophylactic treatment of uterine disease, to favour as much as possible the establishment of menstruation in young girls. We do

not now speak of those who are healthy and strong, in whom nature can afford to make some efforts; but if the young girl be weak, let her be put on a nourishing diet, and take some slight tonics as soon as the premonitory symptoms of menstruation appear. Cold aromatic baths, with exercise in the open air and sun, are powerful auxiliaries. In cases of this nature also, we employ with advantage local applications, stimulant foot-baths, aromatic fumigations, small clysters very warm, warm injections of the vagina; warm cataplasms around the pelvis or to the vulva, dry cupping-glasses, flying blisters, a few blisters to the ankles or legs, to the inner and upper part of the thighs, seldom to the vulva, small bleeding at the saphena vein, &c.

When the foot-bath is employed, the water should rise up as high as the knees at least, to obtain all the advantage possible. I can assure you from experience, that the simple foot-bath to the ankles is more injurious than useful. If, on the contrary, symptoms of uterine congestion appear in a young woman of strong constitution, these local remedies will only increase the evil. In this case we must have recourse to warm-baths frequently repeated, to a vegetable diet, less nutrient than that ordinarily used; to moderate exercise, and, finally, in many cases to one or two small

bleedings at the arm, of from three to six ounces.

Masturbation is a cause which frequently deranges and opposes the establishment of menstruation. Besides the mechanical means usually employed, we must, in these cases, endeavour to calm the moral condition of the patient, by removing every cause of excitation, and to appease any existing excitement by narcotics chiefly administered by the rectum. Whatever be the means of treatment which we propose to adopt, it is essential not to bring them into activity before the presumed period of the menses, or twenty-four hours before it. In the intervals we should content ourselves with

general palliatives.

The choice of local agents is far from being indifferent; nothing is more capricious, more bizarre, if we may use the expression, than the function of menstruation. In some females foot-baths will bring them on; in others it is arrested by the same means; the application of a chauffoir, journeys on horseback, or in a carriage, and a variety of other circumstances, enjoy, by turns, opposite properties, according to the individual. The temperament and constitution of the female seem to have no influence in this respect; each female has a special idiosyncrasy for this function, which we must watch and respect carefully in those who have already menstruated, and which requires the greatest caution in the choice of remedies where experience has not yet revealed its exact nature.

3. Painful Menstruation. — The menses when established are not always free from accidents. In many women the periodic return of menstruation is marked by intolerable pain, which appears a few hours before the discharge comes on, and continues a few hours after it has ceased, remaining either during the whole time

of the discharge, or some days later. In most cases the painful menstruation is an hereditary disease, and if the women who suffer from it are questioned, we shall find that several individuals of their family have suffered in the same manner, and are, perhaps, dead from some uterine disease.

This circumstance then requires a serious attention. We can readily conceive how a uterus, which has been exposed monthly to similar congestions for a period of twenty or thirty years, is more exposed than any other to consecutive alterations; this is a fact which I have had occasion to notice very frequently. When the state of the parts is examined in the interval of the menses by the touch, we find the neck, and more frequently the body, of the uterus, gorged with blood, increased in size, and in a sub-inflammatory condition. When the disease has once arrived at this point, the engorgement must, above all other things, be combated by the means which will presently be pointed out; but if we find the uterus in a healthy condition, the female must not be abandoned to her sufferings, as many practitioners advise, who see only in this state the natural effect of a peculiar constitution. Without doubt it is difficult to attain a perfect cure, but we can always at least alleviate the pain. Here the constitution of the female should be the object of our peculiar study, not as an empty speculation, but to throw some light on the treatment which should be employed to modify it. In most cases these pains are merely neryous; the abdomen of the woman seems to be lifted up by something inside; she feels violent contractions and sexual desire, but connexion, far from being agreeable, only irritates the nerves. When an injection is thrown into the vagina, it is immediately rejected; the pulse is small, hard, vibrating; there is subsultus tendinum, and the least emotion throws the body into a state of agitation.

In cases of this kind we endeavour to calm this excited state by narcotics, and chiefly laudanum, administered in small clysters two or three days before the period of the menses; but here we must continue to act, during the intervals, from one period to another. If the woman is simply nervous, warm injections by the rectum, cold-baths, narcotics, frequently are of great service, but in other cases they are injurious. In this respect we must study with care the idiosyncrasy of each patient. For lymphatic women, whose flesh is soft and flaccid, we prescribe bitter tonics, cold-baths, a nourishing diet, some narcotics, and, even in the midst of the menses, a very small bleeding. For plethoric women, who generally lose little blood, we recommend, in preference, warm baths long continued; a vegetable diet reduced gradually to three-quarters, or even two-thirds, of the usual quantity taken; very moderate exercise; emollient drinks in abundance. Coffee and strong liquors are to be prohibited; and, finally, twenty-four or forty-eight hours after the discharge has ceased, we practise a revulsive

bleeding of four or five ounces, which must be repeated, if neces-

sary, fifteen days afterwards.

When once the menses have appeared, we have nothing to do but favour their discharge. But it may so happen that the fluid, after a few hours, or a day's discharge, is suddenly arrested, though, on former occasions, the period of menstruation was much longer; here, if the uterus be sound, we must endeavour to bring them back in the first twenty-four or forty-eight hours after their disappearance; but when the secretory organ is diseased, the case is different; should we attempt to re-establish the discharge under such circumstances, nineteen times out of twenty our attempts will only serve to aggravate the pain. Hence I have laid this down as a rule, to give free latitude to nature in cases of this kind. I confine my practice to the employment of a revulsive bleeding of the arm next morning, which is repeated after fifteen days, with the use of emollient or tonic draughts.

Sometimes the primary affection of the uterus does not cause the sudden interruption of the menses, but merely diminishes their quantity: ought we here to favour a further discharge? In many cases I have done so with success; in others I have increased the uterine congestion, in useless efforts at attempting to increase the quantity of fluid secreted. If on any occasion they stop completely, we have good reasons for not endeavouring to bring them on again. On the one hand the measures employed will, in all probability, be useless; on the other, we have to fear that they may be positively injurious, by increasing the sanguineous congestion.

Finally, the menses may be excessive in quantity. It has been already remarked that fat women commonly lose a very small quantity of blood; on the contrary, abundant menstruation is common amongst lean women. In some of these the loss of blood is excessive during the first two days; it rushes, as it were, in a stream from the vagina; the woman is compelled to remain in bed, and continues for a long time afterwards extremely feeble; frequent baths, if the woman is robust, with a light vegetable diet, will aid in moderating these excessive evacuations; but when she is weak and nervous, we must have recourse to narcotics and a generous nutrition; in either case we should not omit small revulsive bleedings of the arm, practised a few days after each menstruation, and repeated in the intervals, should they appear necessary.

4. Cessation of the Menses. — The mean term of the cessation of the menses is fixed between forty and fifty years of age; however, these numbers do not exactly represent the two extremes. I have often seen the menses cease at the age of thirty-five. I may also quote the case of a woman now forty-two, who has ceased to have any discharge for fourteen years, and I give you as an opposite example, the history of three women whom I attended, and who still menstruate, though one is fifty-four, another fifty-

six, and the third is sixty-four years of age. They are of an ordi-

nary temperament, and enjoy perfect health.

With regard to many women, the cessation of the menses is announced several months or years beforehand by derangement of the function; the discharge is sometimes too abundant, sometimes scanty, or comes on irregularly. By degrees the uterus modifies itself, and, finally, gives no longer exit to any fluid; but for some time after this the blood continues to be determined, each month, to the organ, and this becomes a powerful cause of congestion. However, we are not to believe with most writers on the subject, that affections of the uterus are more common at this period than at any other. The great law of physiology, that the more an organ is exercised, the more liable it is to affections, here holds good as elsewhere. From twenty to thirty-five years of age, the reproductive organs are most exercised, and observation shows that diseases are more common between those two periods. There are a great number of women affected with diseases of the uterus in the hospital of La Pitie, and amongst those so attacked I do not remark more than three who have reached the age of forty. However true this may be, the critical age, as it has been called, gives rise, in certain females, to inconveniences arising from congestion of the uterus. In many, the venereal orgasm is felt for the first time with violence, and here, nineteen times out of twenty, it should be attributed to irritation of the uterus, in the same way as irritation of the bladder or rectum occasions frequent erection in the male. Hence, also, we have pain, wandering heat, various nervous affections, headache, palpitations, whites, and, in many cases, hemorrhage.

These affections are most frequently met with in women who live in cities. In the country, women employed in laborious occupations, get rid of the materials which they no longer lose in menstruation, by exercise and fatiguing work. When accidents of this kind make their appearance, we should endeavour to combat them without delay by the means already pointed out. The well-informed practitioner will not seek to increase a scanty discharge by determining the blood towards the uterus, a sure means of establishing congestion of the organ, but will prefer supplying its place one or two days after the cessation of the discharge, by a small revulsive bleeding. The pains may be combated by baths, narcotic injections, and emollient clysters. Should the woman be a prey to excessive venereal desire, we should remember that this orgasm, though originally produced by the irritation of the uterus, may afterwards react on, and increase its cause; and complete abstinence is to be as carefully avoided as an excessive abuse. Moderate connexion with the male may be prescribed with very great Finally, if the discharge assume the character of flooding, we must have recourse to the means which will be in-

dicated against this accident.

LECTURE III.

ON UTERINE HEMORRHAGE, OR METRORRHAGIA: LEUCORRHŒA AND HYSTERIA.

Flooding unconnected with pregnancy; its connexion with menstruation; danger of arresting it when of long standing; uterine hemorrhage not an essential disease, but the result of organic change of the womb; specific causes; where it is curable; where the case is dangerous to some other viscus; where it is incurable; on plugging the vagina. — Of leucorrhæa, or the whites; its sources and causes not dropsy of the uterus; venereal character; treatment. Injections into the uterus; hysteria, its connexion with the uterus; treatment.

1. On Flooding, or Metrorrhagia. — The species of flooding of which we are about to speak, is that which is connected, as cause or as effect, with affections of the uterus, and totally distinct from the loss of blood which occurs during pregnancy or labour, and which comes more naturally under the province of the accoucheur.

Metrorrhagia may attack females who still menstruate, or those who have ceased to lose any blood periodically; the latter case is very common. Thus five, ten, fifteen years after the critical age, women are seized with a sudden hemorrhage from the uterus, and imagine that their menses have returned. We should avoid confounding abundant menstruation with flooding. The latter never has that periodic regularity which characterises the menses. Thus hemorrhage may appear, and last for fifteen days, more or less; then may disappear spontaneously, and either return at some undefined period, or never. Sometimes, however, it is connected with the appearance of the menses; but still presents characters sufficiently distinct to be recognised. Sometimes the menses appear first, stop after one or two days, and the flooding comes on next morning, continues for ten days, and then ceases for twenty-four hours to commence afresh. At other times the flooding is first noticed, ceases a little before the commencement of the menses, and permits them to run their usual course.

When these floodings are very copious, and have lasted for several years, they become as it were constitutional, and it would be imprudent were we to suppress them suddenly. We would have to apprehend the occurrence of some severe affection of another organ, particularly of the lungs, which sympathise so in-

timately with the genital organs.

The attention of the practitioner should be particularly directed to this point after the cure of ancient metrorrhagia. As soon as any unfavourable symptom shows itself, he should hasten to relieve the sanguineous system by the abstraction of blood, and apply a seton to the inside of one thigh, or even to both, if the symptoms be intense, in order to set up an irritation in opposition to that which exists within the pelvis.

A young woman, twenty-eight years of age, who never had any children, was affected for twelve years with flooding, which came on regularly before the menses. The first time I attempted to arrest this flooding, she was attacked with peritonitis; on the second attempt, in spite of preparatory bleedings, she was seized with pneumonia; after a third, with meningitis: all these inflammations yielded, as by enchantment, to the application of leeches on the vulva.

A woman, living in the Rue St. Martin, suffered for eight years from a similar flooding, brought on by an engorgement of the uterus. A revulsive bleeding of the arm arrested the hemorrhage, but headache and various other affections immediately supervened, and did not give way before the re-establishment of the accustomed

discharge.

A young female of the Rue Gaillan, affected with pulmonary tubercles, experienced from time to time very abundant flooding. I was very cautious not to suppress it completely; I simply moderated the quantity of the discharge, and as soon as any increase of pulmonary symptoms occurred, I endeavoured to encourage the determination of blood to the uterus. By this simple but rational treatment the life of the young patient was prolonged for three years, during which time the phthisis seemed to remain stationary; but she went into the country, and her new physician immediately applied himself to suppress the loss of blood, to which he attributed the feeble health of the patient; in a few months she was dead.

Is uterine hemorrhage an essential disease, as many physicians still think? For a long time I have taught that metrorrhagia is to the uterus what hemoptysis is to the lungs; and as this latter symptom rarely occurs without organic alteration of the pulmonary tissue, uterine flooding of a certain standing indicates nearly constantly organic change of the womb. It is not meant to lay this down as an absolute rule, for where have we such in medicine? but amongst the immense number of cases which I have occasion

to examine, I have not as yet met with a single exception.

The causes of uterine flooding are various. Sometimes they depend on the presence of a polypus; we will speak of this presently; sometimes on a slight or severe inflammation of the neck or body of the uterus, or on the slight erosions of the parts which escape discovery by the touch, and can only be well distinguished with the aid of the speculum, on an inflammation of the vagina; or, finally, on any cause of irritation which exists in the pelvis and attracts the blood towards the viscera of that cavity. We can readily enough repress for the moment a uterine flooding, but to get rid of the complaint radically, we must direct our attention and means of cure against the original cause which gives rise to it.

We thus see, on the foregoing principles, that the practitioner may have occasion to treat three distinct kinds of cases, which will require a suitable and modified treatment; either the chief affection is curable, and the discharge may be stopped without any danger; or the flooding is connected with some severe affection of another viscus, which its suppression would inevitably aggravate; or, finally, it depends on some incurable affection of the uterus

itself. Let us examine successively these three cases.

1st. Although the female may not present any visceral alteration, we have seen that the sudden suppression of a metrorrhagia may induce many inconveniences; we should, therefore, be extremely careful to prepare the economy for the change, though the flooding be of short date. Thus, it will be right to commence by taking one or two palettes of blood, or even more, from the arm. Basquillon never omitted this practice, even when the pale lips and small pulse of the patient indicated an exsanguine condition. It is not rare to see the strength increase, instead of diminish, under the influence of this simple means. The woman must at the same time remain perfectly quiet, and she should drink some mild decoction, or syrup. The next morning, if the patient have a little strength, we may renew the bleeding, after which we pass to the employment of local means, such as cold, or astringent applications; the pelvis should be elevated, and, finally, if the hemorrhage be severe, we must have recourse to plugging the vagina, one of the most certain means we possess.

The discharge of blood once arrested, we apply our attention to the disease which gave rise to it, and the cure of the latter will, with all certainty, prevent the recurrence of the former. The principles of treatment are the same when the flooding is ancient, and is, as it were, domiciliated in the constitution; but, in that case, the preparatory measures should be employed for a longer time and at larger intervals, in order to accustom the constitution gradually to sustain the suppression of a discharge to which it has been so long habituated. We must act for entire months on the economy, and employ all our hygienic resources; a regimen sometimes tonic and substantial, sometimes vegetable and scanty, according to the state of the patient; emollient or astringent draughts, and especially, from time to time, small revulsive bleedings. By means of these general remedies the flooding will gradually diminish, at first in intensity, soon after in frequency of occurrence, and we shall

quickly be able to suppress it completely without danger.

2d. If any visceral affection exist at the same time as the uterine discharge, the duty of the physician is easily traced, and consists in moderating its abundance by the general means already indicated, but abstaining scrupulously from any local applications

which may suppress it altogether.

3d. The last case is that, where the flooding is connected with some incurable disease of the uterus. Here the discharge, provided it be not too abundant, is, in most cases, a benefit to the patient, and diminishes the uterine engorgement, and alleviates the severe pain; on the contrary, when suppressed either by art, or spontaneously, the pains return at once, all the symptoms are aggravated, and the disorganization, which was before slow, marches with a

frightful rapidity. In these cases we should evidently respect the discharge, but in more rare instances the hemorrhage causes new pain, a proof that it depends on a fresh engorgement, which should be treated by general remedies, and chiefly by revulsive bleeding. At present we have only spoken of bleeding, the quantity of which, though sometimes considerable, is never sufficient to threaten the life of the patient immediately; but if the hemorrhage come on in a violent manner, every after consideration must yield to the urgency of the present danger. Besides revulsive bleeding, we should, in such cases, employ the most prompt local means, cold astringent injections, or have recourse to the plug without delay.

It is unnecessary to point out here the common method of plugging the vagina, but it may be useful to note a few principles applicable to this subject. If the cavity of the vagina be quite free, it is sufficient to plug it simply to the depth of an inch; if the vagina be filled with morbid excrescences, we must place a flat compress on the vulva, and maintain it in position with the hand, or with a bandage. The object of these precautions is not to irritate, by the contact of the apparatus, the altered tissues, or the neck of the uterus, which, as we know, acquires a great degree of sensibility when in a diseased state; we are also familiar with the influence of foreign bodies in contact with the uterus, in the production of metrorrhagia. The clot which soon forms between the compress and the os uteri, will soon act as the least irritating plug. After an hour or two, it is necessary to remove the apparatus and the clot, in cases where the discharge of blood should be moderated,

but not suddenly and completely suppressed.

2. Of Leucorrhau, or the Whites. - Leucorrhau, as well as bloody discharges from the uterus, has not often been considered as an essential disease. Without doubt it may arise, in the first instance, from the vagina alone, and extend thence to the uterus, constituting the vagino-uterine catarrh; but after an uncertain period, and sometimes very shortly, the uterus becomes engorged, and the catarrh, which was at first the principal affection, no longer constitutes anything but a secondary symptom. In many cases, also, the disease pursues an inverse course of that we have mentioned, and commences by engorgement of the body of the uterus. The discharge, which arises at first from the mucous membrane of the vagina, does not always come from the same morbid condition of parts; at an early stage we find a simple injection of the membrane, with more or less swelling. At a later period we have infiltration, induration, and ulcers of the vagina, or neck of the uterus, (a fact which has, in latter days, been published as new, but which was made known, twenty years back, by Viguerie,) and, finally; vegetations.

From this enumeration it is mamifest how necessary it is to explore attentively the vagina, neck, and body of the uterus in cases of whites, and to regulate by such examination the essential modifications which the treatment must undergo. We shall not repeat

here, on the causes of leucorrhœa, what may be found in all books upon the subject. I would enumerate especially the use of warming-pans, and of coffé, which brings on this discharge immediately in some women. It is well known that a white discharge frequently comes on in moderate quantity the second or third day after the menses; but I have witnessed a fact much more singular and almost unique, in a woman affected with engorgement of the uterus. Five, ten, fifteen, or twenty, days after menstruation, some premonitory symptoms come on as if the discharge was about to return, and immediately after a white serous discharge takes place in such abundance, that the woman is compelled to wear cloths, and so acrid, that it irritates excessively the great labia and the skin of the thighs, causing there very smarting pains. In about two days

these symptoms disappear.

Is this what was formerly termed dropsy of the uterus? I have, at different times, explored the uterus by the vagina, rectum, and hypogastrium, with the minutest attention, and have never found the volume of the organ increased, if we except the engorgement. In order to be more certain on the point, whether any liquid was collected within the uterine cavity, I have passed up, through the os uteri, the extremity of a gum-elastic tube, without finding anything. Hence the serous discharge in this case is produced by a sudden exhalation from the internal surface of the uterus. Are white discharges contagious or not contagious? Are they, or are they not, venereal? These are questions which are very difficult to be resolved, and upon which practitioners are still divided. I think that a white discharge may communicate the venereal disease, especially when the former is connected with small ulcerations of the vagina or urethra - a case more common than is usually thought, but which may be ascertained by examining with a glass those parts, the slight erosions of which easily escape the naked eye.

We may now pass to the details of the treatment. When the discharge is recent, and arises from an acute inflammation of the mucous membrane, we must employ, above all remedies, antiphlogistic means; with this view we prescribe emollient drinks and vegetable diet, and take blood in more or less quantity from the arm, paying some attention to the abundance of the menses. I do not approve of the application of leeches to the pelvis in acute diseases, except when complicated with peritonitis. To these means we may join emollient, nearly cold, injections into the vagina, keeping the pelvis slightly elevated, that the injection may be retained and form a kind of local bath. When the inflammatory symptoms are calmed, we have recourse to revulsives, as copaiva or cubebs, which generally complete the cure in a few days. When the discharge is chronic, revulsives are equally indicated to stop it, unless depending on some alteration of the tissue. If the mucous membrane of the vagina be hardened, we must employ friction of mercurial ointment, and the hydriodate of potass to the upper and inner part of the thighs; or, if the woman can support it, we may place a rag smeared with mercurial ointment in the vagina; and, finally, we may employ injections of various natures.

For a great length of time, surgeons were afraid to throw injections into the cavity of the uterus when affected with catarrh, though Hippocrates had advised the practice, which was, moreever, revived at the end of the last century by Viguerie. It is a simple operation when performed with proper precaution. first inject simply fresh water, we then employ decoctions or astringent injections, or styptics, the strength of which should be gradually increased by the addition of a few drops of concentrated A gum-elastic tube, introduced with circumspection, serves as a means for conducting the injected fluid, and we are thus enabled to cure white discharges, which obstinately resist every other method. Sometimes the injections stop the discharge suddenly, as in the male; or they act more slowly, in general requiring twenty or twenty-five days. On other occasions they convert the chronic inflammation into an acute one; hence the treatment must be modified to the case, and usually twenty-five to thirty days are sufficient for a perfect cure. Should the discharge be kept up by chronic ulcerations, vegetations, or engorgement of the uterus, we can only hope to remove the effect radically by acting on the cause which produces it. However, there are two cases in which we should proceed with more reserve.

When these discharges are very ancient, they become habitual, and necessary to the economy; it is frequently impossible to supply their place, and imprudent to attempt it, more especially if the woman be old, feeble, or have any tendency to scrofula. In other cases it is necessary to set up beforehand some artificial discharge, which may supply that we intend to arrest. Intermittent discharges also require, with respect to their suppression, the same precaution as uterine flooding. We shall not repeat what has been already said on the latter subject. In all cases, in studying carefully the constitution of the female, if we find they have succeeded to the suppression of some evacuation, to the retrocession of an exanthema, we may effect a cure without inconvenience, by

substituting some artificial exutory.

Of Hysteria. — According to many physicians, hysteria being always a nervous disorder, can never be studied in a surgical point of view; but experience does not support this too exclusive opinion, and if the disease be sometimes nervous, more frequently it depends on some irritation or slight inflammation of the uterus. Being frequently called to visit hysterical women, I have practised the toucher in this disease, and the uterus has almost always appeared to enjoy an excess of sensibility, and to be in a state of turgescence and hypertrophy. The neck had the form and size which it presents in the second month of pregnancy. In some cases, where the inspection of the body was offered, the slight inflammation of the uterus already noticed, was equally seen. Hence

I generally prefer the antiphlogistic treatment; after revulsive bleeding of the arm I prescribe baths, emollient injections, and narcotics, administered by the anus, and, when all these means fail, flying cauterization of the abdomen. When we were besieged in 'Metz in 1813, a young girl was attacked with fits of hysteria, which resisted every means employed against them, but they yielded completely to the cauterization. We also know that hysteria succeeds sometimes to the abuse, sometimes to the privation of sexual intercourse. These causes merit peculiar attention; but a capital rule of conduct is to pursue the treatment with perseverance for a month or more if necessary; and if the disease appear at first obstinate, be equally obstinate yourself: success is frequently attained by these means only.

LECTURE IV.

GENERAL REMARKS ON THE SYMPTOMS AND TREATMENT OF DISEASES OF THE UTERUS.

Seeming health during incurable disease of the uterus; cautions on this account; precursory symptoms; palpable disease—death.— Series of general remedies applicable to uterine diseases; viz., baths, repose, injections, lotions to the vulva; cataplasms to the vagina, irrigations, affusions, lavements, narcotics, bloodletting.

WE shall divide our remarks on affections of the uterus and their treatment into two parts; one comprehending sub-inflammations, engorgements, and scirrhus uteri; the other embracing the various ulcerations, vegetations, and different tumours of the neck and body, of the uterus. In order to avoid useless repetitions, we shall commence by detailing certain general symptoms and therapeutic means, which are applicable to the greater part of uterine diseases.

It is well known in the practice of medicine, that diseases do not always produce external symptoms proportionate to their degree of severity or danger. This observation is peculiarly applicable to affections of the uterus. We frequently find this organ in a state of disease, which admits no hope of cure, while the general health does not seem to suffer in the least. The complexion is yet fresh and blooming, while the patient presents nothing but a few insignificant symptoms of disorder in the generative organs. Many of the patients now in the ward Saint-Augustin afford sad examples of the truth of this remark. On the other hand, we observe women who are affected in a very slight manner, become thin, suffer excessive pain, and gradually waste away.

Hence the necessity of a most careful examination the moment we suspect the existence of any disease in this part of the body. In general we remark the following precursory symptoms: — The woman loses a small quantity of blood from time to time, without any pain, or has a leucorrhea, which continues during the interval of menstruation. The breasts become slightly tumid, and she thinks this often a sign of good health. She feels some pain in the loins after walking or riding in a rough carriage. When she stands for any length of time, a sense of fatigue in the pelvis and of dragging in the loins compels her to sit down. Coition is often followed by a slight loss of blood, and excites slight pain, which may disappear quickly, or remain for one, two, or even three days. Sometimes the disease is arrested at this point, and ceases spontaneously; but more frequently the fluor albus becomes more abundant; the woman experiences pain, not usually in the uterus, but about the loins, the round and broad ligaments, or even a pain running down the back of the thighs and legs to the heels, whence it is often mistaken for a sciatica; the pain may also extend towards the umbilicus, to the flanks, or very often to the rectum, especially when the neck of the uterus, thrown backward by a slight anteversion of the organ, presses on the intestine. The floodings now succeed each other at shorter intervals; the breasts dwindle away, and a sympathetic gastro-enteritis declares itself; the patient is affected during the day by a slight fever, recuring at intervals more or less frequent, or by nervous attacks; the skin is dry; digestion becomes deranged; the woman loses flesh and complexion, and the whole skin assumes a sickly, dull colour.

The disease seldom arrives at this point without a physician being consulted, and it is now easily discovered; but at other times, as has been remarked, the disorder, though hidden, increases, while the general health seems perfect, and only reveals itself on a sudden with alarming symptoms; digestion is interrupted, and the patient is afflicted with excessive pain; hemorrhage now sets in and recurs frequently; the skin becomes dry and earthy coloured; finally, a colliquative diarrhæa makes its appearance, and terminates the scene generally in one or two months after the appearance of the first symptoms. Death may take place even within twenty-four hours from perforation of the uterus and peritonitis.

I have occasion to see every year at least twenty examples of uterine affections which march in this insidious manner. Not long ago I was called to the wife of a musical professor in this city, who was fresh and young, and might pass for one of the handsomest women in Paris. M. Moreau, who had already seen the lady, wished to have my advice; I touched her, and found that the uterus was reduced to a putrid mass, in which the finger readily sunk. There was no resource left; it became necessary to acquaint the family with the dangerous state in which

she was, but they could not be persuaded that we were not in error: in a few months afterwards the lady was dead.

SERIES OF GENERAL REMEDIES APPLICABLE IN DISEASES OF THE UTERUS.

Let us suppose that the physician has been called upon in sufficient time to be useful; whatever affection he may discover by aid of the speculum or the toucher, there is a certain series of general remedies applicable to all, the value of which we shall now examine separately. Thus, when the disease is acute, we have baths, repose, injections, clysters, bloodletting, cataplasms, drinks, and regimen. In chronic cases we have blisters, cupping-glasses, douches, excre-

tories, and compression. Of these I shall now speak.

Baths. — The greater number of physicians prescribe emollient hip-baths even in acute affections of the uterus; I reject them in every case, as the greatest absurdity which can be committed in therapeutics. What! do we prescribe a foot-bath in headache in order to draw the blood towards the lower part of the body? and in an affection of the pelvic organs, should we hesitate to attract the blood towards the pelvis? Yet such is evidently the effect produced by hip-baths, as is proved by their influence in bringing on menstruation when arrested. But laying aside theory, let us consult experience. Almost always after a hip-bath the patient complains of greater pain and more weight about the pelvis. Hence I never use it, except when I wish to excite, which is quite a different thing; and I do not hesitate to affirm, that a single hipbath prescribed according to the common and prevailing views, is sufficient to destroy any good effect which may have been produced by any previous treatment, however well directed. Baths in which the whole body is immersed, either warm, or at a temperature agreeable to the feelings of the patient, are the only ones applicable to uterine disease. Simple water is sufficient; the emollient decoctions and gelatin, which are after added, only increase the expense without presenting any advantage. woman should remain in the bath two, three, four, five, or even six hours consecutively. If she remain only half an hour or an hour, the bath becomes rather a means of excitement. In fact, if we examine the pulse on entering a bath, and examine it again some time afterwards, we shall almost invariably find it increased in force and frequency. Respiration becomes accelerated with the pulse, the cutaneous exhalation is augmented, the head feels heavy, and a desire to sleep is experienced: prolong the bath, and this state of excitement gives way to one of calm, constituting, if we may so express it, the antiphlogistic period of the bath. It is, therefore, absolutely necessary to prolong the bath for a considerable period, however, to avoid ennui; we may order one of three hours' duration for the morning, and another of similar length in the evening. But in some cases the use of a bath, however prolonged, irritates the nerves, and some women feel a disposition to faint the moment they enter one. We may pay attention to these peculiarities of constitution, and either diminish the number and duration of the baths, or abstain altogether from their employment.

Repose. — Absolute rest is indispensable. I have often tried every other method, without insisting on repose, but in most cases, especially when walking gave rise to slight pain, all our means were unsuccessful. I treated a woman in the Rue St. Martin during six months; but in spite of all my care the disease increased. assured me that she observed the strictest repose, and I was at a loss to explain this want of success, when some people in the house informed me, that she walked about her chamber every day, which, according to her view, was not taking exercise. I placed her for two months under the care of two trustworthy persons who prevented her from walking, and the consequence has been, that her health is now infinitely improved. It is not repose in bed of which I now speak; the bed causes warmth, determines congestion to the pelvis. We all know how it excites erection of the penis, which cannot be attributed to fulness of the bladder, as it equally takes place when the bladder is empty. The patient should rest on a couch, lying down and not sitting, and should be carried thither from bed, to avoid the exercise of walking to it. But to this rule there are exceptions: some women cannot digest their food while at rest, in others it increases the nervous symptoms; and in many it causes cessation of the catamenia. Exercise of some kind becomes necessary in these cases, and walking is in general preferable to the motion of a carriage however lightly hung. The period of menstruation should be selected as the time for exercise, as then the pain is generally alleviated or diminished; but should the woman suffer more at this period, as may happen, rest is more than ever absolutely necessary.

Injections. — The nature of injections employed, varies according to that of the disease; they are made of emollient, astringent, detergent substances, or a solution of chloride of lime may be used in cases of fetid cancer. The liquid should not be too hot lest it cause congestion, or too cold for fear of reaction. Fifteen or twenty degrees (Reaumur) is a proper temperature. To throw up the injection I generally prefer a middle-sized syringe, armed with a gum-elastic canula, about the size of the little finger, and previously oiled. In order to obtain the greatest possible advantage from injections, the vagina should first be cleaned out with a common injection; the woman should then be placed in a supine position, with the pelvis somewhat raised, so as to form an angle of 35 or 30 degrees with the horizon; by this means the vagina represents an inclined plane, the lowest point of which touches the neck of the uterus. The canula should be introduced into the vagina to the depth of an inch or eighteen lines, or even less in cases of prolapsus, to avoid striking the end of the instrument

against the neck of the uterus, and the handle of the syringe pushed forward with extreme slowness. The vagina usually contains five or six spoonfuls of liquid, which accumulates round the neck of the uterus, as the most depending point, and there forms a kind of local bath, which may be applied ten minutes for the first time, and afterwards for a quarter of an hour. The injection may be repeated three or four times a day. In some cases the external orifice of the vagina will close round the tube, so as to prevent completely the return of the fluid. Here we should avoid pushing the injection too strongly, lest it increase still further the reaction of the canal. Injections may also be administered with great advantage while the woman is in a bath, and then the supine posture is not necessary, for the pressure of the water opposes a sufficient obstacle to the escape of the injection. In spite of these precautions, there are some women who suffer a great deal whenever injections are thrown up the vagina; the introduction of the tube is painful, or the vagina contracts on the liquid, and does not keep the slightest quantity. These symptoms are most frequently seen a few days before and after menstruation, but we must still employ the injections, unless contraindicated by the excessive suffering which they may produce. The entrance of the vagina will become accustomed to the tube, but it may be prudent to throw them up less frequently as long as this state of irritability lasts. Some patients complain of injections rendering their condition worse; but the practitioner will do well to assure himself that it is not dislike to the operation which produces these complaints before he determine on discontinuing so useful a remedy.

Lotions to the Vulva. — The vagina may in some cases be filled up with vegetations, which are very irritable, and bleed on the least contact. Here injections should be replaced by the use of lotions to the vulva. The labia majora are to be gently separated, and a sponge steeped in some medicated fluid should be applied to the orifice of the vagina, avoiding every kind of pressure or

friction in applying or withdrawing the sponge.

Cataplasms to the Vagina. — We have been recommended to pass into the vagina cataplasms nearly in a liquid state, and I have praised this means myself, trusting too much to the account of those who affirmed they had derived great advantage from its employment; but I have long since renounced cataplasms applied in this way, for the following reasons. In the first place, women have a great dislike to them; besides, injections when retained for ten minutes or more, are just as efficacious. But my chief objection is, that we cannot completely remove the cataplasms from the vagina when its office is done; though I have vainly forbidden their use, for two or three days before the application of the speculum, and the evening before have thrown up numerous injections, there always remained some remnant of the cataplasm, which I was compelled to remove with a forceps. Finally, if a cataplasm applied to the skin ferments in a few hours, what must be the case

in the vagina where the temperature is higher and where various secretions must further give rise to decomposition? An old practice has been recently revived and much praised, which consists in introducing, by the aid of a speculum, a bit of lint, moistened in some medicated fluid, and placing it near the neck of the uterus. I do not presume to contradict the success said to be obtained by this means; it may, perhaps, be applied with advantage to prostitutes, where the genital organs have lost a great part of their sensibility, but in private practice I would never recommend its use. About eight or nine years ago I made some experiment with the lint, and in almost every case it gave rise to so much irritation and pain, that I was very glad to remove it as quickly as possible.

Irrigation. — Irrigations are more active than simple injections, but less so than effusions; we, therefore, employ them whenever the irritation is too great to permit the use of the latter. The effect of an irrigation may be produced by throwing up eight or ten injections quickly, one after the other; but, as the reintroduction of the tube might be painful, it is much better to make use of a large syringe, and inject a large quantity, gently, twice a day.

Affusions. — These are a powerful resolvent, and an energetic stimulant. They should never be employed, except when the disease has passed to the chronic stage, and no pain exists. effect of affusion would be highly dangerous in cases of inflammation or sub-inflammation. Affusion may be administered at the patient's residence, either with the ingenious apparatus of MM. Charriere and Deleuil, or by placing a large vessel filled with water at some distance above the patient's head, and joining to it a flexible tube. The jet of water will of course be the stronger in proportion to the elevation of the vessel. Affusions are either simple or medicated, irrigatory, or in form of a jet, ascending, descending, or horizontal. They may be directed around the pelvis, or into the vagina, even as far as the os uteri; in the latter case the tube should be introduced with the same care as for injec-Affusions are commonly administered nearly cold, at first irrigatory and directed upward, in order to render the jet more easily supported and less violent. We may commence by a fall of three feet, then four, or six, measuring the force by the effect produced. One a day is sufficient to begin with, after which we may give two, three, or even more. If the woman feels some heat and pain after the affusion, which disappear in five or six minutes. the excitement has been carried to the proper degree, and the remedy may be continued; but should the pain continue for a longer time, it is a proof that the disease is still in an acute stage, and we must have recourse to more mild measures.

Lavements. — These should be administered every now and then, so as to keep the bowels properly free. Constipation is doubly injurious, both as producing a painful pressure on the uterus, and on account of the efforts which the patient is compelled to make whenever she goes to stool. It may be asked, why

would not laxatives, administered by the mouth, fulfil the same object? The reason is this: in affections of the uterus, it is a matter of the greatest importance not to irritate the digestive organs, and experience has convinced me that lavements are in

this respect absolutely necessary.

Narcotics. — These are often useful in calming those violent nervous pains which so frequently accompany affections of the uterus. They may be administered by the mouth, or by friction on the perineum, groin, upper part of the thighs, or, still better, by means of a small blister, according to the endermic method; but the most efficacious way of administering them is, incontestably, by the rectum. It might appear, at first sight, more natural to inject them into the vagina; but Cullerier has observed that laudanum applied in injection to painful chancres, produced inflammation of the vagina; and experience has sufficiently proved, that narcotics are apt to give rise to nervous or inflammatory accidents when introduced into the vagina, while their effect on the system is considerably diminished. Laudanum is preferred as an internal remedy; belladonna, in the form of extract, diluted with a small quantity of water, answers for friction, and the salts of morphine to apply after blisters. A great deal has been said on the various effects produced by narcotics, according to their preparations and the constitution of the patient; and on the necessity of varying them, until a proper one has been discovered. Some women cannot support them. I am at present treating a woman in whom a quarter of a grain of belladonna in a lavement produces gaiety and drunkenness analogous to that of Champagne wine, and this lasts during the whole night. But even in those cases we must not give up the remedy; it is only necessary to administer it in a smaller dose; thus we may commence by a half-drop, or drop, of laudanum, in a clyster, and I have often seen patients in private practice quieted by this means. By degrees the constitution becomes accustomed to the remedy; the dose is augmented, and it is not rare to see individuals who had commenced by taking a fraction of a grain of opium, end by supporting one hundred grains in the twenty four hours.

Bloodletting. — While the disease of the uterus is in an acute or subacute state, most practitioners advise local bleeding by means of leeches placed round the pelvis, and to the upper and inner part of the thighs, or especially to the os uteri, by means of a speculum. This question of local bloodletting is very important, and does not appear to me to be well understood. In most cases, when I am called into town for affections of this kind, I find that leeches have been applied by the physician already in attendance. If we question the patient with care, twenty to one but she has suffered more uneasiness, heat, and weight, about the pelvis, since the leeches were applied. I was called a few days ago to see a female to whom thirty leeches had been applied. Although they had drawn a good deal of blood, they were succeeded by exces-

sive pain, and even by convulsions. A few rare cases of success cannot be allowed to influence us in favour of leeches, the good effects sometimes produced by which are only exceptions to the general rule. Four or five years back, being desirous to throw some light on this question by direct experiment, I made numerous trials of local and general bloodletting in this hospital. Ten women were treated by abstraction of blood from the arm, ten others by the application of leeches to the vagina; the former were invariably more improved than the latter, who seemed to suffer rather than to be benefited by the local bleeding. These experiments were repeated on a great number of patients, and my conviction on the matter is complete. Besides, the result accords well with theory. It is not a principle of the physiological school, that leeches are proper for membranous inflammations, and general bleeding for parenchymatous ones? Local bleeding, however copious, determines new congestions towards parenchymatous organs. In the case of several females affected with scirrhous tumours of the breast, M. Costen has seen the application of leeches produce pulmonary congestion, with palpitation of the heart similar to that of aneurism; these symptoms were removed by a bleeding from the foot. M. Margat has observed cerebral congestion brought on by the application of leeches to white swellings of the superior extremities, which were equally dissipated by a bleeding from the feet, a proof that the accident depended on sanguineous congestion, and not on simple nervous irritation. Similar facts have been observed in this hospital, and the womb, more than any other viscus, already accustomed to periodic congestions, is subject to become engorged on the least irritation. But it may be asked, have leeches, applied about the pelvis, really this effect? Every practitioner knows, that the best means of bringing on menstruation, is to apply frequently a small number of leeches to the vagina, and not to permit the orifices to bleed. Hence, if we hope to produce any antiphlogistic effect by leeches, they must be applied in very great numbers, and should be preceded by at least one general bleeding; however, if they be applied near the pelvis, there will always remain more or less congestion of the uterus. But, say they, the leeches may be applied to the neck of the uterus; yet this is a point where their number cannot be increased according to the will, and should we succeed in applying twenty, which is a great deal, the blood drawn away will not be sufficient to dissipate the afflux of fluids towards the organ. For my part I reject the use of leeches in every case of uterine affection, whether acute or subacute. The only circumstances which induce me to depart from this rule are - 1st. When a peritonitis co-exists with the inflammation of the womb, because leeches are positively indicated when inflammation attacks a membranous tissue; 2d. When the inflammation has passed to a chronic state; but here we prescribe them, not as an antiphlogistic, but to excite and resolve. Yet, even here, there may be an exception: for, whenever the neck of the uterus seems to be affected with scirrhus, we avoid applying leeches, at least immediately, to it; experience having too often taught us that the bites are easily changed into as many cancerous ulcerations; the same phenomenon is observed when the skin adheres to a scirrhous breast, and when leeches are applied to it. The ancients had therefore just grounds for preferring bleeding from the arm in cases of uterine irritation. It disgorges the uterine vessels, with the same facility that it puts a stop to floodings, while local bleeding, on the contrary, augments them. This fact is so well known, that physicians who do not hesitate to prescribe leeches with so much confidence for simple uterine congestion, do not dare to apply them when such congestion is accompanied by hemorrhage, for fear of increasing it, which proves how little their reasoning is supported by general facts. For my part I confine my practice to bleeding from the arm, avoiding to take away blood seven or eight days before the menstrual period, lest it may interfere with that function; but after the cessation of the discharge, if any pain remain, or any weight about the pelvis, indicating a persistence of uterine congestion, a revulsive bleeding practised twenty-three hours after the stoppage of the catamenia, often dissipates the pain like a charm, particularly if we employ with it an anodyne lavement. Should the pain precede menstruation, instead of coming on after it, we must wait until the middle of the month. When it is altogether independent of menstruation, appearing during the intervals of the discharge, bloodletting may be repeated two or three times during the month. The state of weakness depending in most cases on the pain which deprives the patient of sleep and appetite, far from being a contraindication, requires more essentially the remedy of which we speak. There are, however, certain peculiarities of constitution which compel us to modify these principles. Thus, in treating, in a former lecture, of the means proper to bring on menstruation, we noticed that when a woman is strong, venesection will induce the catamenia almost at once; in other cases a revulsive bleeding brings on flooding. I have lately seen an example of the latter, produced by an abstraction of four ounces of blood. These are undoubtedly rare exceptions, but we should not lose sight of them. In such cases, general, and, a fortiori, local bleeding should be avoided. Some females, essentially nervous, cannot support bleeding, without suffering various unpleasant nervous accidents. Here the quantity of blood taken away may be diminished to a very few ounces, and this precaution sometimes succeeds; but should the same accident occur, we must give up the idea of bleeding altogether. If we except these cases, venesection, aided by narcotics, is the surest means of calming and removing the pain. This idea is not new. Stahl had long ago remarked, that in cases of cancer, the patient experienced a marked amelioration whenever the veins gave way. You have often seen me, Gentlemen, prescribe bleeding to twenty women at the same time, in this hospital; fifteen of them, at least, are benefited; the pains disappear for a longer or 11*

shorter period, unless some foreign influence, as a moral affection, or a change of atmosphere, interrupt the action of the remedy. In this very ward we have supported a woman for ten years who was affected with a very dangerous uterine disease, not so much by employing narcotics as by repeated small bleedings, varying from two to six ounces, according to the strength of the patient. When the disorganization of the uterus is very far advanced, and accompanied by the discharge of cancerous matter, the quantity of blood drawn should be very small, in order to avoid the danger of facilitating its absorption. If the patient be very feeble, if we remark any symptoms of indifference, a tendency to sleep, or stupidity, in a word, if adynamia exists, we must avoid employing venesection altogether, as a means which can only hasten the fate of the patient.

LECTURE V.

TREATMENT OF DISEASES OF THE UTERUS (Continued). — SUB-IN-FLAMMATION, HYPERTROPHY, SIMPLE WHITE ENGORGEMENT AND HYPERTROPHY OF THE UTERUS.

Cupping, pessaries, and medicated drinks. — Sub-inflammation without enlargement, simple hypertrophy, prolapsus, and occult cancer of the uterus; simple white engorgement and scirrhous tumour. — Is scirrhus curable.

Employment of Cupping-Glasses, Blisters, &c. — The observations which have been made upon local bleeding apply equally to these means of cure; when employed in the acute stage, they are more likely to favour congestion than to bring relief: all similar remedies are subject to the same objection and should never be applied except in the chronic stage, either to dissipate a simple congestion, unaccompanied with pain, or to excite the vital properties of the indurated tissue. For this latter purpose a seton may be drawn through the abdominal parietes, a little inside the anterior-superior spine of the ileum, or a moxa or cautery applied to the lateral and inferior parts of the spinal column: but in some nervous women the general irritation which they produce counterbalances the advantages otherwise resulting from them.

Compression — Is an advantageous means, but difficult to manage, and requires a perfect appreciation of its indications. A pessary, en bilboquet, into which the neck of the uterus descends, and becomes compressed, has been recommended for chronic engorgement of the uterus. But we should be well convinced that there exists no irritation of the vagina, bladder, or uterus, which would be aggravated by the presence of the foreign body. We may lay it down as a general rule, that when any pain exists,

compression should be avoided; or if the pessary when applied

excites fever and pain, it should be removed at once.

Medicated Drinks, &c. - In the acute stage of uterine affections, we prescribe emollient drinks in abundance: during the chronic stage, decoctions of soap-wort, dock, or scabiosa vulgaris, or the expressed juices of these plants, may be used if the digestive organs will bear them. We may also have recourse to iodine in these cases with advantage, to cicuta and other similar preparations; but we should watch over the state of the digestive organs with the greatest care, for frequently there exists, with the disease of the uterus, a gastro-enterite, sometimes latent, or sometimes so pronounced that it diverts the attention of the physician from the principal malady. In these cases resolvents are dangerous remedies. How often have patients labouring under incurable disease, but who might have lived for a long time in tranquillity, fallen victims to active preparations administered by empirics! I have so great a dread of this complication with gastro-enterite, that I do not dare to administer laxatives by the mouth. There is less danger in employing discutient frictions with the hydriodate of potash, mercurial ointment, &c.; but we should always wait for the chronic period, lest the inflammation may be increased. Finally, a word on cicuta. It is employed as a narcotic and discutient, and the extract generally is preferred. But there is no remedy so impure: most apothecaries, in preparing these extracts, carbonize the material and render it useless; I therefore prefer the powder, giving at first a grain, then two after fifteen days, and gradually augmenting the dose to four or five grains. Sometimes it occasions a little pain in the throat and some diarrhæa; on the appearance of these symptoms, it should be suspended at once, and all our care directed to prevent gastro-enterite from being developed.

OF SUB-INFLAMMATION, WITHOUT ENLARGEMENT, OF THE UTERUS.

We are frequently called upon to attend females who experience smart pain in the uterus; standing erect, the least exercise on foot, or in a carriage, fatigues them excessively; coition is always excessively painful; they feel a sensation of smarting, burning pain in the pelvis, as if the womb were on fire; the abdomen is tumid, and there is weight about the flanks and iliac regions. The excretion of feces often causes pain, on account of the efforts it occasions. The woman feels as if she had some foreign body which wanted to escape; however, there is no procidentia, or deviation of the uterus; menstruation is regular, and there is no other discharge; the pain is sometimes remittent, but most often intermittent; if we "touch" the woman in this state, we find the os uterial little more dilated than is natural, but the volume and consistence of the uterus are not changed. The speculum does not discover any ulceration of the neck, but its introduction, or even that of the

finger, causes pain. This affection is often regarded as depending on the peculiar constitution of the female, and is purely nervous; some palliatives perhaps are prescribed, and the disease goes on increasing. But supposing it to be a simple nervous affection, does it the less require treatment? Do we not often see a sanguineous congestion determined in other organs by neuralgic pains? I am inclined to consider this state as a sub-inflammation of the uterus without engorgement, and do not lose an instant in applying the antiphlogistic and narcotic remedies of which I have already spoken.

HYPERTROPHY OF THE UTERUS,

Simple hypertrophy of the uterus gives rise to certain general symptoms which we have already passed in review; but we require other data, which are chiefly furnished by the toucher, to recognise it. Thus, on touching the female, we feel an unnatural degree of heat in the internal surface of the vagina, and at the neck of the uterus, which is always very sensitive, much more so than when in a state of scirrhus, and it gives to the finger the same sensation as when it contains an embryo of four or six weeks. In fact, pregnancy, attracting towards the organ a quantity of the fluids, gives rise to a physiological hypertrophy, which serves as a

guide to discover the morbid one.

If we would give by comparison the idea of the sensation which the finger acquires under these circumstances, we should say it resembles that produced by a lipoma, by the mamma of a young female who has died suddenly, or finally, the sensation given by a body compressible, though resisting and elastic, with something of a spongy feel. The engorgement may exist in the neck and body of the uterus at the same time, or in one of these parts separately, but never isolated, so as to present knots like scirrhus. In all cases the weight of the organ is more or less augmented. Here a very important question presents itself for discussion; the augmented weight of the uterus drags and fatigues the broad ligaments which have lost their elasticity, and are disposed to yield to the weight of the organ.

Hence it follows, that every engorgement, whatever be its nature, is always accompanied by a more or less marked prolapsus of the uterus; and as the latter is the consequence of the former, our remedies should be directed against the engorgement. I can assure you, from experience, that in a vast majority of cases, by so doing, you will restore the uterus to its natural position. I insist the more particularly on this point, and direct your attention to it, because a contrary practice is almost universally followed, and the procidentia alone attended to, being attributed to a weakness or relaxation of the broad ligament. I do not mean to deny that prolapsus may not exist without engorgement, but the case must

be extremely rare, for in the great number of diseased affections of the uterus which have fallen under my care, I have not yet met with a single example. Besides, the uterus, even when healthy, is easily displaced during any considerable effort. Thus, when the speculum is fixed and supported by the finger, if we desire the woman to make an effort, the instrument is expelled with force, and the neck of the uterus descends sometimes within an inch of the external orifice. On this account we should be careful in cases of engorgement, to recommend the woman not to make any effort when she goes to stool, and to employ lavements constantly, lest the procidentia determined at the time may persist.

We are not to confound simple hypertrophy of the uterus with a condition which is far different. This is an extreme softening of the tissue of the organ, which gives way under the pressure of the finger, like a rotten apple; it is no longer firm, elastic, and spongy, but feels like a pultaceous substance, or almost like a fluid, and the

tissue is reduced to a brown-red decomposed jelly.

This state of the uterus, which has been called occult cancer, is sometimes accompanied by a superficial ulceration, and sometimes exists singly. The diagnosis is here of the greatest importance, for simple hypertrophy does not require an operation, while occult cancer, rapid in its march and mortal, leaves no other choice than the complete removal of the diseased parts. To the differences already pointed out between these two affections, the following may be added : - Hypertrophy is commonly of recent date ; cancer is an older disease. Hypertrophy occupies the neck and frequently the whole body of the uterus, while cancer remains for a long time limited to a portion of the organ. We insist the more on this point of the pathology of the uterus, regarding it entirely new; as the facts by which it is supported have been frequently observed in this amphitheatre, where we have placed before the eyes and in the hands of the class, the anatomical preparations, after amputation of the neck of the uterus for cancer.

Simple hypertrophy is either accompanied by pain or not, hence two indications. In the first case we have recourse to antiphlogistics, absolute rest, emollient lavements almost cold, injections of the same temperature, entire baths, bleeding from the arm, &c., and, above all, perfect repose of the diseased organs. may consist of milk, vegetables, white meats, and fish, always paying regard to the habits and temperament of the patient. This is a simple mode of treatment, but it should be persevered in scrupulously. Affections of the uterus require a longer time to cure than those of any other organ; in the first place, we dare not act during the seven or eight days which precede the menses, nor during the discharge; and in the second, this congestion, though merely physiological, by returning periodically every month, cannot fail to influence in a dangerous manner the permanent morbid congestion. Both patient and surgeon must, therefore, be armed with patience. The time necessary to complete the cure may vary from one to three months, but we should here observe, that the progress of the cure should not be measured by the extent of the pain, for we have often seen the latter increase as the engorgement diminished.

When the hypertrophy exists without pain, but with a little uneasiness and weight in the pelvis, the disease is in a chronic state. Here again we employ general bleeding, cold baths, if the woman can bear them, simple affusions, or medicated ones. In these cases twelve or fifteen leeches, applied to the neck of the uterus, are useful to hasten resolution, and then we may prescribe with advantage moderate exercise, cupping-glasses, affusions on the pelvis, &c. If we suspect the existence of some excoriations, the speculum may be employed without fear; in a word, the treatment, which is antiphlogistic in the acute stage, becomes excitant and revulsive in the chronic: the only thing we have to take care of is, that the excitation do not pass just bounds so as to bring back the acute stage and necessitate the employment of fresh antiphlogistic measures.

OF THE SIMPLE WHITE ENGORGEMENT, AND OF SCIRRHOUS TUMOUR.

We unite these two diseases under the same head, because the treatment is the same, and the difference of diagnosis affects only our prognosis of the disease. In both cases, the finger introduced into the vagina recognises an increase of volume in the uterus, either in totality, in the neck, or in the body only. The size may be enormously increased; pain may be absent in both cases, or show itself equally lancinating, so that the differential characters are confined to the following:—

1st. Simple engorgement is less hard, and presents an uniform surface to the finger, while a scirrhous tumour is irregular and

rough.

2d. In scirrhus, the mucous membrane covering the neck of the uterus is of a dull-white colour, which I have never observed in

simple engorgement.

3d. Scirrhus developes itself more slowly: thus, when an engorgement is only of one or two months' date, especially if it have succeeded to an abortion, to a sudden suppression of the menses, &c., we are sure it is not of a scirrhous nature.

4th. Finally, simple engorgement requires only a treatment of a month or six weeks, whilst under the best care scirrhus will require a much longer period. The treatment varies according as the affection is acute, that is, accompanied with pain, smarting, and heat; or as it has passed to the chronic stage. In the first case we employ antiphlogistics, in the second resolvents, either internally or externally. Finally, if the disease be very obstinate, we have recourse to setons, moxa, or even the actual cautery.

But you may ask me, Gentlemen, if scirrhus be really capable of cure. I have not the least doubt of it. Do not we see every

day scirrhous enlargements of the mammæ and lymphatic ganglia give way? and the case is more frequent when the uterus is affected. Without doubt we are not to give the name of schirrus to every hard unequal tumour, which causes pain merely by its dragging and pressure on the neighbouring parts, for the same indurations and inequalities, accompanied by vegetations and tubercles, are seen in certain ulcerations of legs in old men, without giving any idea of cancer, and why not the same with respect to the uterus? I partook of the same error as others for many years, and was only corrected by experience. About six years ago we gave up two females who presented all the characters of a scirrhous affection of the uterus; but these very women are now perfectly well, and what is more remarkable, have become well by the help of nature alone. Simple white engorgement may be complicated, as well as scirrhous with ulcerations and vegetations; hence, even when the diagnosis is obscure, we should not be too much discouraged. I have treated two cases in which all these symptoms existed, with an enormous engorgement of the uterus, and both became, finally, perfectly cured.

LECTURE VI.

ENGORGEMENTS, TUMOURS, AND CANCERS.

Engorgements of the uterus; peculiar tumour of; uterine polypi; ulcerations of the womb, scrofulous and simple; fungi of the cervix uteri; cancerous vegetations.

In order to complete the history of uterine engorgements and tumours, it remains for us, Gentlemen, to speak a few words on a peculiar tumour of this organ, and on the nature of the polypi of which it is often the seat.

I. ON A PECULIAR TUMOUR OF THE UTERUS.

We sometimes find a tumour, whose nature is but little known, developed in the substance of the uterus, and to which it is of importance to direct your attention. Its most common seat is in the lower and posterior part of the uterine parietes. When we pass the finger through the dilated neck, into the cavity of the uterus, we find a tumour varying in diameter from that of one shilling to a crown-piece; it is but little prominent, rounded, more or less well-circumscribed, and fixed into the parietes of the uterus like a marble with which children play, projecting by one-half of its mass. It is neither as hard as the fibrous polypus, nor as soft as the vascular one. Sometimes it is insensible to the touch, at

other times any handling occasions excessive pain in the part; its form seldom varies, and in most cases the rest of the organ remains perfectly sound. Is the tumour, Gentlemen, of a carcinomatous nature, or is it simply the result of partial inflammation in the uterus? Is it a white, indurated, scirrhous point, a polypus, a cyst, or a cartilaginous or earthy concretion? Pathological anatomy has every now and then demonstrated the existence of these different products in the uterus; but as to the precise nature of the tumour concerning which we speak, it must be confessed that examination of the living body has not been sufficient to explain it satisfactorily. In cases of this kind, the curative indications are confined to two circumstances: - to combat any inflammation which may exist, and, when this state has been removed, to have recourse to discutients, which, however, should be employed with great reserve. These tumours have been considered as necessarily mortal; I do not agree in this opinion; I have treated many women affected with similar tumours, and have often prevented them from passing into a state of degeneration by dissipating the inflammatory symptoms: sometimes they disappeared altogether; on other occasions they become small and indolent, exercising no influence on the general health. However they are subject for a long time to take on a fresh irritation, which must be subdued by the means already pointed out at length.

II. ON UTERINE POLYPI.

The history of uterine polypi has been studied with more care and attention than any other class of uterine diseases; I shall therefore direct your attention only to certain points which are either little known or entirely new. The two varieties of these tumours, which we most frequently find, are the cellulo-vascular and the fibrous polypi. The first variety is commonly found on the lower part of the neck of the uterus, between its two lips, or on the inferior and internal surface of the womb. They are in most cases small, single or multiplied, presenting the shape of granulations, sometimes fixed, with a large base, but more frequently hanging from a pedicle more or less elongated. In the latter case it is often difficult to recognise them by the touch if the pedicle be implanted above the neck, for they yield to the finger, and pass into the cavity of the uterus, where you must follow them with the finger, a manœuvre generally possible, on account of the dilatation of the neck. These tumours may be removed in the following manner: - the vagina is to be distended by the speculum, and the parts cleaned of any mucus, &c., which may obscure the vision; the polypus is now to be seized with a long forceps, twisted round as often as may be necessary, and removed; the only precaution you have to take is to seize the polyus near its root, in order to exterminate it more completely, and you convince

yourself that this result has taken place when you feel a slight

depression at the spot where the pedicle was inserted.

The polypi are often accompanied by hypertrophy and ædema of the neck, or engorgement of the uterus itself. Hence you have not finished the cure when you have operated, particularly as the wound which is left becomes a cause of irritation to the organ already affected. Eight or ten days after the operation, you should carefully examine the state of the cicatrix, and conduct the case according to the symptoms which may present themselves. Fibrous polypi may be removed in the same way, when the pedicle is very small. As to the ligature, we regard it as a bad measure, only to be employed when all other means are inapplicable. Excision of the polypus is by far the best operation; the manner of excising the tumour is simple and known to you all; the tumour is seized with a forceps, and drawn down until the neck of the uterus presents at the vulva; when this is down, you pass up a finger along the pedicle, and conduct a pair of curved scissors along it, with which the excision is completed. Whenever the pedicle ascends too high into the uterus, the neck of the organ must be incised, and this gives you every facility for completing the operation. There is no danger of hemorrhage: I have never seen more than a few spoonfuls of blood lost, and in all cases the bleeding may be arrested with certainty by the plug. But sometimes the polypus is too soft, and gives way under the forceps when we attempt to draw it down. This circumstance would seem to render excision, as we have described it, impossible; here you must seize, not the tumour, but the neck of the uterus itself. You have not to dread any ill consequences from the slight wound made by the point of the pincers. Leeches, you know, are applied to the os uteri without causing any pain, and even the division of the neck is not painful. Pressure appears to be the only means by which any excessive sensibility of this part is developed. This is a remarkable phenomenon, but is not without its analogy in the human economy.

Let us now examine facts which may be cited in support of the

operation which we recommend.

Case 1.—A few months back I was called upon to attend a young woman in the Rue Cherche-Midi, who had been attacked with alarming hemorrhage fifteen days after an easy labour. The hemorrhage had recurred at intervals since its first appearance, and destroyed the health of the patient. When I first saw her, she seemed on the brink of death. MM. Andral, Hatin, and Bouilland, had been already consulted on the case; I recognised the existence of polypus, fixed on a large bone near the bottom of the uterine cavity; no time was to be lost; the operation was resolved upon; but the polypus was soft, spongy, and gave way on the least effort being made to draw it down; I therefore seized the neck of the uterus with the forceps, and brought it down to the vulva; the examination of the tumour now became more easy; the fingers

could be passed round the base of the polypus. On taking into consideration the weakened state of the female, and the manner in which the uterus was dilated, I resolved to employ the ligature, which was accordingly applied by means of Leuret's instruments. As soon as the ligature was drawn tight, the hemorrhage ceased. On the following morning a few ounces of blood were drawn from the arm, as the pulse appeared somewhat developed. On the eighth day the polypus was changed into a putrid mass, and on the fifteenth day the patient was perfectly cured, though a little weakness still remained. The wounds made by the forceps did

not produce any inconvenience.

Case 2. — Some time after this, the sister of a captain in garrison at Paris, placed herself under my care for a similar affection. I found two polypi inserted close to one another in the interior of the uterus, about half an inch above the os tincæ; one was as large as a big nut; the other was elongated, and attached to a slender pedicle, which glided along the former. I seized the larger tumour with a forceps, and brought it down to the vulva, and there passed up a curved scissors upon the two pedicles, which I endeavoured to divide by one cut; the larger polypus was thus removed, but the other ascended with the uterus, and seemed to have remained untouched; the smallness of its pedicle put it out of the question to think of seizing the polypus, I therefore fixed the hooks in the neck of the uterus, brought down that organ to the vulva, excised the polypus, and in three days the patient was able to walk about the garden of the Luxemburg.

Here, Gentlemen, we may discuss a question, which no author has noticed. When you are convinced of the existence of a polypus, and of the urgency of operating, should you defer the latter because the woman happens to be menstruating? I will relate to

you the following case as an answer: -

Case. - A voung woman came from the south of France to Paris to undergo treatment for some affection of the uterus; she was treated, during three months, for an engorgement of the uterus, without any benefit, when M. Latapie consulted me. It appeared that every eight days she was seized with strong expulsive pains; this is a remarkable symptom, and should always make us suspect the presence of some tumour in the uterus. I touched the woman, and found the os uteri dilated, - almost effaced. Having forced the finger into the uterus, and described with it those rotatory motions which I have already noticed to you, I succeeded in discovering a rounded body, projecting from the surface about a line and a half; the toucher was repeated several times, in order to avoid all error; and, finally, having succeeded in passing the finger between the tumour and the parietes of the uterus, I announced with certainty the existence of a polypus. As the patient was evidently sinking, an operation became urgent; but as the menstrual discharge was expected next day, we thought it right to defer the removal of the tumour; unfortunately hemorrhage came on, followed by peritonitis, and the patient was carried off in two days; the examination of the body confirmed the diagnosis which we had formed.

Since that time I have seen another female destroyed by a metro-peritonitis supervening during the menstrual discharge; hence I have formed the resolution for the future not to defer an operation which the circumstances of the case render urgent, because the woman may happen to menstruate at the time.

ULCERATIONS OF THE UTERUS.

We have now, Gentlemen, to consider a part of our subject, at once important and difficult — viz., the ulcerations which are developed on the neck, or in the body of the uterus. In order to treat these affections with the greatest clearness and order possible, I shall speak, in turn, of injections and phlyctenæ of the neck, which often precede, and sometimes simulate, ulcerations; of ulcerations, properly so called; of scrofulous ulcers succeeding tubercles; of those fungous tumours produced by certain ulcerations; and finally, of carcinomatous ulcers and vegetations.

I. OF INJECTIONS AND PHLYCTENÆ OF THE NECK OF THE UTERUS.

In almost all women affected with abundant discharge from the vagina, we find the posterior lip of the neck of the uterus coloured red, and this state of injection seems to depend on the contacts of the fluid secreted by the uterus, in the same way as the tears cause redness, and even excoriations, of the cheek, in cases of epiphora. They are of little importance in themselves, but the mucous membrane may finally become altered, unless the catarrhal state which

gives rise to them be attended to.

There are, however, other injections, totally independent of this course, seated in a part, or in the whole neck, of the uterus, while the vagina retains its natural colour; they bear a general resemblance to those spots produced on the skin by a dartreous affection; they are of a red-brown colour, indicating inflammation, and are slightly elevated above the level of the surrounding healthy parts. In some cases they are found in isolated spots, and as perfeetly circumscribed as if made by a nipping-tool. I have sometimes seen them formed by a net of small vessels, arranged as we find them in inflammations of the pharynx. In all cases they are accompanied by simple engorgement of the part; very rarely by induration of the neck; and we generally find, upon touching the woman, that the mucous membrane is soft, thickened, velvety, and bleeds with great readiness. As these injections sometimes terminate in inflammation, they merit peculiar attention. When they are accompanied by shivering, heat, and pain, we must employ antiphlogistics, general baths, lavements, and emollient drinks; if

the pain be very excessive, we must moderate it by the use of narcotics, and a revulsive bleeding from the arm. When the local irritation has been thus removed, these injections sometimes disappear, but in general the least exercise, copulation, or the use of any exciting fluid, &c., brings back the acute stage and all its symptoms. You should not, therefore, be deceived by a remission of the symptoms, and believe the affection cured, because it has passed into a chronic state. In the latter condition, antiphlogistics are no longer useful; here is the time to apply astringents to the affected part; but the manner of applying them is by no means indifferent. Some practitioners introduce every day, by means of the speculum, a plug of lint dipped in the astringent fluid; but this is a manœuvre highly calculated to produce fresh irritation, and at the most only applicable to women of the town, whose organs, accustomed to the contact of foreign bodies, have lost a great part of their sensibility. Injections are also prejudicial; if very strong, they irritate the mucous membrane of the vagina, and if weak, they produce no effect on the neck of the uterus; the best means - one which often succeeds upon the first application - is to cauterize the parts gently with the nitrate of mercury. The affected surface should first be touched softly with a brush, so as to remove any mucus, &c., which might oppose the action of the acid; then you apply the cauterizing substance very lightly - just enough to whiten the injected spot — and you often obtain a perfect cure in eight days.

We sometimes see the neck of the uterus marked with small miliary vesicles, discreet or confluent, limited to a part of the neck, or occupying its whole surface. When these vesicles burst, they give rise to small superficial ulcerations, which often unite together, and form excoriated spots of some extent. Sometimes instead of vesicles we find pustules of a larger size in greater or less number, and very similar to aphthæ. In this case also I prefer cau-

terization with the nitrate of mercury to any other means.

II. SIMPLE ULCERATIONS.

I commence this division of our subject, Gentlemen, by noticing, that as the lower lip is more frequently the seat of inflammation, eruptions, ulcerations, &c., than the upper one, so the posterior lip of the os tincæ is more frequently affected than the anterior. There we most frequently observe injections, phlyctenæ, and ulcerations. However, ulcerations may exist in other parts; for example, between the two lips of the os tincæ,—where they may escape your notice, unless you take the precaution of raising up the anterior lip, or higher up, near the cavity of the uterus. In the latter case their existence can only be revealed by the touch. The neck, usually dilated, permits the finger to penetrate, and instead of the polished serous-like surface which the uterine membrane presents in a healthy state, we find it thickened and floccu-

lent; and although the touch may have been exercised with the greatest delicacy, the finger often returns stained with blood. Under these circumstances you cannot mistake the nature of an alteration, the extent of which it is at all times difficult to determine.

Ulcerations of the uterus present very different appearances; sometimes they are confined to simple excoriations, at others they exhibit a slight excavation; and, in many cases, the mucous membrane being thickened, and the edges swollen and prominent, they appear deeper than they really are. Sometimes the bottom of the ulcer is rough, and divided by fissures, or it may be covered by fleshy granulations, which, in certain cases, assume a fungous appearance, and have been mistaken by inexperienced surgeons for carcinoma. It is not always easy to distinguish a simple injection from an ulcer or excoriation; it is almost impossible to get a side view, at the bottom of the speculum, and the front view is subject to error. However, the diagnosis is of great importance. For example, in the case of a cicatrix resulting from amputation of the neck; a sign of great weight, one which has seldom failed me, is obtained in the following manner: pass a pencil of fine charpie softly over the affected spot; if it be an injection, you have no effect produced; but if an ulcer exist, you will find some trace of blood on the lint. Some superficial ulcerations bleed very readily. You should always suspect these; the accident shows, in the first place, that the uterus is gorged with blood, no matter from what cause; but what we have most to dread is, the development of a varicose tumour, of which we will presently speak. In some women the slightest excoriation, with or without induration, may give rise to almost all the symptoms of cancer. During the epidemic cholera, we had anatomical proof of the simplicity of these ulcerations. Several of our patients died, and the neck of the uterus was examined with the utmost minuteness; the mucous membrane was found red, softened, a little fungous; the ulceration was superficial, and beneath it the tissue of the uterus was sometimes superficially affected and soft, at other times perfectly sound.

Cauterization is the chief method we employ for the cure of simple ulcerations; but to be successful it requires certain conditions: if, for example, the uterus be affected with general or partial engorgement, to such a degree that the volume of the diseased part is doubled, I would not advise cauterizing. I have seen the opposite principle followed in many cases, and the operation was almost invariably followed by metritis or metro-peritonitis. Death has sometimes been the result, and hence several physicians regret this measure, although its danger is entirely the result of their own inexperience. Thus, take it as the first rule, that any considerable engorgement contraindicates cauterization; a slight state may permit it. In the first case our whole attention must be directed to the state of plethora in the uterus; the second is an exceptive

case, where a superficial ulceration has made considerable progress, in spite of the medical remedies employed. Here also you may try the cautery, but with reserve, and be ready to suspend it on the slightest appearance of the accident which we have pointed out.

Inflammation of the vagina, or of the neck of the uterus, and even excessive pain of those parts, are also contraindications. Finally, you should never cauterize four or five days before appearance of the menses, during their discharge, or three or four days after, lest you may add an artificial irritation to that which is already seated in the uterus. The method of applying the caustic is of great importance to be considered, and this means has been for a long time brought into disrepute by the imprudent manner in which it has been too often employed. Thus, some physicians pass up to the neck of the uterus lint moistened with the nitrate of mercury, and keep it in contact with the part for ten minutes. Others employ cones of caustic potass. What can we expect from the use of such irrational means, except that which actually takes place, viz., excessive and even fatal inflam-

mation, perforation, obliteration of the vagina, &c.?

I have applied to ulcers of the neck of the uterus the principle laid down by M. Alibert, for the cauterization of destructive cutaneous dartres, i. e., to cauterize superficially, much less with the object of destroying the tissue than changing their vital action. On this principle you have seen many superficial ulcers partially cauterized at this hospital, and the effect has been to modify the whole surface. I proceed in this manner: As soon as the speculum has been introduced, the mucous layer is removed with a fine brush. Should the ulcerations discharge a little blood, I inject cold water; and if this be not sufficient to arrest it, the bleeding surface is cauterized. When the hemorrhage has been completely everted, I remove the clot which causes the ulceration, and then cauterize the subjacent tissues. For this purpose I employ a small, fine brush, like that used by miniature painters, and when the surface of the ulcerations has been sufficiently touched I pour cold water into the speculum to arrest the action of the caustic, and prevent it from spreading beyond the diseased surfaces. When the lotion has remained for about a minute, the speculum is withdrawn.

The proto-nitrate acid of mercury, Gentlemen, is the caustic to be prepared for these operations. I have made numerous experiments with different substances, and find this infinitely the best. I prefer it to the nitrate of silver, which has the disadvantage of frequently bringing on the menstrual discharge. This is a pheno-

menon of which I am unable to give you the explanation.

The effects of cauterization are different in different women. In most cases it is not even felt by the patient; but in others, on the contrary, it produces excessively acute pain; and frequently we remark that the pain does not commence before the fourth, sixth, or eighth cauterization. Perhaps the first applications act only on the

morbid tissues, while the latter, being placed in contact with parts which have returned to a state of health, act, consequently, more sensitively. The pain generally shows itself one or two hours after the cauterization; or is, at all events, much exasperated by it. The patient feels a smarting about the womb and loins, and the symptoms may remain from one to twenty-four hours, rarely longer. They are removed or quieted by cool emollient injections; small clysters, composed of a decoction of linseed and poppy; warm baths continued for a long time; or finally, by a revulsive bleeding from the arm. Up to the present day, I have cauterized an immense number of female patients, and have never met with any dangerous accidents. The application of the cautery produces much greater pain during bad weather, and when there are sudden variations of temperature. We all know the power of atmospheric influences on females, and especially on those of a nervous constitution. Some women, indeed, cannot bear the operation at any time, but this is a rare case. I have only seen two examples of the kind; although we had previously employed baths, emollient injections, bleeding and narcotics, until all pain had disappeared, the operation gave rise to a renewal of the symptoms, pain, a burning sensation in the parts, nervous derangement, and diarrhœa, to such a degree, that we were compelled to lay it aside altogether. Another anomaly, less rare, but not less remarkable, is this: a woman who has suffered excessively from one cauterization, will not suffer at all when the operation is repeated in eight or nine days afterwards, and vice versa. This I have frequently observed, but cannot attempt to explain to you why it occurs.

The cautery is, in most cases, applied every eight days. Should it cause much pain, you may wait for an interval of ten or twelve: but here a question presents itself: At what period are we to judge that the cautery has been sufficiently applied, and when may we cease to employ it? The object of cauterizing is to modify the surface of the ulcer; to reduce any granulations which are exuberant, and to dissipate the hardened or hypertrophied condition of its edges. If you obtain these results after two or three applications of the caustic, and if the formation of a cicatrix proceeds from the circumference to the centre, touch only the latter point, and you will often find the cure completed after four or five applications; but in many cases, when the cautery has been employed four or six times, the cicatrix becomes stationary, and then many physicians advise you to continue the operation. I fell into the same error for a long time, but was at last undeceived in the following manner. Having fallen ill, I ceased to cauterize my patients for a month or more. Many others were compelled to leave Paris on account of private business, &c., and when I saw them again, they were either completely cured, or in the way to convalescence. These observations were not without some benefit, and now I adopt the following line of practice.

Having cauterised the surface five or six times, when there is no longer any trace of luxuriant granulations, induration, violet

colour, &c.; in a word, when the ulcer presents a healthy aspect, I suspend the use of the acid, whether the cicatrix makes progress or not, and prescribe, for three or four days, emollient injections, which I afterwards replace with a fluid of a more stimulating nature. At first view we might be inclined to think that the chlorate of soda should produce the same effects here that it does when applied to ulcers of the legs; but experience does not confirm this; in fact, it has completely failed. We have also tried decoctions of the pomegranate-bark, of roses, &c., of various degrees of strength, all without any use. Finally, we have employed the infusion of bark, a scruple to a pint of water, gradually augmenting the quantity, or substituted the decoction for the infusion. This liquid, used as an injection, has appeared to produce more effect than any other, and has been sufficient to cicatrize, in a few days, ulcerations which were rebellious to every other means. These injections may excite heat and slight smarting pain for five or ten minutes. Should those results persist for a longer time, you must dilute the liquid with water, or suspend its use altogether. Thus, Gentlemen, whenever the caustic is not sufficient to effect a cure, you have recourse, with success, to the injection now mentioned; and, as sometimes happens, if the latter means should fail to produce a complete cicatrix, you recur again, in a few days, to the cautery, which is then generally effective. It appears that the bark, in such cases, has modified the surface of the ulcer, and renders the subsequent use of the cautery more efficacious; in fact, it is known to favour the development of granulations.

The time necessary to obtain a perfect cicatrix varies very much, and it was difficult to lay down any rule upon this head. Some women are cured in fifteen days or a month; others remain under treatment for three or five months, or even longer. When the cicatrix is formed, you sometimes see several small white points developed upon its centre; but it generally remains red, and may be mistaken for a superficial excoriation; here, as a side view cannot be obtained in the speculum, you must have recourse to the measure already noticed, and pass a bit of charpie over the surface

to see if it bleeds or not.

You now understand, that the treatment of ulcerations of the uterus presents very different indications, and that it was essential to dwell upon them in the manner we have done. The cautery has been recommended as a general means. We do not mean to deny that some cases may be cured by antiphlogistics or revulsives alone, but they are so rare, that we would not estimate them above 1 in 100. It is unnecessary to say that the cautery need not be employed after it has been used sufficiently to produce a cicatrix.

III. SCROFULOUS ULCERATIONS.

I define a scrofulous ulcer to be one which succeeds the formation of tubercle in the neck of the uterus. In the five or six cases of this kind which I have seen, the general constitution of the patient,

and the issue, through a small opening, of a caseous matter, analogous to that furnished by the cervical glands when they suppurate, have left little doubt on the diagnosis. You have seen, Gentlemen, one of those women in the Salle St. Augustin. As the neck of the uterus became engaged in the speculum, the pressure of the instrument produced a discharge of cheesy matter from a small orifice which conducted to an abscess in the uterine parietes. This woman was cured, became pregnant, and was delivered without any accident. You may also see the ward-maid of the same ward; her uterus was enormously distended by a tubercular abscess situate in the posterior wall; the abscess opened externally, and the female, after two years of treatment, now enjoys a state of health of which you all may judge. These abscesses ordinarily pursue the same march as a cold abscess: you may feel the fluctuation with the finger, and open them with a bistoury if you think right. The narrow fistulous opening by which this pus is at first discharged, increases insensibly. The edges of the orifice being destroyed by ulceration, soon leave the bottom of the cyst exposed, appearing gray, ragged, irregular, and discharging an abundance of disagreeable matter, quite different from that of cancer. The abscess is sometimes accompanied by an engorgement of the uterus and its neck; this was the case with our ward-maid, and it was a long time before we were able to dissipate the engorgement after the ulcer had been cicatrized. sometimes knotty, a circumstance which often gives rise to a suspicion of cancer when it does not exist. I fell into this error, with several other physicians, in the case of the ward-maid to whom I have before alluded; in fact, if we except the lancinating pain, she had all the symptoms of cancer. The fluctuation of the abscess is the first thing which may awaken your attention to the real nature of the disease, and at a later period all doubt will be removed by the issue of caseous matter, the readiness with which the ulcer closes, and the quickness of the cicatrization. The treatment consists at first in the use of antiphlogistics, should there be any inflammation, taking care to regulate them according to the constitution and strength of the patient; afterwards you may employ astringents and the cautery, and second their action by the internal use of bitters.

IV. FUNGOUS TUMOURS OF THE NECK OF THE UTERUS.

This severe affection succeeds, as I have said, to certain super-

ficial ulcerations which bleed with great facility.

Cases. — Some few years ago I saw two women in whom each application of the speculum produced a considerable discharge of blood from ulcerations of this kind. Although I could not discover any softening of the tissue by the touch, I proposed cauterization to prevent any further progress of the disease; but this advice was not followed; in some time I was recalled, and found both patients

affected with a well-marked fungus hematodes, which soon carried them off. About fifteen months ago I recognised in another female an ulceration presenting this character of bleeding freely. I again advised the cautery as a necessary measure; but the attending physician would not consent. This same lady returned to consult me three months back; she has a fungous tumour of the neck of the uterus, the results of which may be easily foreseen. In these three cases the fungous or varicose tumour had extended from the neck of the uterus to the upper part of the vagina, a circumstance which rendered any operation impracticable. Whenever, then, you happen to meet with ulcers of this kind, your first care (unless there be inflammation) should be to cauterize them at once, in order to arrest the progress of so dangerous an affection.

When the fungous tumour is well developed it is soft, velvety, divided by fissures, and separated into masses; it gives rise to a very abundant exudation of albumen, or frequently to dangerous hemorrhage. What can art do when the removal of the tumour is no longer practicable? We may touch it gently every eight days with the caustic, to retard its progress; by this means I have prolonged the life of several patients. Compression might, perhaps, be advantageous, but we possess no observations upon this head. It is unnecessary to tell you that removal of the tumour is the only efficacious remedy, and that it should be performed at

once, as soon as the necessity has been established.

V. CANCEROUS ULCERATIONS AND VEGETATIONS.

It now remains for me to speak of cancer of the uterus, a subject the more difficult, from the varied forms of cancer in this part of the body. Sometimes it appears as an ulcer accompanied by vegetations and hardened points, still in a scirrhous state; sometimes the finger sinks into the tissue or into a slough, from which it returns covered with a matter horribly fetid, and in this case the patient, tormented by pain, diarrhæa, and an erratic fever, with a yellow tint of face, and spreading about her an abominable characteristic odour, reveals to the most inexperienced eye the disease which destroys her, and its approaching termination: but at other times the picture is less sombre. We find a dry ulcer, without pain, but it eats away the tissue of the uterus, like those destructive ulcers of the face. Are these true cancers? The answer can influence our practice but little: in every case we must apply ourselves quickly to the removal of the disease; for as it advances the pain is awakened, and becomes of the most horrible nature, especially if the woman be nervous. Sometimes this pain assumes a strange inexplicable character of intermittence. Thus I have seen some cases in which the pain returned every five or six weeks. You may see them yourselves in the Salle St. Augustin, where they have been for one or two years. On other occasions a general or partial engorgement of the uterus is attended with the formation of vegetations; they are soft, easily torn, fill the vagina, and sometimes project beyond the vulva, bleeding on the least touch, and secreting such a quantity of fluid, that I have seen women wet fifty or sixty napkins in the course of the day. This secretion exhales a bad odour, and excoriates the thighs, even where they have been covered with a fatty ointment. It is remarkable that the woman does not suffer at all, if we except a little uneasiness and weight about the pelvis, and a little pain in the loins; the body remains fat, and the face retains its colour, and this appearance of health deceives the physician, especially before his attention is awakened by the discharge from the vagina. Are we to regard this as a case of cancer? But whence then have we the absence of local pain; it is true, generally speaking, that the pain comes on at a later period; and I am inclined to think that the disease is not cancerous in its origin, but becomes so as it advances. I have cured three cases of this kind. In the case of a woman, given over by three physicians, the fungous tumour came away of itself, did not reappear, and her health is perfect at

the present day.

Truth compels me to avow, that if we except the simple ulcers of which I have first spoken, and scrofulous ulcerations, the differential diagnosis of all the others rests in the greatest obscurity. Some writers, indeed, have attempted to lay down characteristic signs, but you will in vain seek these at the bed-side of the patient; and if the disease progresses, and laughs at all our efforts, what signifies whether we demonstrate its carcinomatous nature or not, when the health is destroyed, and no hope of safety is left except in operating? This is the answer I would give to those superficial critics who have reproached me with removing the neck of the uterus, when they could not find there any scirrhous or cancerous matter. Are we to leave the disease to go on and become incurable? When every other hope of cure is lost, and the affection still continues to exercise a deleterious influence on the economy, the part should be removed without delay. This is true surgical philosophy. When these ulcerations are of a doubtful character, if the smallness of their extent permit us to defer operating, we commence by attacking the state of engorgement. When the woman gets weak from the abundance of the secretion and the supervening hemorrhage, we have tried in five cases to destroy the vegetations with the finger, and then cauterized. Twice the cautery gave rise to inflammatory symptoms, and we were forced to abandon it.

LECTURE VII.

AMPUTATION OF THE CERVIX UTERI.

Of the neck of the uterus; general considerations on the operation; indications for and against it; the surgical anatomy of the parts; the lecturer's method of performing the operation; accidents which may arise from it; means proper for healing the wound.

I. GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS.

THE period, unfortunately, is not very distant from the present time when diseases of the uterus were involved in great obscurity. On the one hand they were considered as essentially fatal, when they had made a little progress; on the other they were completely mistaken or neglected, as inconveniences too simple to arrest the attention of the surgeon. In the former case the practitioner, struck with the inefficacy of his art, found himself compelled to employ nothing but palliative measures, and saw his patient fall a victim to the most violent suffering. But within a few years numerous researches made in pathological and surgical anatomy have thrown considerable light on this important part of pathology. The means of examination have become more certain and numerous, and the causes of uterine affections have been traced with a care and attention which have not failed to produce the most happy results. It has been shown, for example, and experience sanctions the assertion, that muco-purulent discharges, uterine hemorrhage, and prolapsus of the uterus, were not essential diseases, as had been imagined at the time, but symptoms of an alteration more or less grave of the tissues of the organ.

By a more rigorous examination of the symptoms revealing the alterations of the uterine tissues, we are now enabled to establish new distinctions to prove, by pathological anatomy, and the effect of treatment, that many uterine diseases are much less dangerous than have been imagined, and that they frequently are neither of a carcinomatous nor a scirrhous nature; that by far the greater part commence by a very simple change, and that if attacked at a reasonable period after this commencement, they very rarely resist such therapeutic measures as were employed to combat them at the Hospital of La Pitie. Within the last few years, a great number of females have been discharged cured from the hospital, without having undergone any operation, and since that time the afflux of patients with uterine disease has increased to a great extent. Nevertheless the number of operations has diminished, and I now perform amputation of the neck of the uterus once or twice a year, whereas formerly the same operation was performed fifteen or sixteen times during an equal period. Notwithstanding this great success, disease of the uterus sometimes resists all treatment, and removal of the neck becomes necessary as a last resource. Every surgeon knows that many women, yielding to a false shame, refuse to submit to an examination, and permit the affection to go until an operation is indispensable; and I am compelled to observe, that although the new ideas on diseases of the uterus have already been laid before the public, yet that the old ideas are so rooted, that many physicians remain too frequently tranquil spectators of the progress made by the disease.

II. INDICATIONS AND CONTRAINDICATIONS OF THE OPERATION.

We shall first explain the cases in which amputation of the neck of the uterus ought to be performed.

1st. When the cancerous state is well-marked, and too deeply

seated to permit our trying cauterization.

2d. When the disease does not extend beyond the superior part

of the insertion of the vagina into the uterus.

3d. Even when the existence of carcinoma may not be well established, I think we ought to operate, if the general health daily declines, and if the patient be not relieved by other therapeutic means employed, or if they do not prevent the disease from progressing in such a manner as would soon destroy all hope of a radical cure.

Is it not well known that certain non-carcinomatous ulcers of the lower extremity, by their very injurious influence on the economy, require the sacrifice of the limb; and why should not simple ulcers of the uterus exercise a similar influence on the constitution of the female? The uterus has a more powerful sympathetic influence on many other viscera. Experience proves that simple non-carcinomatous ulcerations of the uterus may become

mortal, if not removed by the knife.

4th. We are generally recommended not to operate whenever there exists any engorgement of the body of the uterus. I think this opinion too exclusive, and would oppose it for the following reasons. Accoucheurs have proved that, in cases of extra-uterine pregnancy, the womb ordinarily presents double the ordinary volume. I have seen the same result from long-continued inflammation of the parts in the pelvis. Whenever the neck of the uterus becomes sufficiently diseased to render an operation indispensable, the body of the organ becomes more voluminous. I have been convinced of this by the autopsy of some females who died shortly after the operation. I have thus been convinced, that when, in the cases of which I speak, the uterus does not exceed double its ordinary volume, we have merely a simple hypertrophy, which need not embarrass the practitioner. This principle has been frequently sanctioned by experiment at the Hospital of La Pitie.

5th. Is the uterus more enlarged than we have just mentioned? We think that if the disease is accompanied by little pain, the existence of cancer is not certain, and that removal of the neck of

the uterus should be attempted, because the woman, according to the view of physicians, is destined to a certain death. I have seen it succeed. The increased volume of the organ was produced by the simple white engorgement, which disappeared after the operation; but before we have recourse to this means, it is right to endeavour to restore the body of the uterus as nearly as possible to its normal state, and this we have often succeeded in doing.

6th. A question of high importance ought to fix the attention of the surgeon in a special manner. Cancer of the uterus is an affection which produces engorgement of the neighbouring organs less frequently than any other. Boyle long ago pointed out a circumstance which I have verified, and which supports the present idea, viz., that diseases of the uterus are less seldom carcinomatous than has been generally imagined; and, by the above reason, we are also enabled to explain why, in removing the neck of the uterus, and a certain quantity of healthy tissue surrounding it, we much more frequently obtain success than when cancer is removed in other situations.

7th. It is necessary here to call to mind that I have proved, both by pathological anatomy and therapeutic reasons, that a tumour supposed to be carcinomatous in its whole extent, was often merely so in its centre only. Hence the possibility of reducing it two-thirds before operating. Experience sanctions these facts.

Sth. Is the operation admissible after the volume of the ovaries has become doubled? M. Larrey has shown us a patient whom he cured under these circumstances, and my practice has furnished a similar case.

9th. Surgeons in general reject the operation for cancer, when the diseased part is surrounded by engorged lymphatic ganglia which they cannot remove. The observations of Desault and Soemmering are in opposition to this precept; although when those great men wrote, the therapeutic ideas at present applied to indurations were not known. In the healing art, as in many others, we are apt to fall into exaggeration when we do not know how to distinguish cases. Whenever these lymphatic ganglia are few, of recent growth, little voluminous, and not adherent, we partake the opinion of Desault; and during the period that the Faculty of Medicine charged me with the duty of external clinique at the hospital of the school, I showed the Academy a patient in whom I had obtained the most fortunate results, by following the rules which I lay down.

10th. In all cases where a viscus is affected, we are directed by surgeons not to operate until the organ has been restored to its normal state; but diseases of the uterus exercise a special influence on the chest, and the patients are frequently tormented by violent palpitations of the heart. Is the organ in this case altered in tissue, or is the affection merely nervous? The diagnosis appears to me very difficult, particularly in many cases; four practitioners most exercised in the use of the stethoscope, remained in doubt on a

case of this nature at the Hospital St. Comel, where I had requested their assistance. The woman was operated on, cured, and has since lain in without accident. The extent of the present discourse does not permit me to treat the question of the hereditary nature of cancer and the cancerous diathesis. It now remains to describe the operation of removal of the neck of the uterus, but it will be well to show first how operative medicine is based on surgical anatomy.

III. THE SURGICAL ANATOMY.

It was once thought that the vagina was inserted into the neck of the uterus by a linear expansion. From this false idea of the anatomy of the part, it resulted that the surgeon, while operating, was always in dread of wounding the peritoneum; that the whole of the disease was in many cases not removed; or, finally, that the incisions were made too close to the affected portion, giving rise to so many examples of unsuccess, that amputation of the neck of the uterus was almost abandoned. I have shown that the upper portion of the vagina covers the neck of the uterus very extensively. In front there exists ten lines between the peritoneum and lower part of the neck; behind, the distance is at least ten lines. I have examined a vast number of bodies on this point, and never found those dimensions reduced when the neck remained in a normal state. It is unnecessary to call to mind that they are less in old women, in whom the uterus is atrophied. I do not speak of varieties in the length of the neck; these have been perfectly well pointed out by accoucheurs, but a fact of great importance has escaped the notice of physiologists, and it is by a knowledge of this fact that we explain the ready manner in which the uterus is brought down to the external orifice without producing any accident. Let a speculum be introduced into the vagina, and the superior orifice of the instrument placed round the neck of the uterus; desire the woman to make strong efforts as if she were going to stool, and the speculum will be pushed down by the uterus. which ordinarily descends within an inch or an inch and a half of the inferior opening of the vagina.

IV. AMPUTATION OF THE NECK OF THE UTERUS.

Lauvariol, it is generally supposed, advised this operation in 1780; Osiander performed it with success in 1801, in the following manner: — Having placed the patient in a proper position, he traversed the neck of the uterus in two opposite points of its circumference, with curved needles armed with double threads; he then drew the uterus to the vulva by gradual traction, and removed the disease with the knife. M. Dupuytren has advantageously substituted the forceps of Museaux for the thread and needle employed by Osiander. I shall now explain the process to which he gives the preference, it is the only one attributed to him in the Treatise on Operative Medicine, published under his inspection in the year 1832. "The surgeon introduces a speculum into the

vagina, and confides it to an assistant. This being done, he seizes and gently draws towards him, with a forceps of Museaux held in the left hand, all that portion of the neck of the uterus affected with carcinomatous degeneration, and which he removes with a double-bladed knife, or with a curved, flat scissors, very long, strong, and sharp. These are to be held in the right hand, and alternately carried upward, on the side, and downward, turning their concavity inward, and making them act as much as possible on the sound parts, beyond the limits of the disease. The inconveniences attached to this process are the following: - In seizing the carcinomatous tumour, which is often very soft, it gives way, and the uterus cannot be brought down. Besides, M. Dupuytren says that he cut, with several instruments, as much as possible beyond the limit of the disease. These expressions indicate that the totality is not always removed. The instruments which he uses, acting in a narrow space, rather by pressure than cutting, give rise to most violent pain. The cancer can only be destroyed piece by piece; hence the diseased tissues are lacerated at the bottom of a narrow speculum, where they are masked by the blood, which prevents us from distinguishing them from the healthy tissues. This process, then, is only applicable to cases where we are prevented from sufficiently depressing the neck of the uterus, by adherences which may be formed. I have met with only one case of this kind.

M. Mayor, of Lausanne, has proposed to practise ligature of the neck with a porte-næud and tourniquet invented by him. I merely quote this as an historic fact, for among the grave and numerous inconveniences attached to it, we have only to call to mind the accidents which arise when the ligature unfortunately embraces a portion of the uterus in tying a polypus. Messrs. Hatin and Colombat have invented mechanical instruments by which they remove the neck of the uterus. To reject these instruments, however ingeniously contrived, we have but to remember that their employment requires a painful dilatation of the vagina, that the cancer is often very voluminous, does not ascend always at equal points round the neck, and sometimes throws deep roots into the healthy tissues, &c.

V. METHOD OF M. LISFRANC.

The patient is placed in the same position as for the lateral operation of the stone; a bivalve speculum is then introduced; this has the advantage of embracing the tumour better, and of putting the upper part of the vagina perfectly on the stretch, in which case the circular fold, which might mask the neck of the uterus, cannot be formed. The operator now cleans the os tincæ, in order to assure himself better of the disposition of the parts, if it be necessary. The forceps of Museaux, which is longer, more strong, and less curved, than those generally employed, is carried shut immediately below the organ. As soon as the branches are sufficiently open to seize, if possible, two points of the neck dia-

metrically opposite, the operator pushes gently on them, at the same time that he fixes them in the tissue of the uterus. This manœuvre is necessary, to follow the ascension of the uterus, which would otherwise cause us to seize it too low down, or perhaps miss it altogether. The speculum is easily withdrawn, because the forceps pass into the separation between its two valves. We are now to exercise slow and gradual traction on the uterus, in order to bring its neck below the inferior orifice of the vagina. It is unnecessary to mention that the traction should be made at first in the direction of the upper axis, and then in that of the outlet of the pelvis; but in order that the uterus should be more perfectly seized and brought down, and that all the points of the lower border of the neck should equally project below, the surgeon must apply a second forceps in a direction opposed to that of the first one.

This manœuvre has another advantage. Whatever may be the tendency of the uterus to ascend into the abdominal cavity during the resection, the tissues maintained in situ may be divided either at the same, or at different heights, according to the circumstances requiring it. It is only by continuing traction for five minutes, or in difficult cases, for a quarter of an hour, if necessary, that we can obtain a sufficient degree of descent. The surgeon now carries his finger round the uterine insertion of the vagina, which is easily recognised by the presence of a kind of ring, above which he feels, on pressure, an empty space. Having cleaned the tissues, he confides the forceps to an assistant, placed in front of the pelvis. The operator himself is to the left of the patient. Having furnished himself with a curved bistoury cutting on its concave edge, and clothed with lint up to an inch of its blunt point, he directs the assistant to elevate the forceps, in order to give the uterus a kind of rotation, and expose better its posterior surface; by this means the limits of the disease are well seen, and the resection may be carried higher up.

The surgeon now glides the left index finger behind the os tincæ. keeping the palmar surface towards the patient, and measures by it the height at which his incision is to be made. The bistoury is placed below this finger, which directs it, and serves as a point d'appui, while the assistant gradually depresses the forceps, and brings down in turn the other points of the uterine neck. As the disease may extend itself higher on one side than the other, the assistant's duty is to manage the forceps in such a way as to incline the lower extremity of the uterus in a proper manner, that the whole of the diseased parts may be removed; he must also be careful to diminish the force of his traction as the incisions advance, or he may lacerate the tissues. The bistoury should be managed with a sawing motion to avoid injuring the great labia, or any dangerous deviation of direction, and to make the edges of the wound equal. The division is sufficiently difficult, from the great resistance of the tissue of the uterus.

13*

But in some cases the volume of the parts does not permit them to be embraced by the speculum, and the surgeon cannot employ that instrument; here he must introduce simple hooks on the index finger, and fix them either on the neck of the uterus, or on the most resisting points of the tumour. It has been proposed to introduce certain instruments into the uterus, which, by a mechanical contrivance, expand within the organ, and thus tend to depress it. I have never tried them; they produce a contused wound, which is not removed with the diseased parts, and which must expose the patient to the well-known dangers of traumatic inflammation. If a soft fungus existed, though of small size, the introduction of the speculum might give rise to a hemorrhage, and thus render it impossible to see the neck of the uterus, in spite of injections, cleaning the surface, &c. In this case it will be better to renounce the use of the speculum, and be guided by the principles already laid However, as the double-branched speculum has entered the vagina, its two leaves might be widely separated, so as to allow the fungus to become engaged in the upper part of the instrument without being rubbed. Dr. Avenel reports a case of this kind,

which I showed at the clinique of La Pitie.

A large tumour, ascending high up on the neck of the uterus, is not easily brought down through the vagina, and does not permit us readily to see its limits, or attack it with certainty. In a case of this kind, which is very grave, and which I have often met, I divide the fold of skin and mucous membrane, which, as I have lately demonstrated, gives the great extent to the perineum in its antero-posterior diameter. When cancer of the neck of the uterus had extended deeply into the body of the organ, surgeons, after having removed the superficial portion of the diseased parts, were in the habit of employing cauterization, a means very dangerous, and very rarely indeed attended with success. In such cases I thought of practising two semilunar incisions, which are united at the extremity, and of which the longer diameter is antero-posterior; by this means I dissect away all the diseased parts from the depth of the organ, and have obtained very fortunate results. In fact, pathological anatomy had convinced me, contrary to the general opinion, that even in cases where the extent of the disease did not permit me to remove the neck of the uterus, the body of the organ was almost always healthy, if we except some slight tumefaction due to a simple hypertrophy; I have shown preparations proving this, frequently, at the hospital. One shudders to think of the violent pain which this operation must produce; but here is a vulgar error which it is important to remove. If the uterus be very sensible, even to moderate pressure, nature has fortunately rendered it insensible to the blade of a cutting instrument; this is so true, that many women, operated on at La Pitie, thought the operation was not commenced, even when the whole neck had been removed. Besides, we know that patients are not conscious of any pain produced by leeches applied to the lower part of the uterus.

VI. ACCIDENTS WHICH FOLLOW THE OPERATION, AND MEANS PROPER
TO HEAL THE WOUND.

In looking over what has been written, it is easy to see that with the exception of plugging and metro-peritonitis, this point of pathology and therapeutics has not been touched upon at all. Surgeons were too much impressed with a fear of hemorrhage; they had at once recourse to plugging; thus the uterus was unable to get rid of the blood brought to it by the irritation of the operation; and this powerful cause of inflammation, joined to the pain occasioned by the presence of the plug, often gave rise to a metro-peritonitis, which was generally fatal. When the woman has not been reduced by previous hemorrhage, I let the blood flow away if it does not come too fast, and do not usually arrest it before she has lost twelve or fourteen ounces. In following this rule, I have not been obliged to plug more than six times in ninety-nine operations, and the plug moreover was generally applied to the lower part of the vagina only, and was withdrawn in one or two hours. I have never lost a patient from hemorrhage; three only have died in consequence of metro-peritonitis.

The extent to which the present observations have run does not permit me to describe the nervous accidents; it is sufficient to say that they appear frightful to a surgeon who sees them for the first time, but they are not dangerous; after a few hours they become calm, and are removed by an antispasmodic julep. The absence of sudden suppression of the bleeding often determines pain in the pelvis; in this case I remove the clots contained in the vagina, and throw up warm emollient injections. If the blood begins again to flow, the pains usually disappear; if not, I cover the lower part of the abdomen with a poultice sprinkled with laudanum, and prac-

tise a revulsive bleeding of the arm.

Metro-peritonitis when well-marked is to be treated according to the established rules.

A small revulsive bleeding from the arm is also the best means of combating the consecutive discharges of blood which may exist

either with or without uterine pain.

The rules of diet are too simple to deserve any particular notice. As soon as all danger of hemorrhage is removed, it will be advantageous to inject into the vagina a small quantity of mallowwater nearly cold, in order to remove any sanguineous clots which may remain, and which putrify with great rapidity.

The wound, however, made in the uterus, is not favourably cir-

cumstanced for a quick cicatrization, for,

1st. It is constantly bathed by liquids more or less irritating.

2d. The depression of the uterus exposes it to be rubbed against

and injured.

3d. The organization of the uterus does not permit its edges to come in close contact; hence arises a pellicle of cicatrization which covers a large surface, and requires a long time to be perfectly formed.

The injection of emollient and then of stimulant fluids, absolute rest, and the cauterization of the wound with the liquid proto-nitrate acid of mercury, should be employed according to the indications. Six or eight weeks are necessary to obtain the complete cicatrization of the wound. I cannot enter into the important question of the relapse of this disease, on which modern surgery, taking medicine as its basis, has thrown great light; and I must also pass over certain inconveniences which many women experience after their cure, but which are dissipated soon by a very simple treatment. The following, however, is an extremely important point of physiology. Amputation of the neck of the uterus proves that this part of the organ is not indispensable to pregnancy, which may take place and terminate fortunately without it. In general, labour is more easy. In ten patients who had become pregnant after the operation, one only was delivered at four months; but she had been guilty of imprudences capable of producing abortion under any circumstances. I may add that Madame Carpentier, who permits me to name her, has carried two children to the full period. Amongst the great number of women operated upon, I know only one in whom the cicatrix has completely obliterated the orifice of the uterus. She menstruated regularly, and in the ordinary quantity; but each period was preceded and accompanied by severe nervous accidents, and some symptoms of metritis, which were soon dissipated. Besides, she never exhibited any signs of sanguineous accumulation in the uterus; the menstrual discharge came from the surface of the vagina. This woman died. On examining her, we found some lymphatic ganglia engorged in the pelvis: a chronic abscess under one of the psoas muscles; no metritis or peritonitis; but it was evident that the lower orifice of the uterus was obliterated. The introduction of a probe from time to time would prevent this accident. In cases where it did take place, could we remedy it by the trocar or bistoury? Experience must decide that question.

In drawing this lecture to a close, I have merely to remark, that of ninety-nine females in whom I have removed the neck of the uterus, fifteen are dead, and eighty-four are cured, and in the former the disease was very considerably advanced. We therefore may hope, that as the new ideas on uterine disease become more extended, surgeons will be induced to operate sooner, and thus the

chances of failure will be considerably diminished.

Since this lecture was written, I have performed the amputation of the neck of the uterus three times. One patient is dead, the two others are under treatment. — French Gazette, published June 20, 1834.

[Facts have been adduced in large number to show that, unhappily, those assertions by Lisfranc of such uncommon success in amputating the neck of the uterus are far beyond the truth. The operation is always a critical, and, in a majority of cases, a fatal one. The experience of Osiander and Dupuytren, who were once its strongest advocates, is strong testimony to this effect. See Pauly's Strictures in his edition of Lisfranc's Lectures.]

CLINICAL LECTURES

ON

DISEASES OF THE PUERPERAL STATE,

BY J. T. INGLEBY, M.D.

LECTURE I.

I. INTERNAL UTERINE HEMORRHAGE.

Forms of placentar apoplexy; illustrative case; mode of attack; local and constitutional symptoms; condition of the membranes and liquor amnii; historical references; farther illustrative cases; indications of treatment; objections against rupturing the membranes; dangers of the plug.

Gentlemen:—I meet you this evening (in conformity with the pledge before given) to commence the course of Clinical Lectures, which I purpose to deliver as often, during the session, as circumstances will allow. On the present occasion I wish to call your attention to the subject of Uterine Hemorrhage, in one of its most peculiar and imminently dangerous forms,—I mean hemorrhage accompanied by a detachment of the placenta, together with an infiltration of blood in its substance, constituting what has been termed placentary apoplexy, and arising about the close of pregnancy. It may occur either independently of labour, or whilst labour is progressing. The one object I have in view being to have the matter fully understood by you all, I will enter upon the subject without further preface, studying only plainness and clearness of description.

I have said I wish to call your attention to hemorrhage, accompanied with detachment of the placenta. First of all, then, I would have you observe, that the detachment usually commences about the centre of the mass, and extends to every part of it, the edge excepted, which maintains its natural apposition; consequently, a large quantity of blood soon becomes confined between the placental and uterine surfaces. The uterine tumour at these points becomes raised in proportion to the amount of effusion, its rapid

But it is important to observe, that the effusion may commence anywhere between the centre of the placenta and its edge, which almost necessarily becomes more or less detached, so that whilst a large coagulum is confined, partly underneath the placenta and partly exterior to the membranes, the liquid blood continues detaching the membranes until it reaches the vagina: I have seen both forms of hemorrhage. The first, or concealed form, from its greater liability to deceive the practitioner than the second, may be regarded as the more dangerous case, although the extent of hemorrhage in this form is less considerable than in the other. I shall presently state a remarkable exception; but this, as a rule, is

generally correct.

Case. — Mrs. B. has ten or eleven children, and was subjected to my professional notice when about nine months advanced in pregnancy. During the night of Friday, Sept. 8, a discharge of blood, both clotted and fluid, occurred several times; and at three o'clock, on Saturday morning, my friend Mr. Rice was called to Although she had reached the full period of pregnancy, no pain took place until subsequently to the attack of hemorrhage, and the degree of pain which then arose was inconsiderable. The amount of hemorrhage was trifling, three napkins only having been stained, but the depression of the general system had progressively increased, and was at that time most alarming. On examining the uterine tumour, Mr. Rice's attention was immediately directed to a very marked singularity in its shape, the shape being exceedingly pointed, having its long diameter in the antero-posterior direction. I accompanied Mr. Rice to the patient at eight o'clock, A.M. There was great prostration of strength, an exsanguine countenance, and the gaping which attends the state of syn-The pulse was feeble and slow, and the defined eminence which occupied the summit of the uterine tumour, and for some extent around it, was much more elastic than the surrounding parts. Under a strong conviction — a conviction previously entertained by Mr. Rice — that the symptoms depended upon a large internal effusion of blood, I recommended immediate delivery; and, as Mr. Rice entertained similar views of the case, he undertook the operation without delay. Although there had been no regular labour-pain, the uterine orifice was moderately well dilated. and the membranes were sufficiently distended to admit of the bag being very easily ruptured. The circumstance of the membranes being distended, deserves your notice in reference to the manner in which the liquor amnii acquired its bloody appearance. On the membranes being ruptured, a large amount of deep-coloured, bloody fluid instantly rushed out of the vagina. During the delivery of the lower extremities, a quantity of tolerably consistent blood, mixed with small clots, continued to escape, and, on the completion of the delivery, an immense clot was expelled somewhat forcibly. This was rapidly followed by the placenta having, upon

its uterine surface, and within about a third of its texture, a mass of coagulated blood. The coagula were so interwoven with the parts as to admit only of very partial removal, and this not without tearing the placenta. The shape of the placenta was sacculated at such of its parts as were not infiltrated, but merely covered by clot, the greater part of the blood having been confined in the sac. Brandy and the tincture of ergot, in combination, were resorted to several times during the delivery with excellent effect in sustaining the pulse, and securing an efficient uterine contraction. The patient would necessarily have been greatly alarmed by the vast disgorgement of blood from the uterus, had we not prepared her mind for the occurrence. As there was no direct escape of blood from the general system, there was no actual shock; rather, indeed, a revival from impending death to a state of comparative security. The large clot, of which I spoke above, weighed two pounds; and the liquid blood, such as, at least, could be collected, weighed two pounds more. Making allowance, then, for the blood which had become mixed with the liquor amnii, as well as for the blood which had escaped on the bed and napkins during the night, the actual loss, within six hours, must have been upwards of five pounds, at the least. It is certain that the uterus contained, at the moment of delivery, upwards of four pounds. I need scarcely say, that under so large and so sudden an effusion the fætal circulation would very speedily cease.

And now, Gentlemen, let us inquire what practical inferences can be deduced from this narrative? Let us examine it in several

points of view.

1st. The Mode of Attack. — The attack occurred suddenly, and was not the result of external injury — a very probable means of producing not only separation, but laceration of the placenta,* and laceration even of the uterus itself. Each of these injuries I have personally witnessed as the result of physical force, but in this case there was no pretence whatever for supposing the existence of such a cause. The circumstances which occasioned the separation of parts, and consequently the effusion of blood, can however only be conjectured. We can only say, with any certainty, that the effusion must have proceeded from a very large vessel.

2dly. The Symptoms. — The symptoms were both local and constitutional. The former comprising the hemorrhage, which appeared external to the body — the shape of the uterine tumour — the sensation imparted to the hand when placed over its most projecting part (a sensation of undue elasticity when compared with the very slight elasticity which characterised the other parts of the uterine tumour), and the peculiar character of the pains, the feel-

^{*} The case related by Mr. Wildsmith is a striking instance of this kind. The patient died during pregnancy, and on examination, P.M., a clot of blood was discovered, weighing 18 ounces at the anterior part of the fundus of the womb, and the placenta was lacerated. — See North of England Med. and Surg. Journ., vol. i. p. 446.

ing being one of distress from distension, rather than of suffering from contraction. Hence it is impossible to resist the conclusion, that the pains arose as a consequence of the effusion. It has been already observed, that the pains were preceded by visible hemorrhage. The constitutional symptoms were merely those that are common to all severe hemorrhages, viz., torpor, drowsiness, repeated syncope, a pallid countenance, a feeble, slow pulse, gaping, and coldness of skin.

I have only one remark to offer, in reference to the depression of the system, viz., that it was very great, and yet altogether disproportionate to the amount of visible discharge. Still the fact of an existing visible hemorrhage would naturally impress the mind with the conviction, that the sinking of the vital powers and the hemorrhage, slight as it was, must have had an important connection. In this respect, the evidence, if not altogether conclusive in the instance before us, was far more conclusive than characterised

several fatal cases of a similar kind.

3dly. The Condition of the Membranes and of the Liquor Amnii, is a point not altogether destitute of practical interest. There was nothing peculiar in the state of the os uteri; it was relaxed and partially open, but these characters are common to the uterine orifice at the close of pregnancy, in a person having had several children, as was Mrs. B.'s case. The membranes were apparently entire, the presenting portion being moderately distended with fluid. The liquor amnii had a very bloody appearance, and gushed out very forcibly on the bag being ruptured. In its passage through the vagina, it is indeed usual for the liquor amnii to acquire a stain from the blood which may be lodging there, but here the fluid was uniformly bloody, the colour being almost as deep as blood itself. The precise cause of this is not easily explained. The feetal side of the placenta was perfect, consequently the stain must have taken place, either from a slight tear at the edge of the placenta (a circumstance which would not prevent the presenting part of the sac from being moderately distended), or it must have been the result of transudation. I incline to the former opinion, the period of transudation having been very short, although the transuding surface, from the size of the coagulum, was considerable. Certainly the fact of the liquor amnii not containing coagula may be supposed rather to favour the view last suggested. One is naturally led, therefore, to make an inquiry as to the source of the blood. Did it proceed from the placenta itself, or from the vessels of the uterus in connection with it? What are the probabilities? The placenta was very pulpy throughout, and about one-third of the mass, from the edge towards the centre, was so completely infiltrated with blood, as to render the removal of the clots impracticable without breaking up the structure of the Consequently it was impossible to detect any placenta itself. open vessel. I am disposed to think that the blood proceeded from the uterine system and not from the placental, and I will give my reasons for this opinion. As already observed, the infiltration was very limited in its extent, although it pervaded the whole thickness of the mass. Now, had the blood emanated from the interior of the placenta it could only have proceeded from a large vessel belonging to the umbilical system, and it is more than probable that the greater part of the placental mass would have been infiltrated. Moreover, had the case been so, I think the extravasation would have been apparent through the coverings of the fætal surface. But it was not apparent in any degree. Neither is it probable that the blood, after traversing the interior of the mass, could have retained its fluidity sufficiently long to have passed in such large quantities into the uterine cavity. I can only account for the infiltration, by the supposition of a breach of surface having taken place in the placenta, whilst the extent of detachment was slight.

Such is as complete an outline of this remarkable case as it is possible to set before you in a lecture; and, considering the danger young practitioners are in, of forming a wrong judgment upon the symptoms, and the danger of improper treatment to the patient, I do most earnestly press upon you the duty of a careful study of this and similar cases. I will now lay before you all the information I have been able to obtain on this particular kind of hemorrhage, and a case or two not previously recorded. My own work, on "Hemorrhage," contains scarcely anything on the subject; indeed, the records respecting it are very scanty. Dr. Simpson's elaborate paper, on "Diseases of the Placenta," contains several references to the class of cases immediately before us; I recommend you to peruse this paper carefully. It evinces great research, and is replete with practical information.* Dr. Merriman alludes very briefly to the circumstance, that syncope, or even death itself, may be occasioned by an effusion of blood between the uterus and placenta, whilst "there may be very little appearance of discharge from the vagina." Dr. Blundell, also, in adverting, in general terms, to instances of death occurring suddenly in the last months of pregnancy, observes — "On laying open the body after death, two or three pounds of blood may be discovered within the cavity of the uterus, and this, too, although there may have been no external bleeding." The first case which I have met with is related by the celebrated Albinus, t where only the central part of the placenta being loosened, a large quantity of coagulated blood was lodged between it and the uterus, as it were, in a bag, and, consequently, not a drop was discharged per vaginam. "Had the nature of the case been understood (observes Albinus), the patient might have been saved by rupturing the membranes, and delivering immediately." Four cases are related by M. Baudelocque. The mother was saved in three of the cases, but the child perished in each of them. In one of these the quantity of blood behind

† " Annot. Acad." lib. i, c. 10. p. 56.

^{*} See "Edin. Med. and Chir. Journ." for April 1, 1836.

the placenta was estimated at four or five palettes.* Baudelocque relates a fifth case; the hemorrhage, however, took place within the memeranes, and not behind the placenta. Two cases are related by M. de Laforterie; the first case terminated fatally, after twelve hours' labour pain, and before competent assistance could be obtained.† M. De Laforterie, however, performed the Cæsarean operation, and, on opening the fundus uteri, a pound and a half of liquid black blood immediately gushed out, which had been contained in a sac, between the placenta and the uterine surface, the centre of the placenta having been detached, while the edge remained adherent. The child was extracted alive, but speedily died. In the second case, the quantity of blood is said to have

measured three French chopines. ±

Mr. Saumarez adduces a well authenticated, but fatal case, of this form of hemorrhage. There was no discharge per vaginam, On examination, P. M., the placenta was everywhere detached. excepting its edges, which "were completely adherent, forming a kind of cul-de-sac, into which blood had been poured to the amount of a pint and a half, which had become coagulated within the cavity thus formed." The patient was also attended by Drs. Denman and Denison. § Dr. Hamilton describes two cases. In the first, premature labour occurred spontaneously. "In the central part of the placenta a strong coagulum of blood, the size of an afternoon tea-cup, was discovered. The adhesion of the edges of the placenta had saved the patient." The result of the second case was less fortunate. The symptoms were those of collapse, and "the lady felt as if she were going to burst; there was no discharge from the uterus, and no symptoms of labour. Immediate delivery was accomplished, by passing the hand into the uterus, and a dead infant was extracted, which was followed by an immense quantity of coagulated blood and the placenta. The patient almost instantly expired." I now refer you to a very clear and concise paper on this subject, illustrated by a particularly well marked case, by my friend, Mr. J. M. Coley. The effusion was characterised by a sudden enlargement of the uterine tumour. together with a sensation of pain, as though the abdomen would burst, and by frightful collapse of the vital powers. There was no discharge whatever from the vagina. Delivery was accomplished by rupturing the membranes, and the administration of ergot; and, on the expulsion of the placenta, it was ascertained that blood had been effused, between the placenta and the uterus,

^{*} The palette contains four ounces. - Ep. L.

[†] See "Journ. Gén." tom. 29, p. 384, and quoted in Mons. C. A. Baudelocque's "Traité des Hemorrhagies Internes de l'Uterus."

[‡] The chopine contains about an English pint. — En. L. § See No. 6, "New Lond. Med. and Phy. Journ." p. 535.

See "Prac. Observ." part ii., p. 235-6.

See Lancet for 9th January, 1830, p. 498.

to the amount of two pounds, and also extravasated within the placental cells.

I shall now mention two cases which have presented themselves to my notice. Some weeks ago I was requested to see a woman, reported to be in convulsions. Before I could reach the house she had expired - labour was supposed to have commenced the preceding evening. A respectable surgeon employed in the case, finding the pains excessively feeble, and the system much depressed, ruptured the membranes. The liquor amnii was colourless, and no hemorrhage was observable at any time. The body was examined, P. M., by the surgeon just alluded to, assisted by my friend Mr. Wickenden and myself. The form of the uterine tumour was strikingly conical. On cutting through the uterine parietes, so as barely to receive the end of the scalpel, - fluid blood rushed out like the stream in venesection. By means of a sponge 60 ounces of liquid blood were collected, and, on enlarging the aperture, a coagulum was removed which weighed 61 ounces, the whole comprising 121 ounces of blood; the placental edge was still adherent, so that there had been no escape of blood underneath the membranes. The circumference of the placenta was inordinately large. The other case, which, in several respects, is unlike the one just reported, derives an interest from the amount of blood being very trivial, and yet proving fatal to life. A young woman, from three to four months pregnant, having just eaten breakfast, went upstairs in perfect health and spirits to make her bed. She returned very quickly, complaining of feeling very ill, sat down in a chair, and expired. An inquest was held, and the body reported to be perfectly healthy. On the close of the inquest the impregnated uterus was brought to me unopened, as a fine specimen of natural pregnancy. On opening it a portion of clot of blood appeared to view. It had lacerated the chorion to a very slight extent only; but, on removing it from its bed, between the amnion and the chorion (a most singular situation to contain so large an effusion, of which Baudelocque gives no example, but refers to several examples shown him by Professor Deneux), it was found to weigh four A slight stain was also observed on the woman's linen, which from its dampness must have been recently produced. died in a state of syncope. The nervous system must have received a severe shock at the moment of the laceration, for, of itself, so small an amount of blood could scarcely bring life into danger, even in the sitting posture. The sudden uterine distension might have had an important connection with the fatal depression of the action of the heart. The indications of treatment, in cases attended with a large internal effusion of blood, are very simple, viz., evacuating the uterus, and securing its effective contractions. In the form of hemorrhage, termed "accidental," the mere rupture of the membranes is the practice generally pursued, and with marked success - the hemorrhage ceases, and labour presently comes on; but, in an exigent case of internal hemorrhage, the same reliance

cannot be placed upon this simple operation. The objections are threefold:—

1st. The chance of the uterine contractions, either not coming on, or proving inadequate to constringe the bleeding vessels—a highly probable supposition, considering the mass of the blood which may intervene between the uterus and the membranes.

2dly. The uncertainty of the period of time which elapses

previously to contractions arising.

3dly. The impossibility of determining at the moment, whether or not the hemorrhage is arrested, our opinion being regulated

entirely by the constitutional symptoms.

Mr. Coley's patient was treated by the rupture of the membranes merely, and the administration of the ergot of rye; pains came on in forty minutes afterwards, and the child was expelled by the natural powers. The process of parturition, including the expulsion of the placenta, occupied but three hours. Mr. Coley was deterred from turning the child by "the death-like state of collapse."

In a case already described, attended with an effusion of 121 ounces of blood, the rupture of the membranes had no effect whatever in producing uterine action, I do not recollect whether or not the ergot was given. Hasty conclusions, derived from solitary cases, are often incorrect, and I would not be understood to say that a case may not occur like Mr. Coley's - the patient being almost in articulo mortis — where the milder practice might not be preferable to the sudden evacuation of the womb. Indeed, as I have already stated, Dr. Hamilton's patient died immediately upon artificial delivery. Still, whenever there is reason to believe the hemorrhage is going on, the evacuation of the uterus, by turning the child, should be undertaken at any risk, for it is very probable, that during the time we are waiting for the natural action of the womb, an additional quantity of blood may be gradually pouring out, calculated to terminate life. If this be true, the plug must indeed be a most dangerous remedy in such cases, and yet Mr. Baudelocque recommends it as a temporary measure, provided the os uteri is too rigid to admit of the hand. Nevertheless, he enforces the practice of immediate delivery as early as possible, and happily the os uteri will almost always be found abundantly relaxed for the purpose. Sufficient evidence has been adduced to show you the great danger of all cases like the present, and the inevitable consequences of indecision. Had Mr. Rice been a less thoughtful and cautious practitioner, than he is known to be, his patient would most certainly have perished - for like cases of placental presentation, nature is unequal to the emergency, and art has the preeminence. Amidst much that arises to discourage us in the exercise of this most responsible department of medicine, we now and then possess the certain conviction of having been, under Providence, directly instrumental in the preservation of human life perhaps (as in this case), preserving the life of the mother of many children.

LECTURE II.

LACERATION OF THE WOMB.

Illustrative case; causes of laceration of the uterus; fibrous tumour; experience of Mr. Collins; post-mortem appearances; gastrotomy in laceration of the uterus; illustrative case; various opinions on this operation.

Gentlemen: - I wish to engage your attention this evening, whilst we enter into the consideration of one of the most fearful injuries to which a woman in a state of pregnancy can possibly be exposed, namely, laceration of the womb. Injuries of this nature have usually been attributed, either to an excessive resistance to delivery (disproportion, for instance), or to a marked defect in the resisting powers. In my published Essay on this subject I have given the details of ten cases of laceration, and since its publication I have been called to nine additional cases, exclusive of three most extensive injuries of the vagina, and implicating the peritoneum. I purpose giving you the details of two of the most important of these cases, premising a brief summary of the whole number. The first woman died undelivered, after a most protracted labour. I did not see her until shortly before her death. The head was floating at the brim of the pelvis, like a cork in water, and I thought it practicable to apply the long forceps; but I was not permitted to make the attempt. There was no examination, P.M. In the second case the pelvic brim was slightly contracted. I did not, however, see this woman during life. She also died undelivered. In the third, fourth, and fifth cases, the child presented transversely; and in one of these the fœtus had passed into the abdomen, and delivery was accomplished by passing the hand through the rent. The result was fatal in all of them. The sixth was a case of impaction, occasioned by a slightly contracted brain. The vagina gave way, and, I believe, also the cervix uteri. The pains had ceased an hour or two prior to my visit, and the uterine tumour had suddenly became so very prominent as to attract the patient's attention. Delivery was, however, accomplished by the crotchet; but extensive sloughing of the bladder, rectum, and a portion of the small intestines, took place, notwithstanding which the sufferer lived some weeks. In the seventh case the laceration was confined to the vagina, and was occasioned by a narrow brim was the patient's eighth labour—four of her children having been still-born, and two having died within a few hours after birth. In this eighth labour the child was delivered by turning in the abdomen about twelve hours previous to my visit, and the woman lived till day. The eighth case (the subject of the present lecture) was complicated with placentar presentation, and the ninth with formidable contraction of the brim, the child being extracted by the operation of gastrotomy.

Respecting the injuries of the vagina, not communicating with the abdominal cavity - in the first case a large pendulous flap was noticed immediately after artificial delivery; in the second the vagina was lacerated in numerous points during an attempt judiciously but unsuccessfully made to bring the head through the brim of the pelvis by means of the long forceps, and perforation was ultimately necessary. The third case was attended by many of the prominent symptoms of laceration, including cessation of pain, a very small, rapid pulse, anxious countenance, abdominal tenderness, and black vomiting. I felt a strong conviction that a laceration had taken place, and advised the immediate perforation of the head. It was hydrocephalatous, and was easily extracted by the thumb and finger after the evacuation of the fluid. I then detected a large emphysematous swelling of the superior surface of the vagina, corresponding with the bladder; sloughing, to a lamentable extent, took place, so that scarcely any of the bladder remained. These three patients recovered, the two first completely so.

I now purpose to bring before you in detail a case of rupture of the uterus, which was attended with a defect in the resisting powers. Imminently dangerous as an injury of this nature always is, the danger must be greatly increased when the placenta is attached to the mouth and neck of the womb. I am thankful to say I have no preparation of the morbid parts to show you, for, happily, the patient recovered. In giving you the details I have availed myself of notes taken at the time by Mr. Hammond, of Handsworth, a highly-respectable surgeon, by whom the patient was attended. "On Wednesday, September 11th, 1839, at two o'clock, A.M., I was called (observes Mr. Hammond) to visit Mrs. V., suffering from profuse uterine hemorrhage at the full term of pregnancy. The previous evening (Tuesday) between ten and eleven o'clock, P.M., she was alarmed by the report of a pistol, and felt an extraordinary sensation. She went to bed, but at two o'clock, A.M., was awakened by an impulse to void urine, when she immediately perceived she had passed a large quantity of blood. On my arrival all hemorrhage had ceased; I found the os uteri quite closed, and the vagina occupied by a large coagulum. was impossible at this moment to ascertain the presentation. On Thursday morning, the 12th, at two o'clock, A.M., I was again hastily called, and found the hemorrhage very profuse. The os uteri was very rigid, merely admitting the end of the finger. The hemorrhage being very great, I introduced a plug, and resorted to the ergot of rye; after which severe cramps took place, but no uterine action ensued till six or seven o'clock, A.M., when occasional pains were observed, though with scarcely any effect upon the body of the uterus. Notwithstanding the firmness of the plug the hemorrhage returned profusely the following morning, with sinking of the vital powers. On introducing my right hand, with a view of ascertaining the presentation, I found the placenta attached to the anterior and lateral portions of the cervix uteri, the orifice still only admitting of the introduction of two fingers, though it was moderately yielding. The profuseness of the hemorrhage, and its effects upon the system, left me no alternative but to proceed with the delivery. My fingers acting as a plug, I proceeded cautiously to dilate the os uteri, and its progressive yielding enabled me to pass the greater part of my hand through it, I now felt something very peculiar just before the points of my fingers, which I mistook at the moment for a rent in the placenta. By a more cautious examination, however, I found that the placenta lay at the back of my hand, and that an aperture, in an horizontal direction, could be felt in the posterior side of the parietes of the uterus. This aperture readily admitted the passage of my fingers, the uterine orifice being at the moment contracted upon my hand. The character of the case being too evident, I withdrew my right hand, changed it instantly for the left, passed it over the aperture, ruptured the membranes, seized the feet, and delivered the child. The placenta, in a ragged condition, soon followed; the hemorrhage had now ceased, but the patient was sick, faint, and complained of deep-seated abdominal pain; the pulse was 130, and very weak. Brandy and water, opium, and ammonia, were now resorted to. Dr. Ingleby arrived about three hours after delivery, and made a slight examination. He reported that the rent had extended through the os uteri into the vagina, doubtless during the delivery." With a view of restraining the vomiting, solid opium, and the spirit of ammonia in mint water and camphor julep, were occasionally given. For some days the bladder was relieved by the catheter, and the bowels by simple injections; but for three weeks the patient remained in a state of great danger, and during nearly the whole of this time she lay on the left side. For many days it was unsafe to remove the clothes that she wore at the time of her delivery; but she gradually recovered, and is now merely suffering from weakness. Her recovery may be mainly attributed to Mr. Hammond's excellent management, especially to the precaution of keeping the body almost motionless. Her powers of constitution, also, were good, and her mind particularly tranquil.

This case is interesting in a threefold point of view: — 1st, As to the ostensible cause of the injury; 2dly, As to the condition of the membranes; 3dly, In reference to the parts implicated in the laceration. 1st, We have no positive evidence when the laceration took place; though possibly during the dilatation of the uterine orifice. But admitting this, it could not have been occasioned by undue resistance — for the resistance to the passage of the hand was moderate, and the membranes were unbroken. In many instances the uterus has been known to lacerate with marked facility. At the close of pregnancy, and prior to active contractions ensuing, its substance is very yielding, so much so, says Dr. Hamilton, "That the finger of the practitioner, if the hand be within the uterus, can be passed through it with as much facility as through

a wetted sponge." This statement is, however, rather too unqualified. Were it as is here represented, the risk of passing the hand into the womb (in cases, for instance, of placentar presentation, in which we never wait for active contractions) would be extreme. Laceration may be expected from an attenuated rather than a spongy state of the uterus, and the specimen on the table is very characteristic of this fact. The laceration occurred under very feeble pains, and you perceive that the structures about the laceration are very thin. Attenuation of the structure of the womb may be either general or partial. The partial form usually corresponds with that portion of the organ which, in advanced pregnancy, or during a long continued labour, lies against the brim of the pelvis. The parietes give way not so much from the violence of the contraction, as from an inability to bear the same degree of contraction as they had sustained some hours previously with impunity. Structural diseases (for several of these are compatible with pregnancy) produce absorption of the proper tissue of the organ — fibrous tumour, for instance. Examine the fine specimen before you; you will see that the tumour is covered merely by the thin peritoneum. The patient from whom it was taken died soon after delivery, though not from laceration. Sometimes, again, the coverings of the womb at the close of pregnancy are so very thin as to admit of the different portions of the fætus being distinguished with the greatest accuracy - the infant seems to be directly underneath the extended abdominal parietes. Under such conditions a breach of surface may take place, although the strength of the contractions may be very moderate, and the labour not protracted. In confirmation of my own views, I beg to refer you to the recorded experience of Dr. Collins, of Dublin; a gentleman to whom the profession is deeply indebted for the most valuable collection of cases in midwifery which has ever been submitted to public notice. The work is calculated not only for the present generation but for posterity, and the spirit of fidelity which pervades every page of it, is highly honourable to its author, not withstanding severe strictures have been made relative to the practice employed in several of his cases of rupture of the uterus and vagina, of which he mentions thirty-four examples. In perusing these cases it appears certain that in many of them the laceration could not have been the result of forcible contractions, for "the labour in several of the cases of first pregnancy was not by any means severe, but rather the contrary." In Case No. 5 and Case 30 the child was delivered after a labour of only a single hour. In the lastmentioned case, "the parietes of the abdomen were not thicker than strong paper; the muscular substance of the uterus also was much thinner than usual," and in Case No. 24, also, "the cervix uteri was to all appearance not thicker than strong brown paper." In Mr. Schillito's interesting case of rupture of the uterus

^{* 6} Pract. Observ." vol. ii., p. 343.

the patient seems to have had only two painful contractions, and these occurred, as it is supposed, at the moment of the rent.* Even the placental portion of the uterus, which is usually the thickest, may become very thin. In one instance the attenuation had actually produced a breach of surface, and a portion of disrupted placenta had partially entered the belly, where it was suspended by a few adhesions from the uterine surface. Possibly this change might have occurred after delivery, as the result of inflammation, but in a somewhat similar instance, which I will now mention to you, the thinning could scarcely have been owing to this cause.

I was called to this patient 36 hours after the delivery of her first child. She was delivered by a midwife, at 4 P.M. on the Monday, after an easy labour of only 12 hours duration. The funis was torn away close to its placental end, the placenta being left in utero. Periodical pains, like the pains of labour, continued from the time of the delivery to the middle of the next day, when the pains subsided, but were followed in four hours afterwards by a fixed pain in the hypogastrium, which increased in severity, and was attended by vomiting and other grave symptoms. At six o clock on Wednesday morning, the patient was seen by a neighbouring practitioner (Mr. Lawrence), at whose request I was called into consultation. The abdomen was tense and tympanitic, the pulse very small and frequent, the pain very severe, and attended by vomiting of a coffeecoloured secretion. There was scarcely any discharge per vaginam. The uterine tumour could be felt distinctly; and a peculiar septum, or irregular division of the fundus, on the left side, could be plainly discovered. I suspected that a rent might have occurred; and by means of two fingers passed through the os uteri, Mr. Lawrence succeeded in bringing away the placenta. Very great relief followed, but it was only of short duration. The sickness returned, attended by a degree of exhaustion, which terminated life seven hours after the placenta had been extracted.

Examination, P. M. - Lymph and serum were abundantly deposited over the uterus and the viscera generally; the only peculiarity was in the uterus itself. A peculiar, hollow, flaccid appearance, like a large bag, corresponded with the fundus of the left side; and, on exposing the interior of the womb, it was evident that the placenta had been situated in this bag, which was large enough to contain the fist. The walls of the uterus, around this part, were scarcely one-eighth of an inch thick, and very dark coloured; whilst in other parts they averaged one inch and oneeighth, and were as white as natural. There was scarcely any substance, therefore, between the mucous coat and the peritoneal coat, corresponding with the parts where the placenta had been

attached.

A second point of interest, in connection with Mr. Hammond's

^{*} See "Transactions of the Associated Apothecaries of England and Wales," vol. i., p. 139.

case, is the fact of the liquor amnii not having been evacuated at the moment the rent was discovered. This circumstance corroborates the opinion I have advanced, as to the cause of the injury, for the contractions of the womb could not have been fully exerted upon the body of the child, whilst the membranes were entire. In this respect the case is not a solitary one; for Dr. Hamilton has furnished us with an example; and my own Essay contains a case of laceration of the womb, occasioned by a fall on a step, and the consequent escape of the child, enclosed in the

membranes, in the abdominal cavity.

A third point remains to be considered, in reference to the parts implicated in the laceration. It seems uncertain whether or not the rent extended quite through the uterus and its peritoneal covering. I have always entertained an impression that the main danger attending injuries of this nature, depends upon a communication being formed between the rent and the peritoneal sac: and this impression has not been removed, although certainly weakened, by a very striking fact, advanced by Dr. Collins. 9 of the 34 cases (says Dr. Collins) the peritoneal covering of the uterus did not give way, the injury being confined to the muscular substance, and yet death ensued equally speedily, showing that the free admission of air into the abdominal cavity is not necessarily followed by an increase of danger." Granting this statement to be correct, I am still most clearly of opinion that the danger (great under any circumstances) must necessarily be heightened by the accumulation of bloody discharges in the abdominal cavity; for what possible chance of escape from inflammation can there be, whilst these extraneous substances remain amongst the viscera? The rapid recovery of Mr. Hammond's patient may be thought to constitute an objection to the opinion that the rupture passed into the abdominal sac; but the objection is inconclusive, for several cases are recorded where the recovery was still more rapid. In a case which terminated in recovery in three weeks,* it is said that the intestines and their convolutions were very distinctly felt; and, in another celebrated case, the intestines protruded through the rent in the womb, and were with difficulty confined within the belly; and yet the patient recovered, and was discharged from the hospital on the 17th day from the accident.

Take these several cases, Gentlemen, for your encouragement, and never despair of recovery, even under the worst possible circumstances. Dr. Hamilton mentions an extraordinary fact; namely, that in the only instance of recovery which he had met with, "the symptoms seemed more adverse than in any of the fatal cases, with the exception of those where the patients were

^{*} Vide No. 208, p. 450, of "London. Med. Journal."

† Vide vol ii. of the "Transactions of the Kings' and Queens' Association,"
Dublin.

moribund when his assistance was procured." Keep this fact in mind; you may derive some encouragement from it, under the

responsible duties of practice.

I also embrace this opportunity of considering how far it is justifiable to resort to the operation of gastrotomy in cases of laceration of the uterus or vagina, attended with the complete escape of the child into the peritoneal cavity; it being, moreover, assumed that the child is inaccessible to instruments, and that the introduction of the hand is either impracticable or imminently dangerous to life. Having recently sanctioned this operation, I am anxious to make you acquainted with the facts of the case; for whilst the operation is recommended by some, it is reprobated by others, and yet few have derived their opinions from the only source of value—the results of practice. Let me, first, give you the details of the case itself; secondly, adduce very briefly the views of authors;

and, thirdly, make such remarks as the case may suggest.

Mrs. -, ætat. 36, has had six children, several of whom were still born, and one was destroyed by perforation. The sixth labour constitutes the present case. Mr. P. H. Chavasse was summoned to the patient on Sunday morning, the membranes having given way prior to the accession of labour. Slight pains commenced on Monday evening, and on Tuesday afternoon had increased in strength and frequency. There was, however, no descent of the head, and it could barely be reached by passing the finger to the front part of the brim. But, as the pains were expulsive, and as the sacral promontory was very perceptible on an ordinary examination, it was supposed that delivery could not be accomplished, unless the size of the head were diminished. The result of former labours was also taken into account. With this impression, Mr. Chavasse requested my assistance; but circumstances prevented us from meeting until half-past 9, p. m. We then found that the pains had entirely ceased about an hour and a half previously, the presentation had receded beyond reach, and the child was plainly to be felt in the abdomen. I passed my hand into the vagina, and the ends of the fingers into the uterus, as high as the fundus. The organ was well contracted, and the placenta was still attached to its anterior surface. The funis could be felt below the uterus, and it was evident that the laceration was in the vagina. Vomiting had come on, but not severely, and the fluid ejected was not dark coloured. The pulse was 130, and the presence of the child in the abdomen occasioned severe suffering. The slightest touch increased the distress, and any movement of the body occasioned intense pain. In answer to questions, she told me that she had felt the child move in the bowels; and it appeared, that this peculiar sensation corresponded with the time when the pains suddenly left her. On a very careful examination, the space between the pubis and the sacrum was thought to be three inches, a space more than sufficient for the delivery of a child still within the womb, and after perforating the cranium; but several embarrassing circumstances presented themselves. For instance, the risk of the laceration being enlarged, and of the intestines protruding (as in a case mentioned in my Essay); the difficulty of opening the base of the skull, through the lacerated part, the head being quite above the brim; the risk of the perforated bones bruising the soft parts; the difficulty of emptying the brain; and the probability of the contents escaping into the belly. The idea of leaving the patient to her fate, undelivered, could scarcely be entertained; and the less so on account of the extreme and increasing suffering which the presence of the child occasioned. These things being considered, considering also that the child's head and body lay close under the integuments, so as actually to distend them, we at once determined that the section of the abdominal parietes was the best measure that could be adopted; but before proceeding further, we requested the advice and co-operation of our experienced friends, Mr. Wickenden and Mr. Knowles. Concurring in the views previously entertained, that, under any circumstances, the simple abdominal section would be attended with the least danger, those gentlemen agreed that our proposal was the only one which ought to be entertained, and that no time should be This was at 12 o'clock, P.M., and we were about to perform the operation, when the exhaustion having suddenly become death-like, the pulse scarcely perceptible, the vomiting severe, and the perspiration excessive, we determined that the situation of the patient would not warrant us in proceeding, and submitted to her the change in our opinion; presently, however, an improvement took place, sufficient, as we thought, to justify us in proceeding. The section was accordingly made, and the delivery of the child accomplished, by Mr. Chavasse, very quickly and simply. An incision of five inches, on the left of the linea alba, was made over the child's body, and a large gush (at least a quart) of dark but thin effused blood took place, though scarcely any blood issued from the divided integuments - certainly not more than a tablespoonful. The intestines were easily restrained, and, on withdrawing the child and extending the funis, the placenta immediately followed. The wound was sown up and dressed; the pulse acquired firmness, and became less frequent; and we left the patient without despairing of her recovery, and she was certainly better than previously to the operation. She remained in a comparatively satisfactory state for two days, when an unfavourable change took place, and she died, apparently from mere exhaustion.

Examination, P.M. — The body was generally well formed; but the lumbar part of the spine was bent unusually inwards and forward, so as to leave a space of 6 inches between this part of the trunk and the board on which the body lay. In height the individual measured 4 feet 8\frac{3}{4} inches. The wound was quite air tight, its sides being nearly in apposition, and a layer of lymph lay under its inner surface. Excepting this portion of lymph, which was evidently the result of a salutary process of nature to

close the wound, the peritoneal sac did not present any appearance of lymph or other effusion; the whole of the effused blood having escaped partly at the time of the operation, and partly through the vagina. The intestines were inflated, but in no respect agglutinated; neither was the peritoneum at all inflamed, but, on the contrary, presented a pale appearance. The uterus was perfectly healthy, and well contracted. The lips were unusually large, being 12 inches in length and 2 in breadth. The vagina was extensively lacerated on its anterior surface, and disunited from the uterus. It presented a ragged appearance, and the laceration measured 41 inches. The bladder was natural; the sacrum projected greatly; the pubis was narrow, the crista being sharp, indeed quite acuminated in the centre. Including the soft parts the measure of the brim, taken by compasses and a scale of inches in the conjugate diameter, was 3 inches and 16; in the lateral diameter only 31. It was measured in both directions several times with the greatest exactness. Thus the pelvis possessed almost a circular figure, and had the characters of the male pelvis. The long diameter was from pubis to sacrum, and presented almost a circular, instead of an oval figure. The child was very large, and could not, I think, have weighed less than ten pounds. There was a great degree of overlapping of the bones of the head, and consequent obliteration of the sutures and fontanelles. Notwithstanding this, the small diameter exceeded 4 inches, and the diameter from chin to occiput was 91; the circumference of the head being nearly 14 inches.

Remarks. - With a view of rightly determining the principle of the abdominal incision, I have consulted a great variety of authors, many of whom are altogether silent on the subject. Hamilton, Campbell, and Dewees, are decidedly favourable to it, and so are most of the French; and more especially Capuron and Murat. Burns sanctions the operation, if done early, when the child is yet alive, and before the abdominal viscera have been much irritated; though even under contrary circumstances he seems inclined to the incision, as being less dangerous than delivery by the rent, if it be much contracted. Blundell thinks the question of operation (provided the patient heartily assents to it), a matter for sober consideration. Denman, as you already know, objects to the operation in the living subject. Dr. Ramsbotham would only perform the operation under a combination of favourable circumstances, such as, unfortunately, is rather to be desired than expected. He would not sanction the incision if the vital energies were much depressed; if half an hour had elapsed; or if the fætal movement had ceased. Dr. Collins, under the idea that the os uteri will be sufficiently dilated, seems to think that the incision should be limited to cases of rupture from external injury; but the difficulty in delivering will not be owing to the state of the uterine orifice, but to the contracted state of the rent. Collectively considered, the opinions here quoted are in favour of the operation

whenever delivery per vias naturales cannot be accomplished; or not, at least, without great violence. Having now laid the foregoing details before you, the main question for decision seems to be this:—Is the risk of dividing the peritoneum equal to the risk of allowing the child and the secundines, together with a mass of blood, to remain in the abdomen? The section of the abdominal parietes is not only attended with little comparative suffering, but produces marked and speedy relief. The prospect of inflammation ensuing, and implicating the membrane generally, is the only serious objection which can be urged aganst it. It is my impression, however, that an unfavourable result is to be attributed rather to the laceration itself, than to the simple incision—the objections to delivery (as Douglas observes) arising principally from

the extreme danger of the original complaint.

In a case reported by Dr. Malins,* gastrotomy was undertaken when all hope was gone, and yet the patient lived till the fifth day. Gastrotomy seems to be justifiable in lacerations which occur prior to the accession of labour, the os uteri being closed; or when the parts around the laceration are too much contracted to permit delivery through the natural passages; and, also, when the pelvis is so deformed as to defeat any attempt which can be safely made. I say safely, for in Savage's case, related by Douglas, the body of the child was brought through the ruptured cervix, "but the head sticking at the upper aperture of the pelvis, whilst they were striving to bring it away, the patient expired." Again; the risk of enlarging the laceration, and of the intestines becoming engaged within its sides, must not be overlooked. In the only successful case of laceration which occurred in Dr. Hamilton's practice, the child was withdrawn through the rent in the womb; but he adds, that during the process of extraction the increase of the rent was clearly ascertained.† It is a much less complex affair to deliver through a rent in the vagina than through a rent in the womb: but wherever the rent may be, unless there be a fair space, exceeding three inches at the brim of the pelvis, it will be almost impossible to deliver. without certain destruction to the patient. By neglecting to deliver, the patient will be exposed to extreme pain, to internal hemorrhage, and to fatal collapse; and supposing these evils to be averted, inflammation must necessarily ensue. The hope of an outlet forming, and the fætus being discharged by an ulcerative process, is forlorn indeed, and the best informed men in the profession decidedly countenance the practice of delivery, in preference to relying exclusively upon the resources of nature.

In the case just detailed we have a very interesting fact for our contemplation, viz., the rallying of the general system immediately on the removal of the extraneous substances from the abdominal cavity. No judicious practitioner would recommend the operation

^{* &}quot; Liverpool Med. Gazette."

of gastrotomy whilst the patient lay in a state of decided collapse; but, whilst we deprecate temerity, we must recollect that a complete rallying may be impracticable so long as the child continues in the abdomen, the effusion increasing in amount, and producing the exhaustion. Assuming this to be the case, it is evident we may wait under a false expectation, and lose the time for operating. I have already told you that the operation was undertaken when the patient had somewhat recovered from a state of collapse; and, also, that immediately after delivery the improvement was so very marked as to lead us to think the collapse was owing, not so much to the laceration itself as to the presence of the extraneous bodies in the abdomen. As soon, then, as the system is moderately recruited the operation should be resorted to. If the Cæsarean operation be ever justifiable, surely the mere abdominal section is still more so. In Protestant countries, like our own, we derive our justification for operating from considerations chiefly affecting the mother. The hope of saving the child in any case will be, indeed, very distant. The placenta soon becomes more or less detached with the extinction of fætal life. In the French and German journals a number of cases are recorded of the mother's recovery after the operation of gastrotomy; but I have found only two where the child's life was preserved.* The length of time an infant may survive after the mother's death, is by no means well ascertained. It must depend, in a great measure, upon the circumstances of the mother's death. What reliance is to be placed on the births recorded by Harvey and others, which are said to have followed the death of the mother, I cannot pretend to say. Two very important cases have, however, occurred in our own day. The first, in the practice of Mr. Green, at St. Thomas's Hospital; the second, is related by Mr. Dawson, of Newcastle-on-Tyne. In Mr. Green's case, the child was removed in thirteen minutes from the last respiration of the mother. Dr. Blundell began the artificial respiration. During 15 minutes he continued it so as ultimately to resuscitate the child completely; and had due care been taken it would, he tells us, probably have been still living.† In Mr. Dawson's case, the fœtus was found alive in 15 minutes after the death of the mother.

The heart beat, but all attempts at resuscitation failed.‡ In conclusion, Gentlemen, I have only to express my earnest hope that you will give these important subjects the consideration they merit. Cultivate habits of industry, think patiently, store facts in your mind, and compare one fact with another. In this way you will qualify yourselves for the onerous duties of practice.

^{*} For the full particulars of one of these cases, see "Edin. Journ. of Med. Sciences," vol. i. p. 168.

[†] The Lancet for Dec. 15th, 1827, No. 224, p. 425. † The Lancet for Sept. 30th, 1837.

LECTURE III.

POLYPUS OF THE WOMB.

History of the case; post mortem appearances; hemorrhage as a symptom; appearances of the tumour; successful employment of the ligature.

Gentlemen: — I propose, this evening, to submit for your inspection a most interresting specimen of disease of the uterus, and to make you acquainted with the history of the case, adding such

practical remarks as it has suggested to me.

Mrs. —, aged 48, had been married 16 years, but had never been pregnant. She had suffered much during the last two years from frequent and painful micturition, pain in the back, pain in the right groin (the seat of which could be covered with the finger), irregular discharges from the uterus, a sense of prolapsus, and obstinate constipation. For the last six months there had been a continued discharge of an acrid, watery fluid, more or less tinged with blood, and she became greatly emaciated. These symptoms were followed by an hemorrhage, which very nearly proved fatal, and I was then desired to see her. On examination I detected a small tumour in the right groin, apparently connected with the uterus. The vagina was very much shortened, and the os uteri widely dilated; a tumour of an irregular character had passed into the vagina: anteriorly and latterly it had descended nearly two inches below the uterine orifice, occupying it at every point, excepting its posterior surface. In that direction I could pass my finger an inch within the neck. The protruded part was so intimately connected with the os uteri as to resemble a diseased and elongated state of the anterior lip, but a lip could be traced from the extreme edge of the posterior lip over the protrusion two inches above its lowest point. On separating the labia pudendi, the tumour presented a blue appearance, and was, apparently, covered by mucous membrane; it felt very firm when examined with the finger, and I determined to apply a ligature over it. A great change, however, most unexpectedly took place two or three days after my visit; the discharge became very fætid, which was evidently the result of sloughing; portions of the tumour came away in a soft, white, and decomposed state, and I withdrew a large mass with the finger. Under these circumstances the idea of applying the ligature was at once abandoned, and peritonitis having come on, life terminated within a few hours.

EXAMINATION, P. M.

The peritoneum evinced marks of extensive inflammation; whey-coloured serum was largely effused, and soft coagulable lymph was deposited over the intestines generally. The fundus of

the uterus was situated midway between the umbilicus and the pelvic brim. On exposing the cavity on the posterior surface, the connections of the tumour were found to correspond with the opinion formed during life. I request you will examine the spe-

cimen accurately.

The tumour, as you may perceive, is attached to the front and sides of the uterine orifice; posteriorly, it is connected with the cervix only; the tumour, in common with the lining membrane, presents a highly sloughy appearance, and a considerable quantity of decomposed matter separated during the examination. Previously to the commencing of the sloughing, the size of the tumour must have been as large as an infant's head. Both ovaria are in a diseased state; the left is converted into a simple cyst, containing about half-a-pint of transparent coffee-coloured fluid; the right ovary is about the same size, moderately solid, and contains a pultaceous substance of the consistence of brain.

OBSERVATIONS.

We have here a tumour of the polypoid kind connected with the neck and three-fourths of the mouth of the womb by a most extensive basis. Antecedent to the commencement of the sloughing process the tumour possessed a very firm consistence, and had it been smaller I should have supposed it to have originated in the glandular structure of the cervix, its locality and the peculiarity of the discharges being such as would have led me to that opinion, Viewing it as a polypus, the absence of material hemorrhage until shortly before death is somewhat singular. The early history of the tumour, as already observed, was marked by irregular discharges, but during the last six months there was a constant discharge of serum tinged with blood. The tumour has no resemblance to the glandular structure; indeed, glandular disease of the cervix uteri never acquires half the size of the tumour before you. The symptoms were complicated by the ovarian disease, but this had little or no effect over the hemorrhage.

It may be asked, what occasioned the hemorrhage which so immediately preceded the fetor? It may be ascribed to the commencing of the sloughing process; at least the presumption in favour of that opinion is very strong. On the occasion of my seeing the patient, she was reduced almost to the last extremity of weakness; indeed, at the time I made the first examination, the safety of removing a large coagulum which lay in the vagina was very questionable, and the partial removal of it had the effect of reproducing the discharge to such a degree, that I desisted without satisfactorily accomplishing my purpose; even had the means for applying the ligature been at hand (which was not the case), the attempt would not have been made, for the hemorrhage would have been thereby renewed, and immediate death might have been anticipated; life was nearly extinguished under the hemorrhage of

the preceding day, and the recovery from the collapse was still imperfect. As there was no hemorrhage after the second attack, it is a matter of congratulation that the ligature was not applied; the operation would have been undeservedly brought into disre-There appears to be an important connection between the sloughing and the depressed state of the vital powers. This is not the first instance I have met with of a similar tumour taking on a sloughing process under a similar state of constitution, and such a change would seem perfectly natural in a tumour freely organised, and in a patient ex-sanguine and emaciated. I feel doubtful whether or not the tumour was underneath the mucous membrane just before the commencement of the sloughing; for the hemorrhage, recollect, was immediately followed by fetor, and the blue appearance of the tumour soon gave way to the changes of colour denoting its loss of vitality. Considering the size of the tumour, and considering the protracted watery discharges, it would seem highly probable that the mucous membrane must have been absorbed many weeks before death. But, on the other hand, the opinion that the mucous membrane in the course of absorption was the immediate cause of the sloughing, seems borne out by a close examination of the specimen. You will perceive that the tumour has lost much of its substance, and presents an irregular surface that the whole of the mass is in a softened condition—that the process of sloughing has extended from the tumour itself to the mucous membrane of the uterus (the proper structure of the organ being healthy) — and that a small portion of the tumour seems to be still covered with membrane. It is also worthy of notice, that the edges of the greatly-dilated os uteri were perfectly healthy, as well as the coverings of the vagina itself. The result of the decomposition of the tumour was very soon manifested upon the serous membrane, and a fatal form of peritonitis came on in a few days after the commencement of the sloughing. It is not, however, the serous membrane only which is liable to suffer from decomposed animal matter; the mucous surfaces and the lining membrane of the veins and arteries may equally take on inflammatory action. I have seen several such instances. In two of them the veins of the lower extremities were inflamed, constituting phlegmasia dolens; one patient ultimately recovered, the other died; in a third, the mucous membrane throughout the intestinal canal inflamed. and the mouth became aphthous. After a long illness the patient died just when the uterus had nearly recovered its natural healthy appearance. The effect of the sloughing process will be regulated partly by the size and situation of the decomposing body, but mainly by the general state of the system; the discharges cannot, of course, be entirely prevented from accumulating in the womb, and their absorption is an inevitable consequence, the womb being, in all large tumours, much dilated, and the vessels greatly enlarged It is an admitted fact, that the absorption of contaminated substances is generally in proportion to the existing depression of the vital powers: thus, fever and phlebitis, arising from the absorption of decomposed placental structures, will prove infinitely more dangerous in persons debilitated from a previous uterine hemor-

rhage, than in persons of unimpaired constitution.

The case which I have this evening brought before you, is interesting to every practitioner of medicine; we learn this important truth, that by delaying the application of the ligature, we not only incur great losses of blood, but a defective nutrition of the system generally, which may extend (as in the instance in question) to the polypoid structures, and prove mortal. The case affords us another proof that an enfeebled state of constitution is no safeguard against acute inflammation. When the sloughing process is established, our object should be to sustain the vital energies, to disinfect the discharges, and to prevent them from accumulating in the uterus and vagina. We accomplish the former by means of a nutritious diet, and medicines of a stimulating kind (notwithstanding the existence of inflammation), the latter by disinfecting and

stimulating applications.

Having laid before you the melancholy details of this case, let me now allude to the application of the ligature in a somewhat similar case of non-pediculated tumour of the womb, apparently of a desperate nature. A large tumour, of a fibrous structure, occupied the vagina so closely as to make it very doubtful whether the ligature could be applied. It was impracticable to feel any stem; the patient had sustained great discharges of blood, and for some time the stomach had ceased to retain food, and the cellular tissue was loaded with serous effusion. At the time of the operation she was losing blood very copiously; the pulse was excessively feeble, and a small quantity of brandy was immediately rejected. After much delay and difficulty I contrived to get the ligature beyond the greatest circumference of the tumour, and it is a remarkable fact that, on tightening it, the vomiting ceased immediately, and never returned, notwithstanding the patient had been harassed by it for some weeks previously. The increased supply of blood to the brain at once tranquillised the stomach; the fibrous tumour (without a stem) came away within the week, and the patient was rapidly restored to health. Reflect upon this case, and never abandon hope, under similar circumstances, but with the extinction of life.

LECTURE IV.

CHOREA DURING PREGNANCY.

General remarks on chorea; causes of chorea; history of cases; treatment.

Gentlemen: — Your attention has been directed to the disease termed chorea, by a case which has just occurred in a delicate-looking girl, and been cured by a remedy commonly resorted to,

the carbonate of iron. Although this case, in itself, presents nothing materially interesting, I am induced to bring the subject before you, in connection with pregnancy and points of real prac-

tical importance.

Chorea arising during pregnancy is of unfrequent occurrence. The disease is one of the excito-motory system, the irregular muscular contractions being, for the most part, involuntary. When, however, these contractions are altogether independent of the will (as in a very interesting case I shall presently describe), the term chorea is not strictly correct. The term convulsions (epileptic), applied to this disease in an advanced state of pregnancy, is decidedly inappropriate, on account of the senses being unimpaired, even up to the moment of death. Increased sensibility of the nervous system in pregnant women may show itself in a variety of ways, morally as well as physically; and very severe affections of the nervous system, developed during pregnancy, may frequently be traced to congenital predisposition. In an excitable habit, chorea may be produced by anything which deranges the functions of the brain or spinal marrow. Uterine irritation, for instance, independently of pregnancy, has been known to produce Mr. Bedingfield, in his "Compendium," mentions a case which originated in deranged menstruation. Dr. Bright relates a fatal case in a young woman, eighteen years old, where the uterus and ovaria were more or less changed in structure;* and the case is mentioned elsewhere, in which the uterus was actually inflamed.† For the most part, however, the disease is of a purely nervous character, and is unattended by any appreciable change of structure. Hence the difficulty of tracing the disturbed nervous actions to any defined part of the nervous centre.

The many experiments which have been made on animals, relative to deranged nervous actions, have led to no practical result. According to Magendie, it is supposed that the seat of the will is more particularly in the hemispheres of the brain, while the direct cause of motion is in the spinal marrow. The experiments of M. Serres go to prove, that injuries in the portion of the brain termed tubercula quadrigemina, is followed by motions resembling chorea, and from this, and the result of four cases of chorea, where more or less disease was found in that part of the brain, he seems to adduce a theory relative to the cause of this affection. ‡ The disease, simple as it usually is, may be sufficiently severe to destroy life, especially when complicated with advanced pregnancy; and I will now give you the details of a particularly instructive case, premising a very brief allusion to several others. The first of these occurred in a very excitable habit. The lady was attacked with chorea when in the sixth or seventh month of her first pregnancy, having suffered from the disease during her childhood.

^{* &}quot;Guy's Hospital Reports," No. 6, p. 190.

Previously to the completion of the term of pregnancy she recovered, under the use of carbonate of iron and gentle aperients. next case occurred in a pale, delicate woman, of the nervous temperament. Severe vomiting, obstinate constipation, and headache, supervened almost immediately on conception; but the spasmodic contractions did not appear until the fourth month. The stomach was then very much relieved, but the front of the head became hot and painful. The muscles of the right side of the neck and right upper extremity were severely affected; at one time they were in a state of rigidity, at another the head was drawn to one side, and the chin towards the shoulder. The attack occurred almost daily, and usually lasted about twenty minutes; and the slightest excitement or mental emotion would produce it. Purgatives gave great relief, but the convulsions continued occasionally for some time after delivery. In the first of the fatal cases, the disease supervened upon marriage, and pregnancy was the pre sumed cause. The patient died immediately after admission into the infirmary. In the second fatal case, pregnancy was not even suspected, but, on examination, P. M., an ovum, corresponding with the third or fourth month, was found in the uterus. In the third, ulceration was discovered in the intestines. In the fourth (which was a severe and protracted case), the patient died during a paroxysm, and nothing was discovered, besides great turgidity of the brain, an appearance which is common to all severe convulsions, and is an effect of the disease.

The fifth case demands your particular attention. The subject of it was a very stout woman, of short stature, and healthy appear-She was bled in the arm six weeks previously to the seizure, on account of headache. The attack commenced on the 11th day of the month, with an involuntary action of the muscles of the face, strictly resembling chorea, and extending to the left arm. In this state she was seen by an eminent practitioner, by whom she was again bled; and the blood did not present an unhealthy appearance. The following four days there was a gradual extension of the involuntary movements to the muscular system generally, attended with a marked rapidity of pulse. Leeches were applied to the head, and other means were judiciously enforced. In the evening of the fifth day from the seizure, the symptoms assumed a more aggravated character; and as it was supposed that the period of gestation would terminate on the 24th instant, the propriety of rupturing the membranes was suggested, in the event of relief not being otherwise procured. An opiate was administered, but the stomach rejected it. The pulse was 90, and soft; and the pupils permanently contracted. In a few hours she was awakened from sleep (being about two o'clock, A. M.) with an excruciating pain in the abdomen and back, which came on at intervals, and was supposed to be the pains of labour. The practitioner by whom she was attended and myself reached the patient in two hours. pulse was exceedingly frequent and rather weak; the speech rapid,

tumultuous, loud, and unceasing; the spasms were universal, affecting every part of the body, and so violent that it required a number of persons to steady her while I was making a vaginal examination. During this time she was perfectly sensible, but greatly agitated both in mind and body. The vagina was excessively relaxed, easily admitting my hand. The os internum was also relaxed, and allowed two fingers to enter without difficulty. As the head of the child presented, and as the membranes became rather tense, I ruptured the bag, and promptly withdrew my hand. The parturient action kept increasing, and within an hour and a half a dead child was expelled, and was directly followed by the placenta. The delivery was altogether easy, but the discharge was very trifling, owing, I suppose, to the spasmodic state of the muscular system. Delivery produced no sensible relief, and the agitations continued with its former violence. In half an hour the opiate was repeated, but without any good effect; for although it produced sleep for about 15 minutes, she awoke more agitated than before - a circumstance which was observed on several occasions, the disease having apparently gained strength by the temporary repose. During the day the muscular agitations were evidently on the increase, and six or seven persons were necessary to prevent the patient from being thrown out of bed. She, however, gradually became exhausted, and died at two, A. M., the following morning. She had been conscious of the movements of the infant only a few hours previously to delivery, but on rupturing the membranes I could not detect any movement whatever, and as for stethoscopic examination, the bodily agitation would have rendered that mode of proceeding altogether nugatory.

Examination, P. M. - Although the examination was made nearly 60 hours after death there was not the least apparent decomposition. On opening the head, the dura mater presented no abnormal appearance. A considerable quantity of clear serum was found effused between the arachnoid and pia mater, over the whole surface of the brain, escaping freely when the smallest puncture was made. The vessels of the pia mater were not particularly congested, nor was there any appearance of effusion of lymph either on the surface, or at the base of the brain. The substance of the hemispheres was firm, the cortical part was rather dark-coloured, and the sections were followed by more bloody points than usual. Upon raising the corpus callosum, its inferior portion, together with the septum lucidum and fornix was found considerably softened, and the latter was quite pulpy, especially at its posterior part. There was not any vascularity of the choroid plexus, or of the lining of the ventricles, and not more than a teaspoonful of fluid in each ventricle. The medulla oblongata and cerebellum were of a softer consistence, though not in an actual state of ramolissement. The base of the brain was natural. The spinal cord was removed to about the fourth cervical vertebra; but it

presented no appearance of inflammation or disease.

Remarks. - In this very singular and afflicting case we have much that is interesting for contemplation. Presenting the symptoms of simple chorea, and not preceded by any premonitory indications of mischief, excepting headache, - commencing in the muscles supplied by the five pairs of nerves, and subsequently exciting contractions of the womb, the morbid actions continued increasing in severity, even up to the extinction of life. The singularity of this case consists in the mental phenomena being unimpaired: for although there was a degree of irritability of temper, foreign to our patient's nature, she was perfectly conscious of circumstances both past and present. Not only did she ask me, as distinctly as the tumult of speech would allow, to apply the bandage, reminding me how I applied it on a former occasion, but she also suggested the propriety of restraining the bodily agitations by a strait-waistcoat. The disease was evidently confined to the nervous and muscular systems; and had not the pulse been exceedingly frequent we should scarcely have regarded the symptoms as immediately dangerous. The morbid actions were nether epileptic nor tetanic, though more like the former than the latter, but differing essentially from both. It seems probable that the softening of the nervous matter had been for some time in progress. But how is this change to be explained? Could it have taken place subsequently to death? We are ignorant of its essential character, and of the circumstances which produced the change during life. Much, therefore, is left to conjecture. It can scarcely be regarded as an inflammatory process, for it wants its principal features. In other parts of the body softening occurs from defective nutrition; in the present instance it seems highly probable that the change might be a consequence of the pregnancy, and not necessarily a fatal change. The serous effusion, so far from being a cause, must be regarded as an effect of convulsions - of the mere impetus of the circulation; or why should its quantity be so comparatively small, and so invariably situated between the membranes, without extending to the ventricles?*

Whether the symptoms, in this particular instance, originated in simple irritation, as it is termed, or softening of a part of the nervous centre, I do not pretend to say, nor am I aware that the point is of practical importance. The evacuation of the uterus is not essential to the mitigation of the symptoms; indeed I am not certain whether the parturient action would not at the moment have the effect of increasing the mischief. Should there be nothing specially to contraindicate the exhibition of iron, I should certainly resort to it, not withstanding the existence of pregnancy. The treatment by cold affusion and purgatives would also seem to be highly appro-

^{*} A month ago I examined the body of a child two years old, who was seized, when in apparent health, with strong convulsions, and in twelve hours the child died. The only appearance was a very trifling quantity of water between the pia mater and arachnoid membrane.

priate, and local depletion should be employed merely with a view of relieving the congestion which convulsions always occasion. Violent spasm, attended with high vascular action, may be allayed by tartarized antimony. In a case of very severe spasm of the muscular system in general, which immediately followed delivery, the effect of a large dose of this medicine was both as quick and as effective as could be desired.

LECTURE V.

PLACENTAR PRESENTATION.

Clinical history of the case; observations illustrative of the opinions delivered; origin of the hemorrhage in this species of presentation; necessity of immediate delivery; dangers attending placentar presentations; rules for the conduct of the practitioner.

Gentlemen:— The specimen now exhibited to you is the uterus at the full term of pregnancy, having, as you plainly see, the placentar attached to the body, neck, and mouth of the organ. You already know, that in all such cases artificial delivery is essential, in order to preserve the life of either parent or child. The natural powers have certainly, in very rare instances, been equal to the delivery of the placentar first, and then the child; and such may occur once, perhaps, in fifty or sixty cases. This is, however, never to be expected, and, fortunately, the resources of art, when timely interposed, are equal to the emergency. I am acquainted with three or four such occurrences, but I have only seen two, one of which I will presently tell you something about. The case which is connected with the specimen before you may be related in a few words.

The patient had several attacks of hemorrhage during the last few weeks of her pregnancy; but, I believe, with the exception of the last attack, the hemorrhage was not particularly severe, and yet there must have been a material draining going on, for cedematous swellings had appeared; the last attack of flooding terminated her existence. Her medical attendant, finding the exhaustion death-like, feared to deliver at the instant, and sent to request my attendance. I was at home, and lost no time, but ere I reached the patient life had ceased. Prompted by feelings of curiosity I passed my finger to the uterine orifice, and it was so little open as barely to permit two fingers to enter. The attachment of the placentar, around the orifice of the womb, is too obvious to require describing. Such, in brief terms, is the history of this melancholy case; and what inferences can we deduce from its consideration? We learn this important fact, that a hemorrhage may go on to the

destruction of life, whilst the os uteri is almost closed. The coincidence may be an unfrequent one, but the states are perfectly compatible with each other. An important question now arises, viz., did the uterine orifice possess dilatability? for in cases of placentar presentation we never wait for dilatation, providing the part be moderately yielding. Whether the orifice would have yielded to the artificial dilatation, is a point I cannot absolutely declare; for even after death it was by no means lax, and yet I have scarcely any doubt that had the attempt been properly made, the hand could have entered. But supposing the uterine orifice to have been too rigid to have yielded to the hand, could the plug have been safely employed whilst waiting for the desired relaxation? The risk of blood accumulating internally in large quantities, constitutes the only objection which can attend its employment. It will rarely, indeed, be found necessary to use the plug under the circumstances here mentioned, for loss of blood rarely fails to produce a sufficient degree of relaxation for the purposes of a timely artificial delivery. But an exception may unquestionably arise, and justify the practice, provided that the practitioner remains with the patient whilst the plug is employed. Dr. Merriman found blood collected in the womb as early as the fourth month of pregnancy, and the following case quite confirms the statement : -

A woman who had reached the close of pregnancy was seized with hemorrhage, and a variety of remedies were resorted to, but without any good effect. At the end of a few hours (I believe under twenty-four) pains came on, and the child immediately descended to the outlet. Her strength continued sinking, and she died just as the child was on the point of being expelled. hour or two after the woman's decease, the particulars of the case were communicated to me by her medical attendant, and the following morning I attended the examination of the body. On dividing the abdominal coverings, the uterus came to view, and had a singular and beautiful appearance, one-half of it being injected, and presenting through its peritoneal coat a deep purple hue, while, with the exception of its head, the infant remained within the cavity of the uterus. On the infant being withdrawn, it was found that the placentar had been attached immediately over the uterine orifice, but was severed in twain, three-fourths of the mass being still attached to the front part of the womb, and one-fourth to the back part, and through the opening thus formed the child had been forced by the expiring efforts of nature. The aperture was of course made by the child's head, and the forcible passage had not only the effect of tearing some of the placentar from the side of the womb, but also caused a slight rent which extended beyond the lining membrane, so that blood became largely infiltrated throughout the half of the mass. A quantity of blood had also collected in the interior of the organ, and it is singular to reflect upon the powerful efforts which the uterus made to expel its contents under the greatest degree of bodily exhaustion.

It has been supposed that the plug might be made to press directly upon the bleeding vessels; but whence flows the blood? Dr. Hamilton says, mainly from the placentar itself. Certain facts, however, of recent occurrence, which I will just allude to, induce me to think otherwise. A lady three months pregnant was seized with hemorrhage, which nothing arrested for any length of time, and at the sixth month a consultation was held, and it was strongly recommended to her to permit premature labour to be brought on. Religious scruples, however, overcame her feelings of personal safety, and she positively declined to submit. In a fortnight afterwards the membranes gave way, followed by numerous pieces of the placentar (nearly half of the mass), of a brown colour, and in a sodden state. On the expulsion of the remainder of the placentar, its appearance showed that very little blood could have circulated in its vessels for some time previously, and yet the discharges of florid blood continued from first to last. The membranes were decayed and black-coloured. To take another instance: I was called in haste to a placentar presentation (the case I promised to mention to you), and I found that the pains had been sufficiently expulsive to force the placentar almost through the os externum, the child being in the womb. Finding the placentar very inconveniently situated, the practitioner in attendance had cut the greatest part of the mass away, leaving the remainder adhering. There was no hemorrhage from the cut surface, and he passed his hand, delivered the child, and then brought away the piece of placentar, together with the membranes. The child was still-born; for the division of the placentar would speedily have the effect of terminating its life. There is one other point which remains to be considered.

In giving the brief history of the case on which I have founded these brief remarks, I told you that the practitioner found his patient so greatly exhausted, that he did not think it prudent to attempt the delivery; was this right or not? Let us meet the question fairly. I am unable to tell you whether or not the hemorrhage had ceased, when the practitioner reached the patient's bed-side; if it had not ceased, his duty was clearly marked out he should have attempted the delivery without a moment's delay; but supposing the hemorrhage to have entirely ceased, and that the patient presented a moribund appearance, the rule of practice is less clearly defined, and everything must be left to individual judgment. This is a question on which I feel somewhat strongly. In my work on hemorrhage I have contemplated the state here considered, viz., placentar presentation, attended with hemorrhage, and sufficient relaxation of the orifice for the purposes of delivery, the hemorrhage having at the moment ceased, and the skin being cold, the pulse fluttering, and the patient altogether so death-like as to justify an apprehension of her inability to bear the bodily disturbance attending artificial delivery. In the work in question, I spoke of the plug, as calculated to give a check to the draining, until the system might be sufficiently recruited to sustain the

delivery. Since that work was published, I have been called to a great number of cases of placentar presentation, and in two instances only was the result unfavourable. The particulars of the first of these you are now acquainted with, and the second case has a direct bearing upon the question of delivery in an exhausted body. I will give you the principal facts of it. My friend and colleague, Mr. Knowles, on accidentally passing the house of a woman to whose accouchement he was in hourly expectation of being called, saw his patient standing at her own door; she told him that on one of the previous days she had experienced a slight show, but that the stain on the linen was trivial, not exceeding the size of a sixpence; she observed, that as such a circumstance had never preceded her former labours, she was induced to mention it. This conversation took place on the Saturday. At two o'clock on the Sunday morning no change had taken place, but at three o'clock the husband having been awakened by a feeling of dampness, found his wife asleep, and lying in a little lake of blood. Mr. Knowles was immediately sent for, and arrived at four o'clock; at that time there was no hemorrhage, but the exhaustion was death-like. A stimulant was administered, a napkin laid over the vulva, and a messenger was despatched for my assistance: I reached the house before six o'clock. There had been no return of hemorrhage. The napkin had no stain upon it, absolutely not a drop of blood had passed the vulva; but the death-like exhaustion continued, and I feared to sanction the delivery. The transfusion apparatus was sent for, but, owing to an unfortunate delay, it was ten o'clock before we could obtain it, and ere we had made the necessary preparation, the scene had nearly closed. Under such circumstances, the transfusion of blood would have only brought the operation into disrepute. She died almost immediately, I think before eleven o'clock. The vagina was filled with blood, and a firm substance like the placentar was felt at the os internum. The body was not examined, but I strongly suspect that blood was effused in the interior of the womb. Such cases must ever be attended with far greater danger than belongs to the ordinary class of cases, where the discharge recurs from time to time in gushings and drainings, and admits of the timely interposition of art.* I have given you these two important and unsuccessful cases, under the impression that they are infinitely more instructive than the whole mass of successful ones, which, I am thankful to say, I could have laid before you.

Should delivery in the last-mentioned case have been undertaken at all hazards? The question is a difficult one to answer, and I am fearful of misleading you, but I can tell you what would be my conduct if a similar case should present itself. I would not deliver

^{*} The only case resembling this which I have heard of, where the first attack of flooding proved fatal, is mentioned by Robert Lee: — "The life of the patient was at once extinguished by a single gush of blood from the uterus. I examined the body, and found only a small portion of the placentar lying detached over the os uteri." — Researches on Diseases of Women, p. 206.

at the first moment-I would wait a little, administer a stimulant, and afford the patient a chance of rallying from the syncope which so directly follows a sudden and severe loss of blood. Should there be no improvement, I should not think it safe to wait; I should suppose that a coagulum might be over the lower part of the womb, and confine an hemorrhage then in progress within it, and in a body already much exhausted a very slight return of bleeding might destroy life. I would administer brandy in conjunction with the tincture of ergot, and deliver as promptly as possible. The patient might sink, notwithstanding the delivery, but my conscience would not upbraid me, and I should at least possess the conviction of having acted according to the best judgment of a fallible man. With reference to the successful cases (many in number) I have but little to say, beyond stating the fact, that all these patients were delivered at the earliest moment, which is the grand secret of their recovery. It is difficult to select the proper moment for the delivery; precipitation is never allowable; but, under a state of doubt whether the time for delivery has arrived or not, it will be far safer to pass the hand into the vagina, and ascertain the real condition of the uterus, than to be content with a simple examination with the finger. It is an evil to make an unsuccessful attempt, as it will lead to a renewal of the hemorrhage; and yet you will be justified in making it, - not that any state can warrant the forcible introduction of the hand into the uterus, calculated as it is to produce very important injuries of the neck and mouth of the organ. If the resistance be great, the hand must be withdrawn; but you should wait in the house, and repeat the attempt, after a renewed hemorrhage may be supposed to have weakened the resistance. Some resistance is always to be desired, and by steady perseverance the hand will gain the uterine cavity. and the difficulty will then have been overcome. During the first two or three hours after every delivery of this character, you cannot be too circumspect in guarding against further loss of blood; at such a time a comparatively slight loss has been known to bring life into immediate danger.

LECTURE VI.

History of the case; post-mortem appearances; symptoms of ovarian dropsy; diagnostic characters; signs derived from percussion; rules respecting tapping; pressure of diseased ovarium on the rectum; remote effects of the disease; spontaneous rupture of the cysts; illustrative cases.

Gentlemen: — The subject of encysted dropsy of the reproductive system in women is an exceedingly interesting one; six specimens illustrative of this peculiar disease are now placed before you; the first consists of a collection of fluid in the fallopian tube;

the second is a small cyst attached by a narrow stalk to the broad ligament, and covered by peritoneum; it sometimes grows from the ovary itself, and is common to every period of life, even to infancy. Neither of these kinds of tumours ever, I believe, acquires a large size; the third is a malignant tumour, having a very modulated surface, and embracing many varieties of solid structure, in connection with compound cysts; the fourth, fifth, and sixth specimens represent the simple form of encysted ovarian dropsy, originating in one of the vesicles of De Graef, as is very clearly displayed in the fourth specimen; the fifth (taken from the same subject as the fourth) is an admirable illustration of ovarian dropsy in a more advanced stage; the sixth specimen, removed from the body some days ago, represents a case to which I now request your closest attention; the facts possess an unusual degree of interest, not only in a physiological, but in a practical point of view. I shall first state succinctly the history of the case, commenting on its most distinguishing features, and afterwards add a

few remarks on ovarian diseases in general.

Case. — The lady who formed the subject of this case was unmarried, and fifty years of age at the time of her death; and the commencement of her disease was marked by a tumour in the groin, which continued progressively increasing in size during a period of about twenty years. About three years ago she consulted three of the most eminent men both in London and the provinces, whose opinions, however, relative to the propriety of tapping, by no means agreed. I was called to see the patient about eight weeks ago; she was exceedingly weak, very sallow, and breathed with difficulty; the abdomen was excessively distended by a swelling which fluctuated distinctly above the umbilicus, but obscurely below it; and she was generally anasarcous: I recommended her not to be tapped, and, indeed, in a few days afterwards, the respiration became so very laborious as to threaten immediate death, and tapping was imperatively necessary. trocar was introduced in the usual place, and two gallons and a half of straw-coloured serous fluid were drawn away. It was remarked that the canula could not be made to pass beyond twothirds of its length, the obstruction being occasioned by a firm, resisting body. On withdrawing the canula, a large and apparently solid tumour could be felt in the abdomen, fluctuating at its superior part, but at that time nowhere else. It was our impression that the enlargement consisted of the ovary, partly in a solid state and partly encysted, and that we had emptied only one of the cysts.

Decided relief followed the removal of the fluid, but it was only of short duration; for in less than three weeks the abdomen became distended as before, the respiration was equally laborious, and the extreme exhaustion led us to think that a repetition of the tapping would not be productive of relief. We did not, therefore, recommend the measure, and she only survived a few days.

The body was examined fourteen hours after death. In the first place, the trocar was introduced below the umbilicus, and about two gallons of the same kind of fluid were drawn away as at the operation during life. The abdominal peritoneum adhered partially to the structures underneath it, namely, to a large cyst

above the umbilicus, and to the uterus below it.

It was evident that the trocar had not entered the cyst at all, but had merely penetrated the peritoneal cavity, where the serous fluid, which was drawn away, had been contained. The uterus was very greatly enlarged, but of healthy structure, and, together with its appendages, was widely spread out over the inferior part of the cyst, to which it adhered as closely as possible, and occupied the whole of the space from the brim of the pelvis to the umbilicus. The cyst possessed a simple structure; the upper two-thirds contained about fifteen quarts of a dark grumous kind of fluid, and the lower third was filled with a dark yellow matter of the consistence of cream cheese. The left overy was in a healthy state,

but there were no natural traces of the right.

Remarks. — In this case we have the complication of a greatly enlarged uterus adhering to a cyst, distended partly with a fluid, and partly with a solid substance, together with hydropic effusions, both in the peritoneal sac and the cellular tissue. These dropsical effusions arose, I presume, from the presence which the enlarged structures had, for a length of time, made over the great bloodvessels and absorbents. The case is instructive in several respects: it furnishes an additional evidence, that a simple cyst may remain many years in a distended state before life is brought into immediate danger. It is also an evidence of the impossibility of emptying the cyst of its solid contents by any operation during life. The removal of the fluid contents from the cyst could only have been accomplished by penetrating above the umbilicus. Indeed, had the trocar been introduced below the umbilious, the uterus itself must inevitably have been penetrated, and the result would almost certainly have been fatal. The precise nature of the solid part of the swelling could only be conjectured during life; but considering that a solid enlargement of the ovary is almost always connected with a cyst, it might reasonably have been regarded as a portion of the ovary itself - not a merely thickened state of the cyst, but a parabysma of the ovary — a malignant form of disease. The difficulty of forming an accurate diagnosis in a case of dropsy, combined with a solid tumour, is also exemplified in the case before us; and I am not aware of any mode of investigation by which the nature of a solid swelling, resembling the one in question, can, with certainty, be ascertained. In the ordinary class of cases, the diagnosis between ascites and ovarian dropsy is sufficiently distinct.

Independently of the history of the case, and of the distinctness of the fluctuation in ascites, the abdomen undergoes a very material subsidence when the body is supine. In the case of an ovarian

tumour, on the other hand, the abdomen is almost equally prominent, whatever be the position of the body, a remark which is equally applicable to a state of advanced pregnancy. The value of percussion in distinguishing sounds over the swelling, and over the parts around it, is inestimable. It has been said, on authority, that "a brisk pressure of the hand upon the abdomen easily removes the water, and strikes against the cyst, the resistance of which is always perceptible;" but, I think, I have already proved to you the impracticability of reaching the cyst, where there is an extreme tension of the abdominal parietes. The same difficulty may be found in distinguishing the gravid uterus when complicated with ascites, and even at the seventh month of pregnancy. Dr. Montgomery found it impracticable to feel the child by any mode of examination that could be adopted. If the lower part of the abdomen, in a case of dropsy, be occupied by a very solid body, the fluctuation being indistinct, and the gaseous sound being clear only at the sides of the swelling, we may fairly presume the disease to be ovarian; unquestionably, however, gas may be generated in the interior of the cyst. But assuming the fluctuation to be particularly distinct, and the sounds clear above the umbilicus, but very dull below it, what inference would you draw? I suppose you would say the disease was ascites, and the probabilities would greatly favour such an opinion. You will, however, recollect that the fluid in an encysted dropsy may be unusually thin, and the inferior part of the cyst almost, or altogether, in a solid state. Again, when the extent of the effusion is so great as to distend the abdominal parietes, the sound will be very dull, and the ovarium may be too high above the vagina to be reached by the finger. In a case of ovarian tumour, complicated with ascites, the interposed fluid is usually of small amount, and, if the patient be recumbent, will not obstruct the fingers from striking against the hard tumour which lies underneath it. But where the distension is extreme, nothing short of an inspection of the fluid, and of feeling the thickened cyst, on its being emptied, will remove the difficulty. Still, the signs already mentioned, afforded by percussion, may be generally depended upon. The mode in which the different sounds are produced have been ably described by M. Rostan, and I will quote his own words: -

"If (he remarks) we proceed from the inferior to the superior part of the abdomen, we shall, at first, have a flat sound, while, at the most prominent part — that is, about the umbilical or epigastric regions — we shall perceive a clear sound, like to that which we obtain on striking a bladder full of air. In encysted ovarian dropsy the reverse is the case — that is, the sound is clear at the inferior part, and dull at the superior. These differences are produced by the different relations which fluid effused into the peritoneum, and an ovarian cyst, have to the intestines. The dulness

^{*} Boivin and Duges' "Practical Treatise," p. 465.

which we find at the inferior part of the abdomen in ascites, is the result of the accumulation of the effused fluid, which gravitates to the most dependent part of the peritoneal cavity; and, while the collection of fluid augments there, the intestines become displaced, and it is important to know of this displacement, because it is that which accounts for the clear sound in the superior regions. In fact, this sound is the result of the less specific gravity of the gases contained in the intestinal cavity, in virtue of which the intestines are raised upwards, as the fluid on which they float accumulates below. The state of the parts in encysted ovarian dropsy, is not at all the same; for in ascites the fluid is freely spread out within the peritoneum, while, in the other case, it is shut up in a more or less resisting bag, which gradually increases in size by the accumulation of serous fluid in its interior, and, as it becomes displaced, presses on the intestines of the side opposite to that on which it developes itself, and at last ends by occupying a greater or smaller space in the abdomen. This case is very different from the first; here the intestine does not float in the accumulated fluid, as it is separated from it by a wall of membrane; and, therefore, instead of being raised upwards, it will be kept and pressed against the inferior part of the abdominal parietes; and thus, in this case, we find its dull sound high up, corresponding to the cyst, and its clear one low down, where the intestines are to be found distended with gas." *

Exceptions to this doctrine will, unquestionably, now and then arise, and I shall briefly mention a case to you in proof of the difficulty which may arise in distinguishing ascites from ovarian dropsy. I was requested to see a middle-aged, unmarried lady, in consequence of a doubt entertained by her medical attendants relative to the nature of her case: it was a matter of uncertainty whether she had ovarian dropsy, or simple ascites. The abdomen was greatly distended; the epigastrium fluctuated quite as distinctly as it usually does in ascites, but the hypogastrium was hard, and fluctuated obscurely. The patient died a few day afterwards, and the body was examined. An ovarian cyst was found occupying the abdomen generally; about the epigastrium the sac adhered closely to the peritoneum, but above the hypogastrium it was quite free from adhesions; the inferior part of the cyst contained a large quantity (from two to three pounds, I should conjecture) of a deposit of a pink colour, of the consistence of thick curd. The fluid contents of the cyst resemble an infusion of coffee, both in colour and specific gravity. The same kind of deposit occupied the inferior part of the cyst in this case, as in the one first mentioned to you, the only difference being in colour. At the first moment I regarded this substance as a separation from the blood, but I now consider it as a secretion from the interior of the cysts, which, on account of its greater specific gravity, sank to the bottom.

This deposit constituted an unhappy complication, for it rendered the diagnosis obscure, and, on account of its consistence, could not be removed by tapping. "It is in cases like these (as Rostan observes), that we feel the importance of not confining ourselves to one sign, but of accurately scrutinising every symptom that can

throw light on the diagnosis."

The important question of tapping is often attended with perplexity, even at the present day. Since Dr. Hunter's opinion was published,* that a patient labouring under ovarian dropsy will have the best chance of living longest who does the least to get rid of it (an opinion which has been re-echoed by Drs. Denman, Blundell, and the most eminent men in the profession), it has been generally admitted as a rule of practice, that tapping should always be deferred until the last moment which is compatible with the patient's safety. The main objections to tapping are, the consequent diminution of strength, the rapid reproduction of the fluid, and the possible inflammation of the interior of the cysts. The neglect of the operation may, however, be productive of serious evils. The distension, when extreme, has the effect of producing The compression has also the effect of fearfully severe pain. obstructing the functions of the abdominal and thoracic viscera.

Early tapping, though an exception to the general rule, may, indeed, be absolutely necessary. Two years ago I was called in consultation to the case of a recently married young woman, in whom ovarian dropsy had suddenly came on, and in a few weeks had made great progress: the chief symptoms were emaciation; great rapidity of pulse; hectic fever; increased bulk; with fluctuation, and great pain over the swelling. She was tapped within two or three months from the apparent origin of the disease, with the most decided benefit; she lost the pain, regained her appetite, and greatly improved in appearance; but after a few repetitions of tapping the symptoms returned, and she sank under the disorder. In old cases of ovarian disease embarrassment of breathing, which nothing short of the diminution of the tumour will relieve, is one of the most frequent symptoms. My esteemed friend, the late Dr. Darwell, published a paper in the "Midland Medical Reporter," to prove that no other symptom would justify tapping. I answered this paper, and adduced arguments for the operation. I said, that one of the most serious consequences of ovarian pressure was to be apprehended from the progressive interruption to the discharge of the alvine evacuations, until at length the obstruction be complete, the pressure not even allowing an injection to pass. I then mentioned two cases, in one of which the bowels were acted upon after the abstraction of the fluid contents of the ovarian cyst; in the other the operation was unavailing, and the obstruction proved fatal.†

[&]quot;Med. Obs. and Inquiries," vol. ii. p. 41.
See "Midland Med. and Surg. Reporter," No. 6, vol. 1, and No. 7, vol. 2.

Since the reply was published, an old pupil of my class sent me the preparation of an ovarian tumour, which is now before you, together with the history of the case. The pressure which this ovarian tumour made on the intestines had the effect of producing a fatal obstruction in the bowels; and during three months the sufferer passed only two alvine evacuations. At length the intestines ulcerated, the contents passed into the peritoneal cavity, and life was speedily terminated. As you may perceive, the fluid was contained in several compartments of the cyst, and, consequently, relief from the operation could only have been very partial. The

tumour was not, however, punctured during life.

Here, again, is a very similar specimen of disease, which, as already observed, was removed yesterday from the body of a woman whom I had an opportunity of seeing on two occasions a few weeks ago. At that time she had a protracted uterine hemorrhage, from fibrous enlargement; she had also a tumour in the hypogastrium, which then presented a feeling of solidity. appears that some weeks subsequently to my seeing her, effusion took place into the peritoneal sac, attended by an alarming form of vomiting and constipation, under which she died. On examination, P.M., the right ovarium, as large as an adult head, and containing fluid in numerous cysts, pressed so immediately on the colon, as mechanically to obstruct the discharges, and, consequently, prove the cause of death. The left ovary resembled a large-sized egg, and was apparently solid, but it contained about an ounce of serous fluid. The uterus is much enlarged, and purulent formation has taken place in the centre of a fibrous tumour attached to the fundus, and a small polypus is seen growing from the os uteri, and from the cavity also. As the ovary was not bound down by extensive adhesions, an obstruction so complete as was here could scarcely have taken place, had it not been for the pressure of the superincumbent serous fluid upon it, and the resistance made by the distended coverings of the abdomen.

In a case like this it is possible the cyst might be best opened through the walls of the rectum, if the bulging and fluctuation be felt in that direction. The tumour proved fatal simply by its mechanical pressure;* and, notwithstanding the coincident disease of the uterus, the character of the disease is not malignant, neither

as respects the uterus nor the ovary.

When the distension of the cyst is suffered to increase to the greatest extent of which it is capable, it inflames and ulcerates, pouring out its contents, sometimes through the abdominal parietes, but more frequently into the peritoneal cavity, or into the hollow viscera, so that the process may be either a salutary or an imminently dangerous one. Is a rupture of the cyst desirable? Is the risk equal to the chance of a cure, remote as it must always be?

^{*} Dr. Robert Lee mentions a case in which an ovarian cyst, having become firmly impacted in the pelvis, produced all the symptoms of stricture of the rectum.

The extent of my information on this subject is derived from the result of three remarkable cases which occurred within my own personal observation. I will give you the heads of each case.

First Case.—I was requested to see a poor woman, whose size had, for several years, rendered her an object of notice, and who was reported to have suddenly burst. I saw her within a few minutes after the change had taken place. The cyst had given way through the abdominal parietes; a little inundation occupied the chamber floor, and the fluid was passing rapidly through the ceiling into the kitchen. She perfectly recovered, and

was alive, I believe, some years afterwards.

Second Case. — The subject of this case was a middle-aged, married woman, who had never borne children. After having for two years suffered from embarrassed breathing and increasing bulk, accompanied by distinct fluctuation, varying however, in distinctness in different parts of the tumour, something appeared to give way in the abdomen, and she passed with her urine several gallons of a thick, albuminous fluid, mixed with shreds of coagulable lymph and hydatids. This returned at intervals during upwards of a year. The abdomen became nearly flat; she entirely recovered, and has

now remained quite well for five or six years.

The THIRD CASE occurred in a middle-aged, married woman, with a family. Four months previous to my seeing her she perceived a tumour in the hypogastrium, and in three months afterwards experienced pains of an expulsive character, which progressively augemented in severity, and, in consequence of the obscurity of the case, I was requested to see her. The vaginal entrance was occupied by a large globular elastic swelling, consisting evidently of the posterior wall of the vagina in a prolapsed state, and being the result of a long-continued violent straining. vagina seemed to terminate in a blind sac, but, after a careful examination, I detected a small, semicircular aperture, quite above and over the symphysis pubis, which I thought was the os internum; but I could barely touch it with the finger, and it was impracticable to introduce the hand within the vagina. On passing the finger into the rectum a large hard tumour was felt bulging through its walls. The abdomen was greatly and unevenly distended, its bulk being equal to that in an advanced state of pregnancy. Above the umbilicus, the tumefaction consisted chiefly of flatus; but below the umbilicus, its character was that of solidity, especially at the sides. I passed a catheter, but the bladder was empty. The fluctuation was obscure in every portion of the swelling, and especially at its inferior part. A very remarkable change occurred in the progress of this case a few days after I had been consulted, for on Friday, May 18th, vomiting took place, succeeded by a marked diminution in the size of the abdomen. The vomiting was at first fæcal, and excessively offensive, but it soon assumed a brown colour, and sometimes had a green hue. The vomiting continued with scarcely any intermission until the following Thursday evening, when it sensibly declined, recurring only about once

an hour. On the following day it ceased, and the abdomen was then almost flat. It is impossible to compute, with accuracy, the quantity brought up, but it was supposed to have reached eleven or twelve gallons. The quantity which escaped the last three days was measured by Dr. Nelson and myself, and amounted to twentyeight pints. She may be said to have passed the first few days in one continued act of vomiting. The tumour must have consisted of an ovarian cyst, complicated with a parabysma, the contents of the cyst bursting into the intestines, and being mixed with the gastric and intestinal secretions, was discharged by vomiting. She had no evacuation by the rectum whilst the vomiting continued; and she was supported for many days by means of strong animal broth mixed with the yolk of eggs. I examined this woman on the 11th day of November. She was then perfectly well in health, but the solid tumour below the umbilicus was as large as a child's head, and sometimes very painful. I could feel the os uteri very distinctly, and on either side of it I could distinguish the solid ovarium resting on the brim of the pelvis, though mainly on the left side of the abdomen, and extending from the brim of the pelvis to the umbilicus. Eleven months afterwards, during my absence from home, this woman had an illness which terminated fatally, but, unfortunately, there was no examination.

Before concluding, I shall say a few words relative to the removal of the enlarged ovary by operation. Of Mr. Lizars' cases I forbear to speak: but I have already apprised you of the success which has attended the extraction of the sac through the aperture made in the abdominal walls after its evacuation by tapping. render the operation practicable, the sac must be in its early stage, and unadherent; and I believe that adhesions rarely, if ever, take place whilst the sac remains small. More numerous cases, however, can alone give permanent value to an operation which, in the only instances (three in number) in which it has been performed, has been perfectly successful. For more extended information on the subject of the present lecture, I beg, Gentlemen, to refer you to an elaborate paper by Dr. Bright, illustrated by a great variety of examples, in the 6th Number of "Guy's Hospital Reports." It is a very instructive paper, and I recommend you to read it with the

closest attention.

LECTURE VII.

UTERINE HYDATIDS.

Watery discharges of the uterus; definition of hydatids; characters of hydatid vesicles; their nature and origin; specimen of a single hydatid; history of uterine hydatids; illustrative cases; treatment of the disease.

GENTLEMEN: - Before you examine the specimen of uterine hydatids now before you, I will say a few words on watery discharges in general, which emanate from the uterine system. The

source of some of these discharges cannot be misunderstood, such, for instance, as tumours, both of a mild and of a malignant kind, and morbid states of the lining membrane consequent upon delivery. But a watery discharge is not unfrequently a prominent feature of a really obscure disease. It sometimes may be traced to a communication having been formed by ulceration between the uterine system and the dropsical ovarium, the thinner part of the encysted contents coming away in gushings; or the fluid may issue from the peritoneal sac by a healthy canal, as the Fallopian tube. disease miscalled dropsy of the uterus may consist in an excessive quantity of fluid from some imperfection in the structure of the ovum, as well as from a disease of the lining membrane of the uterus in its unimpregnated state. It is true the quantity of fluid may be equal to distend the uterus, presenting perhaps a fluctuating tumour, the fluid being prevented from escaping by a tenacious mucus occupying the cervix uteri. But watery discharges are also occasioned by the disease termed hydatids, and to this peculiar complaint I intend to confine my present remarks. You have already seen a woman who is the subject of such watery discharges. Here is a large mass of hydatids, the expulsion of which was attended by pain and hemorrhage; the quantity which was expelled could not be less than a quart. The hydatids are of all sizes, from a pin's head to the size of a large grape, and are connected by fine pedicles. Hydatids are never directly in contact with the surface of the womb, but are surrounded by an investing membrane, which is in fact the decidua. The history of this case presents nothing that is not common to uterine hydatids in general; but, aware of the perplexity by which these diseases are characterised, I thought it a fit opportunity for bringing the subject fully before you, apprising you that the extent of our information on it is exceedingly defective.

First, what are we to understand by the term hydatids as applied to the uterus? I need scarcely observe that TRUE hydatids, wherever situated, are regarded as a species of acephalocysts, or cysticerci, and may originate in the uterus just as in any other organ; but this occurrence is very rare when compared with the hydatid or vesicular formations of pregnancy, and it is material to distinguish the two forms of disease. Madme. Boivin's distinction is clear and simple: - "The membrane of the true hydatid (it is observed) is soft and pulpy, tolerably thick, and easily detached. That of the vesicles of the uterus is thin, tough, or leathery, resembling serous membrane, presenting blood-vessels sometimes upon its parietes, very similar to the small serous cysts which often surround the ovaria and Fallopian tubes."* Each hydatid,

according to Nauche, possesses three coats.

These hydatid vesicles, when freed from sanguineous discharge,

^{*} Boivin and Duges' " Pract. Treatise," by Heming, p. 161.

usually present a pellucid appearance, varying greatly both in their size, form, and number; in some instances resembling a bunch of grapes, in others resembling frog's spawn. There is also a great difference in their connection with the womb; for, as already observed, the hydatids of pregnancy, though occupying the cavity, are not directly in contact with its surface, but are invariably surrounded by the deciduous membrane, while this is not so with acephalocysts. It is very possible that organised lymph may be formed, just as in cases of dysmenorrhæa, but this adventitious production does neither necessarily nor usually take place; and, moreover, acephalocysts may not only be attached to the lining membrane, but generated in the substance of the womb. Authors on this subject would have been less perplexing had these distinctions been preserved. The difference between the hydatids of the chorion and this species of hydatids is most obvious; the one is peculiar to females in a state of pregnancy, the other is common to both sexes. An important question still remains to be determined, whether or not these vesicular bodies are ever generated in the womb irrespective of intercourse between the sexes. Contrary to the prevailing opinion, several eminent men (including Gardien, Denman, Sir M. Clarke, and Dr. Evory Kennedy,) seem to think it possible that the disease may arise as an original production of the womb; and although Professor Burns refers the production of hydatids to a degeneration of the ovum, he alludes to their being formed "in consequence of coagula or part of the placenta remaining in utero." An interesting case of hydatids in the substance of the womb has just been published by Mr Wilton, of Brighton.* The author does not enter into the nature of these hydatids, but I take it for granted they were acephalocysts; for how can the hydatids of pregnancy take root in the uterine substance, the decidua and the lining membrane intervening? Mr. Wilton's patient died, and when the body was examined a highly varicose state of the veins was seen at the posterior surface of the fundus, beneath the peritonæum, constituting a rounded tumour. In the diseased part there was an opening, which contained a coagulum. This opening was proved to be the immediate cause of death, by an effusion of blood in the abdomen, to the extent of several quarts. A mass of hydatids protruded into the cavity of the womb, portions of the mass being firmly adherent to it. In the vicinity of this mass the lining membrane had degenerated in character, and was covered by patches of lymph. On the removal of the adherent hydatids it was found that the lining membrane was partly wanting, and that masses of hydatids were imbedded in the structure of the organ. Towards the fundus they existed in nests of various sizes, and produced the rounded tumour at the posterior surface of the fundus, which has already been described. I beg also to refer you to Dr. Andrews's

^{*} See Lancet, Feb. 1, 1840.

paper on this subject, entitled "Cases of Hydatids in the Uterus, simulating Pregnancy."* Four cases are detailed, two in married women, and two in unmarried females of the ages of sixteen and seventeen. In the last case the catamenia are alleged never to have appeared, and the hymen is said to have been entire. The statement which Dr. Andrews has made cannot be questioned, and what does it prove? Simply that hydatids, or, rather, acephalocysts, may be passed by virgins. The origin of acephalocysts is still very obscure; but the origin of the hydatids of pregnancy, as a degeneration of the villi of the chorion into vesicles, is no longer a matter of doubt. It has been shown that the hydatids of pregnancy cannot exist independently of serous membrane, like the membranes of the ovum. On this subject you may with advantage consult the researches of Madme. Boivin, "On the Origin, Nature, and Treatment of the Vesicular Mole."

My friend, Dr. Montgomery, has confirmed the correctness of his previously expressed opinion, by exhibiting before the members of the Dublin Pathological Society a specimen of uterine hydatids, by which he was enabled to demonstrate their origin in a most satisfactory manner: "The ovum was completely covered by the decidua reflexa; but when that was turned back the hydatids were seen growing from the villous surface of the chorion. There was another peculiarity in their mode of attachment and growth, worthy of notice. At first, one or two sprung from a single, fine, thread-like stalk, then from these one or two more, and so on, until at length a large bunch of hydatids was formed, hanging from the chorion by the original delicate single stalk."

I now submit to your notice a preparation of some value, as exhibiting a single hydatid. The villi of the chorion are very distinct; the extremity of one of these bodies has bulged out, constituting a perfect hydatid, the size of a pea, and this was evidently the commencement of the disease. Although it is but little of the obscurity attaching to this question which I can hope to dispel, yet as female reputation and professional character may be seriously involved by erroneous views, I will briefly state what my own impression is on the point before us. I assume it as proved that a vesicular or hydatid state of the chorion is always the product of a conception which has become degenerated. readily allow that a membrane, closely resembling the deciduous membrane of pregnancy, may be formed in certain diseases of the womb. I have, indeed, a specimen of this kind which cannot be distinguished from the real membrana decidua. But it is quite incomprehensible how these vesicular bodies can be generated in the virgin uterus. Opportunities have occurred to me of inspecting substances which were passed from the virgin uterus, and which might have been regarded as hydatids. I here exhibit to

^{*} See "Glasgow Medical Journal," No. 4. † "Dublin Journal of Medical Science," No. 44, vol. xv. p. 299.

you several of those bodies, which were passed a few days ago by a lady of unblemished reputation, who has been the subject of uterine hemorrhage for the last twelve or fourteen months. When first discharged they presented the appearance of small bladders (fish bladders, the patient called them), but on a close examination they proved to be portions of mucus of an oval form, containing air, and originating in a morbid state of the lining membrane.

In the ordinary form of the degeneration the hydatids are innumerable. In the second variety, described especially by Sir C. Clarke, there is a single cyst only. If I may form a judgment from my own experience, this variety of hydatid is a very unusual one; and I cannot but think that the large and sudden gushings of fluid by which its presence is said to be characterised, more frequently proceed from a sac formed during pregnancy between the amnios and the chorion. Natural pregnancy and hydatids may, indeed, co-exist. Burns says a solitary hydatid is oftener combined with pregnancy, or with a mole, than met with alone; and he has seen the hydatid expelled some weeks first. Indeed, according to this author, numerous small hydatids may be discharged, and yet pregnancy go on to the full time. It is impossible to calculate the length of time an hydatid formation may remain in the womb, though it has been known to be retained for some months after the natural term of pregnancy had expired. I conclude, however, that the expulsive action usually comes on before the completion of the fifth month. An hydatid pregnancy may not lead even to a suspicion of its existence, but after a time the evidence will be more or less characteristic of a state of pregnancy, including the suppression of the menses. I am not aware of any symptom, singly considered, that can be regarded as distinctive of the disease, and yet there are several points on which a certain degree of reliance may be placed. During the first few weeks the abdomen is disproportionately large to the period of pregnancy; in some instances a discharge of watery fluid every now and then takes place. Although liable to some diversity of character, the discharge is, for the most part, of a serous nature, devoid of colour, and comes on at irregular periods, in gushes, corresponding in this respect with the bursting of one or more of the vesicles. After a given time the empty and collapsed sacs are expelled, with hemorrhage and pain, though pain does not necessarily attend their expulsion. The watery discharges are sometimes tinged with blood, and in some rare instances the discharge has been almost altogether bloody, even for many months together. The watery discharge does not depend exclusively upon the bursting of a vesicle; neither does the hemorrhage always arise from detachment of the mass, but from a portion of the lining membrane of the womb which is unoccupied by the hydatid, and in a state of increased action. In this respect the blood is derived from the same source as in many cases of uterine polypi, namely, from the lining membrane generally, and not from the polypus itself. Nothing short of an inspection of the hydatids which have been voided can enable us to decide correctly upon the real nature of the disease: usually the fœtus is either dead, or too small for its movements to be distinguished, consequently we derive no assistance from the stethoscope, and the phenomena of ballottement will not take place. The neck of the womb does not, it is said, undergo its usual development, but that circumstance in itself affords only presumptive evidence of the existence of hydatids, — supposing also the uterus to be decidedly enlarged, the enlargement not to exceed the firmness of pregnancy, and the signs of pregnancy to be tolerably marked.

Dr. Montgomery mentions having noticed, in two cases of hydatids, a creeping kind of movement, simulating the motions of the fætus, at so early a period of gestation as three months and a half. In what manner this peculiar movement is produced, and what degree of reliance is to be placed upon it as a means of diagnosis,

remain to be seen.

The hemorrhage which attends the expulsion of hydatids may prove immediately dangerous to life. When you recollect that hydatids may be attached to every part of the uterine cavity, greatly exceeding the extent of placental attachment in natural pregnancy, you will not be surprised at the hemorrhage being severe. But the expulsion of hydatids, even when few in number, and when the uterus is small, may also prove ultimately a source of danger. The reason is obvious. The uterus, when considerably developed, contracts powerfully, as in labour; expels suddenly a mass of hydatids, some quarts, perhaps, and being completely evacuated, returns slowly to its ordinary unimpregnated state; the hemorrhage is severe, but soon over, and there is no tendency to a recurrence. But when the development of the womb is inconsiderable, pain and hemorrhage ensue, from time to time; only a few hydatids are expelled, attended by hemorrhage, and a discharge of a serous fluid; the hemorrhage is arrested, and yet the expulsion is incomplete. After an uncertain period of time the paroxysm recurs, the strength ultimately becomes much impaired, and under an attack of severe hemorrhage the danger becomes imminent. The idea that the uterus is left in a great measure emptied, on the close of each expulsive paroxysm, seems to derive some support from the annexed case: -

A married woman, of middle age, who had never borne children, on several occasions voided hydatids from the womb, attended by hemorrhage, and a discharge of serous fluid. She was seized with a disorder of the mucous membrane of the stomach, attended by vomiting and slight fever, and whilst labouring under this attack the hemorrhage recurred, accompanied by the expulsion of more hydatids; she became comatose, and died within a few hours. I did not see the patient during life, though I was present at the post mortem examination. In the cavity of the uterus a single hydatid only was discovered, and a rough, shaggy surface, to which the hydatids had been attached, which were discharged shortly

cavity.*

before death; the organ was otherwise healthy, not much larger than natural, and the body was free from disease. The woman, whose case is described by Sir E. Home, died after an hemorrhage with the same kind of symptoms, viz., vomiting, feverishness, and spasms over the whole abdomen. The body was examined, and the hydatids were found to occupy every part of the uterine

The circumstance I have already adverted to, of the womb returning to a quiet state, many times in succession, on the expulsion of a few vesicles—a considerable time elapsing between each act of expulsion—has led me to think that the chorion has the power of reproducing the hydatids, or else that the smaller vesicles continue enlarging, until, by some fortunate circumstance, the nidus is expelled, and another formation rendered impossible. Under no other view can I understand the vexatious kind of action

which, from time to time, the uterus takes on.

In the treatment of hydatids, attended by a material enlargement of the uterine cavity, there can be no difference of opinion. The principles which are generally applicable in midwifery must be acted upon, and such means enforced as tend to secure an effective contraction, and, consequently, to prevent hemorrhage. We have the authority of Sir C. Clarke to justify passing the hand and removing the hydatids, supposing the hemorrhage to be considerable, the uterus to be much enlarged, and its orifice to be sufficiently relaxed for the purpose, subsequently supporting the abdominal parietes by a bandage. The ergot of rye is a remedy especially calculated to promote the contractions of the womb when it has attained a moderate enlargement; and, provided the evacuation of its cavity be indispensable to the patient's safety, the propriety of administering that medicine would seem undoubted; but in the absence of a moderate degree of enlargement, I should expect but little benefit from the ergot, and I have never been able to satisfy myself of its superiority over other medicines in cases of simple menorrhagia.

The treatment of hydatids, where the enlargement is inconsiderable, will be attended with difficulty; the indications are two-fold, viz.: 1st, to evacuate the uterus; and, 2d, to induce a new action in the lining membrane. The ergot of rye merits a trial, although less likely to succeed than under the circumstances just stated. Tonic medicines would seem also to be especially indicated; the muriated tincture of iron, or the sulphate of zinc, may be taken in doses as large as the stomach will bear, and the cold bath may be used daily. One of the most important objects of treatment has reference to the hemorrhage, and several instances have been mentioned to me where the hemorrhage was protracted and went on to the destruction of life. The remedies calculated to arrest hemorrhage are the plug, the acetate of lead, and cold

^{*} Vide "Transactions of a Society," &c., &c., vol. ii. p. 300.

injections. Unquestionably the plug is capable of checking an active hemorrhage, although it may not altogether stop the draining, and as it is a perfectly safe remedy in cases where the enlargement does not exceed the size of the uterus at the fourth month of pregnancy, it may be used with the same confidence as in a case of abortion. The acetate of lead may be administered either in acetic acid, combined with opium, or with extract of henbane, and cold water may be injected from time to time into the bowels. Small portions of ice dissolved slowly in the mouth, prove exceedingly grateful in many active hemorrhages from the uterus, but when the disorder depends upon the presence of an extraneous body, I should have but little confidence in that remedy. Under any circumstances the sedative effects of cold, in whatever way employed, must be ill adapted for states of great depression. Injections used with the view of reaching the cavity of the uterus, though employed even in the time of Œtius, have fallen nearly into disuse. In a material distention of the uterus by hydatids, injections would prove useless, if not positively injurious; but in protracted and frequently recurring paroxysms of pain and hemorrhage, the uterus being small, and unable effectually to cast out its contents, and the usual means having failed, injections might act beneficially. Cold water, for instance, may have the effect of exciting the contractions of the womb and emptying its cavity; it may, perhaps, be justifiable to employ a weak stimulating injection, gradually increasing its strength so as ultimately to overcome the morbid condition of the lining membrane. The utmost circumspection, however, must be exercised, lest inflammation should be produced, or lest the degree of inflammation should exceed what is necessary to cure the disease; for although the morbid condition of the womb can scarcely be overcome without inducing more or less inflammatory action, yet chronic affections of the uterus have frequently followed their employment. Even the mildest injections have been known to excite inflammation, and it is only in cases where the discharge is protracted, where its effect on the general health threatens the destruction of life, and where the usual treatment has failed, that the practice can be recommended. The nitrate of silver, as a stimulating injection, would seem welladapted for the purpose; but alum, zinc, or other astringents, may answer equally well. In Mr. Watson's case the sanguineous discharge "finally only yielded to injections of port wine and water."

A case of hydatids, replete with interest and instruction, lately occurred in this town, in the practice of my friend; Mr. Thomas Chavasse, to whom I am much indebted for the particulars. As Mr. Chavasse contemplates the publication of the case, I shall make only a very brief allusion to its most distinguishing features. A lady was attacked about the fifth month of her pregnancy by he-

[&]quot; Trans. of Provincial Med. Association," vol. ii. p. 354.

morrhage and pain, accompanied by the expulsion of a mass of hydatids, probably three or four ounces. The hemorrhage ceased for a short time, but returned at intervals for upwards of a year, and was attended occasionally by severe pain, and the expulsion of a single hydatid resembling a hot-house grape. The symptoms became more alarming, the hemorrhage resisting every mode of treatment which could be devised. A state of anæmia ultimately ensued, and, on the conviction that the patient's life depended on the removal of the hemorrhage, it was determined to use a stimulating injection. The third injection was impregnated with oxyde of iron, and, after using it several times, its strength was increased by the addition of one drop of the tinctura ferri sesquichloridi to each ounce of the oxyd. injection, and gradually increasing the quantity of the tincture to four drops. Its employment was followed by so much pain and tenderness, as not only to require a suspension of the injection, but also to demand a mild antiphlogistic treatment. At one time severe inflammation supervened, and the patient seemed to be sinking under irritative fever, but after this no further discharge took place; but at length, under the tonic plan of treatment, she perfectly recovered, and the uterus has since resumed its natural functions. In this case the removal of the disease is clearly referrible to the stimulating action of the iron on the lining membrane. The treatment of acephalocysts in the uterus by iron has much to recommend it; that metal, indeed, has been supposed to exert a specific action in such cases. However this may be, the principle is quite inapplicable to the hydatid formations of pregnancy, and injections of iron can only act like stimulating injections generally. In order to insure the injection reaching the cavity of the womb, it must be conveyed there by means of an elastic tube attached to a small gum-elastic bottle. The tube should have a round opening at its extremity, and should be passed a little distance within the neck, or even into the cavity of the womb.

In conclusion, Gentlemen, I have merely to remark — what, indeed, you must now be aware of — that an extensive field of inquiry is open to the diligent labourer in his investigations of this disease. We have very much to learn on the subject of uterine hydatids. If any really instructive account of the disease has been published, I have not had the good fortune to meet with it; and, although defective in a practical point of view, Mad. Boivin's

treatise is the best I have read.

LECTURE VIII.

ON DISEASES OF THE BLADDER IN FEMALES, IN CONNEXION WITH THE UNIMPREGNATED STATE AND WITH DELIVERY.

Fibrous tumour of the pelvis; effects of tumours on the bladder; necessity of examining the uterus; illustrative case; polypoid diseases; neuralgia from fibrous tumour; morbid states of the bladder occasioned by difficult labour; treatment required in such cases; illustrative example.

Gentlemen: - The specimen of disease now presented to your notice was taken from an adult female, whom I had an opportunity of seeing during life. It consists of the bladder, vagina, and rectum, together with a tumour, apparently fibrous, which seems to have originated in the cellular tissue connecting the rectum with the pelvis. The bladder is laid open, its coats being much thickened, and its cavity contracted. There is no appearance of ulceration of the mucous coat generally; but two small fistulous apertures are very perceptible in the cervical portion of the bladder, which communicate with the tumour through the medium of the vagina and rectum. The fluid contents of the tumour, consequently, passed into the bladder. The tumour is not of a malignant nature: it has undergone a process of inflammation and softening, which, at length, implicated the neighbouring organs. The vagina and rectum, however, are healthy, excepting where the fistulous openings have formed. For many months the urine was loaded with morbid secretions, partly from the interior of the tumour and partly from its own inflamed surface, and, after much suffering, the patient died in the greatest degree of emaciation. This constitutes a brief history of the case, which I have laid before you with a view of directing your attention, not only to this but to other affections of the bladder, of a secondary nature, sometimes simulating a primary disease, and leading to consequences of the most serious kind. First, let us consider the effect which fibrous tumours and prolapsed states of the ovarium produce on the This effect may be purely sympathetic — a mere nervous disturbance, the pain and irritability being extremely severe, even though the urine presents a perfectly healthy character.

The case which formed the subject of my third lecture, was for some time distinguished by great irritability of the bladder; and yet, on a post-mortem examination, that organ was found in a sound state. In further confirmation of these views, I shall briefly mention two middle-aged women, patients of our dispensary, who laboured under symptoms which usually indicate diseased states of the bladder, and which, from the severity of the pain in voiding urine, were believed to arise from calculus; but nothing was detected on introducing the sound. On a subsequent examination I discovered in each patient a small, but exceedingly tender, fibrous tumour, situated on the posterior and superior part of the cervix

uteri, and it is remarkable, that in both cases the suffering was confined to the bladder. The symptoms gradually yielded to the mercurial influence. The importance of ascertaining, by internal examination, the condition of the uterus, in cases where the irritation seems to be confined to the bladder, is not at present sufficiently appreciated; but recollect, Gentlemen, that the effects of a disease may be the most acutely felt at a distant part, as in cases of hip disease, and here is an evidence that even a severe affection of the bladder may depend upon a disease in another organ. The examination of the uterus should be made so as to reach the upper part of the cervix, since fibrous tumours constantly form in that situation. But a fibrous tumour may have the effect of producing actual inflammation of the bladder; and then the appearance of the urine will sufficiently characterise this state of the mucous membrane, being opaque, presenting either the gruel, or muco-purulent deposit. or a curdy appearance, like minute portions of lymph mixed sometimes with blood. The appearance corresponds very much with the degree of inflammation. The same condition of the mucous membrane may arise from the application of a ligature to a polypus. Here is a polypus which I removed by ligature, and on the third or fourth day after its application the bladder became most severely inflamed. The patient vomited, had a very small, rapid pulse, intense thirst, and retention of urine. For some weeks afterwards, the urine presented a muco-purulent character, and the woman's life was despaired of; but she ultimately recovered. Here, again, is the uterus, containing only the stem of a polypus. The subject of this case (whom I did not see) died from inflammation of the pelvic viscera, a few days after the application of the ligature. The mucous membrane of the bladder was greatly injected, and presented the starry appearance delineated in the drawing here exhibited.

Verily, Gentlemen, polypoid diseases are not so simple as they are generally held to be, and I know this to be the opinion of some

of the most eminent men of the age.

The inflammation may even terminate in open ulceration. A large-sized polypus, for instance, may quite occupy the vagina; or the ovarium, moderately enlarged, may descend behind the pubis and the posterior surface of the bladder, and excite a degree of inflammation which will not only extend to the mucous membrane, but lead to a breach of surface, and allow the fluid contents of the ovarian tumour to enter the bladder. Here is an immensely large polypus, many pounds' weight, which occasioned the death of the patient in the manner I have described. The ulcerated aperture in the bladder is large enough to admit the end of the finger. The inflammation of the mucous membrane continued increasing in severity, and soon occasioned the patient's death.

Having already given the particulars of this case in a paper entitled, "On Fibrous Tumours of the Uterus," I beg to refer you

^{*} See " Edin. Med. and Surg. Journal," for January 1, 1840, p. 88.

to the case, and also to a somewhat analogous case, published by Dr. T. Thompson,* in which a fibrous tumour, by its pressure, produced ulcerative absorption of the bladder; and, although the tumour for some time had the effect of plugging up the aperture, the urine ultimately escaped into the peritoneal cavity, and speedily terminated life. The ovarium, when only slightly enlarged, may be plainly felt at the groin in a person of spare habit, although perhaps a portion of its substance may have descended below the brim of the pelvis, and occasioned much distress. A tumour so situated must almost necessarily consist either of the ovarium or of enlarged lymphatic glands; and the difficulty which may attend the diagnosis will not be removed by an examination through the abdominal coverings, merely. The locality of the tumour - its vicinity to the uterus — its regularity or irregularity of surface will, together with the history of the case, supply a reasonable presumption as to its true nature. I have already mentioned to you an instance of ovarian dropsy in which the fluid came away by the bladder; and my work on Obstetric Medicine contains a case of neuralgia of the bladder occasioned by the prolapse of the ovary, the pain almost instantly disappearing on the return of the ovary into the abdomen. The work also contains an interesting case of abscess of the ovary, which burst into the bladder, and the tumour could be plainly felt, both at the groin and in the pelvis. The patient recovered, after being greatly emaciated, and enduring many months of suffering, during which time the urine was more or less purulent. About a year ago I visited a lady, in consultation with my friend, Mr. F. Elkington, whose case was parallel to the one just spoken of. A few days after the delivery of her first child, the bladder took on a severe form of inflammation, attended by pain, inability to void urine (which was highly purulent), and irritative fever. On examining the pelvis, we discovered a tumour of an irregular shape, and as large as an orange, excessively tender to the touch, and occupying the right side of the pelvis, between the bladder and the vagina; but it could not be felt over the hypogastrium. It appeared to us that the tumour emptied itself into the bladder, through an ulcerated aperture. Under the employment of the catheter, for about a month, the symptoms nearly ceased, but the urine continued purulent the whole period, and occasionally so for a long time afterwards. I will now describe to you the particulars of the most interesting case of this nature which has yet come before me.

Mrs. — had been delivered of her first child six weeks antecedent to my first visit. The labour was short and favourable; but the second act of voiding urine was accompanied by pain, which progressively increased, so that at the end of a fortnight her distress was intolerable. The bladder was supposed to have become ulcerated, and I was desired to visit her. The pain in voiding

^{*} See Lancet for 30th March, 1839, p. 58.

urine, especially at its close, was violent and cutting, and the inclination almost constant. She had considerable pain in the left groin, with tenderness on pressure. The urine was whey-like, and one-third of it consisted of a white curdy deposit, tinged with blood. The pulse was not very frequent. On examination, per vaginam, I discovered a tumour, resembling enlarged glands, occupying the left sacro-iliac junction, and extending to the front of the vagina, directly over the posterior part of the bladder. The tumour seemed to commence opposite to the vaginal portion of the uterus, and was so close upon it as not to present a sensible line of demarcation. It terminated at an inch above the vaginal entrance. Its structure was very firm, and pressure upon it produced very great pain. I placed her under the treatment of calomel and opium, with alkalies, enjoining perfect rest, and a milk diet. She continued progressively improving, and about three weeks after my first visit, on renewing the examination, to my great surprise not a vestige of the tumour remained. It was evident, therefore, that it must have been an ovarian tumour, for under no other supposition can the sudden and entire disappearance of the mass be understood.

I have now to speak of morbid states of the bladder, produced by causes of an exclusively mechanical kind, namely, pressure during difficult labour. You lately (two of you at least) had an opportunity of seeing a woman a few hours after her delivery by forceps, and I had great apprehension sloughing of the bladder would have taken place. It was a case of impaction. It was impracticable to pass a catheter, and, from the violence of the pains, I feared the womb would give way. It was unsafe to wait. There was barely room to pass the forceps, and this not quite in the proper direction; but, as I could distinguish the pulsations of the fætal heart, I ventured to use the forceps, for I had only a choice of evils before me. The child was alive when the head was delivered, but delay attended the expulsion of the shoulders, and it was lost. Fortunately the mother did well, the symptoms having been mild. Ere I conclude, I will relate to you the particulars of a similar, but much more striking case, premising some practical remarks on the evils incident upon a heavy pressure of the child's head upon the bladder.

You are already aware of the symptoms by which a state of inflammation and sloughing of the lining of the pelvis is characterised, and I will not repeat them, but merely remind you of the great importance of emptying the bladder in all cases of difficult labour, and especially when the use of instruments is contemplated. The impaction, it is true, may be very close, so much so as to resist the introduction of any kind of catheter. These are extreme cases, and yet two such have presented themselves to my notice within the last month. Supposing the evidence of the extinction of life in the fætus to be so clear and decisive that perforation be determined upon, there will be no difficulty in passing the catheter after

the diminution of the head, and prior to making any effort at extraction. Whenever the pressure has been calculated to injure the soft parts, the catheter should be introduced at stated periods after delivery, whether the urine be retained or not, as the most likely means to prevent sloughing. It would be unwise to wait; indeed, the symptoms might not appear until the sloughing had actually commenced; and it is very possible that an involuntary discharge of urine might excite the first feeling of alarm. The practice of leaving the catheter in the bladder for hours together, tends to keep up the existing inflammation, and the apertures in the tube constantly become plugged by thick mucus. Under a severe and long-continued pressure, such, for instance, as occurs in really difficult labours, the urine, when first drawn away by the catheter, usually presents a very dark appearance, and vomiting of a coffeecoloured secretion is sometimes associated with it. On the termination of a labour of this kind, the patient may be left in so exhausted a state as to justify the liberal employment of cordials and stimulants; and, whilst the depression continues, alcohol, ammonia, æther, a low position of the head, the application of heat to the cardia and feet, and a firm support to the abdomen, will constitute our chief resources. On reaction taking place, irritative fever is very likely to ensue, and it is important to bear in mind that the fever originates in local injury, and that the excessive action of the system cannot be subdued by depletion. We can only hope to moderate the symptoms until the natural powers are sufficiently recruited to favour healthy changes and repair the mischief which has already happened. Whatever is calculated to depress local congestion or low inflammation - whatever tends to promote the absorption of effused fluids, or to sustain the system under purulent collections, or during the separation of a slough ought to be strictly enforced, and almost everything will depend upon maintaining the powers of the constitution; our object, in fine, should be to allay irritation both general and local, and to support the strength. A very serious practical error is often committed by confounding the rapidity of the pulse, and the abdominal uneasiness and tumefaction, with actual peritonitis. In the event of these symptoms being connected with increased sensibility of the hypogastrium, the inflammatory character of the disease is too readily taken for granted. Although the consequences of a severe labour may extend to the serous membrane, it is generally not so. We find none of the tenderness common to peritonitis, for by keeping the hand for a short time steadily over the abdomen, the sensibility will be found rather to decrease than otherwise; even if the uterus be tender on pressure, it does not follow that the disease corresponds with the pathology of hysteritis. Here the engorgement succeeds a violent delivery, and the disorder is characterised by the symptoms which denote an inflamed state of the cellular tissue. We cannot, under such circumstances, expect that a material reduction of the circulating fluids will conduce to those healthy changes upon which the patient's final recovery must depend. By weakening the action of the heart we deprive the organ of the power of emptying itself (denoted by frequent deep sighing), and whilst this irregular distribution of blood continues, the nervous energies will become still more depressed. Whenever pain, tenderness, and tension, afford a presumption that the inflammation has extended to the peritoneum, bleeding cannot of course be dispensed with. But accuracy of distinction is highly necessary, and in doubtful cases leeching the hypogastrium is not only safer, but usually more efficacious, than general bleeding. On the due regulation of the intestinal secretions the issue of these cases will also greatly depend; the bowels must be acted upon two or three times in the course of twenty-four hours, by appropriate remedies, such as the infusion of roses, with sulph. of magnesia, or pil. hydr. c. pulv. rhei, et ext. coloc. co.; or an occasional dose of castor oil, the alvine discharges being promptly disinfected by the chlorides. Turpentine and fætid enemata are likewise useful, both in dispelling large collections of flatus, and exciting the natural peristaltic action. The abdomen should be rubbed with a stimulating liniment; and, should the sensibility of the system be much impaired, and the abdomen puffy, one part of the oil of turpentine, added to one or two parts of soap, or camphor liniment, is calculated to act beneficially; it is not only a counter-irritant, but reduces the bulk of the abdomen, and acts upon the kidneys. Effervescing draughts, with ammon, carbon, or draughts with camphor mixture, mint water, and comp. spirit of sulphuric æther, or comp. spirit of ammonia, are suitable forms of medicine, and the sedative solution of opium should be given nightly to procure sleep. I must again remind you that after a severe labour it is essential that the bladder should be frequently emptied, and on this point great deception often prevails; if the bladder be distended the large ovoid tumour will fully explain its character. But the bladder may, in a great measure, empty itself, and yet some ounces of urine remain, which it has not power to discharge. If this be permitted to continue the retention will become complete, and a state of insensibility with subsultus may be expected to follow. In several instances I have found the bladder greatly distended, and the introduction of the catheter should never be neglected, if only as a precaution. The external parts should be well sponged, and the vagina frequently syringed, by means of an elastic bottle, with tepid milk-and-water, or a tepid decoction of poppy-heads, to which, if feetor prevails, a portion of fresh yeast may be added. If necessary, the lochia should be promoted by fomentations, and poultices applied to the os externum, or heated dry chamomile flowers placed in a flannel bag over the hypogastrium. In order to promote the secretion of milk, the breasts should be emptied as frequently as the strength will permit, the teeth and mouth should be kept free from accumulation, the hands and face sponged with tepid water, the hair cut short, and the temples bathed with a spirit lotion; the room should be well ventilated, the temperature regulated, and the linen, both about the person and the bed, should be changed as often as convenient. These directions, trivial as they may appear, are really calculated to promote the patient's comfort and recovery. The diet during the first two or three days must be restricted to lemonade, whey, and the usual cooling drinks, substituting, as circumstances may indicate, beeftea, milk, or fresh small-beer. If flatulence prevail, every article either of food or medicine calculated to generate gas should be avoided; plain gruel in small quantities, with the addition of a little warm milk, with a portion of soda water, may be given. As soon as the fever is abated, ammonia and preparations of cinchona, with wine properly diluted, should constitute our main resources. I

will now read you the particulars of the case I spoke of.

Case. - Mrs. - was delivered, after a very difficult labour. Great exertion was employed in the extraction of the head; the perineum was lacerated, and the recto-vaginal septum was also partially torn. The patient, however, remained tolerably comfortable for two or three days, when the pulse became very irregular and intermitting in frequency, averaging from 140 to 160, in which respect there was no change for at least a week. The abdomen became tumefied and puffy, but was neither painful nor tender to the touch. The intellect wandered, the milk and lochia were diminished in quantity, the former never ceasing altogether at any period, and the latter reappearing now and then but very sparingly. The discharge from the lacerated surface was offensive; the face was deeply flushed, the tongue was dry and covered with a yellow coat, spasmodic twitchings became general, the breathing was quick, the thirst excessive, the lips were covered with sordes, and the apartment was offensive. The bowels were at first torpid, but subsequently both urine and fæces were several times passed involuntarily. The bladder at length lost all its power, and presented a large tumour (not painful on pressure) over the pubes. The catheter was now passed, and two quarts of black urine were drawn off. On the tenth day a most violent perspiration ensued; the cheeks were crimson, the exhaustion became extreme; the patient lay unconscious, and in an apparently dying state. In a few hours, however, an improvement was perceptible, and, after a continuance of the treatment for five or six days longer, the danger was past. Although the patient was unconscious of pain at the time when the bladder was distended with black urine, yet in proportion as she recovered from the fever, a trifling accumulation of urine occasioned great pain, and demanded the use of the catheter during the succeeding fourteen days, at which time the bladder had nearly recovered its tone, and the urine its healthy qualities. The general treatment was agreeable with the principles already enforced. The recovery of the patient was perfect. In reference to this case, it only remains for me to express my conviction that had lowering measures been resorted to, and the

catheter neglected, the result would have been unfavourable. Life might have been spared, but sloughing of the bladder would almost certainly have taken place — an injury generally irreparable. In all such terminations, whilst the patient will have to sustain one of the most insupportable of human afflictions, the practitioner will be exposed to unavailing and abiding regret, perhaps mental anguish, and certainly to loss of reputation. Considerations so powerful and so affecting are eminently calculated to stimulate you to redoubled energy in your endeavours to acquire a correct knowledge of this responsible department of medical science.

LECTURE IX.

ON THE DISEASE TERMED IRRITABLE UTERUS.

History of the case; nature of irritability of the uterus; opinions of Dr. Gooch; tumours of the pelvis; distension of the uterus; illustrative cases; diagnosis of irritable uterus; treatment of this affection.

Gentlemen: — You have had an opportunity of seeing a patient labouring under the fibrous tumour of the uterus, in connection with a train of symptoms denoting the irritable uterus, described by that interesting author the late Dr. Gooch — a disease painful in its nature, truly obstinate in its course, and perplexing in its

management.

The history of this patient's case may be regarded as a history of the disease in general, and its principal features may be enumerated thus: - Severe pain during menstruation, the pain sometimes preceding the appearance of the discharge, often increasing in severity for some days after the discharge has ceased, and, independently of the periods in question, frequently attacking the lumbar and hypogastric regions; the pain is increased by exertion, and speedily relieved by the recumbent posture, and yet uneasy feelings arise between the paroxysms of suffering, so that a perfect interval of ease rarely occurs; sometimes violent spasm, accompanied by a smarting and stinging sensation, attacks the sphincters of the vagina and rectum, particularly in the sitting posture; the excessive sensibility may even extend to the abdominal parietes, and in one instance which came within my own knowledge, the pubic region continued very tender at the end of four years, after a delivery by the forceps, even the pressure of the bed-clothes being sensibly felt whenever the woman lay on her back, notwithstanding the uterus and vagina were apparently healthy. Let me now direct your attention - 1st, To the term by which the disease is designated; 2dly, To the essential nature of the disease; and, 3dly, To the best mode of treating it. First, the term neuralgia,

or irritable uterus, in its ordinary acceptation, implies a mere disturbance in the functions of the affected part, irrespective of change of structure; the term, properly speaking, is the name of a symptom, and conveys nothing definite. Whatever may be the state of the nervous system, the disease will be found to differ in one particular from hysterical and similar affections of the nervous system, viz., it never precedes the first appearance of the catamenia. I hope, by pointing out the primary causes of the disease, to assist you in forming less ambiguous views, both of its nature and treatment, than are at present entertained; and, in connexion with the question respecting the essential nature of the disease, I shall say a few words on the opinions of Drs. Gooch and others. I have already given you to understand that Dr. Gooch did not regard the disease as in any measure inflammatory, nor as possessing any malignant tendency, but as a purely nervous affection, lasting an indefinite length of time, and ultimately disappearing, without inducing any change of structure. It should, however, be remarked, that Dr. Gooch allows the disease to be sometimes connected with a tumid or congested state of the os uteri, as well as with extreme tenderness of the part, the tenderness for the most part existing independently of swelling or any other sensible change. It is important to observe, that at the very close of the chapter on this subject, Dr. Gooch subdivides the disease into three classes, "in one of which (he says) congestion is an essential part; in another, congestion may be absent, while another may consist of those interminable cases which nothing relieves;" and he further remarks, "in these there may be some disease of structure in a part of the uterus out of reach of examination by touch." In opposition to Dr. Gooch,* Dr. David Davist regards the irritable uterus as depending essentially upon chronic inflammation, and Dr. Scott; appears to entertain a similar opinion. The views of these several authors appear to me to be much too confined; the grounds adduced by Dr. Gooch, that the disease is essentially irrespective of a change of structure fairly admits of question. It is very probable that the cases alluded to by Dr. Davis were complicated by a state of chronic inflammation, certainly so in Dr. Scott's case, and yet it does not follow that the character of the disease is essentially inflammatory. The pulse is natural; the appetite good; the tongue healthy; and the several bodily functions are very little impaired, or at least so until the disease has continued a great length of time, for a state of protracted suffering will ultimately affect the strongest constitution. In expressing an opinion that Dr. Gooch's views of the disease are much too confined, I must, however, remark, that he was the first writer by whom public attention was directed to the subject, and the passage which I have transcribed from his

^{* &}quot;Diseases Peculiar to Women," p. 310.

[†] See "Obstetric Medicine," vol. i., p. 348. ‡ See "Edin. Med. and Surg. Journ." Oct. 1, 1834, p. 306.

work seems to me to show that some ambiguity as to the nature of the disease must have existed in his own mind. Within the last twelve years I have seen a great number of cases of the disease termed irritable uterus, and I have kept notes of seventeen of them. Three of these cases were unconnected with any appreciable cause; one was attended by descent of the ovary into the pelvis; one by descent of the uterus soon after marriage; one originated in extreme distension of the uterus during pregnancy; seven followed delivery, and four were connected with fibrous tumour. Of this number it is material to observe, that in several of the cases there was one prominent symptom, namely, excessive

irritability of the vagina.

Undoubtedly the irritable condition of the uterus sometimes depends upon extreme sensibility merely. There is nothing surprising in this; indeed, deranged states of the nervous system may terminate even in death without inducing any sensible change of structure. It is my conviction, however, that an investigation into the state of the uterus and vagina, in cases of this disease, will frequently lead to the detection of organic or other changes quite obvious to the senses, the existence of which might not have been suspected. The descent into the pelvis of the moderately enlarged ovarium will produce a train of symptoms very closely simulating those of the irritable womb, and I have seen one very marked instance of this in which the distress immediately gave way on the return of the ovarium into the abdomen, although the carbonate of iron, opium, and a variety of remedies had been tried in vain. In very sensitive habits a mere prolapse of the uterus will excite very similar feelings. I have seen two such instances. One of these occurred in a young lady of very delicate habit, who had been married about four years, but had not been pregnant, and, as already observed, the disease immediately followed marriage. For two years she was confined entirely to the sofa. She had tried the cold-bath, astringent injections, and almost every description of medicine which would seem calculated to subdue pain or allay irritability. The os uteri had sunk low in the pelvis, and for the two preceding years had rested quite upon the perineum. Every means having failed, she was at length prevailed, contrary to my advice, to wear a pessary. A very small-sized pessary was introduced into the vagina, and the os uteri made to rest upon it, instead of the perineum. The relief she obtained from it was striking; in fact, she was cured almost immediately. She was able to walk a considerable distance without pain, and has remained well for two years, without experiencing any return of the disease. The second case occurred after a first delivery. In other respects, it resembles that which I have just related, and the cure was accomplished by the same means. But one of the most distressing cases of neuralgia of the uterus which I have yet seen arose from an enormous distension of the organ by liq. amnii, in connection with an acephalous fœtus. At the sixth month of pregnancy the distress was exceedingly severe - so great, indeed, that in consultation with a most estimable member of the profession (Mr. S. Partridge), it was determined to induce labour by puncturing the membranes. Great and instant relief followed the operation; but the acute sufferings returned soon after delivery, and continued for many months. According to my own experience, the irritable uterus very frequently depends upon a severe labour, and I have repeatedly traced the disease to this cause. In two such instances, delivery had been accomplished by means of the forceps. It is reasonable to suppose (considering the severity of the labours) that the uterine orifice must have sustained some degree of injury, and that the distress arose from it. At the same time, I ought to state that in one case only wasthereany appreciable change from healthy structure when the examination was made, and in this instance the os uteri was thick, hard, and irregular. In speaking of irritable uterus, in connection with fibrous tumour of the organ, I do not refer to that common class of large-sized tumours which press upon the great nervous trunks, and produce pain, numbness, and swelling of the lower extremities, but small-sized tumours under the peritoneum, imbedded perhaps in the proper tissue of the organ, and producing paroxysms of pain proportional to the predisposition of the individual. Tumours of this kind may be usually distinguished by an ordinary vaginal examination. Sometimes they are situated too high in the womb to be reached in this direction; but in several such instances I have been enabled to detect the enlargement through the walls of the rectum, and I recommend you to adopt this mode of examination in all cases of obscurity. Now and then it is impracticable by any mode of examination to discover the tumour, especially when connected with the fundus of the womb, and yet in a person of spare habit the existence of even a moderately sized-growth may be distinctly felt through the abdominal walls, just above the brim of the pelvis, and inclining towards either groin. In unmarried persons the examination may prove both difficult and unsatisfactory, owing to causes I need not dwell upon. I am at the present time prescribing for an unmarried lady, who has been harassed during the last two years with spasmodic pains about the sphincters of the anus and of the vagina - stinging pain in the vagina — an almost perpetual desire to pass urine (the characters of which are healthy), together with pain in one groin. The general health is scarcely affected, and I cannot discover any organic changes; but nevertheless it is more than probable that such severe and protracted distress depends upon change of structure. A brief allusion having been made to the state of the vagina, I beg you to understand that the morbid sensibility is not always confined to the uterus, as represented by Dr. Gooch, but extends to the vaginal structures. Not only may the vagina be equally sensitive, but the increased sensibility may be entirely confined to this part. You will fully understand this, when I tell you that in three cases of uterine neuralgia which followed delivery, the introduction of the finger into the vagina some months

afterwards was almost agonizing. In a fourth case the disease commenced soon after a first delivery. At the end of seven years the pain remained unabated, and for the nine months preceding my visit sexual intercourse could not be borne. The uterus and vagina were apparently healthy, but the introduction of the finger occasioned great pain. In a fifth case the irritability commenced after an instrumental delivery, and had continued four years. tenderness was confined to the vagina, sexual intercourse was most distressing, and at the end of six months from the time I made the examination the symptoms had not decreased. In the sixth case, a state of extreme sensibility immediately supervened upon marriage, and continued unabated during a subsequent pregnancy, and even after delivery. The pain at the moment of intercourse was followed by a sensation of heat, both in the vagina and uterine region, which was exceedingly distressing, and did not altogether disappear under a month. In another the symptoms commenced about a year after marriage. This patient attributed the distress altogether to sexual intercourse; and although seven years had since elapsed, the irritability continues unabated, and is usually much aggravated by the original cause of excitement. The menstrual discharge is scanty, and attended with pain. The vaginal part of the uterus has become greatly elongated; it is twice its natural length, and almost reaches the external parts. Although it is free from tenderness, the superior part of the cervix is exceedingly tender to the touch, and its posterior surface is unnaturally prominent. The vagina also is painfully sensible to This woman has never borne children.

I will mention one more case, the subject of which has been married seven years, but has had no family. Menstruation, always painful, became much more so from the time of her marriage, and the pain and tenderness in the course of the spine were so severe that, ultimately, a caustic was applied, and for a long time kept open, but no relief followed. I visited the patient a few months ago, on account of increased pain in menstruation (now membraneous) and violent stinging pains in the vagina. Upon examination, I discovered a small, hard tumour in the upper part of the cervix uteri. The vaginal portion of the organ was rather tender, but the principal tenderness was in the vagina itself, and the examination was almost agonising to her. She is now under treatment. Enough, perhaps, has been said, in proof of the opinion I have already stated, that uterine neuralgia may be produced by a variety of causes. I am aware it may be thought that I have incongruously classed together with the irritable uterus, diseases of a dissimilar nature; but whatever variation may exist, the diseases will be found to agree in all that is essential. In this respect the cases described by Dr. Gooch perfectly accord, and yet in the more minute details there is the same variation. I have not adverted to the effect which a state of pregnancy would have on the irritable uterus. Menstruation is usually sparing as well as painful in these

cases, and, consequently, as in dysmenorrhæa, pregnancy is not likely to take place. A recurrence of pregnancy in one of the in-

stances I have mentioned was not productive of relief.

The only disorder with which the irritable uterus can be confounded is chronic inflammation of that organ, a disease with which, indeed, it may be incidentally associated; but the history of the irritable uterus, the circumstances connected with menstruation, the abscess of inflammatory discharges, the long continuance of the pain, and the disproportion between the symptoms and the degree of tumefaction of the vaginal portion of the womb, constitute sufficient marks of distinction between them.

The treatment must have a strict reference to the existing cause, supposing it to be appreciable; but I would rather direct your attention to general principles than enter into details. Here, it is

in vain to look for specifics.

A dusky-red state of the mucous membrane of the uterus (its vaginal portion) is sometimes distinctly seen when examined through the speculum, associated perhaps with abrasion of surface, or patches of superficial ulceration. These states should be treated by leeching, and a weak solution of nitrate of silver. The relief which the caustic produces is very marked, and the necessity for using the speculum should be clearly explained. The improvement of the general health is always an object of the greatest moment, and, in the absence of organic changes, the carbonate of iron would seem a most desirable medicine. Where dysuria prevails (as is often the case), the muriated tincture is the best form in which iron can be given, and, if necessary, the tincture of henbane may be combined with it. States of suffering must be met by But in this peculiar disease, opium in every form should be avoided, if possible, on account of its influence over the bowels, otherwise the employment of purgatives, so objectionable here, can scarcely be dispensed with. In some instances, a combination of extract of henbane, camphor, and ipecacuanha, in doses of four or five grains of the two former, and half a grain of the latter, may be effectively substituted. The tepid hip-bath is calculated to allay the pain which accompanies difficult and scanty menstruation. I have sometimes given the extract of belladonna combined with extract of cinchona, but I have found the nitrate of silver, in doses varying from one-eighth of a grain to half-a-grain, combined with three or four grains of extract of conium, productive of more permanent benefit than any other remedy. A few grains of the powder of the extract of rhubarb may be added to the pills, if necessary, so as to insure a gentle action of the bowels; or the aperient may be taken at night, either alone, or combined with a few grains of extract of henbane. Although purging is decidedly injurious, the bowels should be daily moved, the most gentle means being selected for the purpose. In one of the cases which I have mentioned, mercury was given, and excited ptyalism, but no relief ensued. I have now only to

remark, that, from the estimation in which I have ever held the authority of Dr. Gooch, I was for some years led to regard the irritable uterus as an exclusively nervous disorder, and unconnected with any sensible alteration, or abnormal condition of parts. I inculcated these views in the lecture-room; but I am now convinced that I took only a very partial view of the subject, and that we have still much to learn respecting it. I have made these few remarks, imperfect as I feel them to be, under the hope that you will be led to acquire more enlarged views of this very intricate disease, characterised as it is by a state of suffering, both severe in kind, and protracted in duration.

LECTURE X.

ON FIBROUS TUMOURS OF THE UTERUS.

Symptoms of fibrous tumour; origin of these tumours; Dr. Beatty's case of fibrous tumours; changes taking place in the uterus; discharges accompanying fibrous tumours; changes in the fibrous tumour.

Gentlemen: — Having already submitted to your notice some preparations of the fibrous tumour of the womb, and given several of you an opportunity of personally investigating the disease, and having, moreover, an opportunity of showing you a specimen of fibrous tumour removed yesterday by ligature, I now propose to consider the subject generally, as the best commentary I can possibly make on the cases in question. Indeed, I feel convinced, that in no other way is it possible for me to treat so comprehensive a subject, either with justice to myself, or profit to you. Although I have seen a great variety of cases of this disease, I am but imperfectly acquainted with the result of the smaller description of tumours. In most of the instances, however, the tumour ceased to give trouble, and in some of them entirely disappeared. I have kept accurate and copious notes of the more important of the cases, of which I am about to give a brief summary. Of forty-seven cases, thirty-seven occurred in married women, and ten in unmarried. Of the total number, nine died; one from mere exhaustion, the emaciation being extreme, and the tumour equal in size to the gravid uterus at term; three from inflammation of the tumour; one from peritonitis, after delivery; one from phlebitis; and one from hemorrhage, in consequence of a fungoid growth of the lining membrane; one from a protracted hemorrhage, in connection with ovarian disease, and one died under circumstances which I was unable to ascertain. Of the remaining thirty-eight cases (which I shall again advert to) the disease in several of them entirely disappeared, and continues in the rest in various states, though for the most part passive.

Fibrous tumours possess great diversity of character, both as to their situation, their size, number, position, and the symptoms by which they are distinguished. As respects their structure, there is every variation and grade between sarcoma and structures having the firmness of scirrhus, and in large and old tumours the phosphate of lime not unfrequently enters largely into their texture. In opposition to the opinion of Bayle, Dr. R. Lee believes, "that the greater number of these tumours never exhibit a muscular or fleshy appearance at any period of their existence, but have a fibrous structure equally distinct when not larger than a pea, and when exceeding in magnitude the head of the human adult."*

An eminent pathologist, Dr. Hodgkin, when examining some specimens of this disease in my possession, observed, that the term fibrous tumour was incorrect, and reiterated his published opinion, that all such growths possess the essential structure of compound

adventitious cysts.

There is no natural malignity in the structure of a fibrous tumour, neither is a malign tendency easily acquired. Whether or not malignant action ever occurs unconnected with an existing pregnancy, or with sloughing of the lining membrane of the uterus, which covers the tumour, I cannot determine; but, unquestionably, a long-continued irritation of the lining membrane may terminate not only in increased vascularity and thickening, but even in ulceration, or fungoid excrescence of a malignant kind. An instance of this, which proved fatal to life by ulceration and sloughing of the lining membrane, I have already brought before you. These malignant changes are accompanied by a sanious, offensive discharge, emaciation, loss of appetite, and sleep, a frequent feeble pulse, and a pale-yellow countenance, but rarely, I believe, by glandular contamination. It is allowed on all hands, that fibrous growths are not highly organised; indeed, it has been said that they are not supplied with vessels, and hence the futility of attempting to effect their absorption: the fibrous tumour has, however, been injected. In a case of this kind treated by Dr. Thomson,† it is said, "he had been able to trace vessels in its substance proceeding from the centre to the circumference;" and this is not a solitary instance, for my friend Dr. Montgomery successfully injected one of these fibrous growths with very fine size. Perhaps the injections usually employed have not been equally well calculated to permeate the vessels, or the structure of the mass may have been too dense to receive any kind of injection.

The fibrous tumours may commence either singly or in masses, the size varying from that of a pea to that of an adult head; and they may arise in any part of the proper tissue of the womb, either just underneath the peritoneum, or under the lining membrane, or between them, and, ultimately, the disease may involve all the

^{*} Med. Chirur. Trans., vol. xix., p. 106. † Lancet for 30th March, 1839, p. 58.

structures of the part. In this specimen the disease is confined to the body and fundus of the organ, but in another it extends to the neck. The descent of the tumour has usually the effect of shortening the vagina, though in three instances I found it quite impracticable to reach the uterine orifice, which had been carried above the symphisis pubis.* Circumstances may also tend to force the womb on either side quite into the hypogastrium; thus constituting a kind of obliquity analogous to certain states of pregnancy, and distinct knobs may sometimes be felt on different parts of its surface.

The symptoms denoting the existence of the fibrous tumour correspond very much with the situation of the disease. Thus, when confined to the inferior and anterior part of the womb, the bladder will be rendered unusually irritable, and the sense of bearing down, especially in the erect posture, will be distressing. When the tumour projects posteriorly, it not only occasions pain in the sitting posture, and difficulty in passing the alvine discharges, but likewise pain in the rectum, and great irritability of the sphincter. The distress, however, as already stated, does not always correspond with the situation of the tumour. The mere sinking of the tumour is calculated to produce an expulsive effort, and under a very powerful action fibrous bodies have been entirely disconnected from the uterus. You have an instance of this in the specimen before you; indeed, the softer kinds of polypi have not unfrequently been disconnected from the uterus, either by its general contractions, or by the contractions of the neck squeezing the stem to its complete separation: usually, however, the mass separates by sloughing, of which I shall adduce a striking example. The constitutional disturbance is not peculiar to inflammation. The effect of the fibrous tumour over the cerebro-spinal system is very

^{*} The degree of malposition will correspond with the bulk of the tumour, and with its attachments to the womb posteriorly. Since this lecture was forwarded for publication, I have read the details of Dr. Beatty's interesting case of labour, complicated with a fibrous tumour, connected with the cervix uteri on its posterior surface. It appears that it was quite impracticable to distinguish the uterine orifice either prior to labour, or during the first twenty-seven or eight hours after labour had commenced; subsequently, however, the orifice was detected above the symphisis pubis. The tumour lay between the vagina and rectum, almost resting on the perineum, the entire pelvis being blocked up by it. At the commencement of labour it was supposed that the Cæsarean section would be absolutely necessary to the delivery, and yet the tumour ultimately receded sufficiently to permit Dr. Beatty to pass his hand into the vagina, and make pressure on the tumour in the direction of the axis of the brim. By this means the further elevation of the tumour was promoted, and, finally, the child (which presented by the breech) was delivered unmutilated. The parturient action had the effect of rectifying the unnatural axis of the uterus, and of elevating the tumour quite out of its position, by the gradual retraction of the posterior part of the cervix, and the shortening of the longitudinal fibres. Dr. B. refers to an old published case of procidentia uteri, a great part of the uterus being external to the body throughout pregnancy, and yet receding in the pelvis on the accession of the first strong labour pain. - Dublin Medical Journal for July 1, 1840, p. 411.

striking, being denoted not only by pain in the lumbar part of the spine, but by severe hysteria on the approach of each menstrual period; in middle-age women especially, hysteria not unfrequently depends upon organic changes of this nature. Functional disturbance of the digestive powers takes place just as it does in the early weeks of pregnancy, and the mammary sympathies are sometimes equally striking. I lately saw a patient in consultation who had a severe form of uterine hemorrhage, said to depend upon placentar presentation. Milk was freely secreted, but, on examination, the symptoms were found to originate in a fibrous tumour, the size of a hen egg, connected with the upper part of the cervix uteri. An inflammatory state of the tumour will occasion a considerable degree of constitutional disturbance, and the severity of the symptoms will correspond partly with the size of the tumour, and partly with its locality. The symptoms which characterise a tumour in a state of acute inflammation cannot be misunderstood. They are augmentations of its volume; great pain, especially in moving; tenderness on pressure; a loaded, and sometimes a red and glazed tongue; frequent pulse; heat of surface; sickness and vomiting; thirst; constipation, and suppression of pre-existing discharges; rigors will rarely fail to indicate the stage of suppuration; the bladder will be more or less disturbed, the inflammatory action extending, perhaps, to its mucous membrane, and the rectum may be so affected as to constitute mechanical obstruction.

The local effect of a fibrous tumour upon the nervous tissue is very marked. One of the most striking instances of this occurred in a woman who had, for a length of time, suffered intense pain in one knee, and painful micturition, together with attacks of supposed inflammation of the bladder. The uterine derangement was apparently slight, and yet, on examination per vaginam, I detected a cluster of large and hard tumours underneath the peritoneal covering of the uterus. The pain in the knee continued very severe for two or three years, and the constitutional symptoms ultimately destroyed life. I have already expressed my conviction, that uterine neuralgia is rarely owing to mere functional disorder, and may sometimes be traced to the influence of a fibrous tumour over a naturally irritable temperament. In one of these instances, the vaginal examination was not only attended with severe pain, but followed by delirium, which continued more or less for several days; and, in a second instance, its effect upon the nervous system was almost equally striking. But, supposing the fibrous tumour to have been quite passive, the time, at length, may arrive when it receives an impulse, perhaps, from marriage; the mass grows, is productive of pain, and menstruation becomes deranged. Pregnancy and lactation again lead to its active development, especially the former; inflammation, perhaps, attacks the tumour from time to time; its central parts soften; hemorrhage may attend delivery, or peritonitis may follow it; and, supposing these evils to be averted, the tumour may become painful, and occasion numbness and ædematous swellings of one or both of the lower extremities. Inflammation may also extend to the veins, constituting phlegmasia dolens, as in one of the fatal cases already mentioned.*

Although the disease may be called into active operation, at any period of life after the establishment of the catamenia, it is rarely observed until the uterus has repeatedly suffered excitement. am not aware that the development has been noticed antecedent to the first appearance of the menses, although I have detected the disease in girls under the age of twenty; but, according to Bayle, the development has not been noticed before the thirtieth year. The effect of fibrous formations over the functions of the womb are very dissimilar in different cases, though menstruation usually becomes excessive. Moderate-sized fibrous growths may, undoubtedly, exist in the uterine walls for years, especially in persons past the meridian of life, without affecting the health, or producing any kind of inconvenience, their existence not being even suspected; and yet, in young persons, the very reverse of this may happen. Indeed, the smaller kinds of tumour usually produce more acute suffering than tumours of a larger kind, whose bulk does not incommode the neighbouring parts. It would seem, therefore, that the disturbance in the uterine system will, in a great measure, correspond with the early development of the growth, just as in pregnancy the symptoms are more active in the early than in the latter weeks. A large-sized tumour is very likely to occasion a severe and protracted form of menorrhagia, which may continue for years unattended by coagulated discharge. This circumstance is indicative, I presume, of a tolerably healthy state of the lining membrane. Usually, however, the discharges are not only copious and frequent, especially where the tumour is situated above the cervix, but freely coagulate; and yet the tumour may lead to the termination of life, unaccompanied by discharges of any kind, even leucorrhœal. It has occurred to me, repeatedly, to observe the absence of the catamenia synchronizing with the first sensible effect of the fibrous tumour, an attack of hemorrhage taking place after the lapse of a few weeks. This, in three instances, was accompanied by the expulsion of a large membrane, like the deciduous membrane of pregnancy; in two other instances, by a painful enlargement of the glandulæ Nabothi; and in all of them it was erroneously believed that abortion had happened. It is a well known fact, that fibrous tumours undergo a decided increase just before each menstrual period, a free discharge having also the effect of greatly relieving pain. Not, however, that the hemorrhage invariably produces relief, for the discharge may fail to find a ready outlet. A large-sized tumour, for instance, may materially encroach upon the uterine cavity, occasioning a change both in its size and shape. It becomes crooked, and deep enough to contain

^{*} Death has even been produced by injuries to the viscera, interposed between the enlargement and the abdominal walls.

a considerable quantity of blood; its retention is, moreover, favoured by the narrowness of the neck, and in persons who have not borne children, by the small size of the orifice. The contractile powers of the womb are also defective, and the escape of the blood is rendered still more difficult; until, at length, the mass is expelled, and often in a decomposed state. A difficulty may, however, occur, as in the instances I will now mention to you. The first was a case of supposed pregnancy; the cervix uteri was distended by a tumour, like the ovum about the tenth week, and the uterus had ceased to make efforts for its expulsion. The mass was suffered to remain some days in this situation, and was then removed artificially; it proved to be merely solidified blood. In the other case, I extracted a real ovum from a similar situation, where it had been detained for two or three days; the ovum was confined by a fibrous tumour, situated within the walls of the cervix uteri, on its posterior side, and the pressure made upon the anterior part of the neck interrupted its circulation, and occasioned a large ædematous swelling, almost equal in size to the ovum itself, while the draining had gone on to a somewhat alarming extent. The size which the cavity of the womb may acquire, in diseases of the organ, is well displayed in the preparation now before you; it is a large fibrocartilaginous growth, and a pound and a half of blood was actually removed from the cavity of the uterus after death. The lining membrane had the colour of vermilion, and was studded with small points, and a fungoid excrescence at the fundis occasioned hemorrhage, under which the patient sank. Here is another similar preparation, which also shows the size, depth, and irregularity of the cavity. You may, perhaps, suppose that the fibrous tumour will lead to bad consequences on the final cessation of the catamenia, but such is not generally the case, for although the function affords relief to the periodical congestion, the congestion itself will cease on this period arriving, and, consequently, the tumour is likely to undergo a favourable change. The continuance or cessation of the catamenia will, it is true, depend very much upon the size and relative situation of the tumour. The lining membrane undergoes but little change from a tumour which is confined within the structures of the neck of the uterus. If it be large and connected with the body and fundus uteri, the lining membrane will, probably, have acquired increased thickness and vascularity, occasioning frequent hemorrhage, and watery discharge. The presence of a tumour is also attended with difficult menstruation; and the discharge is scanty, accompanied, sometimes, by the expulsion of portions of fibrin, without colour, or by a well-formed membrane of coagulable lymph. This deciduous-like membrane is formed in the interval between the monthly periods, consequently the uterus is always more or less enlarged, and its mucous membrane preter-Severe disturbance in the nervous system naturally vascular. usually ensues. This form of painful menstruation can very generally be traced to the effect of pregnancy over a fibrous growth,

previously small, and in a dormant state. Whenever this painful menstruation arises for the first time after delivery, the condition of the womb should be most carefully ascertained. I have already remarked, that the discharge is scanty. The portions of lymph are usually small, varying from the size of a pin's head to that of a finger-nail. Here, however, is a specimen of extraordinary size, three inches at least in circumference. The cavity of the uterus must have undergone enlargement, for the lady has passed nearly thirty periods of similar suffering. Lately the mucous membrane of the bowels has taken on a similar diseased action. The excitement of the uterine membrane is rarely, I believe, associated with

the larger kinds of fibrous growths.

In derangements of this nature a free discharge is productive of great relief, and I have repeatedly noticed that there are two distinct periods of suffering. The first is attended with the usual slight discharge, and lasts two or three days, at which time the period appears to have terminated; but after the lapse of a short interval, varying from a few hours to a few days, an extreme state of suffering arises, exceeding the first period in severity, and unattended, or nearly so, by discharge. This also continues two or three days, and then disappears. The effects upon the lining membrane of the womb are very marked, pain and the formation of membrane being the chief. Instances of the connection here spoken of have repeatedly come before me, and in all of them the pre-existence of the fibrous tumour could be clearly proved. In the larger tumours, instead of the formations of lymph, the lining membrane not unfrequently secretes a white mucous kind of fluid. of which I shall presently speak. Sometimes again the secretion is of a purely serous character; and then, after a time, edematous swellings arise, the appetite fails, the complexion assumes a sallow hue, in fact, a confirmed state of anæmia ensues. Inflammation of the mucous membrane of the bowels is not unlikely to succeed an obstinate inflammation of the lining membrane of the womb, and I have repeatedly witnessed it. I would, however, only be understood to say, that this morbid condition of the intestines is frequently associated with pre-existing uterine disorder; the derangement of the nervous system generally, and of the spine in particular, being kept practically in our view. There are two distinct kinds of uterine enlargement, which must be distinguished from each other, viz., fibrous tumour having an encysted structure. and general hypertrophy with induration of the proper tissue of the organ. If the development of the tumour have been partial, if its surface be modulated, defined, tender, and possess firmness, the presumption will be in favour of its fibrous character, and it is probable that other similar tumours will be in course of develop-The more general enlargements of the womb appear to consist of mere hypertrophy of the uterine parenchyma. We often ee this in the cervix uteri especially, the posterior or anterior surface being perhaps quite disproportionate in length and thick-

ness to the contrary side. Time alone will enable you to ascertain correctly the nature of a large and firm tumour of the uterus. Mere congestion of the organ, consequent upon suppressed menstruation, will occasion a considerable amount of enlargement; but this possesses none of the firmness of the fibrous degeneration, and differs from this disease in its history. The enlargement, moreover, yields in a remarkably rapid manner to a return of healthy menstruation. There is also a form of enlargement, comprising a thick, moderately soft and uniform swelling, occupying the interior of the cervix generally, limited to the mucous and submucous tissues, and sometimes occasioned by the obstruction which a fibrous growth offers to the free return of blood. An inflamed state of the glandula Nabothi is usually attended with considerable swelling, hardness, pain, and irregularity of the interior of the cervix, and may be easily distinguished by the finger from other morbid states of this portion of the organ. It is usually attended by more or less hemorrhage, and other discharges, and the os uteri will probably not occupy the centre of the swelling.

It is also very possible to confound small-sized fibrous growths with displacements of parts — I allude to a peculiar displacement of the womb comprising a curvature of the superior part of the cervix, having its convex surface towards the sacrum. Such a mistake, however, will not be likely to arise, if we recollect the characters of the small fibrous tumour, and connect our knowledge of these with the history of the case. A displacement, having some little resemblance to retroversion of the womb, may also occur in connection with a fibrous tumour, the orifice being forced upwards and forwards. It varies, however, from retroversion, in the enlargement occupying the cervix uteri on its posterior side, as it

must always do under these circumstances.

The changes which the fibrous tumour may undergo, are for the most part the following: —

1st. The tumour may disappear by a process of absorption.

2d. It may continue enlarging to a certain extent and then remain stationary, and calcareous matter may be deposited in different parts of it.

3d. It may disappear by a long continued discharge, uncon-

nected with a suppurative process.

4th. It may undergo repeated attacks of acute inflammation in different parts of its substance, implicating perhaps its entire structure, and terminating in mere softening or in suppuration; but the

suppurative process is usually very imperfect.

5th. It may ultimately change its situation relatively to the part where it was originally developed, and project into the cavity of the womb; even through the os internum, so as to admit of removal by ligature; and if the operation be neglected, it may spontaneously slough away.*

^{*} A large-sized fibrous tumour, recently cast off by sloughing from the uterus of a middle-aged unmarried lady, was shown to me a few days ago. Two years

LECTURE XI.

FIBROUS TUMOURS OF THE UTERUS (Continued).

Influence of the absorbents on fibrous tumours; earthy deposits in fibrous tumours; effect of loss of blood on fibrous tumours; discharges accompanying fibrous tumours; treatment of fibrous tumours; instances of cure; fibrous tumours producing retroversio uteri; sloughing of a fibrous tumour; removal of fibrous tumours.

I will now advert to my own experience in support of the several statements contained in the former part of this lecture.

1st. I have said that the tumour may yield to the agency of the absorbents, unattended by any sensible change besides its gradual disappearance. The observations already made, as to the organisation of fibrous growths, will have led you to anticipate much difficulty in reducing them by medicine; indeed, the larger and firmer class of tumours; fibro-cartilaginous and nodulated and multiform tumours, are not susceptible of discussion, and it is in vain to make the attempt. The examination of the uterus, per vaginam, with a view of ascertaining whether the inflammatory condition of the tumour has really subsided, should be made most deliberately, lest we confound the change occasioned by the subsidence of acute inflammation, or the absorption of the serous infiltration in the cellular tissue around the tumour, with the diminution or entire absorption of the tumour itself. It more frequently happens that whilst the cellular tissue regains its healthy state, the tumour undergoes but little appreciable change. By many eminent men the disease in question is regarded as essentially incurable; but I am quite certain that fibrous tumours, which could be distinguished so plainly as to leave no possible

previously I had an opportunity of visiting this lady on account of a tumour, supposed to be an enlarged ovary, and which occupied the hypogastrium. I made the following remark in my note book : - " A solid enlargement of the uterus, resembling in figure the gravid uterus at the fourth or fifth month. There is great hemorrhage at the monthly periods; the countenance is sallow, and the symptoms are those of anæmia. The disease has continued six years." I recollect that one or both legs were ædematous from the pressure of the tumour, and that the os uteri was exceedingly small. At this time, therefore, the case did not warrant a presumption that it would terminate in the way I have mentioned, and no other opportunity of renewing the examination was afforded me. A truly interesting and almost parallel case will be found in my work on obstetric medicine, p. 165. The disease had existed several years, and was removed by ligature. The patient has been in good health ever since. It is a singular fact, that a hard, fibrous tumour, inflaming from time to time, and producing the severest constitutional distress, may be confined within the walls of the womb, perhaps partially occupying the cavity of the organ for so many years, and at length make its way through the uterine orifice, and admit of removal by ligature, just as a common polypus does, or even slough away, and allow of the patient's recovery.

doubt of their existence, have entirely disappeared under remedies which act in a peculiar manner upon the absorbent system.

Better evidence I cannot give you.

2dly. The specimens of large fibrous growths now before you (one of them surrounded by earthy deposit) present evidences of very slow growth; their great induration supplying abundant evidence in support of the opinion, that they must have been pas-

sive for a great length of time.

3dly. The tumour may yield, to a great extent at least, to protracted losses of blood and other discharges. Under the circumstances of an ordinary menstrual period, almost every enlargement of the womb undergoes a temporary reduction in size, and a protracted hemorrhage has the effect of reducing gradually, but certainly, the bulk of a fibrous tumour, until at length a very inconsiderable part of the mass remains; indeed, if the constitutional powers be sufficiently strong to withstand the discharge, the tumour cannot fail to subside; and it is only when the constitutional powers are sensibly impaired, that such an hemorrhage becomes an object of medical treatment. In a particularly striking case of this kind, in which the size of the uterus was equal to a six months' pregnancy, the hemorrhage was excessive for at least three years, at first only at the usual menstrual periods, but during the five months which immediately preceded its cessation it did not remit a single day. The effect of this hemorrhage was the disappearance of the far greater part of the tumour, a very small portion of it, corresponding to the size of a hen's egg, still remaining attached to the cervix uteri, but producing no kind of inconvenience. At the time I first saw this lady she had consulted several very eminent practitioners, and had tried the usual remedies during a period of many months without relief, and no reasonable hopes of her life could be then entertained. The tumour was observed after her first and only delivery. It was hard and painful, and extended to the umbilicus; and yet under a hemorrhage, which, in many persons, would have destroyed life, the disease was very nearly removed.

and discharges of a white or purulent or grumous nature. Softening of a tumour is generally, but not necessarily, the result of
pregnancy, and may or may not proceed to suppuration. It may
be either very limited or extend to the fibrous tumour, generally
commencing in its centre, and progressively disorganising its component parts. Inflammatory action, merely in small-sized tumours,
usually pervades the entire mass, and extends to the adjacent cellular tissue. Let us suppose the existence of a defined, moderately-sized tumour in the womb. From some cause it inflames
— the neighbouring portion of the organ, say the cervix, which
had been previously healthy, becomes intensely painful when
touched, and so much swollen as to fill up the pelvic cavity, and
interrupt the discharges both from the bladder and rectum. The

effect of a few hours' inflammatory action in increasing the swelling is remarkable, and very characteristic of phlegmon. swelling is moderately firm, diffused, smooth, and easily distinguished by a practised hand, from the defined, unyielding, and knobby character of a small fibrous growth. The hardness continues to increase so much, as to afford no indications of the presence of a fluid formation. After a time, however, the swelling subsides, accompanied with an alleviation of pain. Sometimes the relief is sudden, and follows the discharge of a quantity of purulent fluid usually formed in the cellular tissue, and not in the fibrous enlargement. On the complete subsidence of the inflammation, the tumour will be found much diminished in size, but may still plainly be felt. Grumous Discharges. - By this term, I mean a fluid having very much the colour and consistence of chocolate, or the contents of an unhealthy and imperfectly suppurated boil. The discharge, which is inodorous, does not coagulate, and seems to consist partly of venous blood and partly of a portion of the tumour itself, in a state of pulp or solution, and intimately connected with the vessels opening on the lining membrane of the womb. The discharge comes away so gradually, that several weeks may elapse during its continuance; and the subsidence, if not the disappearance of the tumour may with much confidence be anticipated. A suppurating tumour in that portion of the womb which lies above the vagina, may be discharged either by the rectum or through the abdominal parietes. In two instances, which I have seen, the tumour presented at the groin, and the contents of the abscess were discharged by puncture. Both patients recovered In one of these, however, a large and exceedingly painful tumour reappeared, about two years afterwards, in the upper and anterior part of the cervix uteri (the same situation as before), and subsided gradually under a thick chocolate-coloured discharge, per vaginam. In another case, a discharge of a dark, inodorous, pastelike secretion, with a deposit like gunpowder, took place both from the vagina and rectum, during the middle months of pregnancy. The tumour was situated in the lateral and posterior part of the cervix uteri; and severe constitutional distress, even to coffee-ground vomiting, came on, and threatened the destruction of life. The tumour is reduced in size since the patient's delivery, but is still large, very tender to the touch, and severely affects the nerves of the lower extremities, so as to impede walking. Genuine pus rarely forms in fibrous tumours, but I here exhibit to you a fine specimen of healthy purulent suppuration in the interior of the growth, the walls of the abscess being in a creamy state. The mass does not exceed the bulk of an orange, and derived its activity from a co-existing ovarian disease, which, as you may remember, terminated fatally by its pressure on the colon. Indeed, purulent matter to a great extent may form in large fibrous growths. lady, who was the subject of one of these large growths, married rather late in life, became pregnant, and had a dangerous labour.

It is supposed that inflammation ensued previous to delivery, for she died in a few days afterwards; and the interior of the tumour was so much disorganised, as to contain almost a quart of purulent fluid.

Another form of discharge, under which a fibrous growth loses some of its bulk, corresponds to the white mucous discharge of Sir C. Clarke's classification. This discharge is formed in the interval between the periods of menstruation, and comes away in gushes or drainings, or both. Unlike the grumous discharge, it does not proceed from the disorganisation of the tumour, but from the lining membrane generally, as an effect of the increased action of the uterine system. In one of these instances the tumour occupied the hypogastrium, and was nearly as high as the umbilicus. The discharge became excessive, and during its long continuance the tumour was gradually reduced, until, at the end of about two years, scarcely any of it remained; so little, indeed, as only to be felt, per vaginam; and when I last examined, I was unable to feel it at all. It appeared to me that the fluid began to accumulate in the enlarged uterine cavity soon after the close of each menstrual period, but was prevented from escaping by mucus within the neck, acting like a plug. After the expiration of a few days, when the cavity may be supposed to have become somewhat distended, painful contractions ensued, the mucus was dislodged by the pressure of the fluid, a gush suddenly took place, and, for a time, there would be no farther obstruction. The discharge had the effect of greatly relieving pain, and reducing the volume of the uterus. Ultimately, the disease was cured.

5thly. In support of the statement, that the fibrous tumour may change its situation, relative to the part where it was originally developed, I will presently relate to you two remarkably interesting

examples.

Treatment. — The inefficiency of medical treatment in cases of fibrous tumours, may be ascribed partly to the firmness of their structure and their low degree of organisation, and partly to the periodical determination of blood and the excitement which accompanied it. As the treatment must be regulated by the existing condition of the tumour, I shall necessarily call your attention to a variety of points, dissimilar, perhaps, in kind, but adapted to the varying circumstances of each individual case. The discharges from the womb, and their effect upon the disease and on the general system, demand especial attention. An inflammatory state of the tumour, from its tendency to suspend the natural secretions, should be treated as actively as the case will permit; every means, also, which may tend to allay pain or improve the general health, must be enforced. Although it is quite necessary to repress inordinate discharges, it is too much the practice to consider hemorrhage as an indication for medical treatment, without regard to the effect which the hemorrhage is calculated to produce. Not only may it be unnecessary to employ

astringent applications, but it may be really dangerous by producing not only pain, but even acute inflammation. Precaution should be observed even in suppressing hemorrhoidal discharges, for they may prove salutary by relieving the uterine circulation. Thus I have known a fibrous tumour situated within the walls of the cervix actually diminished during pregnancy, a change which could only be attributed to discharges of blood from the rectum. When the hemorrhage from the uterus is severe, or the menstrual discharge is protracted, or so copious as to be incompatible with the patient's strength, suitable measures must be promptly enforced; the muriated tincture of iron, or the superacetate of lead in acetic acid, may be recommended, and the external applications of cold, and cold injections, particularly per rectum, will be highly proper. A profuse watery discharge, which proceeds either from the mucous membrane simply, or from an excrescence growing from it, should be restrained by a moderately strong astringent injection, and for this purpose alum answers exceedingly well. The utmost attention must also be paid to the bowels, for constipation has not only the effect of determining blood to the womb* and increasing its circulation, but promotes uterine descent, and renders the fibrous tumour more painful. Straining should be carefully avoided, and the bowels should be regulated once or twice in the twenty-four hours by medicines which exert no direct stimulus over the rectum. An inflammatory condition of the tumour should be treated by the occasional application of leeches, either to the surface of the tumour, the uterine orifice, the verge of the anus, or the groin. The practice is especially useful in cases attended by pain, tumefaction, and tenderness; and where the periodical discharge is pale-coloured, and too scanty to afford relief, the depletion has also the effect of allaying spasm of the cervix uteri, and allowing the free egress of portions of fibrin, which, in certain form of dysmenorrhæa occupy the interior of the organ, and occasion pain and severe disturbance in the nervous system. An inconsiderable bleeding from two or three leeches will soon produce comparative tranquillity. The mere excess of fibrin sometimes, indeed, yields to a temporary abstinence from animal food, as in two very obstinate cases of this nature, which I have already mentioned to you. In cases of fibrous tumour, complicated with painful and difficult mentruation, the tepid hip-bath, and other relaxing means, should be employed a few days before each periodical return. If the vaginal portion of the uterus be in an aphthous state (so well represented by this little drawing),† a solution of the nitrate of silver applied to the surface

† Obligingly taken from the living subject by a late pupil, Mr. Baker, the house-surgeon of the hospital.

^{*} A girl, attended by the late Dr. Darwall, died from excessive menstruation; she had a natural hemorrhagic tendency, and slight cuts, or even scratches, would bleed inordinately. Constipation also had the effect of producing menorrhagia. On one of these occasions the hemorrhage could not be suppressed (the plug was not used), and she died. On a post-mortem examination, with the exception of a very slight enlargement of one of the ovaria, the body was perfectly healthy.

will give very marked relief. With a view of exciting the action of the skin, antimonial medicines will be proper; pain may be allayed by morphia, and the bowels regulated by castor oil, or injections of the mildest kind. The hydrocyanic acid is well adapted to irritable states of the stomach. Supposing, however, an inflammatory swelling to proceed to suppuration, and that the matter does not readily find its way to the surface, on account of the resistance of the exterior coverings, we have to consider how far it is right to evacuate the fluid artificially. Some time ago, I was called a few miles hence, in consultation on a case of instrumental delivery; which was followed, in the course of a few days, by rigour and other symptoms. The woman died. On examination after death, a collection of matter was found within the uterine walls, but there was no other morbid appearance. In this instance, the matter could not have been reached had its existence been known. But supposing it to be accessible to the finger, what is to be done? The consequences of penetrating the solid structures of the womb might prove highly dangerous; and, under any circumstances, the puncture might not be made in such a direction as to reach the suppuration, supposing it to exist; and yet I think we may with propriety interfere, provided the suppuration be limited to the vaginal portion of the womb, and provided the local and constitutional suffering have become so severe as to threaten the destruction of life. A collection of this kind cannot remain any length of time in acutely-inflamed tissues, like the womb, with impunity; therefore the introduction of a grooved needle, or fine trocar, will be quite allowable, under the circumstances already mentioned; and if the chief fulness be towards the rectum, the puncture may be made in that direction, though nothing but the conviction of present danger would justify interference. A few months ago I attended a consultation, where the question of puncture was raised, and although unable to detect any fluctuation, we felt confident that suppuration had taken place; but as there was no immediate danger to life, we determined upon waiting, and within a few days the abscess burst through the rectum. Previous to this the pelvis was so filled up with the swelling, as to render it barely possible to pass a catheter. On the patient's recovery, a small-sized fibrous growth could still be distinguished above the vagina. I will now relate to you the particulars of a case where the termination was still more interesting, but the precise character of the uterine enlargement still remains uncertain.

Mrs. —, a married woman, but without family, for some months had experienced pain in the back and hypogastrium. I visited her in April, 1836. A few weeks previously to this, a tumour, in a state of actual inflammation, had been distinguished in the hypogastrium, extending to the umbilicus. On examination, per vaginam, I found the tumour resting upon the ossa pubis, and evidently contiguous with the uterine orifice; indeed, the cervix uteri was distended by it, and was nearly globular. About a

month subsequent to my visit, a discharge, per rectum, of extremely offensive and brown fluid took place, and continued escaping for about three weeks, when it entirely ceased. It frequently came away unmixed with fæces. The abdomen was not sensibly diminished for the first day or two, but, antecedent to the final disappearance of the discharge, it had nearly subsided. A year after this, the patient called upon me, and on examination, both per hypogastrium and also per vaginam, the disease seemed to have

entirely disappeared, and the uterus felt quite natural.

You are already aware that it is a common practice to resort to powerful medicines, with a view of discussing fibrous tumours; but, in these cases, such remedies must be introduced so largely into the system, before they will produce any decided effect upon the disease, that in persons of a weakly constitution their beneficial influence is by no means commensurate with the injury they inflict upon the general health. The slow action of such medicines on the diseased part, is accounted for by the low organisation of the tumour. The use of mercury should be confined to cases of acute inflammation, accompanied by much pain, tenderness, tumefaction, and, perhaps, infiltration of serum. In such cases, the specific action of mercury on the system produces much benefit; but, under other circumstances, its employment, except as an alterative, will prove hurtful. The influence of iodine, as well as mercury, over the absorbent system, is well known; but can the administration of iodine be recommended with the view of promoting the absorption of a fibrous tumour? Dr. Ashwell, who has written so very ably on this point, tells us that he found iodine far less effectual in hard tumours of the walls of the uterus than he did in similar diseases of the neck of the organ; in the former it had the effect of only restraining the increase of growth, in the latter the disease was cured by it.* I have myself also had reason to attribute the diminution, and even the disappearance of small fibrous tumours, for the most part to the effect of iodine, and in persons of unimpaired health it ought to be tried. But much harm may attend its large and protracted employment, and in feeble habits it is far better to rely upon measures which are perfectly compatible with the maintenance of the general health, and to limit iodine to its external employment. It may be rubbed on the perineum, groins, and thighs, and thus be effectually introduced into the system. A middle-aged lady took iodine largely, until the mouth was affected by it. A year afterwards I prescribed an ointment for her, composed of the hydriodate of potass and lard, and whilst using it she remarked, as a singular circumstance, that the taste of the iodine had returned; she was, in fact, under its decided influence. The ioduret of iron would seem well adapted to a class of cases attended with discharges and constitutional weakness. With a view of relieving the pain which is sometimes produced by blood,

^{*} Guy's Hosp. Reports, No. 1, p. 147 and 153.

confined, and perhaps decomposed, in the enlarged cavity of the womb (the only class of cases to which it is applicable), tepid water might be injected by means of an elastic bottle, to which a narrow elastic tube is attached, sufficiently long to reach the uterus, the body being recumbent, and the hips resting on the edge of a shallow vessel to receive whatever may return. In several protracted cases of dysmenorrhæa, from organic mischief, the effect of a small blister over the lumbar part of the spine was productive of very marked relief. The liability to frequent recurrence of the inflammation in a fibrous tumour, renders it improper to employ friction over its surface, or adopt any stimulating treatment; at least, not until the disease has become purely chronic. In very large tumours, a bandage, composed of very yielding materials, is sometimes useful by affording support to the tumour, provided it does not press upon the large veins and absorbents. Steel medicines are indiscriminately employed in almost all discharges from the womb. In cases of menorrhagia the value of steel is universally admitted; but in dysmenorrhæa, attended with the formation of membrane, steel may prove too stimulating, the blood usually containg fibrin in excess. Considering how the growth of a large tumour is promoted by a state of pregnancy, the duty of enjoining abstinence for a time cannot admit of doubt, and especially when the disease occupies the cervix. The danger of the tumour becoming inflamed, or presenting an obstacle to delivery, together with the increased risk of hemorrhage, will fully warrant such a recommendation. Moreover, the infant ought not to be nursed by the mother, for the tumour can scarcely subside whilst the mammary excitement continues. During a state of inflammation, perfect rest will be indispensably requisite. Under other circumstances, exercise, unless productive of pain, ought not to be neglected, lest the confinement should affect the general health. The position of the body must be varied according to circumstances; and, although the bladder is liable to be acted upon by the pressure of large-sized tumours, when the body is erect, the recumbent position should not be too strictly enforced, especially where there is obstinate constipation. Where the uterus has become retroverted by a fibrous tumour, the usual treatment must be pursued, though its replacement will, in a great measure, depend upon a diminution of the disease producing it. I have seen two such cases; the one occurred during pregnancy, and rectification, and took place under the use of the catheter. second occurred a few days after an abortion, the same means were employed, and the tumour (very tender to the touch) disappeared under the mercurial influence. A still more important complication remains to be mentioned, namely, an advanced state of pregnancy with a large-sized tumour. In a case of this nature, attended with great danger to life, it might become quite necessary to bring on premature labour; but I am unable to lay down any specific rules for your government. Some very able remarks on

this subject by Dr. Ashwell,* and a few plain comments by myself,† are already before the public, and to these I beg to refer you.

The fifth and last proposition, that the fibrous growth may ultimately change its situation so as to be expelled by the action of the womb, or slough away, or admit of removal by ligature, admits of very easy proof. You have already seen a specimen of fibrous growth, which was dissevered from its connections by the powerful action of the womb. In a still more marked instance, preceded by an hemorrhage of three years' duration, a fibrous tumour, which was sufficiently large to occupy the hypogastrium generally, had the effect of dilating the os uteri, and allowing the greater part of the mass to enter the vagina. Sloughing presently took place, which led to the detachment of the tumour and the removal of the disease; but the process had very nearly destroyed the patient. Had an examination per vaginam been made sufficiently often, the sloughing might have been prevented by the timely use of the ligature. It is true that the hemorrhage may go on for months, or even years, before the tumour reaches the lower part of the womb so as to be satisfactorily examined, and previously to this it is impossible to calculate with any degree of certainty on the course which the disease will take; but the change in question is far from improbable. Many such cases are on record: and whatever be the kind or degree of uterine enlargement, provided hemorrhage or other discharge should continue, and there be no decided evidence of malignant disease, the vaginal examination should be made from time to time, so as to watch the progress of the case, and act according to circumstances. The practice so commonly pursued of leaving a fibrous tumour altogether to its own course, is as dangerous as it would be to leave a true polypus to its own course, and is, therefore, equally to be reprobated. In regard to the removal of fibrous tumours by the ligature, I must observe that the success of the operation will depend very much upon the peduncle (usually very short in purely fibrous polypi) not having a covering of the proper structure of the uterus, and its lining membrane. Consequently, it is of the last importance to place the ligature on that part of the stem which is at the greatest distance from its uterine extremity; indeed it would be less objectionable to include a portion of the tumour itself, than to apply the ligature too near to the uterine parenchyma. The stem may consist almost altogether of the parenchyma, as in one of the specimens now before you; and an inspection of this will at once enable you to appreciate the danger which necessarily attend the application of the ligature under such circumstances. At the commencement of this lecture I called your attention to a specimen of fibrous growth, which was removed yesterday by ligature. The case is an important one, and I will give you the particulars. An unmarried

^{*} Guy's Hospital Reports, No. 1, and Lond. Med. Gazette for Dec. 17, 1836. † Obstetric Medicine, p. 153.

lady, aged forty-seven, began to suffer upwards of two years ago from excessive menstruation. For the first year this was the only symptom of disorder; but about the end of this time it was both preceded and accompanied by pain. She became sallow, lost her appetite, had a sharp, small pulse; the menstrual periods were characterised by hemorrhage and the formation of coagula, with an intervening watery discharge. On examination per vaginam, the uterus had acquired a large and round form, and had descended low in the pelvis. It had a very firm feeling, varying, however, in its firmness in different parts. The cervix uteri was a mere ring, and occupied the left sacro-iliac junction, and the os internum was remarkably small. The body, the fundus, and the portion corresponding to the neck of the organ seemed almost equally globular. This examination was made in May. At the beginning of August the distress increased; vomiting frequently took place, and the pain became greater, more especially in the left hypochondrium, and here there was great tenderness on pressure, and pain during in-

spiration.

I renewed the examination in the early part of October, when a very marked change had taken place. The inferior part of the womb, instead of being globular, had assumed an elongated and oblong form, not unlike a large German sausage, but much thicker. The os uteri, still in the left sacro-iliac junction, was now sufficiently open to admit the point of the finger, which came in contact with a very hard tumour. I had now an impression that the tumour would ultimately dilate the orifice, and pass into the vagina. In November there was but little change. The discharges were sometimes white and watery, sometimes rather adhesive and slightly tinged with blood. In the following March, I found the great bulk of the tumour in the vagina: it was very hard, irregular, and in shape resembled a large mushroom with sharp edges. Beyond the great body of the tumour, I could just perceive a very thick, short neck, having the feeling of fresh-cut Indian rubber. The uterus was much enlarged, and a second and smaller tumour could be distinctly traced in the hypogastrium. Unpromising as the case really was, yet, under an impression that the result would soon be fatal if nothing were done, I strongly recommended a trial of the ligature. In this opinion Mr. Hodgson, who was afterwards consulted, promptly concurred, and obligingly gave me his assistance at the operation. The ligature came away on the eighth day, leaving the tumour in the vagina. It was extracted by the forceps, though not without difficulty; and I now present it to your notice. It has no appearance of stem, and is too much torn by the crotchet to admit of your examining it advantageously; but it evidently has all the characters of the fibrous tumour. The patient did not experience a single bad symptom from the moment of the operation, and has now acquired a greatly improved state of health. The functions of the uterus are quite natural. The uterus is still too large, and the tumour which was felt in the hypogastrium seems connected with the body and neck of the womb, almost at a right angle with it, corresponding in its situation with the right sacro-iliac junction. It might be material in this species of tumour to use the ligature apparatus invented by Dr. Von Graefe, so as, if needful, to remit the pressure: a principle which equally applies to old cases of inversio uteri. The extirpation of a tumour which is defined, and does not extend beyond the vaginal part of the womb, might certainly be accomplished, although not without great risk, as in a case I have detailed elsewhere.* Severe pain, important hemorrhages, and constitutional distress threatening danger to life, might possibly justify the practice; but such cases have not at present come before me. The necessity for such a step might also arise from difficulties in parturition, either actually existing or anticipated, the destruction of the child being the only alternative; but the propriety of so formidable a proceeding should be most maturely considered in consultation. And now, Gentlemen, as this the last opportunity which will be afforded me of addressing you during the present session, I beg to acknowledge the marked attention you have given to the clinical instructions, which I have delivered in connection with this branch of medical education. My anxiety to impress important practical truths on the mind has been most satisfactorily responded to by the class, and although the obligation is mutual, you have afforded me a strong incentive for renewing these lectures at a future time.

THE END.

^{*} Obstetric Medicine, p. 146. The tumour, which nearly filled the cavity of the pelvis, was successfully excised by Mr. Samuel Evans, of Belper, formerly a most intelligent pupil of the midwifery class.

INDEX

TO

LECTURES ON DISEASES OF THE UTERUS.

Amenorrhea, 15 Amputation of the cervix uteri, Lis- franc, 140-8	Menstruation, cessation of, 37, 105 painful, 33, 103 Menorrhagia, 25, 33, 107
Bladder, diseases of the, in females, 197	Metrorrhagia, 107 treatment of, 27-33 treatment of, 109
Chlorosis, treatment of, 18-21 Chorea during pregnancy, 171 Cauterization for simple ulcerations of the uterus, 133	Neuralgia of the uterus, 68 ————————————————————————————————————
Dysmenorrhœa, 33, 103; treatment of, 33-36 Dropsy, ovarian, 180	Physometra, 75 Polypi, uterine, 76, 128 Plug, dangers of the, 156 Programmy, choren in 171
Emansio mensium, 16-18 treatment of, 22	Pregnancy, chorea in, 171 Placentar apoplexy, 149 ————————————————————————————————————
Gastrotomy, cases of and indications for, 163-7	Sterility, 39 Speculum, use of the, 96 Suppression of the menses, 22 treatment of, 23-5
Hemorrhage, uterine, 107 internal, 149 a symptom of poly-	Toucher, 93 Transfusion in menorrhagia, 32
Hysteria, 112 pus, 160 in pregnancy, 33	Treatment of amenorrhœa, 18-21
Hysteritis, 42 treatment of, 42-44 Hydatids of the uterus, 84, 188	hysteritis, 42-4 inflamed cervix uteri, 45 carcinoma uteri, 62-6
Ingleby, Dr., lectures by, 149	of the uterus, 55-8 of neuralgia of the ute-
Leucorrhæa, 110 Lisfranc, M., lectures by, 93-148 his mode of amputating the	rus, 70 of malignant ulcer of the womb, 49-52
Liver, disordered, in uterine hemor- rhage, 33	leucorrhœa, 111 hydatids of the uterus, 87-90, 194
Menstruation, 9, 102 absence of, 100 disorders of, 15	diseases of the uterus, 115-23 irritable uterus, 209
suppression of, 22	hemorrhage of the uterus,

230 INDEX.

Treatment of laceration of the uterus, 163-7 uterine polypi, 76, 129 tympanitis uteri, 76	Uterus, polypi of the, 128 ———————————————————————————————————
Uterus, unimpregnated, functions of, 11 —————————————————————————————————	
	See Womb.
——— tuberculated, 72 ——— tympanitis of the, 75	Vagina, polypus of the, 82 ————————————————————————————————————
	Waller, Dr., lectures by, 9-92 Womb, diseases of the, 40 ————————————————————————————————————
	malignant ulcer of the, 48 carcinoma of the, 59 polypus of the, 76, 168
engorgement of the, 126-8 a peculiar tumour of, 127	See Uterus.

APHORISMS

ON THE

TREATMENT

AND

MANAGEMENT OF THE INSANE;

WITH

CONSIDERATIONS

ON

PUBLIC AND PRIVATE LUNATIC ASYLUMS,

POINTING OUT THE ERRORS IN THE PRESENT SYSTEM.

BY J. G. MILLINGEN, M.D.,

Surgeon to the Forces; late Medical Superintendent of the County of Middlesex Pauper Lunatic Asylum at Hanwell; Member of the Ancient Faculty of Paris, and of the Medical Society of Bordeaux; author of the Army Medical Officer's Manual, of the Curiosities of Medical Experience, etc., etc.

Philadelphia:

ED. BARRINGTON & GEO. D. HASWELL.

NEW YORK — J. & H. G. LANGLEY: CHARLESTON, S. C. — WM. H. BERRETT:
RICHMOND, VA. — SMITH, DRINKER & MORRIS:
CINCINNATI, OHIO — J. A. JAMES.

TO DR. HUME,

INSPECTOR-GENERAL OF ARMY HOSPITALS, ETC., ETC., ETC.

THIS WORK IS INSCRIBED

AS A

FEEBLE TESTIMONY OF SINCERE ESTEEM.

CONTENTS.

				4				PAGE
On Insanity in General								9
Necroscopic Researches			1/60					45
Treatment of Insanity								49
Moral .								49
Physical	•							55
Emetics								57
Purgatives								57
Opium, na	rcot	ics, a	nd se	lative	s.			58
Counter-in	ritan	its						60
Bathing a	nd A	bstra	ction	of He	at		1	60
of Complicat	ions							63
On the Diet of Lunatics								65
On the Seclusion, Interd	ictio	n, an	d the	Discl	arge	of Lu	natics	68
On Public and Private I	unat	ic As	ylum	3 .				82
On the Construction and	l Dis	tribu	tion o	f Pub	lic As	ylum	s .	87

The same of the sa

INTRODUCTION.

Numerous works have been written on mental diseases, yet are they rarely read, excepting by those medical men who are more particularly engaged in the treatment of these affections, and unfortunately even by them with very little advantage. Several of these publications are only remarkable for their authors' ingenuity in metaphysical disquisitions and inquiries into the causation of causes, wandering through the intricate mazes of an interminable labyrinth, to materialise the mind. Other treatises are merely verbose prospectuses of private establishments, and contain an ad captandum collection of cures. Fortunately for mankind, there are works of a much higher grade, in which the authors have conferred everlasting benefits on society. Such must be considered the labours of Haslam, Arnold, Prichard, in this country, and Pinel and Esquirol, Hoffbauer, Heinroth on the continent; in which we find the most valuable practical information, both as regards

the moral and the physical management of the insane.

While it is thus difficult for the medical student to obtain satisfactory written information on mental alienation, he can learn but little from oral precepts, since in the lectures on the practice of medicine, which he attends in our several universities, these diseases are but slightly dwelt on, and in his clinical pursuits he has no opportunity of walking lunatic asylums. Thus are the junior members of the medical profession engaged in practice, with scarce any knowledge of the nature of insanity, or the treatment of the insane; while their constant occupations, which barely leave them leisure for such indispensable reading as is required to keep them on a level with the progress of the science, prevent them from studying a disease which they are seldom called upon to attend, and is considered as the special province of those practitioners whom the public dignify by the appellation of "Mad Doctors;" and, even amongst these privileged persons, the treatment of mental disease appears to be grounded on certain dogmatic principles; bleeding, blistering, purging, vomiting, and headshaving, being considered immutable remedial agents, aided by the strait waistcoat, the sleeve, the muff, the handcuff, or the leglock, with an occasional plunge in cold water, or a shower-bath, when the patient is unruly, and sane enough to consider himself most barbarously ill used. With this view of the subject, we find that in certain lunatic institutions the unfortunate inmates are bled in the month of June, and are prescribed an emetic "all round" every quarter. The science of "mad doctors" seems to consist in the art of obtaining as many patients as they can in private asylums, and to keep them as long as possible. In public establishments, where numbers do not yield any profit, the unfortunate incurable Toms o' Bedlam are discharged upon the world to commit murder or arson, or amuse the rabble, until elsewhere provided for, in this world or the next. Of those who perish in these Bastilles so little notice is taken, that in a late investigation of one of our most renowned asylums, it appeared that only 221 cases of death had been reported, whereas 364 patients had been relieved by death, in their oubliettes. It was on this occasion that a medical gentleman deposed, "that when a patient disappeared and was never more heard of, he was said to have been removed, and that when a patient was killed, the body was hurried away to prevent a coroner's inquest!!!" In fact, the horrors recorded of the Spanish inquisition were tender mercies compared to the diabolical crimes prepetrated in mad-houses. In an auto da fe, the victim was consumed at once in a blaze — in a lunatic's cell he is consumed by a slow fire.

Since these abominations were made known in 1815, no doubt the condition of the unfortunate lunatics has in some degree been ameliorated, inasmuch as these atrocities are only resorted to by stealth, and with some degree of apprehension, where detection is probable; but as, in the present state of lunatic asylums, their detection is not easily obtained, hundreds of unfortunates at this very hour are immured in their dismal prisons, condemned to a moral death in lingering agonies. The criminal, the debtor, the sick, are all protected from oppression. The insane alone, who dares not complain, and whose complaints are considered the ravings of a demented poor creature, has no protection. Prisons are inspected, and placed under a salutary surveillance; the madhouse is only visited as a matter of form, and not unfrequently

with apprehension of personal danger!

I am well aware that my proposal to place these establishments, whether public or private, under the immediate control of government, and submit them to the *surveillance* of responsible officers, will be considered an infringement of rights, of privileges, of patronage.

The momentary grace of mortal men, Which we more hunt for than the grace of God!

That any attempt to rescue the lunatic from misery will be called centralization. Nay, if another Howard presumed to visit these

abodes of wretchedness and forgotten beings, he would be considered a meddling busy-body. Such is the thirst for power, that those who hold it, 'bid'

"The law make courts'y to their will,"

and rather than surrender it into wiser hands, render themselves criminal by their incapacity, and unwillingly, and no doubt (it is to be hoped) unwittingly, become the accomplices of guilt. On this subject I cannot better express myself than by quoting the following passage from a most intelligent and experienced writer, Dr. Brown.*

"No arraignment is made of the *intentions* of the curators of the insane, but I do arraign the whole *system* of error which they have sanctioned. I call for a verdict of guilty, and a sentence of total subversion, on the pernicious absurdities which continue to be practised in their name and authority. Were men of enlightened minds, liberal education, and kind disposition, alone appointed or permitted to attend the insane, these abuses would disappear. To accomplish this, it would become necessary that all asylums should be public, and under the *control of government*. The great object of such a change would be, that all the privileges of those immediately entrusted with the insane should be patent to the public, and to legal authorities, and under the management of a body whose sympathies are all engaged in favour of the patient, rather than of his attendants."

It was while pondering over the heavy volumes written on insanity, and the various legal enactments for the protection of the insane, in various countries and codes, that I was struck with the conviction, that an epitome of these verbose labours, concise and portable, might be a desideratum with the junior members of the medical profession. Under this impression, in an aphoristic form, I have submitted to the public the following pages, in which I have compiled the most important points of what has been written on the subject, to which I have added the result of my own observations during several years' residence amongst the insane. Part of this experience has been dearly and bitterly purchased, when subjected to insult and persecution, which can only be paralleled by that experienced by my lamented predecessor;† and as experience thus obtained is proverbially considered valuable, I humbly indulge the hope, that this work may prove useful not only to the profession, but to those persons who may be directly or indirectly concerned in the management of the insane. I shall feel myself most amply rewarded for all my past labour and sufferings, if any of my suggestions can tend to meliorate the condition of the many

^{*} Lectures delivered before the managers of the Montrose lunatic asylum. Ed. 1837.

[†] The late Sir W. Ellis, who, like me, was compelled to resign the situation of medical superintendent of the Hanwell Asylum.

helpless and unprotected victims of patronage and speculation, who might well address the curious visiter in the words of Martyn:

How shall I bid thee welcome to a place Where joy yet never entered?— to a place Where horrors only reign! groans are our music, And sorrows our companions.

I am well aware that my suggestions for the melioration of the lunatic's condition will be opposed in various quarters. I trust that this opposition will, in the ratio of its virulence, convince the public of their necessity. With their approbation, I then may scorn hostility, and exclaim with Lear—

The little dogs, and all, Tray, Blanch, and Sweetheart, see, they bark at me.

12, St. John's Wood Road, Regent's Park.

APHORISMS ON INSANITY.

воок І.

ON INSANITY IN GENERAL.

1. Every morbid state that influences our reflective, observant, and imaginative faculties, disables an individual from conducting the process of reasoning, or the sound and healthy exercise of his mental attributes, constitutes insanity.*

2. A precise definition of madness cannot be attempted, as its degrees and intensity depend upon the extent to which the mental

faculties have been perverted from their normal condition.

3. It is difficult, if not impossible, to arrive at a conclusion regarding the causes of insanity, so far as to lead to a decision, whether they can be traced to moral or physical primitive agency, acting upon the moral disposition, the understanding, or the voluntary powers of propensities or will.

4. Either moral or physical symptoms may appear to predominate, yet are they not sufficiently evident to come to a conclusion

as regards the morbid action that developed them.

5. Experience tends to show, that the first causes of insanity may be traced more frequently to mental agency reacting upon the physical functions, until symptoms of a preponderance of the physical phenomena prevail. Thus a sudden moral impression of a violent

* Locke has defined madness in the following terms: -

"Madmen do not appear to have lost the faculty of reasoning, but having joined together some ideas very wrongly, they mistake them for truths, and they

err, as men do that argue right from wrong principles."

Cullen describes the disease to be, "in a person awake, a false or mistaken judgment of those relations of things which, as occurring most frequently in life, are those about which the generality of men form the same judgment, and particularly when the judgment is very different from what the person himself had before usually formed. There is generally some false perception of external objects, and that such false perception necessarily occasions a delirium, or erroneous judgment, which is to be considered as the disease."

It is evident, as Dr. Prichard very justly observes, "that these definitions merely apply to melancholia and monomania, or partial insanity:" these phenomena are very different from those of mania or raving madness, in which the mind is totally deranged, and in incoherence or dementia, in which the condition

and intense nature will produce a rapid deviation of the mind from its normal course — when physical phenomena, such as the hair turning white in the course of a few hours — the liver becoming diseased — the cerebral organ engorged and inflamed; will be developed with a rapidity scarcely credible.

6. The causes of insanity may be considered general or local,

physical or moral, predisposing or exciting.

7. The mind is influenced by climate, seasons, age, sex, temperament, profession, mode of living, and is modified in its manifestations by legislation, civilisation, customs, and the moral and

physical condition of nations.

8. Warm climates do not expose to this malady more than northern latitudes; on the contrary, it generally prevails in the temperate zones, subject to sudden vicissitudes of atmospheric constitution.

9. Attacks of mania are more frequent in spring and summer, and are then acute in their character, and, unless their cure is promptly obtained, only yield in the winter. Monomania is critical in the spring of the year; summer is most favourable for the treatment of dementia, and cures obtained at this season may be considered more permanent. When relapses occur at the same period as the first invasion, the case will prove obstinate — relapses are more frequent in spring and in summer than in the winter. In intermittent insanity the attacks are usually regular as to season.

of the faculties is such as to preclude the possibility of any mental effort or voluntary direction of thought.

The best division of insanity is, no doubt, that of Heinroth, which is as

follows: -

First kind of mental disorder. Disorder of the moral disposition.

First form. Exaltation, or excessive intensity. — Undue vehemence of feeling, morbid violence of passion and emotions.

Second form. Depression. - Simple melancholy, dejection, without illusion

of the understanding.

Second kind of mental disorders, affecting the understanding or the intellectual faculties.

First form. Exaltation. - Undue intensity of the imagination, producing mental illusions.

To this head belong all the varieties of monomania.

Second form. Depression. — Feebleness of conception; of ideas. Imbecility of the understanding.

Third kind of mental disorders, comprises, disorders of the voluntary power, or of propensities, or of will.

First form. Exaltation. - Violence of will and propensities. Tollheit or Madness without lesion of the understanding.

Second form. Depression. - Incapacity of willing, moral imbecility.

No classification could be more distinct theoretically; but, in a practical point of view, no correct definition can be attempted, as mental derangements undergo so many modifications.

However, to study this nosological classification requires much observation and experience: to the student the most simple classification is the following:

1. Mania, or raving madness.

Monomania, or partial insanity.
 Dementia, or incoherence.

4. Amentia, or imbecility.

Lunar phases evidently influence epileptic lunatics, but do not appear to act upon cases of dementia or mania. When the insane appear to be excited by the moon and the solar refulgence, the circumstance most probably may be attributed to the stimulus of their bright and dazzling beams: in monomania and melancholia connected with religion or with love, the moon seems to act by an association of ideas favourable to the gloomy mood of the sufferer, but not by any specific influence. We have no sufficient evidence of insanity being epidemic, to conclude that a peculiar condition of the atmosphere is more likely to affect the mind at one period than at another, under similar circumstances. The apparent contagion, or rather the sympathetic spread of insanity, is of a

moral nature, and chiefly connected with fear.*

10. Insanity is of very rare occurrence in childhood, though idiotism and imbecility are frequent: these affections are generally congenital, and arise from original mal-conformation. Many of such children are deaf and dumb. The delicate texture of the encephalon in children, and the transitory character of their impressions, are perhaps the reasons why insanity is of rare occurrence. Cerebral affections at that age, whether idiopathic or sympathetic, bring on convulsions, delirium, hydrocephalus, and death, if not promptly relieved. It is towards the evolution of puberty, and the approach of the catamenia, that insanity is developed: a rapid growth is frequently an attendant on the malady. In youth, mania and monomania are more frequently observed than any other form of insanity. Monomania appears to prevail towards the middle of life, while dementia threatens advanced age. During youth, derangement of the mind assumes a more acute character, and is brought with greater facility to a favourable issue; in middle age, the type of the disease is more chronic, and it is frequently complicated with visceral obstructions, and resolved by hemorrhage from the hemorrhoidal vessels and diarrhœa. In such cases the cure is more uncertain. Notwithstanding these observations, there are cases on record of dementia in young persons, and of mania in aged subjects. To recapitulate: imbecility is the disease of children - mania and monomania of middle life, and dementia of old age.†

† The following tabular calculation of Georget will tend to illustrate these observations: -

From	10 to 20	years of	age		356
	20 - 30				1106
	30 - 40				1416
	40 - 50				861
	50 - 60		,		461
	60 - 70				174
	70 and u	pwards			35

^{*} There is, however, no doubt, that certain seasons operate in an evident manner both on mind and body. It has been observed that some years are remarkable for the greater number of births of male or female children; other years have been attended with a greater number of miscarriages — a fact observed by Plutarch.

11. As regards the sex, - in Great Britain the proportion of males to females is as 13 to 12. In England, the number of males is more considerable than in Scotland or Ireland. In London and the county of Middlesex, the female cases are more numerous. In the sum-total of lunatics - in the asylums of various parts of the civilised world, Esquirol has calculated 37,825 males, and 38,701 females. When we consider the nervous impressionability of women, we might expect that they would predominate in the returns of lunacy, whereas, on the other hand, inebriety and debauch exercise a more powerful influence upon men; and if fond emotions may be considered, in the one case, as predisposing to mental aberration, on the other, liquor is a set-off against love. Alienation in females is observed at an earlier period than in males, and they are more subject to dementia. Their delirium is chiefly religious or erotic, complicated with hysteria, and pride is the frequent attendant on the malady which it had ushered in. Female lunatics are in general more deceitful and dangerous than men. Men are more subject to maniacal violence, are more easily cured, and less subject to

relapses.*

12. Particular professions and modes of living exercise a considerable influence in the development of insanity. Deep study and intense application, with the want of rest, both of mind and body, which ardent pursuits bring on, are as prone to derange the mind as the fervour of the enthusiastic imagination. Calculating speculations are as influential on the mind as versatility in ardent and passionate pursuits. While we recognise these predisposing causes, we must also take into account the habits of many enthusiasts, too frequently irregular, and which add materially to their morbid sensibility; and genius is too apt to let the passions follow a headlong course. In the ratio of the social qualities and agreeable converse of men of talent, are they exposed to the temptation of fascinating enjoyments. In deep, sordid speculation, or in ardent scientific disquisition, disappointments are bitterly felt, and the mind not unfrequently becomes blunted by exclusive pursuits which admit of no repose. † In both these conditions, although most opposite, the physical functions become disturbed. In the one case, the circulation of the blood is hurried, and the vital fluid is unequally distributed, occasioning fever, congestion, and excitement. In the plodding man of business, careworn by anticipations rarely realised, the digestive functions are disturbed, and their energies destroyed, the epigastric region be-

† Rowe has beautifully illustrated this painful dominion of thought in the

Fair Penitent:

Turn not to thought, my brain, but let me find Some unfrequented shade: there lay me down, And let forgetful dulness steal upon me, To soften and assuage this pain of thinking!

^{*} A very curious observation regarding the sexes was made in France, when it appeared, that of the lunatics rendered insane by political events, the males belonged to the aristocracy, and the females to the democracy.

comes the seat of tumultuous action, with all its fearful train of sympathies, and under their baneful influence insanity ensues.

13. Disappointed ambition, offended pride, and humbled vanity, are exciting causes attendant on particular avocations of life. In England, insanity appears to be most prevalent among female servants and workwomen, at whose feet the Pactolus of worldly grandeur flows in vain.* It is a painful task for the ambitious and discontented poor to prepare the gaudy trappings of the wealthy. In man, I apprehend that insanity chiefly visits individuals who have been disappointed in business, and who in their misfortune had recourse to the Lethean cup of ardent spirits, and beer, no less injurious. In France, it appears that prostitution deprives many ill-fated females of their senses: this cause is of rare occurrence in England. This circumstance may, perhaps, be accounted for by the different character of these unfortunate outcasts in the two countries. In France they are mostly women of ardent passions, strongly excited by love and jealousy, and worn out by artificial excesses; with us, these wretched creatures are debased and brutalised by excess of liquor, and corruption and depravity sink them into heartless apathy.

14. Inebriety, although most undoubtedly a frequent cause of insanity, is not so powerful an agent as is generally supposed. It is as often a symptom of insanity as a cause, when it degrades the

intellects before it perverts them.+

15. Insanity is of rare occurrence in barbarous nations.

16. Civilisation appears to favour the development of madness. This circumstance may be attributed to the restraints imposed upon the indulgence of the passions, the diversity of interests, and the thirst of power; long-continued excitement of the mental energies, and disappointment in affections and anticipations. The wants of the savage are circumscribed: he gives vent to the burst of his passions without control, and their violence subsides when they are gratified. In a more polished state of society, man dwells upon his injuries real or supposed, acts silently, and cherishes hopes of enjoyment, amongst which the sweets of revenge are not the least seductive. Such a condition, when followed by humiliating disappointment, must naturally tend to develope mental diseases.

* The same circumstance has been remarked in France, where, out of two hundred and forty-five female patients, fifty-one were servants and eighty-five workwomen. At Turin, in four hundred and sixteen female lunatics, there were

fifty-eight servants and forty-four occupied in domestic labours.

In a return of one hundred and thirty-two cases of mania, by Esquirol, he could only show inebriety as a cause of the disease in fourteen patients; in melancholia, nineteen out of one hundred and sixty-five. At Charenton, which is an establishment appropriated to persons of a higher rank of society, there were sixty-four cases arising from abuse of wine, out of two hundred and fifty-six. Georget, in one thousand cases, returns one hundred and six drunkards; and Bonacossa of Turin, in five hundred and fifty-five lunatics, attributes inebriety as a cause, to thirty-one cases, mostly complicated with love and jealousy; and in twenty-four provinces of Italy, out of two hundred, he returns seventy-three from drunkenness.

17. It is probable that the diseases of civilisation, which act chiefly on the nervous system, may have led to the original foundation of hereditary predisposition, transmitted by a shattered con-

stitution, and disturbed functions.

18. Celibacy augments the number of lunatics: this circumstance arises from the ungratified excitement that the restraints of that condition imposes, and from the vicious practices to which the single have recourse to gratify their desires.* It may be also observed, that married persons in general lead a more regular life.

19. Erroneous education in the higher classes, and want of a proper education among the lower order, may be considered predisposing causes, if not of insanity, at least of the passions or vices

that excite it.

20. Our passions may be considered the chief causes of insanity, producing stimulating or depressing spasms, which act most generally both on our physical functions and our mental faculties. This circumstance explains the prevalence of madness after puberty, when our relative social condition exposes us to the influences both of our natural passions and their artificial aberrations. Both sudden prosperity and adversity madden.

21. Religious delusions are no doubt the occasional cause of insanity; but these ideas are more generally an effect than a cause, and are to be attributed to the gloom and the fears of the melan-

cholic, who are constantly foreboding evil.

22. Religious insanity is comparatively rare among Roman Catholics, who seldom think deeply on the subject, and whose apprehensions are more easily relieved by their confidence in absolution. Where insanity is more frequent among persons belonging to the Romish persuasion, it will be found that it prevails amongst the upper classes, or better educated, where reflection brings on doubt, and doubt ushers in terror of a future state. In Germany, it must also be observed, that in addition to the enthusiastic character of the natives, both Catholics and Protestants read the Bible, a study which must stir up a spirit of inquiry, and rouse the "thinker" from a religious torpor.† Thus is it, that scepticism

* The following is a table of the married in Bicêtre, and the Salpêtrière : -

		Males.		
		980		492
		397		201
Widows		291		59
		5		3
		53		9
		1726		764
	w	Widows	Widows 291	

[†] If Germany is adduced as an example militating against the assertion that Roman Catholics are less subject to insanity than Protestants, let us look to Catholic countries. In Spain there were, in 1817, only sixty lunatics in the hospitals of Madrid, and fifty in Cadiz; and in Italy, the proportion of lunatics gives one to four thousand eight hundred and seventy-nine persons. In England the proportion is 1 to 1000, and in Scotland the proportion is 1 to 574. No

has been known to prove as fatal, if not more so, to the intellects, than enthusiasm; the sceptic ponders and doubts; the enthusiast firmly and implicitly believes without taking the trouble of investigation; in the one case the mind is miserable, in the other it revels in ecstatic joy.

23. Religious delusions vary according to physical predisposition, and frequently arise from the constant mental struggle between our

passions and our virtuous sentiments.

24. Religious monomania is the most likely to lead to suicide, being usually attended with despondency and despair, with the exception of cases of insanity brought on by severe losses; in

both cases despondency prevails.

25. Suicide, however, is of rare occurrence amongst lunatics: out of 12,000 lunatics confined at Salpêtrière during several years, only four suicides took place; at Hanwell, during fourteen months, out of 1000 patients, only three attempts at suicide were made. Where suicide is often attempted in an asylum, its moral management must be bad; where the deed is often perpetrated, its

management must be execrable.

26. Hereditary predisposition is an acknowledged fact, aggravated and accelerated in its development by the continual apprehension that must pervade the minds of subjects thus constituted. Not only are mental diseases brought on by apprehension, but physical disorders are frequently produced by a similar cause. This is instanced in diseases of the heart, where fear brings on a state of excitement, during which the circulatory functions are deranged; this derangement becomes frequent, until at last the sound action of the heart participates in the disturbed state, and finally the organ itself becomes diseased. It is the same with our mental faculties: by dint of intense thinking, and between conflicting

correct statistical report on this subject has been obtained from Ireland, which could bear upon the predisposition of religion. In France the most correct information gives 1 to every 1000. [In the United States some estimates have

been made, but the requisite data are as yet wanting.]

In the late returns of Bonacossa, of Turin, we only find fourteen cases of religious delusion in two hundred and seventy males, and four female cases, out of two hundred and thirty-nine; out of these one was terrified by a sermon and her confessor, eight by exclusive thoughts on religious subjects, and one from religious scruples. While religion seems to possess little influence in Italy, love exercises a more powerful sway; out of two hundred and seventy males, we find nine insane from deluded love, and eight from excessive love; while amongst fifty-three females, eleven were labouring under the fatal influence of this passion.

In England it is calculated that in twelve of the agricultural counties, the proportion of lunatics to the whole population is as one to 2245, while, in twelve non-agricultural counties, the proportion is as one to 1965. In France, out of one hundred and sixty-four cases, only three were cultivators of the soil. In Italy the proportion is much more considerable, and we find, by the return above stated, out of 1121 males there were two hundred and thirty-three labouring countrymen, and out of six hundred and seventy-one females, one hundred and

ninety-five villagers.

hopes and fears, the mind becomes incoherent; dwelling long, and at the same time vividly, on a particular engrossing subject, brings on stupidity. We frequently forget in our endeavour to remember.

27. In this series of reacting and conflicting sympathies, the digestive functions appear to be the first that are deranged by mental excitement. Hence the investigations of morbid anatomy in fatal cases of insanity usually exhibit functional alteration in the organs of assimilation. As the mind improves, and recovers more or less promptly its healthy action, we find that the digestive functions become more regular; therefore, excepting in cases of fatuity and idiotcy, we may entertain a favourable prospect of speedy recovery when the body from a state of emaciation begins to recover bulk. This is a practical point of the utmost importance in guiding our treatment, and shows the absolute necessity of basing it, to a certain degree, on a careful attention to the digestive organs.

28. When intensity of thought has brought on incoherence, such a confusion prevails in the mental impressions, that no distinct recollection appears to exist of former circumstances. Hence the fact, that subjects who have become insane from disappointment in their fondest attachments, rarely mention the name of the object of their love. When they do recollect the person's name, and appear to be grieved when it is mentioned, however violent their maniacal outbreakings may be, we may entertain the most sanguine hopes

of recovery.

29. Erroneous and delusive impressions require the most constant attention and observation, as they will frequently enable the practitioner to form an opinion of the extent to which the mind has

been perverted.

30. False impressions may arise from intense thought, when reality assumes a fictitious form. Thus, a lunatic will confound sexes, and colours, and languages, and yet preserve a lively and a correct recollection of former circumstances. Such a state may be compared to optical deceptions, and generally arise from physical causes, more particularly a derangement in the digestive functions. Although, when these singular delusions have been of long continuation, the case holds out but feeble hopes of recovery, yet at an earlier period of the malady we may entertain sanguine expectations of success. We must in these cases be guided by the extent of the perturbation of the functions, and particularly of the senses. If a patient can gaze upon the solar refulgence without any impression on the eye—if intense light does not produce a contraction of the pupils—if he is unconscious of the nature of what he eats—the prognosis must be most unfavourable.

31. If the aberrations are merely whimsical, transient, and occasional, however wild and absurd they may appear, we may entertain a favourable prognosis. I attended a lady who fancied

that the world was fast approaching its end—that she was to inhabit New Jerusalem; she took me for a Rabbi—would sing in turn, with uncommon feeling and sweetness, Little's songs, Wesley's hymns, and the Psalms. Although her husband, a medical man, and whom she could not recognise, despaired of her cure, I gave him every hope, and a proper management soon restored her to a

healthy state of mind.

32. In these incoherent wanderings it is essential to ascertain how far the common impressions are under the control of the will. The power of volition in lunacy is greater than is generally imagined, and the wildest aberrations are frequently under its control. I had a patient who considered himself the Saviour, and blasphemed in the most outrageous manner when addressed by strangers. I told him that if he did not desist from blasphemous expressions, I should stop his dinner, to which he replied, "Christ never dines." However, I was true to my word, and although he still fancied himself the Son of God, he ceased to claim the title in my presence. This case was incurable, and of many years standing when placed under my care: it is probable that a proper early

management would have restored him to his senses.

33. A lively apprehension of what is said to a lunatic, or a ready display of wit in his replies, so far from being considered favourable circumstances, may be viewed as symptoms of incurable insanity. This observation applies more particularly to the Irish, and in such cases the causes of the disorder may be traced to inebriety. I had an incurable patient under my care, a soldier, to whom I ordered every morning a solution of sulphate of magnesia. day that he had refused to take his medicine, had been violent, and struck the keeper, who was obliged to place him under a temporary restraint until I came, I asked why he had refused to take his draught, which was nothing but salt water; he quietly replied, "Och! you know salt water can carry a poor fellow much further than he wishes to go." In the double sense of this witty reply, he alluded to the sea, and at the same time, though not in a very flattering manner, to my practice. Another incurable Irish soldier, who was in the habit of drawing and painting various fantastic figures, in which he displayed much imaginative power, was asked by a visiter, who had given him some paper and colours, what he would like to draw. "Is it like to draw that you mean?" he replied; "and, to be sure, it isn't I that would like to be after drawing a pot of porter with a wig upon it!" Here at once he alluded in a pun to a favourite beverage of former times, of which he was deprived, and in a rich simile compared the foam upon the tankard to a wig. The same patient was requested by an officer of the garrison to draw something for him, and upon his second visit he gave him the drawing of a goat in uniform, with a drum on his back; under it was written "The Welsh drummer." I did not know until then that the officer was a Welshman; a circumstance which, no doubt, the patient had accidentally heard. In both these cases the mind was so unregulated, and subject to sudden bursts of a vivid and erroneous imagination, that the patients could not have been discharged with safety to them-

selves and society.*

34. Occasional ravings, although followed by tranquil, even lucid intervals, must be considered as denoting a disease of a more obstinate form than a constant delusion, although attended with maniacal violence, more especially if these ravings display vivid imaginative powers. I have had such patients under my care belonging to the humbler classes of society, whose poetical inspirations and productions would have done credit to the most polished writers. During these hallucinations, they were at times so violent as to need occasional restraint, while at other times their thoughts and language flowed in a placid yet rippling stream of taste and fancy. In such cases, notwithstanding the length of the lucid intervals that may be observed and confided in, we must not venture to rely upon the temporary calm, and can rarely look for a permanent cure — a morbid excitability and impressionability will ever prevail, subject to be brought into action by any stimulation.

lating agency.

35. A constant delusion, although attended with more or less violence, is generally complicated with febrile action of what might be called a nervous type, and the aberrations will partake of the character of febrile delirium. S. H., after a puerperal fever, fancied that she had been a rope-dancer at Astley's amphitheatre; her agility, strange postures, and pliancy of limbs, seemed to warrant her assertion. Her language was obscene and precipitate, and her tricks so fantastic and surprising, that she went under the name of "Jim Crow." No restraint, however rigorous, could keep her tranquil or harmless night or day. A few months' moral and physical treatment restored her to her senses. In this, as in many other similar cases, the corporeal actions were subject to the will, but the will itself erred from a defect of judgment, and the natural result was a disordered imagination, produced by brainular excitement, closely associated with uterine symptoms, which are usually marked by mental perversion, and a deviation from truth. These symptoms not unfrequently attend hysteria, when all the groundwork of a former virtuous education seems to crumble to dust under physical excitement. In these cases, a language is used, so obscene and audacious, that the family of the patient are

[•] Inexperienced theorists, when placed in charge of lunatics, in their anxiety to show numerous cures, discharge patients as soon as a lucid interval is evident. Nothing can be more erroneous and dangerous than this practice, which they sooner or later will have cause to lament. In both the cases alluded to, there was a full faculty of calculating and drawing correct inferences, whenever they did not labour under brainular excitement, which had, no doubt, been brought on by intemperance and insolation in tropical climates, leaving a morbid predisposition to any exciting cause of irritation, whether moral or physical.

amazed, cannot imagine how such foul expressions should escape lips that had been used to the most chaste conversation, or reconcile the painful scene they witness with their former vigilance in guarding against contamination. It is fortunate for society that these cases are easily subdued by a proper treatment, when not

a recollection remains of the humiliating past.

36. As peculiar temperaments are not only most powerful in developing insanity, but may be considered a predisposition to the disease, it becomes a matter of great importance to attend most carefully and incessantly to the growing evil. The moment that an oddity or an eccentricity is observed, our treatment should commence: the family must not be indulged with deceptive hopes: unless the morbid association is broken in its very first links, by meeting the premonitory symptoms, we cannot trust to nature's benevolent interference. It is necessary to observe, that in many cases, the character of the disease, and the variety that it assumes in its manifestations, differ widely from what might have been expected from a peculiar temperament. Thus we see the cheerful and animated becoming gloomy and desponding, and the melancholy and taciturnal loquacious and merry. These anomalies, however, are not unfavourable.

36. When patients evidently err against their judgment, and express a consciousness of the absurdity of the delusion under which they labour, a permanent recovery is doubtful. A case is recorded of a man, who fancied that only one-half of his person was insane, the healthy moiety constantly rebuking the mad

pranks of the other lateral portion.

37. When a perversion of judgment arises from the influence of the passions, we may entertain the most sanguine expectations of success; not so, when the perverted state of mind becomes rooted, and assumes a monomaniac character. I had a patient under my care, who reasoned soundly upon any subject except when under the conviction that his wife, an old paralytic woman, had been faithless to him; when he vowed her destruction and that of her supposed paramour. This case was the result of disappointment and inebriety; the patient even asserted that he had detected his wife in her infidelity, and would not only name the day and hour when he obtained this conviction of his dishonour, but describe the particulars of the imaginary scene. It is more than probable that this delusion was brought on by a waking dream or vision, when under the influence of liquor.

38. While we carefully study the temperament, we must endeavour to ascertain, in cases of hereditary insanity, what was the peculiar character of the insanity that was observed in the parents of the patient; and it is more than probable that the offspring will be affected in a similar manner. A homicidal and suicidal propensity is often observed in a numerous family. I knew a man who drowned himself after various insane acts, and who had two brothers, one of whom, in India, cut off the head of his servant.

and having made a curry of it, served it up under a cover to his terrified guests; the other brother took a house in Hampshire, near a powder-mill, and every night amused himself firing sky-rockets over it, to the utter dismay of his neighbours, who were obliged to get him confined; he soon after cut his throat. In many of these cases we observe an inherent thirst for blood. Dr. Otho, of Copenhagen, knew a patient who, having seven children whom he fondly loved, could not resist the impulse which propelled him to murder four of them, taking them to a large pit, and after fondly embracing them, casting them in. In these melancholy instances of homicidal insanity, the unfortunate patient is frequently conscious of the fatal propensity. Esquirol had a patient who acknowledged his constant inclination to destroy his dearest friends, and who was known to supplicate his mother to quit the room, if she did not wish to have her throat cut. I lately attended a Belgian, who was devotedly attached to his children, and the first symptom of his insanity was taking one of them, an infant, into his garden to bury it alive; this man was mild, gentle, and an excellent gardener.

39. It has been already observed, that it is difficult to ascertain whether the mind or the body is primarily affected; the connection between the material and immaterial principle is so complex, that it defies human investigation. It has been advanced that the brain is affected before the mind;—of this we have no proof; many are the diseases and injuries of the cerebral organ, of the most fearful nature; when all its functions might be expected to have been destroyed, yet the intellectual faculties remained unim-

paired.

40. I have seen several cases of gunshot wounds in the head, when the brain was in a state of suppuration, and portions of it coming away in the dressings; yet, to the last moment, the patients were conscious of all around them, and the manifestations of the mind correct. In cases of concussion and compression, and apoplexy of the most alarming character, no mental derangement has followed.

41. Sudden injuries of the brain occasioned by external violence, are rarely followed by insanity, but more frequently by a partial loss of memory. I attended a young woman, who, having struck her head against a window-shutter, was partially deprived of memory; the blow had been received on the centre of the left portion of the frontal bone; she could only recollect Saturdays and Mondays, and count from one to twelve, with the exception of the number eleven, which she could never pronounce; it was some time before she could well articulate words beginning with a consonant, especially the letters P and D; there was an occasional dilatation of the right pupil. Such cases are frequently followed by epilepsy.

42. Insanity, especially in the form of mania, is frequently the result of a morbid enlargement, or the formation of an anormal

process of the inner table of the cranium. I attended a Portuguese labouring under occasional furious paroxysms of mania, in whom I found, after death, a sharp ridge on the internal surface of the frontal bone, that had pressed upon the falx, and which must have been the cause of constant excitement.

43. Post mortem examination frequently exhibits morbid alterations of the structure in the brain and its membranes; but we must recollect, that during the violent paroxysms of insanity there is a constant determination of blood to the head, similar to that congestion which arises when a man is under the influence of passion. In such a delicate organ it is natural to expect that some morbid appearance will be traced. Repeated intoxication will be followed by similar results: frequent inebriety may therefore be considered as a powerful predisposing cause, by producing increased action so often, as ultimately to lead to a derangement of the mental faculties.

44. When inebriety is supposed to have been the cause of insanity, it is of importance to ascertain whether the habit preceded or followed the malady. If it preceded the attack, we may entertain a more favourable prognosis than when the practice was the result of the disease.

45. The apparent preponderance of physical symptoms should never induce us to trust solely to a physical mode of treatment, and neglect the moral management: both these means of cure

should be carefully combined.

46. When the progress of insanity is slow and insidious, we have much more to apprehend than when the attacks are sudden and violent. It is chiefly in insidious cases that diseases of the brain and the abdominal viscera are discovered. This shows the necessity of attending without delay to any absence of mind, inability, or disinclination, to follow habitual pursuits, a difficulty of exercising the judgment, an alteration in manner, and a failure of memory; every day, every hour lost, is of vital moment.

47. In the ratio of the perturbation of former quickness of apprehension and activity of mind must our apprehensions increase.

48. Defect or loss of memory is of a different character, and it is an essential point to ascertain the peculiarity of this perversion. When a patient forgets his own name, his country, and his trade, assumes other appellations, place of birth, and former abode, the chances are that he will become fatuitous; but when a state of great excitement prevails, with much volubility and loquaciousness, with only an occasional failure in memory, a cure may be expected.*

"It is not madness
That I have uttered: bring me to the test,
And I the matter will reword, which madness
Would gambol from."

^{*} Shakspeare has beautifully alluded to the defect of memory as a symptom of insanity:

49. When the loss of memory is only partial, and a patient recollects certain circumstances of a transaction, but not all, certain dates and names, while he forgets others, a lesion of some portion of the brain may be apprehended. When, in old age, transactions of the latter part of life are forgotten or but feebly recollected, while the scenes of youth and of manhood remain in vivid remembrance, the case is generally incurable. Some lunatics completely forget certain habits, and entertain a vivid recollection of others. A young female patient of mine cannot read a book, but can decipher any music of easy performance, placed before her on the

piano.

50. It is generally supposed that, in monomania, the patient only errs on one particular point. This is not always the case; and indeed, if carefully examined, it will be found that the prevalent idea is the result of more complex delusions. To detect and elicit this morbid catenation is not easy, and can only be attained by long experience, and a constant attendance upon the insane. The erroneous impressions of a monomaniac on any one particular subject are the result of an incapacity of ascertaining the relation of ideas, and it therefore becomes necessary to draw him gradually from this supposed one idea to the collateral train of thinking, which most probably suggested the erroneous impression. I had a young lady under my care, whose sole error in judgment appeared to be an indulgence in the most extravagant expenses; on all other subjects she appeared perfectly sane. However, she was once talking about various diamond ornaments she was about to order at Rundell and Bridge's. I had observed a considerable degree of pride and haughtiness about her, and I therefore suggested the purchase of a diamond diadem, instead of a neck-lace. Her eyes beamed with delight, and, taking me by the hand, she exclaimed, "You are right, and I will wear it when I am crowned queen of Naples;" yet the memory of this amiable but unfortunate young person was in general most correct, even when speaking of her own propensities. "My friends," she said to me one day, "consider me insane because I am extravagant; if every extravagant person were considered a lunatic, Salisbury Plain would not be large enough for a madhouse."

51. Our prognosis must be unfavourable, when, on the assumption of a personal high rank of life, the consciousness of personal identity continues to be correct. In this case the monomaniac delusion may generally be referred to offended vanity and humbled

pride — injuries that are rarely forgotten.

52. Female lunatics, in whom the malady can be traced to the humiliation of their vanity, have a greater chance of recovery when under the constant care of a physician, than when controlled by persons of their own sex, whom they generally dislike. It is true, that we frequently see female patients selecting a constant companion amongst the inmates of an asylum; but I apprehend that in these cases a vicious habit often prevails between them, the

interference of matrons (generally injurious), and the surveillance of nurses, must naturally become irksome and hateful. In the management of such females a homage to their real or supposed attractions must be paid, and it is not likely that female attendants

will gratify their desire.

53. There is a peculiar effluvium emitted by the insane, more particularly in female maniacs, that cannot be described; but experience will enable a medical practititioner to form a favourable or unfavourable opinion of the case from this circumstance. The same remark applies to hysteria.* This odour is evidently connected with uterine sympathies, and will cease or decrease as we succeed in our treatment.†

54. Fear has been known to produce an offensive perspiration. I attended a young lady whose transpiration emitted the most unpleasant odour. It appears that at an early period of life her father and brother had been murdered in her presence. This melancholy event not only brought on premature menstruation, but the unpleasant nature of her cutaneous transpiration. A proper

treatment restored the secretions to a healthy state.

55. When lunatics imagine that a deep-laid conspiracy has been formed against their lives, happiness, or property, the treatment is difficult, for such unfortunate beings are speedily exhausted by restless nights and anxious days; they shun intercourse with every one, except to indulge in their lamentations; they take their food mechanically when they do not loathe it; their countenance becomes pale, haggard, and livid; their features bear a care-worn character; the watchful eye is glassy, and moves rapidly in its orbit; a slow fever consumes them: when, by occupation and kind treatment, they can be drawn from their state of concentrated wretchedness, the first signs of amelioration are a return to rest at night, and to a regular appetite, with a corresponding increase in bulk, while the digestion, which gradually becomes more healthy, shows that the assimilating functions are recovering their lost energies.

56. When patients are under the dominion of passion, and are perverse without any apparent lesion of the mental faculties, the prognosis may be favourable. In this case there is merely a mor-

bid perversion of the affections and moral feelings.

57. When insanity has been preceded by an attack of paralysis, epilepsy, or a fever of an inflammatory type, with considerable cerebral excitement, the case will prove of difficult management—the progress of the disease will be slow and insidious, and it is only by dint of observation that the error in judgment and strangeness of conduct become evident.

+ In maniacs who have emitted this strong odour, necroscopy has generally

exhibited inflammation of the membranes of the encephalon.

^{*} It is well known that at particular periods the urine of cats is more offensive than usual; and the connexion between this secretion and the genital organs is proved by emasculation, which deprives it of this detestable odour.

58. When patients, who have expressed an aversion to their relatives and friends, and have shown distrust and fears of their betraying and injuring them, seem at last to desire their visits, the case will prove favourable if properly managed; for the desire is frequently expressed with great cunning, for the purpose of upbraiding or injuring the parties when brought in their presence, in which case a meeting would only aggravate their disorder.

59. When the gloomy and religious monomaniacs will allow you to reason with them, however obstinate their erroneous ideas may be, we may hope to effect a cure; but it is difficult to relieve those who are morose and taciturn. In these cases we must guard

against suicide.

60. When religious monomaniacs are addicted to sodomy—a very frequent complication—the case is incurable, more especially if they show much apparent devotion, and constantly talk on religious subjects. The case is still more hopeless, when they select

idiots for the indulgence of their vices.

61. Masturbation has been considered a very frequent cause of insanity. I doubt it. That this vice is often attendant on the malady, is a well-established fact; that the moral and physical exhaustion that must arise from its indulgence aggravates the disease, is also certain; but I apprehend that it is frequently an effect rather than a cause. In various classes of society, schools, religious seminaries abroad, amongst soldiers, sailors, self-pollution is not uncommon, and yet insanity is of rare occurrence amongst them. Onanism is more likely to hebetate than cause mania or dementia. In America, and where solitary confinement is resorted to as a punishment, I can readily conceive that insanity may be produced by excesses in this vicious habit combined with the miseries which a gregarious being must endure when cut off from the world, without prior education to employ his mind, or occupation to draw him from a moral grave. This vice is common in idiots, and maniacs will indulge in it openly, and without any shame. I am disposed to look upon this practice as a debilitating, predisposing cause; when it becomes a disease, it constitutes insanity.

62. When mischievous propensities are prevalent, such as thieving or destroying, it will be advisable to discover, if possible, if such a disposition is hereditary. A similar inquiry is necessary in cases of powerful desires and aversions. If these peculiarities are not hereditary, they admit of an easy cure at the commencement of the disease; but if allowed to be persisted in for a prolonged period they are incurable. I had a girl under my care, who would put lime in her eye; another time, a blister having been applied to her neck, she took it off and placed it on her eye; she was constantly pilfering any stray article she could find, and once destroyed several pails of milk by easing herself in them. I discharged her cured, or rather relieved, as it is probable that those

propensities will return under some capricious excitement.

The propensity for stealing and lying, however, does not exactly constitute a case of insanity sufficient to warrant the confinement of a person in a lunatic asylum; but it is a point to be taken into serious consideration by a court of justice, inasmuch that it is a mental propensity, which the culprit cannot control, and a man can scarcely be deemed guilty of a crime when he is not under the influence of his will. This remark is equally applicable to those persons who are subject to violent and sudden paroxysms of passion, and who become calm and manageable as soon as the burst of excitement has subsided. Females in particular are subject to these outrageous fits, when they become most dangerous; although, after the paroxysm, these unfortunate persons are conscious of their error and misconduct, it leaves a question, whether they should be subject to confinement. Many cases of this description are placed in public and private establishments; although their detention may be a questionable matter. It is no doubt a great hardship that persons possessed, at most times, of the full exercise of their mental faculties, should be thus immured in a prison; yet we must entertain doubts, as to the propriety of leaving them at large to become perilous to society.

The propensity to mischief is frequently incurable, and the following case, given by Mr. Hitch, is an illustration of this species of

insanity.

"A man was discharged from this establishment, about two years ago, reported cured, whose eccentricities and extravagant conduct had drawn upon him the anger, and almost the dread, of an extensive neighbourhood. He was about thirty-five years of age, a shoemaker by trade, and married; addicted to an irregular life, and fond of drinking. His natural disposition was lively; he abounded in a peculiar kind of wit, and had an endless series of marvellous tales at his command, which, when excited, he told with great humour, and he rendered himself thereby a welcome guest at the village alehouse. Here he was also prone to those petty mischievous tricks which are vulgarly denominated 'fun,' as he was an amusing companion in his sphere. However, his love of sport did not rest in the gambols of the beer-house; he became restless and disinclined to his own business, made frequent excursions to different towns and villages, under the pretence of seeking fresh work, was riotous and coarse in his play at the tavern, and eventually left the neighbourhood of his residence. He took with him the kit of a travelling tinker, and set up the business of a knife and scissorsgrinder, of which he knew nothing. He exulted in the havoc he made in cutting instruments which were entrusted to him, but did not continue his new trade for more than a day or two, when he disposed of his kit, and began to sell old clothes. This pursuit he changed for another, and that for something new. In about a fortnight he returned home, and instead of entering his house by the door, he ascended the roof, removed the tiles, and entered

through the ceiling. This he continued to do, making his entrance and exit from the top of the house. He would amuse himself at night by driving a pig, fastened to a cord, through the village, upon whose nose and tail something had been fastened to cause him to squeak, and thus disturb the neighbours. He would exchange the farmers' cattle, and remove their gates during the night, and before morning was some miles out of the way. He would often run ten or twelve miles in a straight line without any motive, disregarding fences, corn-fields, brooks, or anything. Whatever his fancy led him to want, he made no scruple to take, regardless to whom it might belong, and then when he had made the use of it which he thought proper, was not particular in returning it. For many of these acts he was taken before a magistrate; but his apparent simplicity, or his sagacity, added to a plausible tale, saved him from punishment on all occasions but one, when he was sent to a house of correction for a month, as a disorderly vagrant. He eventually was deemed to be mad, and sent to me. I found him one of the most mischievous of beings; his constant delight was in creating disorder, to effect what he called 'fun;' but he had no motive nor impression on his mind which induced him to this conduct; he was merely impelled by his immediate feelings. When he recovered his tranquillity, he had a perfect recollection of all that he had done, and wondered how he could have taken so much trouble to make himself appear ridiculous."

However, it is not always that these mischievous creatures regret what they have done. I had an old man under my care of a similar description, whose pride and boast was having thrown a dead cat into a cistern, and spoiled his neighbour's water, giving them, as he said with great delight, the cholera-morbus and the guts-ache. This man was occasionally gloomy and morose, but was easily roused from his apathetic state by the mention of the "dead cat," when he would chuckle with delight, and rubbing his hands, exclaim, — "Ha, ha! I gave them all the guts-ache!"

Such cases are incurable, and can generally be referred to

inebriety.

63. When a disturbed state of mind occurs at an advanced age,

little hope of recovery can be entertained.

64. It is a matter of great difficulty to cure a patient whose hallucination appears to be the result of natural predisposition and

propensities, connected with a peculiar temperament.

65. When insanity appears to have been the result of some constitutional change, the malady, in all probability, will not subside until another revolution in the system takes place, and this may sometimes be brought on, at least imitated, by art, more particularly in females.

66. The gloomy and dispirited monomaniac labouring under erroneous religious impressions, and constant apprehension of future punishment, will sometimes cease to complain and express his fears. Such an apparent calm is frequently the forerunner of suicidal attempts.*

67. The more trifling the subject of the apprehension, the more

we have to apprehend.

68. When these apprehensions of a hypochondriac nature are absurd, such as when a patient fancies he is made of glass or wax, a proper treatment will in general succeed. I attended a judge in the West Indies, who thought that he was a turtle. This ridiculous impression did not prevent him from sitting on the bench, and fulfilling his judicial functions as regularly as his learned colleagues.

69. When the natural tone of voice of a patient is materially altered, there is every reason to fear that the disease will be obstinate, unless this change can be referred to a particular period

of life.

70. When insane patients pass their dejections in bed, or in their clothes, it is essential to ascertain whether these evacuations have taken place unconsciously. In such cases great debility or approaching paralysis may have been the cause; but when the dejections are passed willingly and purposely, when the patient endeavours to eat his fæces, or smear himself with them, or the walls, or his bedding, the case is rarely curable.

71. When the cessation of violence in mania does not usher in convalescence, we must apprehend chronic and permanent dementia: here the intellectual faculties being obliterated, all hope has fled, and melancholy results will show the necessity of the

most early and active treatment in incipient madness.

72. When it is observed that the voice becomes thick, the articulation embarrassed, with a slight deviation of the angle of the mouth, while the tongue is swollen and tremulous, an attack of paralysis is at hand, and these premonitory symptoms will soon be succeeded by an unsteady gait in walking, and difficult deglutition

73. Insanity, complicated with paralysis, may in general be considered incurable, especially when it supervenes in mental derangement, and the disease increases, as the mental powers decay. However, there are cases, where, to the very last moments of the paralytic's life, a recollection of certain circumstances and former occupations remains. I had a patient under my care who had been a printseller, and a careful collector of autographs. Within a few days of his death, when he had lost almost all consciousness of former relations in life, when questioned upon particular autographs, he would place a conventional value on them—so much for a signature of Cromwell, of Elizabeth, of Milton. When I asked him what he would give for a signature of Shakspeare and Mary Queen of Scots, his glassy eyes seemed

^{*} This endeavour to conceal mental aberration is called by keepers "stifling."

to beam with a latent fire, and he stuttered, with great emphasis,

"All the world."

74. Paralysis combined with insanity is more frequent in males than in females. This circumstance may, perhaps, be attributed to the affection of the spinal chord, that too frequently succeeds libidinous excesses in man, a morbid condition more rarely connected with uterine sympathies. The abuse of spirituous liquors and of mercury may be also considered a cause of this disproportion between the sexes.

75. The mean duration of paralysis has been estimated at

thirteen months, and few survive more than three years.

76. The complication of paralysis with insanity appears to be much more frequent on the continent than in England, especially in France.* This circumstance may, perhaps, be traced to the practice of the French, who carry burthens on their backs and loins instead of their shoulders and head; the greater prevalence of masturbation may also be a cause.

77. Paralysis is not the cause of insanity, nor can it be considered an effect or a symptom; it is merely a complication arising from collateral predisposition, and is generally a subsequent affec-

tion.†

78. The frequent and alarming difficulty in deglutition that is observed in paralytic patients, often arises from their voracious manner of feeding, in consequence of which solid food is accumulated, and obstructs the æsophagus. Suffocation has arisen from such accidents: hence the propriety of such patients being put upon a spoon diet.

79. Notwithstanding the preceding remarks, paralysis, when not complicated with actual insanity, is sometimes attended with a lesion of the faculties of the mind, to such an extent indeed, that

* In the Hanwell Asylum, out of 1000 patients there were only 12 cases of paralysis, whereas at Charenton there were 95 out of 366 males, and 14 out of 253 females. At Rouen 31 in 334. In the south of France and Italy the disease is rare. Thus in Montpellier no paralytic case was reported in 132 cases, and at Toulouse 5 out of 111. At Naples 3 in 500.

† Bayle has endeavoured to show that both paralysis and ambitious monomania are caused by a chronic inflammation of the membranes of the brain, and he divides the disease in the following categories: — 1. Ambitious monomania, with signs of incomplete paralysis. 2. The period of mania. 3. The period of

dementia, with general paralysis.

This theory cannot be supported by practical observation or necroscopic researches, and paralysis does not appear connected with any particular character of insanity. In these investigations and speculative theories, we must admit the truth of Esquirol's sound remark, that nature, despite of the constant researches of physicians and philosophers, persists in keeping her secrets unrevealed.

According to the investigations of Calmeil, necroscopy displays in these cases,

1. Congestion in the brain.

2. Hemorrhage in the cerebral substance.

3. Simple hemorrhage between the two laminæ of the arachnoid.

4. Ramollissement properly so termed, seated on a point of the cerebro-spinal system.

5. Erosion of the cerebral surface.

the patient will not only forget past circumstances, but words, and not unfrequently misapplies them in the strangest manner. Paralysis is most probably a disease of the nervous system, and the whole system is disordered in its attacks: thus making an individual of a placid and gentle disposition violent, while at other times the most turbulent will become mild and tractable.

80. While we are endeavouring to trace symptoms of paralysis, it must be borne in mind that many lunatics drag their legs in such a manner as to lead one to infer that they are threatened with palsy; they will assert that some evil spirit has deprived them of the use of their limbs — that they are bewitched. If these complaints are unheeded (at least in appearance) and made light of, the patients will in all probability recover their former gait.

81. Strabismus is also, in many instances, a trick; and patients will contract a singular habit of occasionally squinting. In mania, especially among females, this is a common occurrence; and when there is no contraction or dilatation of the pupil, it is a circumstance of little importance, when the squint is not permanent.

82. There is every reason to apprehend that paralysis is rather

a disease of the brain than of the spine.

83. Lunatics rarely become blind, but are frequently affected with deafness. This difficulty of hearing is often attended with a tinnitus aurium. However, the deafness is sometimes merely apparent, when the patient fancies he hears strange sounds, admonitions, and threats from unseen agents and spirits; he then is so intent upon listening to these imaginary communications, that he literally turns a deaf ear to all that is said to him. This is a formidable symptom, as the patient will become gradually more and more abstracted from surrounding objects.

84. More delusions are conveyed by the ear than by the eye; and of the organs of sense which become affected in insanity, the

ear more particularly suffers.

85. When the integuments of the cranium become loose and wrinkled in cases of mania, and at the same time the eye is glistening and protruded, with a contraction of the iris, an incurable malady may be suspected, as the membranes of the brain, in all

probability, are labouring under chronic inflammation.

86. The opinion, that lunatics are not sensible to changes of temperature and extreme heat and cold, is erroneous; during their paroxysms they are often so much occupied with their delusive wanderings, that they may not feel the severity of cold, or the inconvenience of intense heat; but when the mind becomes more calm, the agency of atmospheric influence is evident. Paralytic patients more especially suffer much from cold.

87. When melancholy succeeds furious mania, the prognosis is unfavourable. When the character of insanity changes, the alter-

ation must be considered unfavourable.

88. If, however, after a violent paroxysm, a patient becomes dull, heavy, and sleepy, this is a favourable symptom, provided that he gradually recovers from this state.

89. The aversion to a recumbent position is not, as it has been considered, an unfavourable sign; it merely arises from the patient's anxiety to get out of bed, and when seated, he has a better opportunity of expressing his delusions, and threatening his attendants.

90. Peculiar actions, such as constantly drumming upon the table, stamping regularly on the floor, clapping hands, &c., may be considered signs of a rooted disorder and great mental alienation. When insanity has assumed a systematic character, it may be

considered most difficult to cure.

91. Sitting all day in the same place and posture is an unfa-

vourable symptom and precursor of fatuity.

92. The persuasion of mysterious voices of unseen persons and spirits speaking and threatening a patient, is an alarming symptom, but by no means denoting an incurable case. F. B., a Venetian seaman, lost his senses on board ship; he fancied that three persons were continually wishing him to deny the Saviour, threatening him with horrible punishment if he disobeyed their commands. He prayed incessantly to the Virgin, and would not eat meat; a priest of his own persuasion induced him to take animal food, and constant occupation in the garden and fields soon restored him to his senses. I considered the cause of the disease nostalgia, as he was constantly talking of his home, and three times effected his escape to see his consul, and obtain a passage to his country.

93. Moral insanity, in which the patient possesses the full enjoyment of mental faculties, with the exception of some particular subject, is generally incurable, if it is not attended to and subdued at an early period. Miss B., a Portuguese by birth, and natural daughter of Lord B., expresses herself in the most correct and occasionally elegant language; has read much, and improved her mind by various studies, talking most correctly on political economy and various abstruse subjects; she had no doubt experienced pecuniary losses, having been defrauded by some law agent; but she has exaggerated the evil, and conceives that the magistracy of the county and all around her are conspiring to keep her in confinement; nor can she be persuaded but that one of the physicians wished her to be married to his son, to obtain her fortune; such a case is incurable. Such is another case, in M. C., a young person, a native of Orleans; she has been a governess, was attached to a person, whom she says her mother prevented her from marrying; she fancied this person was a clergyman, who addressed her from the pulpit; no persuasion can remove this strange impression; she talks most correctly on any other matter, but is generally taciturn and capricious.

94. Religious insanity, as I have already observed, is of difficult cure, especially when the patient has become deranged from Methodistic delusions. The rhapsodies of the Irvinians in England, and of the Swedenburgians abroad, have sent many a patient to the mad-house; in many of these cases, the most absurd con-

structions are put on passages of the Scripture. M. S., a well-educated woman, and excellent linguist, who had been a teacher, became an Irvinite; she refused to be washed or bathed, on the plea that our Saviour said that it was only necessary to wash the feet; she quotes the passage of the gospel, and, strange to say, a Swedenburgian visiter (out of a mad-house) maintained that she was not insane, and that possibly her version of the Scripture was correct. This woman farther asserted, that she would not go into a bath without her son, a young man of twenty-five years of age; she also quoted Scripture to explain this fancy: the Swedenburger said that this was a natural desire. M. S. may be cured, the Swedenburger is incurable; for S. is insane on all points, the Swedenburgian insane on one.

95. In our observations on temperament, the colour of the hair is a matter of importance, especially in hereditary insanity. I have known four individuals of light brown hair insane in one family; the only exception was in favour of one brother with red hair; insanity in red-haired persons is rare, but more common in

the dark and light brown.*

96. The most frequent moral causes of insanity are-

1. Pride. 2. Fear. 3. Fright. 4. Ambition. 5. Loss of pro-

perty. 6. Domestic cares.

97. Of these, domestic cares are the most active:—under this head are included—family dissensions, strife, and disappointment in business; most of which drive their ill-fated victim to inebriety and other debilitating excesses, to forget their misery. It is this view of the subject that has induced me to consider habits of

intoxication as a complication of the causes of insanity.†

98. Joyous passions rarely bring on insanity. Excess of joy may kill, but scarcely ever deranges the mind. A sudden accession of unexpected fortune may cause insanity, but the sentiment which such an event produces is different from joy; it is a mingled sentiment of surprise, doubt as to the event, and the apprehension of losing the gift of fickle fortune; sudden prosperity, like sudden calamity, astounds and shakes the intellect.‡

* Out of 265 patients, Haslam states that 250 had dark hair and 60 light hair. Esquirol states, that chestnut hair is the most common at the Salpêtrière; out of 226 patients 118 had dark hair; 39 fair, 36 gray, 31 black, and 2 auburn. At

Hanwell, out of 1000 patients I had only 23 red-haired ones.

† In cases of insanity brought on by the abuse of liquor, it will generally be found that the patient was of a violent temper. M. C., a brother officer of mine, who three times drank himself into a state of lunacy, was of a quarrelsome disposition, constantly embroiled in disputes and fighting duels; the disease, however was hereditary. In most cases of insanity attributable to inebriety, hereditary

predisposition can be traced.

‡ Esquirol mentions the case of a man who fell into a state of dementia on receiving the information of his nomination to a high post of honour; the disease arose from his despair on being obliged to quit a woman he loved. Another person lost his senses after gaining a prize in the lottery; it was not the sudden gift of fortune that deranged his faculties, but the constant apprehension of being robbed.

99. In hereditary predispositions, children born before their parents were attacked with insanity are less liable to the disease than those that came into the world after the malady had been developed.

100. Children of aged parents are more subject to melancholy

than others, although their intellects are generally acute.

101. Children subject to convulsions are more subject to hereditary insanity than others. Sudden terror during childhood is frequently followed by insanity towards the age of puberty.

102. Women frightened during their pregnancy frequently bring

forth offsprings predisposed to insanity.

103. Injuries of the head are more frequently causes of delirium than of insanity in adults, but in infants and children it frequently predisposes to the disease. There are instances on record, in which an injury of the head has occasioned a peculiarity of character.*

104. The delirium following a blow on the head is frequently mistaken for insanity, as it is marked by symptoms that are con-

sidered lucid intervals.

105. The phenomena of menstruation are closely connected with the mental manifestations; the suppression of the catamenia, or their irregularity, often produces insanity, which not unfre-

quently is observable immediately after the suppression.

106. Leucorrhea is not an uncommon cause of insanity, and is usually connected with great uterine excitement; puffiness and swelling of the labia, enlargement and great contractility of the clitoris, and the secretion, viscid and clammy, emits a peculiar odour, somewhat resembling that of elder flowers; the urine, turbid and whitish, smells like water in which liver has been boiled. In many of these cases masturbation may be traced.

107. The suppression of an hemorrhoidal discharge in both

sexes has been known to produce insanity.

108. The suppression of acute eruptions, and the sudden disappearance of chilblains, have been precursors of mental aberration, and mania has been observed to supervene after an inflammatory rheumatism had subsided Profuse bleedings have also given rise to mental diseases.

109. Insanity will often appear during pregnancy, but it is chiefly after parturition that this disease is observable,†

* While injuries of the head are apt to affect the state of mind and produce hebetude, they have been also known to develope latent mental faculties. Cox relates the case of Father Mobellon, who acquired a sudden increase in his understanding after the operation of trepanning. Van Swieten mentions the case of a girl who was imbecile, until the trephine was applied for the removal of a depressed portion of the skull. Haller reports the case of an idiot who was restored to his understanding by a blow on the head.

† At the Salpètrière, out of 600 female lunatics, 52 had lost their senses after confinement; and out of 144 patients in the higher classes of society 21 similar ases were observed. Women have been known to become insane aftery every accouchement. Esquirol states, that in some years the proportion which these

cases bears to others was one-tenth and one-twelfth.

110. The delirium that attends the milk fever has been frequently considered as insanity, and there are instances of the crime of infanticide being committed under the excitement of this cerebral disease, when an unfortunate victim of seduction in a frantic moment has destroyed the offspring of her imprudence.*

111. Puerperal insanity generally arises between the fourth and

the fifteenth day after child-birth.

- 112. Although it is difficult to distinguish puerperal madness from other cases of insanity, yet it is in general attended with more or less febrile excitement, and partakes more of the character of delirium. The disturbance of the circulation in this malady is a point of the greatest importance, and it is but too often fatal when the pulse is rapid. There is reason to believe, that in these cases there is an absorption of milk in the system, producing a fatal metastasis.†
- 113. Puerperal madness rarely terminates in permanent insanity.
- 114. In puerperal madness, frequency of the pulse, great prostration of strength, and considerable restlessness, must be considered alarming symptoms.

115. Puerperal madness is more frequently a consequence of

delivery than of suckling.

116. In puerperal fever the balance of circulation is disturbed, and local congestion will be the probable result. This derangement of the circulation seems closely connected with the lacteal and lochial secretions, when, as I have observed, it is probable that these secretions are thrown into the blood-vessels by a morbid

absorption.

117. Attacks of puerperal fever are generally ushered in by lowness of spirits; great apprehension of impending evil; the countenance is pale, and betrays great uneasiness; the skin is moist, hot, and soft, the tongue white, the breasts flaccid, the pulse small, quick, and concentrated; there is little or no tension or pain in the abdomen; the head and uterus are occasionally painful, and the patient appears to labour under a monomaniac delirium or mania, rarely betraying symptoms of dementia.

118. This state is not unfrequently the precursor of frenzy, which generally proves fatal between the third and fourth day of the

* This is a point which is worthy of deep consideration. When an inquest sits upon the body of an infant supposed to have been destroyed by its mother,

in many instances it is an act of febrile delirium.

† It is in vain that pathologists deny the existence of disease occasioned by a metastasis of milk; what the French call "transport de lait," lait répandu. Such cases are much more frequent than is imagined or admitted, but ædematous swelling of the leg is one of its usual symptoms.

The following is the classification of puerperal insanity given by Esquirol

in 92 cases: -

 invasion of the disease, rarely continuing beyond the seventh, whereas the puerperal madness will frequently prevail for weeks

and months.

119. The impression of cold may be considered the chief cause of puerperal madness; exposure to a draught of air, ablution in cold water, sudden change from a warm room to a lower temperature, frequently produce it: the constriction of the capillary vessels produced by this cause may tend to occasion a retrocession of the lacteal and lochial secretions. This disease rarely occurs without a suppression or a disturbed secretion of these fluids.*

120. Sudden and imprudent weaning often brings on this species of insanity.† This fact seems to warrant the hypothesis of the

milk being absorbed in the system.‡

121. Sudden fright and violent emotion frequently cause puerperal madness.§

122. Puerperal madness is more frequent in females that do not

nurse, than in those who perform the duties of a mother.

123. Although a suppression or a derangement in the secretion of the milk frequently precedes puerperal madness, this is not always observed, and the suppression will occasionally succeed the mental disorder. That a suppression or diminution of these secretions is to a certain extent the cause of puerperal madness, is further confirmed by their being restored to a healthy state as the patient recovers her mental faculties.

124. An immoderate flow of lochia has been known to precede

puerperal madness.

125. Puerperal madness has been relieved by a copious dis-

charge of an albuminous secretion from the ear.

126. Before the invasion of puerperal madness, the patient will often complain of a sense of pressure on the rectum — a symptom which, no doubt, arises from uterine sympathies.

127. A complication of epilepsy, with insanity, is a disease that

rarely admits either of a cure or relief.

128. Many epileptic lunatics are furious before and after the fit, but tranquil and rational during their intervals. The form of the complicated affection of the mind varies; but the great majority of the cases are of dementia.

* Esquirol states that out of 92 cases of puerperal insanity, 14 cases were the result of physical causes, and 10 of these from the influence of cold.

† Esquirol attributes 19 cases out of the 92 to this cause.

‡ The experiments of Chaussier and Bichat, which showed that after death there was no appearance of milk being effused in the abdomen, are by no means conclusive. Recent experiments have shown that, after the ligature of the mam-

mary vessels in suckling animals, milk has been found in the blood.

§ In ancient Rome a crown was suspended over the door of every woman after childbirth, to point it out as a sacred asylum, placed under the protection of the public. At Haerlem there is a municipal regulation that directs that such dwellings should be distinguished by a particular mark, to keep away intruders or unwelcome visiters. Moral causes of this malady are so frequent, that Esquirol considers 46 cases of the 92 to have been the result of mental emotions.

|| Out of 339 epileptic, under Esquirol, 12 were affected with monomania,

129. The paroxysm of rage of epileptics generally takes place after the fit, when they are most dangerous and unmanageable.

130. When the children are affected with epilepsy, idiocy is frequently observable; after the first attack, at a later period of life, the memory and all the mental faculties become gradually impaired, and dementia is the result.

131. Many fits bear an epileptiform character, but do not exactly amount to epilepsy, which may, however, be considered as the

probable termination of the disease.

132. Epilepsy must be considered a long and dangerous malady,

but rarely fatal in its first attack.

- 133. When epilepsy is hereditary, it may be considered incurable.
- 134. Epilepsy rarely attacks children who have cutaneous eruptions on the scalp.

135. Epilepsy will disappear for several years, but the patient

will relapse when exposed to any exciting cause.

136. Attacks of epilepsy in early infancy are rarely curable, but are incurable if not relieved before the age of puberty.

137. Attacks of epilepsy, from the age of three and four years to

the age of ten, may be cured, if attended to in time.

- 138. Persons attacked with epilepsy towards the age of puberty, will, in all likelihood, be cured when the period is passed.
- 139. Cases of epilepsy that occur after puberty are not always incurable.
- 140. Marriage has cured congenital epilepsy, but has aggravated the disease in other cases.
- 141. An epileptic attack during pregnancy is fraught with danger.

142. As epileptic fits become more frequent and severe in their

attacks, the case becomes more perilous.

143. Death generally occurs during the state of collapse that follows the fit.

144. Epilepsy complicated with insanity is incurable; and it is to be apprehended that the supposed cures of this complication were merely cases of epileptiform hysteria.**

145. In epilepsy there is no doubt that a sympathetic influence

30 with mania; 145 laboured under dementia; 8 were idiotic, 50 were in general rational, but with defective memory and exalted ideas; 60 betrayed no mental derangement, but were very susceptible, irascible, stubborn, and capricious; 34 were violent, but in three of this number their fury was only manifested after the

* Esquirol states that out of 300 epileptic patients at the Salpêtrière, upwards of 150 are insane — the same proportion was returned at Bicêtre and Charenton. The furious paroxysms of epileptic lunatics is most formidable and uncontrollable. There are silly Utopians who maintain that lunatic epileptics, who enjoy a lucid interval between the fits, are not proper subjects for an asylum; they forget that the violence of these unfortunates during and after their paroxysms is such as to endanger the life of those around them. The maniacal outbreaks of the epileptics generally succeed the fit, and rarely last more than three or four days.

prevails, which may not only bring on an attack in subjects predisposed to the malady, but occasion a fit in persons enjoying good health.

146. Intestinal irritation frequently produces mental aberration; a chronic inflammation of the alimentary canal, the presence of worms, have been considered as the occasional causes of insanity.

147. In subjects predisposed to insanity, a perspiration being

suddenly checked has been known to develope the disease.

148. The abuse of mercury, opium, and other narcotics, has been known to usher in lunacy.

149. Insanity is continued, intermittent, and remittent.

150. In remittent insanity, the disease assumes various forms, and the apparent remissions seem to be under the influence of both moral and physical agency — the time of day, the season of the year, the irregularity of the catamenia or hemorrhoidal discharge, added to the influence of kind or harsh treatment.

151. Intermittent lunacy is characterised by quotidian, tertian, quartan, monthly and even annual intermissions, when the paroxysms return with singular regularity, although this is not always the case, the attack being more or less irregular, and apparently

under the influence of various causes.

152. Lunatics appear to be less disposed to epidemic and endemic diseases than sane persons. The invasion of these maladies has been known to produce a favourable crisis.

153. A profuse bleeding at the nose has been known to remove

insanity; a violent menorrhæa has produced similar results.

154. A powerful sympathy seems to prevail between the brain and the skin; cutaneous eruptions suddenly suppressed, causing insanity, and a reappearance of the disease affording relief, and not unfrequently bringing on a cure; small-pox has restored the mental faculties to a healthy state; but in lunatics this disease generally proves fatal.

155. A sudden flow of tears, and an increased secretion of saliva, have proved favourable, especially in cases of insanity of

an hysteric character.

156. A free perspiration is favourable, but clammy, partial sweats are symptoms of chronic inflammation of the membrane of the brain, and of the mucous membrane of the intestinal canal.

157. Phthisis pulmonalis is a common complication of insanity. The absence of purulent or muco-purulent expectoration is not a sufficient reason to doubt the existence of consumption, as lunatics are in the habit of swallowing their expectoration.

158. Diarrhæa, when it cannot be easily checked, will most fre-

quently terminate fatally.

159. The pains in particular parts of the body, of which lunatics complain, are frequently imaginary, and arise from some peculiar delusion. Much mischief may accrue from a treatment grounded on such complaints. Lunatics will often point to a

supposed wound. One of my patient's imagines he is in a seafight, closes one of his eyes, maintains that it has been shot out, and swears that his leg has been carried away by a cannon-ball.

160. We have, however, reason to suspect a chronic inflammation of the digestive organs when patients constantly complain that they have dogs and wild beasts, venomous reptiles gnawing their inside, or that devils or soldiers are constantly fighting in their stomach and bowels. In these cases the countenance of the patient, and the nature of their alvine dejections, must direct our judgment.

161. A diseased state of the uterus may be apprehended, when insane women complain of the devil or some strange object being connected with them, and causing a state of pregnancy: these cases are usually of an hysteric nature, and rarely admit of a per-

manent cure.

162. The supposed appearance of various imaginary persons and singular forms is frequently anoptic deception, which ceases

in darkness, or when the eyes are covered.

163. When lunatics refuse food on the plea of its bad taste, bitterness, or other unpleasant qualities, fancying that it is poisonous, this symptom frequently denotes a disordered state of the digestive functions, and the tongue will generally indicate this derangement.

164. The illusions in lunatics seem to depend upon the nature of their delusion, and to arise from an influence of the senses on the *sensorium*, whether this influence is communicated from centre to circumference, or from the sentient periphery of the body to the internal viscera, every sense being occasionally brought into a morbid action.

165. Illusions differ from hallucinations or visions, which only appear to affect the brain in a transient manner. This difference, which is of great practical importance, is difficult to ascertain or define. Illusions are not unfrequently caused by local diseased action.

166. The delirium of fever has not unfrequently been mistaken for an attack of insanity. There is a wide difference between these anormal conditions. In delirium, although the ravings of the patient partake of the character of insanity, and the sequence of ideas is disturbed, the ideas, though erroneous, are definite: in madness they have no logical relation, nor do they involve any series of ideas.

167. The furious paroxysm of maniacs, although alarming, is of no great importance when it is followed by a calm state, and does not break their night-rest. It is essential to ascertain whether these violent outbreaks are symptoms of the malady, or arise from the excitement of external irritation. The physical treatment which might relieve the brainular excitement would only increase the violence, if the excitement is occasioned by a supposed or actual ill usage or harsh management.

168. When this state of violence and unmanageable fury is incessant, we may suspect an organic injury, and very frequently an anormal enlargement of some part of the cranium is detected after death; the membranes of the brain, in all probability, will also be found inflamed. In these cases, want of rest, deficient powers of digestion, gradually reduce the patient, until his voice, once loud and stentorian, becomes hoarse and veiled, and he sinks in a state of extreme exhaustion. Death from exhaustion, produced by constant excitement, is a common termination of mania.

169. Fury is to be considered an accidental symptom, and is not a pathognomonic characteristic of any particular form of madness. It is observed in mania, in dementia, and occasionally even in idiocy, when the patient is disappointed or deprived of a favourable bauble.*

170. Paroxysms of rage are generally observed in the sanguine and the bilious-nervous temperament; these explosions seem also to be under the influence of atmospheric temperature and the prevalence of certain winds, more especially from the easterly quarter, which, in the nervous and leuco-phlegmatic temperament, induce greater despondency and melancholic depression.

171. An attack of fever has been often known to prove critical in the cure of insanity, and appears to arise from a salutary reac-

tion.

172. The appearance of boils, eruptions on the skin, its becoming ulcerated, especially on the legs, may frequently be considered as salutary: an eruption of the skin has frequently been followed by a rapid convalescence, a sudden tumefaction of the parotid and submaxillary glands is also favourable, and suppuration should be encouraged.

173. A profuse perspiration and a sudden copious emission of sperm have been known to prove critical; a profuse leucorrhæa has been also observed to relieve mental incoherency with surpris-

ing rapidity.

174. Although coition, in female lunatics, has been known to relieve the mental derangement, yet it cannot be considered as likely to prove salutary; for pregnancy, notwithstanding the revolution it operates in the whole system, has rarely been observed to effect a cure.†

175. Monomania, more especially when of a melancholy character, is perhaps the most unmanageable form of insanity. It generally arises from an indulgence of reveries and speculative hopes and fears, doubts and desires, which, ceasing to be under the restraint of reflection and judgment, assume at last a morbid ascendency.

* Heinroth and Prichard are of a different opinion, although daily experience in a large establishment confirms my assertion, in which Esquirol coincides.

† Castration has been known to cure a lunatic; but these instances of strange recoveries cannot be considered as leading to any general practical conclusion, and can only be viewed as cases of powerful revulsion.

176. Monomania is more frequent in subjects of a vivid apprehension and great impressionability, and is generally the result of an imprudent indulgence in the vagaries of the imagination.

177. Deep study of any particular science — the ardent pursuit of any desirable object, the loss of the power of will in drawing the mind from its constant train of thought, may be considered as

the frequent causes of monomania.

178. Regret and repentance, exaggerated by a morbid apprehension for the future, or fear for the present, contribute to develope this malady. The patient fancies that he has forfeited every hope of bliss in this world by the loss of the object of his affection, or of happiness in an after state, from the commission of imaginary sins. This condition characterises the gloomy monomaniac.

179. In other cases, intensity of indulgence in a morbid train of thought leads the patient to imagine that he has attained the summit of his ambitious views; he has borne off the palm of victory, obtained a conqueror's diadem, communed with the Deity, or been crowned by Apollo and the Muses; his mind is so engaged with these brilliant hallucinations and occasional visions, that it can no longer cast off the shackles that confine it within the morbid circle of false perception, revelling in fairy dreams.*

180. Monomania is the result of civilisation, which in its progress necessarily developes artificial passions grafted upon natural propensities. Hence will monomania vary in character with the prevalent ideas and circumstances of the times, under the

influence of fashion, and the state of society.†

181. Melancholy differs widely from hypochondria. In the first malady the intuitive train of thought is constant and exclusive, permanently and ardently indulged in, and accompanied with fear and apprehension of future evil. In hypochondriasis there is dyspepsia, and the mental aberration generally refers to the physical condition of the patient. In monomania, the ravings partake of the character of delirium; not so in hypochondria, where the mental aberration, although dwelling on a particular apprehension, may be diverted into other channels by contending hopes and fears. ‡

182. When the features of the monomaniac bear the cast-iron impress of terror and melancholy, there is no hope of recovery; but when the features are occasionally relaxed from their rigidity, hope may be entertained; an obliquity in the look, and constant

side glances, are also of bad character.

183. Constant biting of the nails, attempts to scratch and tear

* Rush has called the gloomy monomania tristomania, and the gay monomania,

amenomania - an ingenious distinction.

† Melancholy monomania, however, is frequently preceded by hypochondria.

[†] Esquirol observes, that since religion has lost its influence on the minds of the people, demonomania and religious delusions are no longer observable; and government, to preserve tranquillity, having been obliged to have recourse to police precautions, fears of the magistracy have succeeded those of divine wrath, and madhouses are filled with patients who fancy that they are pursued and persecuted by legal authorities.

the skin, a sudden halt in walking, stopping and apparently listening to some sounds, &c., are most unfavourable symptoms.

184. Melancholia is more prevalent in summer than in winter. During the warm weather not only is mental exaltation more vivid, but excesses in living are more apt to excite with greater

energy.

185. Melancholia is rarely observed between the age of twenty-five to thirty-five, very rarely after fifty-five. In youth the passions are more transitory, and the cares of life are not felt so sensibly as in adults; yet will disappointment in love, in studious pursuits, and ambitious hopes, ever associated with vanity, and religious doubts and speculations, often derange the intellect in youth; but it is more subject to aberration when the imagination is less active, when the mind ponders with more intensity upon surrounding difficulties, and wanders in the reveries of a dismal futurity. In advanced age, man has become inured to disappointment, and has received so many philosophic lessons in the school of life, that he only wonders that he ever could have wondered at any worldly occurrence.

186. Women are more subject to melancholy impressions than men; their sedentary occupations, the powerful uterine sympathies that constantly act and react on their nervous system, their ready impressionability, added to the circumstance of their being essentially illogical, more naturally predispose them to mental depression. Religion and love, two sentiments closely akin, are the principal sources of their melancholic monomonia. After these two causes, pride or offended vanity exercise a mighty influence, though pride and vanity may be considered as the usual attendants

upon love.

187. A disposition to court solitude, and ascetic ideas, are the precursors of melancholic monomania; labour, and an active

course of life, are opposed to its influence.*

188. Long fasting, great debility, whatever may be its causes, predispose to this form of insanity, which is also frequently preceded by indigestion and irregularities in living.

189. Melancholy monomonia is the form of insanity which mas-

turbation is most likely to bring on.

- 190. This disease is sometimes followed by mania, but more generally by dementia. In the latter case the predominant idea still prevails, but it is expressed with incoherence and wandering, instead of being maintained with pertinacity as a confirmed conviction.
- 191. Melancholia is more frequently complicated with disease of the lungs and displacement of the colon. Out of one hundred and sixty-eight fatal cases, Esquirol only detected fourteen in

^{*} Esquirol is of opinion that musicians, poets, actors, merchants who have engaged in perilous speculations, are the persons most subject to this disease; he states that he has been consulted by more than twenty theatrical performers. This has not been observed in England.

which any anormal condition of the brain could be discovered. Sympathies with the digestive organs not only precede but accompany the development of the disease.

192. Women are more subject to demonomania than men. With

them it is generally complicated with hysteria.

193. Whatever may be the cause of the phenomenon, when demonomaniac women are plunged into a bath, and invariably rise to the surface of the water, the case may be considered of an obstinate nature.

194. Monomaniacs are more prone to commit suicide than any

other lunatics.

195. The propensity to suicide is very often combined with the impulse to commit homicide.

196. Suicidal propensities are known to be frequently heredi-

tary.

197. Suicidal insanity appears to prevail under the peculiar influence of certain seasons and temperature, more frequently in summer and in autumn, and in warm sultry weather, especially previous to a storm.

198. The propensity to suicide appears to be a moral perversion, in which the strongest instinct of nature, self-preservation, is

subverted.

199. That suicidal impulses arise from a moral perversion is evident from its having prevailed amongst certain sects and classes of enthusiasts, victims of erroneous impressions, and proselytes of ambitious impostors, or ecstatic madmen. It could scarcely be maintained, that the sectarians of any particular schismatic doctrine should all labour under the influence of physical causes, while nations and tribes have considered the sacrifice of life

welcome to the Deity, and a praiseworthy action.

200. Suicide may be considered the result of a physical disease, when it arises from an outbreak of the passions. Thus individuals of a sanguineous temperament, irascible in their temper, are more prone to commit this act when labouring under a temporary delirium. Such cases may be called acute suicide. In the nervous and bilious temperament the propensity assumes a chronic character. Jealousy, hatred, revenge, are at work, and the crime is the result of calculation, premeditated and indulged in for a considerable time. In these cases it is no easy matter to seek to attribute the commission of suicide or homicide to insanity, and indeed such a conclusion would be most unjust, since it would affix on the surviving family the stigma of lunacy.

201. The propensity to suicide, resulting from hypochondriacal fears, is very difficult to manage; such unfortunate beings are afraid to die, and yet have not sufficient courage to live. Impa-

tience of moral sufferings predisposes to suicide.*

^{*} A friend of the author's, Dr. ——, a man of sound judgment, and considered of a strong mind, was received with evident coolness by the general officer commanding the division to which he had been sent. In the course of the night he

202. Hatred of life and distaste of life are two sentiments widely different. In the one case there exists a constant excitement, an acute irritability, and morbid sensibility; the other is a case of tædium vitæ, a disgust of everything around the sufferer—a perpetual sense of ennui, and an apathetic indifference. It is clear that the moral treatment of such patients must differ as much as the form of their disease; both require excitement, but of a particular character.

203. The distaste of life is generally a symptom of hypochondriasm, causing moral perversion. Offended pride and vanity may

be considered a frequent cause of this rash act.

204. Much analogy is observed in cases of suicidal insanity, and not uncommonly homicide of a most appalling nature will precede the act of self-destruction. What is still more singular, mutual suicide is not uncommon, when two persons have argued themselves into a contempt of life, and either destroyed each other, or put an end to their existence in the presence of their companion.*

205. The propensity to commit suicide is more generally observed between the ages of twenty and thirty, and men are more liable to its fatal influence than women, in the proportion of three to one. Men have recourse to the halter, the pistol, or the knife; women to drowning, hanging, starvation, and poison. Most of these unfortunates make use of the ready means afforded to them by their trade: thus a barber will cut his throat with his razor; a surgeon will open an artery with a scalpel; a shoemaker with his leather-cutter; a soldier will use his musket or his pistol; a sportsman his fowling-piece.

206. When attempts to commit suicide appear to be the result of a determined premeditation, and frequent means to effect the fatal purpose are resorted to, the case may be considered incurable:

opened the crural artery with one of his scalpels, and bled to death. This was

an act of temporary delirium.

Amongst insane prostitutes, Esquirol observed that 10 out of 36, labouring under melancholia, evinced an inclination to destroy themselves. Out of 105 of these unfortunate creatures, 36 laboured under melancholy, 43 were maniacal, 18 fatuous, and 8 without any particular form of lunacy. Their ideas generally turned on topics of ambition, honour, or riches; very rarely were their aberrations of an erotic nature.

* Richard Smith was a man of property, but becoming poor from a series of losses and disappointments, and having a wife and child whom he was unable to support, persuaded his wife to terminate their misery by suicide. They first cut the throat of their infant, and then hanged themselves to the bed-post, leaving the following document. "We believe that God will forgive us — we quitted this life because we were miserable, and deprived of the means of living, and we have destroyed our only child from the apprehension of his living to become as wretched as ourselves." Strange to say, these desperate people, who murdered their child, recommended their dog and cat to the protection of a kind friend!

† One man, who was rescued from the river, jumped in shortly after, having filled his pockets with stones to sink him immediately; another person has wounded himself with a dagger, on the parapet of the bridge, previous to his plunging in the river; and another, saved from a watery grave, has thrown himself down from a steeple. The stern resolve to commit suicide is sometimes so

and here the tendency to the act has originated antecedently to the delirium during which it was perpetrated.

207. Idiotism is a state in which the mental faculties have been deficient from birth, and is more or less a congenital condition.

208. Fatuity is in general the result of other forms of insanity, more especially of dementia. Great errors have arisen from confounding dementia with fatuity; since incoherence is far from

constituting a fatuous state of mind.

209. Imbecility differs from idiotism, inasmuch that in imbecile persons there is merely a deficiency in the intellectual powers, and a limited capacity of action; they occasionally display some indications of mind, and are more or less susceptible of lively impressions and attachments; nor in these cases is malconformation, observable. Imbecile persons are also frequently remarkable for the acuteness of their intelligence and shrewdness of observation.* The idiot, on the contrary, is an unfortunate being, deprived of all intellectual discrimination, and solely obeying the dictates of instinct: the imbecile may be called silly, the idiot stupid.†

210. Fatuity is not unfrequently the result of the morbid impulses of the passions, when the mind, absorded by one idea, cannot be drawn from a particular train of thought, the delusions

of wrong associations, and an unsubdued imagination.

211. Fatuity may be the result of too great an activity of the imagination, ranging at random from one object to another, until the mental faculties cease to appreciate their relations, and gradu-

ally sink into a state of apathetic torpor.

212. Idiots are usually deformed in person; the head either too large or too small, and flattened laterally, behind, or before. Their gait is awkward and unsteady; they have thick lips, wide gaping mouths, whence the saliva is continually dribbling; their eyes are haggard, vacant, and blinking; the sense of taste and smelling depraved; their articulation difficult, and frequently unintelligible; memory, judgment and reflection have lost their power.

213. A malconformation of the cranium is so generally observed in idiots, that it may be considered as the cause of their condition.

invincible, that a woman has been known to cast herself four times in a well. In Waterford I was called to see a young girl, a servant, who, being accused of theft, actually suffocated herself in a pail of water; she was found on her knees, with her head plunged in the bucket. It is surprising that the first sensation of suffocation did not rouse the instinctive faculties of self-preservation to withdraw her head!

* Such were the "fools" formerly attached to the court, many of whom displayed no inconsiderable share of knavery. Both imbeciles and idiots are remarkably salacious and given to masturbation. The fondness of idiots for music, and the correctness of the ear, are surprising. This influence of music appears to strike sympathetic chords in every animated being; some insects and reptiles have been observed to be subject to its powers.

+ For the study of the gradations of intellectual weakness, the works of Hoff-

bauer must be consulted.

‡ Couerbe has observed, that the brains of idiots contain less phosphorus than those of intellectual persons.

214. Idiotism has been observed after the subsidence of cutaneous eruption, especially on the scalp; it has also succeeded the

convulsions of dentition.

215. Although the existence of the idiot may be considered vegetative, yet he is frequently subject to fits of passion when disappointed in his desires. Joy, fear, and danger, are the sentiments that mostly affect him.*

216. Idiots prefer light to obscurity, and are sometimes miserable

when in a dark place.

- 217. A limited power of ratiocination is observable in some idiots, who show an aptitude for mechanical employments and arithmetical calculations, without any corresponding evolutions of the mental faculties.
- 218. Fatuity is frequently the effect of apoplexy, and of an alteration in the texture of the membrane of the brain, resulting from chronic inflammation. Fatuity is slow and insidious in its progress.†

219. Fatuity may be generally considered as incurable; out of five hundred and eighteen cases at Charenton, only four fatuous

cures were returned.

220. There are few instances of idiots arriving at an advanced age; they seldom live until the thirtieth year; and those who are epileptic or paralytic, the greater number die between the age of twenty and twenty-five.

221. Idiotism has resulted from an improper treatment of pro-

gressive fatuity, and chiefly by abstraction of blood.

222. Cases of idiotism have been observed, in which the conformation of the cranium and face resembled that of peculiar animals, whose habits the patients imitated instinctively.

223. Sudden moral emotions have developed idiocy in many instances, and it has been caused by a sudden suppression of the

catamenia in young females.

224. Violent paroxysms of mania have been known to cure idiocy.

* In Ross-shire, two of these unfortunates fought with such desperation, that one of them died of his wounds, and the other was committed to prison. The horror occasioned by the drinking of human blood has been known, according to Sennert, to produce idiotism.

† Dr. Browne has justly observed, that "half a life-time may elapse, marked by gradually increased inconsistencies and imbecility, which are kindly attributed to humour or eccentricity, before the understanding is suspected to be undermined, or the glaring approach of a second childishness be more than surmised.

The decay steals on us as insensibly as the approach of old age."

‡ Pinel relates the case of a young idiotic girl, whose head resembled that of a sheep, and whose mode of living and habits resembled those of that animal. She would only eat vegetables; when spoken to, could only articulate, "Bé ma tante," and expressed her gratitude and delight by rubbing her head against the stomach of persons who had pleased her, and her anger by offering to butt those who had vexed her. She never could be brought to sit down, and would lie down to sleep on the ground, gathered up like a sheep; her back, shoulders, and loins, were covered with a sort of black wool.

225. Senile imbecility, or the dotage of old age, is generally incurable.

226. Madness, like injuries in the head, has been known to develope, upon recovery, faculties that were not suspected before the invasion of the disease. A celebrated dramatic perfomer only became conscious of his professional calling on the subsidence of insanity brought on by excessive grief.

BOOK II.

NECROSCOPIC RESEARCHES.

227. The labours of anatomists, in their post-mortem examinations of the bodies of lunatics, have not thrown any light on the causes of the disease, as the anormal appearances in the cavities have not been shown to have been evident causes or effects arising from functional disturbances.

228. Morbid changes have been exhibited in the head; yet anormal appearances of a much more extensive, and one might say vital character, have been frequently observed, without any derangement

of the intellectual faculties.

229. Of the morbid alteration in the brain and its membranes it must be observed, that as all mental exertions increase the determination of blood to the encephalon, a long continuance of this excitement must be expected to produce some changes in the structure of this delicate organ.

230. The same may be remarked of the morbid appearances in the abdominal viscera; the sympathies that exist between the condition of the mental faculties and the digestive functions are so powerful, that it can scarcely be expected that the functions of assimilation will be performed in a healthy manner, while the whole

system partakes of the general functional derangements.

231. Greding, whose researches have been most extensive, has found that the skull of almost all insane persons have a natural shape. In sixteen cases only out of two hundred and twenty, the forehead was contracted, the temple compressed, and the occiput large and expanded. The dura mater and pia mater were, in most cases of mania, thickened in their texture. In about one-half of the cases, the cerebral substance was softer than usual, soft and pulpy in mania, melancholia, epilepsy, and idiocy: in cases of mania the cerebellum was softer than the cerebrum. It may be expected that increased vascular action, and a torpor in the absorbents, might increase the serous accumulation in this organ, and render it soft and pulpy; therefore effusions in the ventricles, and between the membranes, are very frequently met with. The plexus choroides was

generally found in an anormal state; in ninety-six cases of mania out of a hundred, thickened and full of hydatids.*

232. Haslam, in thirty-seven cases, found that in not one of them were the brain and its membranes free from morbid appearances.

- 233. Georget has found irregular conformations of the cranium, the prominences of which were irregularly developed;—dura mater rarely changed, but sometimes adhering to the skull, thickened, and containing deposits of bone; pia mater injected; volume of the brain sometimes less than the cavity of the cranium might be expected to contain; some brains hard, some perfectly soft; the convolutions separated by serosity; the pia mater thickened, ventricles sometimes large, and at other times small, not unfrequently filled with a serous fluid; plexus choroides exsanguined, and containing hydatiform vesicles, partial softenings and erosions of the brain; cerebellum generally softer than the cerebrum; mesocephalon, medulla oblongata, and medulla spinalis, rarely displaying morbid changes of structure.
- 234. The indefatigable and illustrious Pinel came to the conclusion that the phenomena displayed in the heads of lunatics were similar to those which occur in other cerebral diseases, and gave up the hope of elucidating the pathology of mental derangement by necroscopic research.

235. The justly celebrated practitioner Esquirol was inclined

to partake of the opinion of Pinel.†

236. Bayle has endeavoured to establish a new doctrine of insanity in his anatomical researches. The proximate cause of the disease he considers to be an inflammation of the meninges, producing an increased exhalation of serosity and consequent pressure on the brain by infiltration and effusion. Calmeil, with much industry of research, has impugned this doctrine.

237. Foville has carried on autopsic researches on the state of the brain with much accuracy of observation, and has come to the conclusion, that morbid changes in the cortical substance are connected with intellectual derangement, but that morbid changes in the white substance are more frequently exhibited in disorders of

the motive powers.

238. Diseases of the lungs are very general in insanity, espe-

* In maniacal cases the skull is frequently very thick without diploe; in melancholia, on the contrary, the cranium is often thin and transparent in several

parts, especially in the parietal bones.

† He says, that the lesions of the encephalon are neither in relation to the disorder of the mind, nor to the maladies complicated with it; and what disconcerts all our theories, is, that not unfrequently, even in the instances of patients who have passed through all the stages of insanity, and have lived many years under derangement, no organic changes whatever have been traced either in the brain or its membranes. Experience also proves, that in every dissection of the brain, accurately carried on according to Solly's admirable method, in cases in which no insanity existed, anormal changes will be constantly found. This circumstance I had frequent opportunities to observe in the General Hospital at Chatham, in subjects returned from long service in tropical climes.

cially in melancholic patients; and Esquirol computes, that, in one-fourth of the cases of insanity, disease in the thoracic viscera is detected. Phthisis is a common disease amongst the insane, although not observed during lifetime, as the patient neither coughs nor spits, but swallows the expectorated matter: these patients gradually sink, and are supposed to die of exhaustion.

239. Diseases of the heart are occasionally found, but there is not sufficient ground to consider them in any way connected with insanity, not being more frequently observed than in the general

cases of hypochondriasis.

240. Traces of chronic inflammation of the intestinal canal are frequently observed — the transverse arch of the colon is also often displaced, in some cases as low as the pelvis; contraction of the sigmoid flexure of that intestine is also of frequent occurrence; but in these cases the coats of the colon do not exhibit any mark of disease.*

241. The liver is rarely found diseased. The sympathetic influence of this viscus does not appear to be connected with any organic lesion of its structure, and the morbid action of the bile in the system is foreign to the organ that secreted it: injuries of the head and mental disorders may occasion a diseased state of the liver, but I apprehend that idiopathic hepatitis is rarely, if ever, a cause of insanity.

242. From the preceding observations we may come to the fol-

lowing general conclusions: -

i. Malconformation of the cranium is only observed in idiots and imbeciles.

ii. Morbid appearances of the brain and its membranes are chiefly observed in cases of insanity complicated with paralysis, epilepsy, or epileptiform convulsions, or arising from the nature of

the disease that terminated the patient's existence.

iii. Sanguineous and serous effusions, injections and infiltrations, that are found in the cranial cavity, the thickening of the meninges, their adhesion with each other or the cranium, and the partial or general ramollissement of the brain, or its density, may be considered to indicate a condition of the organ arising from effects of insanity, or from the complication of other disorders.

* This displacement of the colon was found in 33 bodies of melancholic patients out of 168. Georget attributes it to a relaxed state of the peritoneal folds which support the intestines in their situation. I should be inclined to attribute their appearance to long constipation, so frequently attendant upon insanity, especially in cases of mania and melancholia; the weight of the hardened scybala retained in the colon would be sufficient to produce this bearing down. In support of this opinion, I may remark, that constrictions, though frequently detected in the descending portion of the gut, are scarcely ever observed in the ascending part. The quantity and hardness of the scybala evacuated by purgatives from insane patients is sometimes amazing. Esquirol seems inclined towards this opinion. The opinion of Guislain, who attributes this displacement to inflammation, is not supported by post mortem observation. This displacement of the colon has been also noted by Desgenettes, Ballin, Heuze. Not only in insanity are the intestines frequently found infarcted with fæces, but this accumulation has been observed in the appendix of the cœcum.

iv. The morbid changes in the thorax, the abdomen, and the pelvis, are most probably independent of insanity, although these alterations may show the original point of departure of mental associations, by exhibiting the organic disturbance which first acted sympathetically upon the brain.

v. All the organic lesions found in the insane, may be also observed in subjects who had been free from mental alienation.

vi. Numerous post mortem examinations have not detected any anormal appearances, although insanity had existed for many vears.

vii. Morbid anatomy frequently exhibits alterations in the encephalon, of the most vital importance, such as suppuration, gangrene, &c., without any derangement of the intellectual faculties.

viii. From these remarks we may come to the following conclusion, — that madness may arise from some unknown modification in the brain that does not originate in this organ, but from other focuses of sensibility, placed in different regions of the system, in the same manner as a disturbance in the circulation may arise without any previous lesion of the heart, but from some other point of the sanguineous distribution.*

243. From the foregoing observations it is obvious, that in medical jurisprudence, necroscopic investigation cannot be admitted

as evidence of the state of mind of the deceased.

244. In a practical point of view, we must consider any theory on which might be founded a course of treatment deduced from necroscopic researches, as fraught with mischief. It is unfortunately but too true, that theorists, in support of their doctrines, will often seek to prop them by practical experiments; and if ex-

* Esquirol terminates his remarks on this subject by the following important conclusion: — "To cure madness, it is no more requisite to know the nature of the disorder, than to know the nature of pain for the purpose of successfully relieving its agonies. The necroscopic researches of Morgagni, Greding, Meckel, Rochoux, Rostan, Lallemand, Bouillard, Abercrombie, Foville, Bayle, Calmeil, &c., have only exhibited organic lesions of the encephalon, revealed by a disturbance in the functions of sensibility and myotility; and whatever light their labours may have shed on the diseases of the brain and the meninges, the mystery of the mind, and the condition of its manifestations, continue to be impenetrable. The labours of physiology and metaphysics have not been more successful than those of pathological anatomy."

My own experience, during which I have examined or been present at the examination of upwards of 130 bodies of diseased lunatics, has, I am sorry to say, led me to a similar conclusion; and, with the exception of five cases in which there was a morbid growth of bone or exostosis bearing upon the brain, I have not met with a case in which the lesion of any viscera could be considered as the evident cause of the disease. In cases of serous infiltration, and slight effusion in the ventricles, it is more than probable that these phenomena occurred in articulo mortis, or at least on the approach of death, when the equilibrious action of the exhalants and absorbents was destroyed. If serous pressure is to be considered a cause of lunacy, we might expect to find it in every case of hydrocephalus or cranial depression. Magendie asserts that idiocy has been known to arise from the entrance of the fourth ventricle being closed by an osseous tumour, projecting from the basilar process of the occipital bone, forcing up the soft parts in contact with it.

periments may be excusable in any case, most unquestionably a lunatic is a being sufficiently miserable already, not to be subjected to speculative investigations, and their consequent errors, which he has not the power of objecting to or resisting, and of which his relations and friends most likely have no cognizance.

BOOK III.

TREATMENT OF INSANITY.

245. The treatment of the insane comprehends the moral management of the patient combined with such therapeutic means as may be indicated by predominant symptoms.

MORAL TREATMENT.

246. It is most essential to discover, if possible, the nature of the mental impressions that may have developed the disease, as upon this much of the moral treatment must be founded. It will be equally desirable to ascertain the nature of the physical causes,

when such causes are suspected.

247. Whatever may have been the cause of insanity, it is essential that the insane should be immediately removed from their families, and placed under the immediate control and constant surveillance of a medical practitioner experienced in the treatment and management of the disease. There is no disease that requires more constant attention in its early stages than insanity. The medical attendant's vigilance should be incessant in watching every favourable opportunity of breaking the links of the morbid catenation, to obtain the patients' confidence, overcome their resistance to curative means, and subject them to an appropriate regimen and occupation of mind and body.

248. Since it has been found that upwards of eighty insane patients in the hundred can be restored to the enjoyment of their mental faculties, when the malady is treated in its earliest stages, we may consider insanity as a disease as likely to be relieved as

any other affection.

249. Although the patients should be secluded and separated from all objects that might be suspected to have excited the disease, and persons who might continue to irritate them, yet it must be recollected that man is essentially a gregareous being, even when labouring under mental delusion, and not induced by melancholy to shun all intercourse with those around him; the insane should therefore be allowed the enjoyment of as much company, entertainment, and occupation, as their state of mind can safely permit, without injury to themselves and others.

250. The apprehensions entertained of injury arising from lunatics associating with each other are not founded upon experience, and it is probable that more cures are effected in an asylum, than will be obtained by seclusion in private life. A lunatic, although conscious that he is an inmate of a madhouse, soon becomes reconciled to his situation, and finds means of occupation and distraction in associating with other patients, whose mental aberrance will often become the subject of his conversation, and not unfrequently of his mirth. He believes himself to be sane, unjustly deprived of his liberty, and will occasionally advise his superintendent to employ various means to relieve his insane companions, whose condition he commiserates. Thus do we find that many insane persons will, in the kindest and most intelligent manner, relieve their fellow-sufferers when labouring under disease. Total seclusion and solitude are rarely requisite, and in general injurious.*

251. It is obvious that, as far as circumstances allow, a proper classification of the insane in a public or private institution is desirable. But their classification, which is frequently a theoretic speculation, need not be extended to the many ramifications that have been proposed by book practitioners. In a large establishment the following classification will be found sufficient:—

1. The turbulent and noisy maniacs.

2. The dirty, indolent, and slovenly; demented cases not idiotic.

3. The quiet, tractable, and cleanly.

The epileptic.
 The paralytic.

6. The convalescent, and patients enjoying lucid intervals.

It is obvious that in this classification much discrimination is required on the part of the medical attendant.†

- 252. According to the circumstances of the patients, they should be abstracted from all morbid impressions and associations connected with their mental aberrations.
- * It is well known that patients discharged from an asylum, on the approach of a fresh attack, have come to request re-admission a convincing proof that they do not look upon these establishments with the horror they are generally supposed to entertain of them. Instances are not uncommon of lunatics returning after having effected their escape.

The following is the classification proposed by Desportes: -

1. Furious lunatics under treatment.

2. Furious lunatics incurable.

Tranquil lunatics under treatment, and sleeping in cells.
 Tranquil lunatics incurable, and in cells.

5. Furious epileptics.

6. Tranquil epileptics.

Quiet lunatics, sleeping in wards.
 Quiet incurable lunatics, in wards.

9. Melancholie.

10. Idiotic.

11. Sick lunatics in the infirmary.

12. Convalescents.

In the classification of lunatics, great care should be taken to separate those who may be allowed to see visiters, from those patients to whom such an indulgence cannot be granted.

253. To carry this moral treatment into effect, it is urgent that the medical superintendent, in addition to professional skill and experience in the treatment of the insane, should be a man of a philosophical turn of mind, and as well versed in the lore of physiology as in the study of psychology. He should have an intimate acquaintance with the different grades of society, and possess such general knowledge as will enable him to converse with his patients on most subjects on which their mind is liable to wander. He should be acquainted with the tenets of various sectarians, the nature and technicalities of the different professions, and the habits of different provinces and countries, to which it were desirable that a knowledge of foreign languages was added. Such general information is most invaluable in the treatment of the insane.

254. Occupation of mind and body, according to former habits, should be afforded, and constant exercise enforced. Gardening and various agricultural works are particularly to be resorted to; tradesmen and operatives employed in their former pursuits, and trades taught to those who were never brought up to any profession.*

255. While we select means of amusing the patients, much discrimination and judgment is required. Music, dancing, and various games, which may prove beneficial to many, are frequently of too exciting a nature to be allowed; the same judgment is

requisite in the choice of books, &c.†

* In the Armagh asylum thirteen acres of ground are attached to the establishment. All the linen used is woven by the patients, who make their own clothes. When the Hanwell asylum was under my superintendence, the following was the distribution of the patients:—

Males.					Females.				
Garden and Agriculture				45	Garden .				24
Helpers .				44	Laundry .				36
Picking Coir				40	Kitchen and D	airy			16
Carpenters .				6	Helpers .				31
Tailors .				11	Picking Coir				116
Shoemakers				14	Needlework				132
Brushmakers				2	Twine and Br	1		3	
Bricklayers .				4					
Painters .				5					358
Clerks				2	Unemployed				90
					Sick .				21
				173					_
Unemployed				151					469
Sick .				14					100000
				338					

† A young man, stated to be incurable, was placed under my care. He was labouring under furious mania, and brought to me in a strait waistcoat as a danger-ous lunatic. He was freed from restraint, became tractable, and read the Bible. I observed that he chiefly selected the historical and apocryphal parts of the Scriptures. His features, which had been fierce and harsh, gradually relaxed in severity — he occasionally smiled. He had been employed in the wine trade; I asked him how he adulterated his wines: the question seemed to amuse him. I

256. The aberration of the insane, and their absurd conversation, should never become subjects of mirth or derision. The insane should rarely be contradicted, while we gradually endeavour to draw them from their delusive train of thinking; great versatility is required in our conversation with them, and we should endeavour to fly from one subject to another, until we can find some topic foreign to their delusions, which seems to gratify them.*

257. Except in cases of violent mania, restraint is rarely necessary; unless it be to prevent the mischievous idiot and the maniac from destroying property, when gentle restraint is required to prevent them from constantly tearing their clothes and bedding, or breaking the window-panes, or anything they can lay hold of. It may, however, be occasionally employed as a punishment, the

dread of which keeps many lunatics in order.†

258. Strait waistcoats are in every respect objectionable; whether the sleeves are tied behind or before, respiration is impeded. Sleeves of canvass, by means of which the arms are kept loose alongside of the body, are preferable. Leather muffs, which only confine the hands, are useful with mischievous patients who are always tearing or destroying their clothes or bedding. A restraint chair, in which the patient is seated, without any other coercive means, will be found advantageous; the patients have the free use of their arms and hands, and are only prevented from roving about, and committing mischief.

259. Muffling, as it is called by keepers, which consists in tying a cloth over the patient's head and mouth, is a practice that should

not be allowed. ±

260. The influence of fear will be found to aggravate lunacy, instead of keeping the patient under proper discipline. The utmost kindness will be found far preferable; but while we are kind to these unfortunates, a certain degree of firmness in keeping them in order is absolutely necessary.

261. We should endeavour not to promise a patient anything that we cannot grant, or that it would be improper to comply with; at the same time we should endeavour not to irritate them by a

positive refusal; but elude their demands with address.

262. When restraint is absolutely necessary, it should be enforced

placed Smollett's Roderick Random in his hands; he laughed heartily as he was reading it. His cure was soon effected, his moral management being aided

by a proper therapeutic treatment.

* The common saying, "It is easier to flatter fools than fight them," is most applicable to the insane; their foibles, and their fancies must be indulged. It is only in cases of religious monomania where opposition, wisely managed, may be resorted to.

† Nothing can be more absurd, speculative, or peculative, than the attempts of theoretic visionaries, or candidates for popular praise, to do away with all restraint. Desirable as such a management might be, it can never prevail without much danger to personal security, and a useless waste and dilapidation of property.

t This subject will be resumed under the head of "Lunatic Asylums."

by the keeper, after having been ordered or allowed by the superintendent. Keepers must be held in some awe; but the physician should endeavour to rule by gentle means, and when a patient is taken out of restraint, it should be invariably done by his medical attendant.

263. Politeness of manner is essential in the treatment of the insane, who are singularly alive to any breach of decorum or

urbanity.*

264. The most punctual regularity in all the duties performed in an asylum is essential to maintain a proper discipline among the patients, as it gradually reconciles them to a system to which they

had not been previously accustomed.

265. In allowing the relatives and friends of the patient to visit them, much judgment is required. The physician alone should discriminate when granting this indulgence. The same may be said of casual visiters, who should only be permitted to enter those parts of the establishment where their appearance and idle curiosity

may not produce excitement.

267. It is generally imprudent to allow children to visit female lunatics, as their presence will frequently occasion most distressing associations amongst those patients who may have been mothers. Clergymen and officers in uniform should be admitted with caution, and female visiters gaily dressed and wearing trinkets frequently cause much excitement among female lunatics.

268. The relatives and friends of a patient should only be allowed to visit them in the presence of their medical attendant. The revival of certain subjects has frequently occasioned

fresh excitement.†

269. The insane should, no doubt, be allowed all the comforts that religion can afford; but their chaplain's visits should be under the control of their physician. In many instances a mistaken zeal may do much harm. Great judgment is also required in the sermons preached to these unfortunates.‡

* Lunatics often entertain a high sense of honour and delicacy; this feeling should always be flattered; and I have met with patients whom restraint could not keep in order, but who became manageable, after pledging themselves to remain quiet. The morose will frequently feel much gratified by such marks of confidence, and will boast of it, not only to their keepers, but to their companions in misfortune.

† A young girl, who had unfortunately been thrown upon the town, was in a state of rapid convalescence, when in a casual visiter she recognised a former

acquaintance, and she relapsed into an incurable state.

Female lunatics have been known to seize upon children with frantic joy, claiming them as their long-lost infants. Nothing can be more absurd than the members of the Committees of Lunatic Asylums interfering with the visits of the establishment. It is a vain display of patronage, highly prejudicial to the welfare of such institutions.

† Nothing can be more absurd than the assertion of the great benefit that arises from the patients being obliged to attend divine worship. The apparent tranquillity and attention with which they seem to listen to the chaplain's exhortations, are in most cases purely mechanical. A lunatic seemed much affected at

270. In the selection of proper cases to attend divine worship, many, who most ardently wish to join such meetings, are most

decidedly unfit to be present at the service.

271. To those who are proper subjects to attend divine worship, Sunday service should be regularly performed. It affords a regular occupation during a day consecrated to rest; and when rest from labour is enforced from the respect due to the Sabbath, it is but too true that it is the day most pregnant with mischief in lunatic asylums, from the want of occupation and its most injurious monotony. It is to be regretted that all labour should be suspended on the Sabbath-day amongst unfortunate beings who have no idea of its solemnity.*

272. In the wild absurdities of Bigots, the sacrament had been directed to be administered to lunatics supposed to be fit to participate in the Lord's Supper. Any patient fit to participate in this

service is fit to be discharged.†

273. When patients have travelled and obtained a knowledge, however slight, of foreign languages, conversing with them in that language, and recalling to their memories scenes of other lands, will frequently be found a valuable means of breaking down a morbid train of thought. In many instances a patient will forget most home occurrences, but recollect vividly circumstances of a foreign nature. When a patient replies in one language to questions put to him in another dialect, the case will afford but little chance of recovery, and will probably be followed by paralysis or fatuity.

274. The moral treatment of the insane is of such importance,

a sermon, and even shed tears with seeming contrition; the subject of the discourse was the Trinity; when questioned on the homily which had thus affected him, he said it was one of the most beautiful sermons he had ever heard, all about the Emperor of Russia and King of Prussia! Were it not for the moral discipline enforced in these asylums, and the presence of the keepers, their congregations would very frequently exhibit anything but a devotional appearance.

During fourteen months superintendence of Hanwell, out of upwards of one thousand patients, I had only four who were fit to receive religious consolation

in sickness, and on the bed of death.

* Dr. Brown has given the following most judicious observations on the subject:—"In the employment of such an agent (religion), great difficulties occur—so great, indeed, as to discourage the most zealous of its advocates. These consist in determining the modes in which the effect may be best obtained. If its doctrines are taught to weak or perverted intellects, they may add to the confusion already existing; if its influences are brought permanently forward, they are apt to mingle with superstitious fears and delusions; if its duties alone are commented on, the doubting and ignorant may be left unsatisfied; if preaching is the vehicle, the attention may be fatigued and exhausted; if prayer, the sentiments may be strongly affected. These suppositions are all obviously founded upon the injudicious use of such an agent."

† In an inquiry that took place in the management of the Hanwell Lunatic Asylum, the following question was put to me by the Dean of Carlisle: "What is the length of time during which, to the best of your information, a medical man should have the superintendence of an insane patient, before he can form an

opinion as to his fitness to receive the Sacrament !!!"

that the physician should be invested with the supreme power in their management. It is totally absurd in any other person to interfere with his arrangements, when the welfare of the unfortunate patients is too often sacrificed to gratify the vanity of obtrusive official visiters, who, with no doubt the very best intentions, do an infinity of mischief.*

275. Every amusement that the patient can be indulged in with security, should be allowed: and in this powerful means of drawing the lunatic from his disordered train of thought, the affluent

possess much greater advantages than the needy.

276. When restraint is absolutely necessary, it should be resorted to with calmness and steadiness. An expression of impatience or anger will only aggravate the patient's violence; a sufficient force should also be displayed, to show the patient that resistance would be vain. Lunatics are rarely courageous, and are easily intimidated by firmness and determination.

PHYSICAL TREATMENT.

277. The first indications is to meet the symptoms of local congestion, especially when a determination of blood is evident in the

encephalon.

278. Bleeding, at least general blood-letting, is scarcely ever necessary in the treatment of the insane. The collapse that follows depletion is frequently not only alarming, but fatal. In insanity the excitement it so transient, that the pulse cannot be considered a sufficient guide to direct our practice. However, when the subject is plethoric, and there is an evident increased impetus in the cerebral vessels, moderate blood-letting may be resorted to with good effect.†

279. Local bleeding by leeches, or cupping, will be found more advisable. The blood should be drawn from the temple and the back of the neck; leeches should be applied repeatedly, and in small numbers, and their effect aided by warm fomentations.

280. When the patient has been subject to epistaxis, and seems to suffer from the suppression of this discharge, leeches should be

applied to the temple and the nostrils.

281. When the catamenia are irregular, leeches applied to the labia will be found of essential service; they should be placed

* The same observation applies to stewards and matrons. The interference of the latter, more especially, is frequently most injurious, and their influence is

usually the cause of all the disorders that occur in lunatic asylums.

† The advocates of blood-letting have founded their practice on pathological anatomy, which so frequently exhibits signs of inflammation in the brain and its membranes; but this is a perilous deduction, as local congestion by no means shows that there is such a general state of plethora as to warrant depletion. This congestion very often does not arise from too great a quantity of blood in the system, but from an unequal distribution of that fluid; and it is more than probable that the want of equilibrium in the distribution of the blood will be increased by the state of debility that succeeds venesection. Local bleeding is not attended with this disadvantage.

close to each other, and in great numbers. In mania complicated with hysteria, this practice will be found of great advantage. The artificial discharge of blood should be resorted to about the period when the catamenia are expected. After the operation, the patient should be put into a warm bath, while cold applications to the head are made.

282. In the suppression of the hemorrhoidal discharge, leeches

to the margin of the anus should be repeatedly applied.

283. In the delirium that follows intoxication, which has not unfrequently been considered maniacal, bleeding is not only objectionable, but most dangerous,—patients having been known to sink into a fatal collapse immediately after venesection.

284. Blood-letting is equally objectionable in the delirium following wounds, which has also been considered as an attack of

mania.

285. When cerebral determination is evident, we should be careful, ere we proceed to bleeding, to ascertain the state of the circulation. The carotid artery may be found to pulsate with apparent strength and fulness; but if it is easily compressible, and the radial artery is feeble in its pulsation, general blood-letting is not admissible. When pressure on the jugular vein produces a sense of heaviness in the head with pain, but these symptoms cease the moment the pressure is suspended, bleeding is dangerous.

286. When the extremities are cold, the skin clammy, the tongue furred, cold and tremulous, with tremor of the limbs and rigor, notwithstanding the symptoms of cerebral congestion, general

bleeding is dangerous.

287. In puerperal madness general blood-letting is not advisable.

288. Mania will not unfrequently assume the character of de-

mentia and fatuity, after imprudent bleeding.*

289. When there is much excitement and increased action of the heart and arteries, it will be found that aconite, in fractional doses, will procure a state of calmness more rapidly than detraction of blood.†

290. Great excitement frequently arises from the want of sleep. In this case the salts of morphia will frequently procure rest, and it is preferable to employ them according to the endermic method, by producing a slight vesication on the back of the neck, sprinkled with acetate of morphia.

291. When there is a considerable determination to the brain,

+ The endermic inspersion should always be aided by counter-irritation in the

intestinal tube.

^{*} Pinel thus expresses himself on blood-letting: "Bleeding is an evacuation so rarely employed in the Salpêtrière, that it may be considered an epoch in the treatment. How many patients also we see cured, without having been bled, and how many have been bled and remained incurable!" When I was a pupil in the Hôtel-Dieu, the practice in the insane ward was particularly unsuccessful, and its physician, Bosquillon, was a strenuous advocate of bleeding.

cold applications to the head, while a slight pressure is made upon the carotid arteries, will often relieve the excitement.* Arterial pressure is a powerful agent in brainular excitement, which, in insanity, is mostly of a transient nature.

EMETICS.

292. Emetics are useful when there is a torpid state of the system, more especially in cases of melancholia connected with dyspeptic affections.† The best mode of exhibiting emetics is a solution of tartrate of antimony and potass in water, and given in small doses until vomiting is excited.

293. Where there is any cerebral excitement, with predisposition to paralysis, emetics are of a doubtful efficacy, and have not

unfrequently been followed by fatal results.

294. Although tartrate of antimony as an emetic may be hazardous in many instances, its use as a nauseating medicine is often highly beneficial. A solution of about one-fourth of a grain, or even the one-sixteenth of a grain in a quart of water, two ounces of which to be given from time to time in the course of twenty-four hours, will be found most efficient, especially in cases of mania.

295. The calmness produced by the action of emetics, and which arises from exhaustion, must be viewed with much caution, as it is not unfrequently the precursor of cerebral congestion and effusion.

PURGATIVES.

296. Drastic purgatives require much caution, as they will often increase the excitement which they are exhibited to relieve. They are useful in epileptic cases; in cases of sudden determination of blood to the head; and when constipation has been obstinate, aloetic preparations will be found the most efficacious. The compound colocynth pill is also a valuable medicine. Croton oil should be prescribed with great reserve, as I have frequently observed increased cerebral excitement with stupor after its administration. The compound powder of jalap is also a useful purgative.

297. As the exhibition of purgatives is frequently followed by a state of obstipation, it is necessary to keep up a steady action on the intestinal tube, and for this purpose laxatives are indicated: an open state of the bowels may be kept up by a solution of cream of tartar; but when this is not found sufficient, a solution of one

* A yoke, somewhat similar to the one recommended by Benjamin Bell for jugular bleeding, might be so constructed as to produce a gentle pressure on the carotid; but the greatest difficulty in the construction of such an instrument would be to guard against its pressure on the jugular veins, which would totally defeat the intention.

† Haslam confines their use to such cases, and asserts that after the administration of many thousand emetics to persons who were insane, but otherwise in

good health, he never saw any benefit derived from their use.

ounce of sulphate of magnesia in sixteen ounces of infusion of roses, to which is added one-sixteenth of a grain of tartar emetic, given in doses of two ounces four times in the day, will be found a valuable adjuvant.

298. Preparations of mercury, more especially calomel, should be used with caution; they act upon the nervous system, and

frequently increase the despondency of the melancholic.

299. Laxative injections should be frequently used; the best form, perhaps, is simply soap and water; turpentine glysters are sometimes prescribed, but they generally produce great excitement.

300. When violent drastics have failed, laxative articles of diet have procured the desired effect, such as stewed prunes with senna leaves. In the south of France I have seen the tomata, or love-

apple, employed with singular good effect.*

301. In dyspeptic and melancholy cases, the compound rhubarb pill, given repeatedly and in small doses, will be found most effectual. In these cases I have found castor-oil injurious, as it will often bring on a troublesome, if not a fatal diarrhœa.

302. Elaterium should be prescribed with great caution, as it will often bring on incurable diarrhæa, especially in cases of

dementia and melancholy.

303. In hysteric females a suppository of soap and aloes, with one drop of croton oil incorporated with it, has relieved the most

obstinate constipation.

304. That constipation is attendant upon insanity is no doubt the case in many instances; but this state is too generally considered as a matter of course; hence has arisen the pernicious practice of debilitating the patient and injuring the digestive functions by the constant exhibition of purgatives; frequently of a drastic nature. It will be found upon observation, that the bowels of the insane are generally most irritable, and prone to diarrhæa of an unmanageable nature.

305. Drastic purgatives should only be given when milder medicines have failed in their effect, when the tongue is foul, yellow

on the edge, and brown in the centre.

306. Air and exercise should be combined with the use of laxatives to obviate costiveness; and it will generally be found that the bowels will become regular as the cerebral excitement decreases.

OPIUM, NARCOTICS, AND SEDATIVES.

307. The exhibition of opium in insanity requires much discrimination.

308. It is injurious in cases of cerebral congestion and great vascular action, as it will often occasion phrenitis.

309. It should never be prescribed in cases where there appear to exist premonitory epileptic or paralytic symptoms.

^{*} An extract of the tomata is a most valuable medicine.

310. When there is no great excitement, and the pulse is small and weak, and the nervous symptoms prevail, opium may not only be given with safety, but with evident beneficial results.

311. In sleepless patients, opium given internally will rarely produce repose; its exhibition endermically will often prove more effectual: sprinkling the blistered surface on the back of the neck, or on the epigastric region, with the acetate or muriate of morphia.

312. When opium is given internally, the best mode of ex-

hibiting it is Battley's sedative solution.

313. Opium when indicated should be given in large doses,

gradually tried, and at intervals.

314. When, after the use of opium, the patient awakens from his sleep in a state of increased excitement, its exhibition should be

given up.

315. Hyoscyamus, belladonna, and conium, have procured rest when opium had utterly failed. Of these narcotics, belladonna I have found the most beneficial. Hyoscyamus produces increased heat, with thirst and a dryness of the tongue and fauces. These medicines, however, vary according to peculiar idiosyncrasies, which must be studied. The external application of the extract of belladonna, employed according to the endermic method, is often very effectual in reducing excitement, more especially when applied to the epigastric region. The extract of lettuce I never found of any use.

316. When calomel or the blue pill is given, it will be found bene-

ficial to combine it with hyocyamus.

317. Digitalis is a medicine on which we can place but little reliance: confinement in a recumbent posture is necessary to assist its action, as I have rarely found it depressing the circulation when the patient was allowed to take exercise. I have noticed apparent favourable results when this medicine was combined with camphor; it was, however, difficult to ascertain to which of the drugs the calmness obtained was to be attributed. Large doses of digitalis are inadmissible, as they produce dizziness, vertigo, and increased cerebral determination.

318. Camphor is a most valuable medicine in lunacy, but its exhibition requires much discrimination. It is not advisable when there is cerebral excitement, with a hot, dry skin, full pulse, and wild countenance; but when there is much restlessness and uneasiness, with a low, weak pulse, and the skin is cold and clammy, camphor will be found most beneficial, combined with the *liquor ammoniæ acetatæ*. I have often prescribed it with great advantage when symptoms of low nervous fever were prevalent; however, the encomiums bestowed on this medicine have been overrated.

319. I have never observed any decided advantage in the exhibition of musk or assafætida; but, in cases of insanity connected with hysteria, the ammoniacal tincture of valerian will be found a

valuable medicine.

COUNTER-IRRITANTS.

320. Blisters will often prove beneficial, especially in cases of mania and melancholy. In the former case they act as a revulsive, and in the latter their irritation diverts the mind of the patient from its morbid train of thought.*

321. The practice of applying blisters to the head is highly injurious, as it increases the excitement of the membranes of the brain, and moreover prevents the application of cold, one of our most

powerful auxiliaries.

322. On the approach of an epileptic fit, a blister on the back of the neck will often shorten the duration of the attack, and render it less violent.

323. The actual cautery has been known to correct the morbid aberrations of the monomaniac affected with demonomania, the pain it excites drawing their attention from their melancholy apprehensions. An iron of a globular form, at a white heat, should be momentarily applied to the mastoid processes. This sudden excitement has been known to cure patients who fancied that they heard various menacing voices denouncing perdition and celestial wrath.

324. Setons are of very little avail, except in cases where paralysis is apprehended and vision is impaired. They are most advi-

sable in the neck.

325. A steady counter-irritation kept up on the back of the neck by the tartar emetic ointment, or other stimulating applications, will be found of much benefit in recent cases of lunacy, more especially when the malady has assumed a maniacal type.†

326. Counter-irritants are of great service when any eruption has disappeared; indeed they are beneficial in all cases of metastasis.

327. When a tendency to coma and lethargy is observed, mustard cataplasms to the lower extremities are of great service; but care must be taken that the sinapisms are not left on too long, as there is a tendency to sloughing in most of these cases.

BATHING AND ABSTRACTION OF HEAT.

328. One of the most powerful agents to equalise the circulation is the warm bath; but it should be aided by the application of cold water or ice to the shaved head, while the body is immersed in the bath. The douche, with a rose-bib, will be found a valuable method

of directing a broken stream of water to the head.

329. The shower-bath or a spout douche should be used with much caution. When there is great cerebral determination, their employment is followed by a reaction, which is not unfrequently alarming, and increases the excitement which it was intended to check. An imprudent affusion has been followed by paralysis.

* Blisters are of essential service in puerperal madness.

† The lotion employed by the late St. John Long has often proved most effective in mania, producing a discharge of a peculiar viscid character.

330. Friction of the lower extremities, while the patient is in the warm-bath, is often very beneficial, especially in hysteric females. In general, the patient should remain in the warm-bath for about half an hour, but care must be taken that the degree of heat is not such as to occasion vascular excitement.

331. The best method of applying cold water or pounded ice to the head is by a double linen nightcap dipped in cold water, or

between the folds of which the ice is to be introduced.*

332. It will be found that some points of the head are hotter than others, and when the douche is used, the stream, either from the single spout or through the rose-bib, should be directed to those

parts.†

- 333. When any point of the head feels of a higher temperature than the other parts of the scalp, care must be taken to ascertain if there is no circumscribed puffiness of the integuments, or that they are not loose or wrinkled; in such cases, in all probability, the membranes of the brain are inflamed, and the douche should be suspended. Cold water or ice may, however, be applied with safety, and in these cases a blister to the back of the neck is also advisable. We must always keep a watchful eye on the sympathies that exist between the pericranium and the membranes of the encephalon, as irritation of the scalp will sympathize with them.
- 334. The suppression of any secretion will in general be followed by effusion on the brain. Thus, in fatal cases of suppression of urine, effusion, both serous and sanguineous, will be found in the encephalon.

335. In profuse leucorrhœa, the rose-bib douche directed on

the lumbar region will be found most beneficial.

336. In uterine excitement, and when complicated with mania, the application of cold water and ice to the pudenda and the inner and upper part of the thigh will be advantageous; enemata of cold water in large quantity will also be found useful.‡

* This is the method I employed at Fort Clarence, and I found it practised at the Hanwell Asylum, when I was appointed to that establishment. The wet cap should be removed every ten minutes, the abstraction of heat being amazingly

rapid.

† It must be always borne in mind that the douche will in general occasion severe pain, and the terror that the patient evinces when it is ordered, arises from the agony that it inflicts. Esquirol tried it on his own person, and thus expresses himself: "It appeared to me as though a column of ice were broken on the parts, but the pain was much more acute when the stream fell on the fronto-parietal suture; it was more supportable on the occiput;" and we observe, that when the douche is applied to lunatics, at the first stream they endeavour to present the back part of their head. Esquirol stated that his head seemed benumbed an hour after the application.

‡ These cases are frequently attended with a papular and sometimes a vesicular eruption abut the labiæ, with more or less excoriation, and the secretion is of a most unpleasant fetor; the best application in these cases is an infusion of green tea, which should also be injected in the vagina. In elderly and married females a pessary will be found of great advantage in calming uterine excite337. The plunge bath is a dangerous method of treatment, and should be used with great circumspection, if not altogether abandoned. It is possible that a sudden terror may have been attended with benefit, but it is too dangerous an experiment to be tried.*

338. Baths, shower-baths, douches, should never be confided to the servants of an establishment, but used in the presence and under the immediate direction of the medical attendant: they

should never be used after a meal.

339. The shower-bath should never be resorted to as a punishment. It is a powerful agent, and is either useful or injurious. If useful, it must be applied as a valuable means of aiding the remedial treatment; if injurious, it clearly cannot be approved of as a

punishment.†

340. The cold-bath is rarely beneficial in the treatment of insanity, although I have used it with apparent advantage in patients debilitated by masturbation. In these cases a shower-bath on the lumbar region will also prove of service. Most insane patients, on coming out of a cold-bath, will be seen cold and shivering, a

convincing proof that it is injurious.

341. Rotatory motion, proposed by several practitioners, I do not consider to offer the advantage expected from its use, and in many cases may prove decidedly injurious, more particularly when there is cerebral congestion, in which the nausea and giddiness which this motion produces, will most probably increase the excitement; the same effect may be obtained by the use of small doses of tartar emetic, if to relieve vascular activity is the object in view. The patients in general look upon the machinery with much dread, and I do not think that terror is a desirable agent in their treatment.

ment, but in young married females the application of leeches will produce singular good effect. In many cases of this nature, young females more especially (when the catamenia are not regular) express a desire for pressure; this curative indication should be attended to, and pressure above the pubes, obtained by the clenched hand of the nurses, will often produce immediate relief, and it is singular to what extent of violence the pressure may be carried. I attended a patient where hysteric fits could only be relieved by a heavy person sitting upon her abdomen, and bearing on it with all her weight. In furor uterinus, I have directed the introduction of an opiated suppository with evident success.

introduction of an opiated suppository with evident success.

* Esquirol, when mentioning the bath of surprise, says, "When I hear it prescribed, I should as soon wished to have heard directions given to throw a patient out of a third floor window, because some lunatics have been known to

recover after a fall upon the head."

† Matrons, who are generally capricious and tyrannical, frequently have recourse to this mode of punishment. I knew a matron who, to avenge an insult she had received from a poor young girl, ordered her thick and flowing hair to be cut off on a bitter frosty day, and had the unfortunate creature's hands put in cuffs, for attempting to resist the operation.

‡ Esquirol thus expresses himself regarding rotatory motion, when alluding to its being recommended by several practitioners: "Comment des hommes, aussi habiles, ont-ils été tenté d'introduire dans la pratique un agent aussi dan-

gereux!!"

TREATMENT OF COMPLICATIONS.

342. Diarrhæa is one of the most frequent and fatal complications of insanity. It generally makes its appearance in the weak and debilitated, and not unfrequently after the injudicious use of drastic purgatives. It is also a frequent result of improper and scanty diet of a liquid form.

343. When there is pain and tenesmus, small doses of castor oil repeatedly given, with a few drops of tincture of opium, will be found beneficial, and starch glysters, with opium in small doses, will tend to check the tenesmus. A suppository of soap and

opium has succeeded when other means had failed.

344. When there is no pain, and the stools are watery, tincture of rhubarb combined with some astringent, such as tincture of kino and catechu, should be exhibited, with the chalk mixture, and the pulv. hydrargyri c. creta. I have found a strong decoction of the rind of the pomegranate very beneficial.* A dose of Dover's

powder given every night is also advisable.

345. Dysentery is not an unfrequent complication of insanity, and it can be frequently traced to irregularity in diet. This disease is sometimes attended with nausea and vomiting, often of a sterco-raceous character. In this case I have found the application of a blister to the stomach of great advantage, acetate or muriate of morphia being sprinkled on the vesicated surface; small doses of creosote have also relieved the urgency of the symptoms. Both in diarrhæa and dysentery, demulcent drink and rice-water should be freely given. I have found that barley-water increases the disposition to flatulency.

346. Profuse perspirations during the night are not uncommon in the insane, and in general may be considered symptomatic of hectic fever. I have found the use of the phosphoric acid in an infusion of roses more effectual than the sulphuric. Fractional doses of the muriate of gold will also be found highly beneficial

in checking night-sweats.

347. Suppression and retention of urine frequently occur in the insane, and it is surprising that in this disease, which in general causes the most excruciating pain, lunatics have died, in whom the malady had not been observed during their life. It is therefore of great importance to ascertain whether the urine is regularly voided.

348. In some cases of ischuria and dysuria, drops of urine will dribble in the bed, and wet the bedding. This circumstance leads the attendants to conclude that the discharge of urine is free, whereas it will be found, after death, that there was a retention of urine to a fatal extent, with effusion in the encephalon, the usual condition of the brain in such cases. It will therefore be prudent in all such cases to examine the state of the bladder.

349. In puerperal madness, the lancet should be used with the

^{*} Pinel considers the decoction of the rubus dumetorum a valuable remedy.

utmost caution, if its use indeed is ever indicated. If there is cerebral congestion, leeches will be found more effectual and safe. Blisters to the nape of the neck should be applied, to be afterwards

sprinkled with acetate, or muriate of morphia.

350. In puerperal mania, after the bowels have been freely relieved, opiates will be found of the greatest advantage. Battley's sedative or the salts of morphia are the best preparations, and the latter should be also introduced by the endermic method; to these hyoscyamus will be found a valuable addition; and when the vascular excitement is high, small doses of aconite are also advisable; mustard sinapisms should at the same time be applied to the legs and feet, and inner part of the thigh.

351. When there has been a suppression of the lochia in puerperal madness, a slight pressure upon the crural artery by means

of a tourniquet might prove beneficial.

352. Emetics are of service in puerperal madness, but should be exhibited with much caution, especially when the face is pale, the skin cold and clammy, a quick and weak pulse, with great mental depression. Purgatives will in general be found most useful; and in that class of medicine, castor oil, followed by repeated small doses of calomel and rhubarb, will be found the most beneficial.

353. In puerperal madness, hyoscyamus combined with camphor and belladonna are valuable medicines. The hyoscyamus may be given in extract or in tincture, a drachm of the latter at night. Our chief indication in this malady is to keep down excitement, and overcome the constant restlessness which is a characteristic of the disease.

354. When the excitement has somewhat subsided, the ammo-

niated tincture of valerian will be found of great service.

355. A light but nutritious diet is absolutely necessary in this form of insanity; good broth should be given, at short intervals, with port wine and water or claret,* and as convalescence progresses, ale and porter may be allowed with animal food of easy

digestion.

356. The removal of puerperal lunatics to an asylum is rarely necessary, and generally imprudent, but they should be carefully separated from their relatives, and kept from all sources of irritation. However, when in her delirium the patient calls for her infant, and fancies that it has been murdered or stolen from her, the child may be brought to her.

357. In this malady we must endeavour to recall the secretion

of the milk, and draw it off frequently.

358. During convalescence, tonics and stimulants are necessary,

^{*} In all uterine diseases and cases of hysteria, white wines will be found injurious, and, amongst red wines, Burgundy is most apt to increase the excitement and febrile symptoms. Claret, unadulterated with hermitage and other mixtures to suit the British perverted taste, will be found the best wine to be prescribed.

but we must be guarded in the exhibition of bitters, such as gentian, quassia, which very frequently bring on severe headaches.

359. From the foregoing observations, we may resume the

medical treatment of lunacy in the following order : -

i. To keep down excitement by gentle antiphlogistic means, that are not likely to debilitate the patient.

ii. To keep the bowels regularly open.

iii. To diminish cerebral excitement by the local abstraction of heat and topical bleeding.

iv. To produce revulsion by counter-irritants.

v. To procure rest by such narcotics and sedatives as may appear best suited to the case.

vi. To endeavour to equalise the circulation by warm baths, and the occasional application of cold.

vii. To combine a proper diet with the therapeutic treatment.

BOOK III.

ON THE DIET OF LUNATICS.

360. The exhaustion so rapidly brought on by excitement and agitation necessitates a liberal diet, abundant in quantity, and of a

nutritious quality.

361. Although we occasionally meet with lunatics who refuse food, or seem disinclined to take it, yet their appetite is usually good, and not unfrequently voracious; in general they require more nourishment than a healthy person.

362. Eating little and often is preferable to three regular meals; and it would be desirable that lunatics were fed every three hours.

363. Their dietary should consist of half a pound of meat (without bone) four times in the week, with a pound of bread every day, to which should be added a pound of potatoes. Soup, unless thickened with barley and rice, is an improper article of diet, and it is to the use of fluid aliments that diarrhæa is mainly to be attributed.

364. On days when meat it not issued, cheese should be substituted, and dumplings will also be found a nourishing article of food

when the patient is in good bodily health.

365. The meat should consist of beef and mutton; pork, fresh or salted, is in general an improper issue. Veal and lamb are also objectionable.

366. Good table beer and draught porter should be allowed at

dinner.

367. Gruel may be a good breakfast and supper in general, but as it disagrees in many particular cases, it should not constitute the

breakfast of every patient. Bread and cheese will frequently be

found preferable.

368. Tea is a beverage that should rarely be given to the melancholy and monomaniac patients, and black tea should invariably be used. Coffee in many cases is also objectionable.

369. Wine and spirits are rarely required, except in cases of

great debility and old age. Port wine is to be preferred.

370. Great care must be taken that the patients consume a sufficient quantity of salt with their food, and as they very frequently will not make use of it of their own accord, it should be sprinkled on their food. Stimulating condiments are also necessary, such as pepper and mustard, and a sufficient quantity of Cayenne pepper should invariably be put in their soup, and served out with vegetables.

371. Vegetables of a flatulent nature should be rarely served, such as cabbage and turnips; potatoes, carrots, and parsnips, are

preferable.

372. Fruit of a wholesome description should be freely given, and in winter stewed prunes and baked apples will not only prove a grateful article of diet, but will procure a regular state of the bowels.

373. The patients in an asylum should be allowed a free use of barley and toast water; when diarrhœa is prevalent, rice-water will be preferable.

374. Excepting in cases where it is indicated, milk is not a healthy article of diet; when cold, it frequently produces diarrhoa,

and when hot, will often cause constipation.

375. According to the classification and distribution of the patients in public asylums should their diet differ.* Patients on a particular diet should be kept together, as they are in general very jealous of each other's comforts, and easily irritated when they see articles of food distributed to others, and from which they are debarred.

* Nothing can be more absurd than the adoption of a general scale of diet for the inmates of a lunatic asylum, whose allowance will not only be of the same description, but of the same quantity. The powers of digestion vary according to the nature of the case, and the state of health of the patient. It is certainly true that the physician can make whatever alteration he thinks proper in the infirmary, but he cannot vary the food of patients mixed up with other fellowsufferers, without causing much jealousy. The committees that generally regulate lunatic asylums, composed of persons well meaning, no doubt, but totally unfit to form any opinion on the management of lunatics, are led by motives of economy to allow as few servants as possible; and therefore all increased "trouble" which would require an increase in the attendants is avoided, and one cook is considered sufficient to prepare a dinner for 800 or 900 patients, who are supposed to be endowed with equal powers of digestion, and an equal partiality to the daily diet served up to them, whether they are old or young, robust or exhausted. Such a system may be easier for the domestics, and cheaper for the establishment, but it is unquestionably injurious to the patient. With the exception of the sick, I have seen fat salt pork and cabbage distributed to 800 patients, who were obliged to eat or starve.

376. When patients obstinately refuse food, and seem determined to destroy themselves by starvation, we are sometimes obliged to have recourse to force, but this coercion is rarely required.* When it is practised, it should be under the immediate eve of the medical attendant. Various instruments have been invented for this purpose, but the best, perhaps, is the screw-gag, which gradually and gently unlocks the teeth.†

377. Before having recourse to these coercive measures, perseverance must be employed; very frequently a change of diet, or some particular article of food that the patient may desire, will in-

duce him to take nourishment.

378. In some cases, when the patient rejects the food given to him by spitting it out, the stomach-pump may be used with ad-

379. The quiet and orderly patients in an asylum should take their meals together in the day-room. This practice produces regularity and a social intercourse very essential in the treatment.

380. As we must, as far as it is in our power, renew in the minds of lunatics former early associations, they should be allowed the use of knives and forks, of the description used at Hanwell and other asylums; the knife is blunt, and the prongs of the fork short. Ivory and bone knives should not be used, as it shows a distrust, which constantly irritates the patients who will very rarely complain of the bluntness of their knives, which, however, cut in about two inches and a half of their edge, but in such a manner as not to be dangerous.

381. When mastication and deglutition is difficult, the food should be minced up or rolled in forced-meat balls. Such a precaution is also very requisite with idiotic and paralytic patients, who must also be often fed with a spoon. Such patients should be fed by the keeper, and not by fellow-patients, upon whom we

cannot always depend.

382. When an establishment contains patients of various conditions of life, the luxuries allowed to the wealthy should never be

* In the treatment of upwards of 2,800 lunatics, I have only been obliged to

have recourse to such violent means three times.

† The use of a "spouting boat," which frequently breaks the front teeth, should invariably be laid aside; when the patient obstinately clenches the teeth, the nose may be pinched, or some snuff given. The jaw is opened when sneezing takes place, and a spoon or a gag may be then introduced: in many cases, where one or more of the grinder-teeth are wanting, a curved tube may be introduced through

the aperture, through which liquid food can be poured.

I have seen patients who have obstinately refused the diet of an asylum, eat with voraciousness toasted cheese or a red herring. H. D., a patient of mine, would not eat anything for several days; at last he said he would like a beefsteak with mushrooms. This was immediately prepared for him, and from that day he regularly took the usual food of the establishment. In many cases, where a patient will pertinaciously refuse meat, it will be found upon inquiry that he is a Roman Catholic, who has placed himself upon this mode of fasting from religious delusions and fears; in such cases, the interference of a priest of his persuasion will often induce him to eat animal food.

distributed in the presence of the needy. The insane will not reflect on the difference of their station in life, but will consider themselves entitled to everything which they see others enjoy. It is therefore obvious that these classes should be kept separate from each other; for not only their dietry, but their dress, will prove the source of much discontent and jealous irritation.

383. It is customary to allow certain extra comforts in diet, such as tea, coffee, beer, &c., as an incentive to labour; this may be judicious amongst such inmates of an asylum who are able to appreciate the motives which led to the distinction, but it is evident that it must prove a source of excitement to those who con-

sider that they have an equal claim to those indulgences.*

384. The adoption of a scale of dietry, differing according to the classification of the patients in an asylum, might require a greater number of assistants in the kitchen, but would ultimately prove economical; as great waste must attend a distribution of provisions, of which many are unable to partake.

BOOK IV.

ON THE SECLUSION, INTERDICTION, AND THE DISCHARGE OF LUNATICS.

385. Lunatics are restored to society when they are either cured, or sufficiently relieved to be no longer subjected to seclusion.

386. It is a matter of great difficulty, if not impossible, to declare that a lunatic is radically cured, and not liable to relapse; or to decide whether the state of lucidity which he appears to enjoy, is not a lucid interval which may very probably be followed by a fresh attack.

387. As a medical superintendent, and the physician who attends a lunatic, is to a certain degree responsible to society for the mischief that might arise from an insane person being restored to his former situation in life, much experience is necessary, to guide the judgment, and too frequently the welfare of the individual, and society, is overlooked in the anxiety of exhibiting numerous cures.

^{*} Snuff and tobacco are frequently given as a reward for labour, and thisi preferable to any alimentary recompense. De Boismont has justly observed "Il faut rémunérer l'activité par une récompense quelconque, par un leger salaire, une plus grande liberté, de plus beaux habits: la plupart des aliénés aiment le tabac. On fera de ce besoin au profit du travail." If a better diet is allowed to the labourers, they should receive it separate from the other patients who cannot work. When such additional comforts are promised the working patient, the engagement should be most religiously observed.

388. Relapses will be excited by the same causes that occasioned the original attack, to which must be superadded the effects of the sudden change from confinement to liberty—the return to a free course of living, after the dietetic regimen to which the patient had been submitted, when long sobriety renders them more

susceptible of any irregularity in which they may indulge.

389. It would therefore be desirable, that convalescents were gradually brought back to their former mode of living, allowed a more liberal use of malt liquor, exposed to the atmospheric vicissitudes, and frequently permitted to see their family and friends — indeed, it would be desirable that they were discharged on probation for a month or two, during which time their conduct might be under observation. This precautionary measure is more particularly required with pauper lunatics or insane persons in a humble sphere of life.*

390. When patients are considered fit to be discharged, their liberation should be intimated to them some time before it actually takes place, and the period of their discharge only held in perspective. It will frequently happen that this state of impatience and disappointment will bring on a relapse, which will plainly show

that they were unfit subjects for enlargement.

391. During this period of probation, if it is ascertained that any particular person, or member of the family, or an acquaintance, has been the object of the patient's dislike and excitement, the person's name should be frequently mentioned, and he should be brought several times into the patient's presence, when their conversation and conduct must be observed.† This may appear a harsh proceeding, but it is far preferable that a relapse should take place in an asylum, than when the patient is restored to society, and brought into constant intercourse with these obnoxious persons.

392. In discharging a patient, it will be necessary to decide whether the state of the mind is such as to warrant his liberation,

* According to the law as it now stands, whenever the family of a pauper lunatic can satisfy the parish officers that they are able to maintain him, they may claim his liberation. Many serious accidents have arisen from this mistaken indulgence; as it is scarcely possible that the family of a pauper can exercise sufficient vigilance over him to insure his comfort, his medical treat ment, and secure him and others from harm. The family of a poor lunatic are often most anxious to receive him once more amongst them, and to comply with his repeated applications to be released from confinement, the horrors of which he endeavours to describe in every letter, in which the patient represents himself as the most injured and ill-used prisoner. If it has been once decided that a pauper lunatic shall be secluded from society, his seclusion must be continued until a cure is effected, and no false sense of humanity, or rather economy, should endanger the lunatic or society. It is more especially in cases of melancholy, with suicidal and homicidal propensities, that this indulgence should never be granted.

† In my view of asylums, I have mentioned the expediency of having the visiting-room so constructed, as to enable the medical superintendent to overhear

the conversation between the patients and their visiters.

with as much careful discrimination as when we first certified that he was unfit to remain at large. Many patients are fit to be discharged, whose mind still continues unsound on many points: it therefore becomes urgent to convince ourselves, that such mental disorder is not of a nature calculated to prove injurious to the patient or to society.

393. It is a matter of great difficulty, yet of vital importance, to distinguish the first lucid interval of insanity from a cure: to confine a lunatic, clear and unequivocal medical evidence must be obtained — to release him, a clear and unequivocal restoration to

a sound state of mind is also required.

394. There is, however, an unsoundness of mind which would not warrant the seclusion of a person suspected of being insane; while, on the other hand, there may appear a soundness of the intellectual faculties, despite of which an individual is not only incapable of conducting his own affairs, but whose freedom might be injurious to society. An action may be sensible in appearance, without the author of it being sensible in fact, but an interval cannot be considered perfectly lucid, unless it is more or less permanent. The action only denotes a single fact, the interval is a state composed of a succession of actions, and their succession must be consistent with reason, to enable us to decide that a lucid interval has been obtained.

395. A man may be utterly unfit to manage his affairs, and yet be of a sound mind, in the general acceptation of the expression; and, on the other hand, a man may be of an unsound mind, and

yet capable of conducting himself with propriety.

396. Mental debility does not constitute insanity; yet when a man is reduced to such a state by age and infirmities, he becomes unfit to manage his affairs, and must be placed under the care of a guardian,* although no commission of lunacy will be grounded on such a condition. Though a jury might find that a man is incapable of conducting his affairs, yet such a finding is not sufficient; they must find him of unsound mind.

397. In the examination of a supposed lunatic, we are not to be guided by his actions and conversation at the time of the examination, nor by his giving correct answers to the questions put to him; antecedents must be taken into consideration; but it requires

that such irrational acts shall be unequivocally proved.†

* Such was the opinion of Thurlow, Pre. Chan. 229; Gilb. 4.

[†] Legists have thrown much confusion in the matter of lunacy, and the opinions of some of the first authorities rather tend to puzzle the question than elucidate it. Thus Hale and Blackstone maintain that lunacy is a partial derangement of the intellectual faculties, the senses returning at uncertain intervals; whereas madness is a total alienation of the human mind. (1 Hale, 31; 4 Bla. c. 24; 1 Hale, 30; 4 Ca. 124.) Fitzherbert defines an idiot to be one who cannot count twenty pence, or tell who his father or mother were, or how old he is; or that hath no understanding or reason, as to what may be to his profit or to his loss. (p. 238.) It is needless to observe, in what confusion such distinctions would involve a case of inquiry into lunacy.

398. Hypochondriasis does not constitute insanity, yet there are cases where the delusions of the hypochondriac are of such a fearful nature as to render his seclusion necessary for his safety and that of others; and when the welfare of society urges his seclusion as a lunatic. Such must be the case when a suicidal or homicidal propensity prevails.*

399. In our examination under a writ de lunatico inquirendo, we must not lose sight of the axiom of Haslam; "leading to the origin of the distemper, and tracing down the consecutive series of the lunatic's actions and associations of ideas, in going over the

road where he has stumbled, he will infallibly trip again."

400. The duration of a lucid interval is not in itself sufficient to warrant the discharge of a lunatic. Lucid intervals have been known to last for several months, when the relapses have been marked by the most violent and dangerous outbreaks. In many

cases these intervals come on at regular periods.

401. In discharging a patient from a lunatic asylum under the impression that he is cured, although he perhaps is only enjoying a lucid interval, we must be guided by his general conduct during his former hallucinations. If his behaviour has been outrageous, and threatening danger to those around him, we of course must be more cautious in restoring him to freedom; our best guide on these occasions will be the countenance of the person. There exists in insanity a peculiar wild and wandering character of features that cannot be described, but a knowledge of which, long experience in the treatment of the disease can alone convey; so long as those looks of uneasiness and vacuity prevail, however correct the

^{*} Cullen's definition of hypochondriasis should be ever borne in mind. " Hypochondriasis I would consider as being always attended with dyspeptic symptoms, and though there may be at the same time an anxious melancholic fear arising from these symptoms, yet, while this fear is only a mistaken judgment with respect to the state of the person's own health, and to the danger to be thence apprehended, I will still consider the disease as hypochondriasis, and as distinct from the proper melancholia. But when an anxious fear and despondency arise from a mistaken judgment with respect to other circumstances than those of health, and more especially when the person is at the same time without any dyspeptic symptoms, every one will allow this to be a disease widely different from both dyspepsia and hypochondriasis. Fodere maintains that the hypochondriac is credulous, variable, and timid; whereas the melancholy madman is reserved and prudent, but neither devoid of courage, nor incapable of generous and noble sentiments. The hypochondriac may talk of suicide, from being able to reason more accurately on the nature of good and evil; but unless the disease changes in its character, and slides into insanity, he never accomplishes the act. In another point of view, also, the hypochondriac differs widely from the madman; his feelings, his affections are in a natural state, - those of the madman, in every form of insanity, are in an unnatural and perverted state, and form the most characteristic features of the disease." This distinction is ingenious, but cannot, I apprehend, lead to any beneficial practical result, since it is as difficult as it may be dangerous to pronounce when this sliding of the intellectual faculties into insanity takes place, so as to lead to the commission of spicide, which, I shall shortly endeavour to show, does not in many instances prove a state of lunacy.

conversation and mode of reasoning may be, we are justified in

entertaining doubts of a recovery.

402. In our investigations, great stress is laid on the distinction between what is called *moral* insanity and *mental* disease. In a practical point of view, the partition between these two conditions is of such a gossamer texture as to be traced with great difficulty and perplexity; the only material distinction between these two forms of the disease is perhaps characterised by the slightness or the intensity of its symptoms. There exists delusion in both these conditions, and delusion to a certain degree must constitute a disordered state of the mental faculties. If eccentricity of manners, capriciousness of temper, morbid sensibility, and the prevalence of prejudices, are to be considered symptoms of moral insanity—who is perfectly sane?

403. Depraved perversions of natural feelings are not sufficient to warrant a finding of insanity. Such perversions have prevailed in whole nations. Unless other signs of insanity are manifest, the laws of the land must take their course, although it may be a matter of much doubt how far legal interference is salutary in checking such instances of depravity, which are but too frequently

increased by publicity.

404. An attempt to commit suicide is not sufficient to warrant the conclusion that the delinquent is insane, unless other signs of mental alienation or hereditary predisposition can be traced. The usual finding of a coroner's jury, "temporary insanity," in cases of suicide, means nothing; a man is either of sound or unsound mind. A sudden impulse of passion may lead a person to murder another; but surely this act would not be considered one of "temporary insanity:" the finding of such a verdict would screen the culprit from condign punishment.*

* The finding of "temporary insanity," in every case of felo-de-se, is in my opinion not only a most absurd, but a most unjust practice. To screen the dead, an injury is inflicted on the surviving family; and all penal laws affecting the property of a suicide should be abrogated. Insanity, more especially suicidal insanity, is known to be a hereditary disease, and the verdict of the jury thus stamps the brand of madness on the children of the deceased. It is generally supposed that a person who destroys himself must be non compos, since it is imagined that a man in his senses could not commit an act so contrary to nature and to reason. With the same plausibility it may be alleged that the murder of a parent or a child, equally against nature and reason, is also a proof of insanity. If a criminal be not non compos as to other acts, the purposes of justice are defeated if his crime is considered one of insanity, to which he has been prompted by premeditated projects of revenge, hate, or avarice. Suicide, no doubt, is contrary to every dictate of religion, morality, and reason, yet has it found advocates both amongst the ancients and the moderns; and if you tell a man determined to destroy himself, that he is acting against nature's laws, he will tell you that he is only anticipating her irrevocable decree, and that it is natural for a man to rid himself of misery and pain, when such relief is placed in his hands. In the reign of Henry VIII., lunacy, when fully established, was not considered to exempt from punishment a person found guilty of high treason. In such cases a special commission was issued from chancery, upon the certificate of four counsel, to inquire into the treason, and a jury was impannelled to try the offence in the lunatic's absence. 33 H. VIII. c. 20.

405. In cases of hereditary insanity, more especially when there has been a tendency to commit homicide, we must be very cautious in discharging patients during an apparent lucidity. Such patients frequently evince great cunning in "stifling" the malady, and deceiving their medical attendants, while brooding over future projects of destruction. The same caution is necessary in cases of suicidal disposition.

406. The effects of intoxication are not to be confounded with insanity, however furious the person may be. No doubt the effects of inebriety closely resemble the outbreaks of a lunatic, but their violence and incoherence must only be considered as of a temporary nature, when the delirium is usually followed by a calm state of mind, or that debility which succeeds over-excitement.

407. When intoxication becomes habitual, and the disturbance of the mind may be considered a permanent alienation, the patient must be viewed and treated as an insane person. Calamitous results have arisen from such persons being allowed to retain their freedom and the management of their affairs.*

408. When the habit of drinking becomes confirmed, and the intellectual faculties are impaired, little hope of a permanent cure can be expected, as the intellects decline instead of improving.

409. Delirium tremens closely resembles insanity, and can only be distinguished from a paroxysm of lunacy by the tremor of the hands and tongue, and the convulsive working and twitching of the tendons of the wrists.

410. To constitute a lucid interval, it is not necessary that a person's mind should be restored to its former strength of intellect and vigour, but it is essential that the party should be equal to manage the common affairs of life, attend to his profession or calling, and be able to regulate his conduct so as not to injure his own interest or those of others. It is therefore evident, that a man whose intellects are alienated by the habit of frequent inebriety, cannot be considered as enjoying a lucid interval sufficiently unequivocal to restore him to his former station in society.†

411. No lunatic is deemed capable of making a will, yet a testament made during a lucid interval is considered valid. Senile imbecility, and the loss of reason from intoxication, are also circumstances which invalidate a will, as a testator must be in possession of sufficient reason and memory to enable him to dispose of his property with reason. But if his understanding be only obscured, and his memory disturbed, he is not incapacitated. The state of the party's memory, however, is not decided by his clear replies to the simple questions put to him; but he should

† The law on lucid intervals is explicit. It is not enough to show that the act was actus sapienti conveniens, but it must be found actus sapientis, proceeding from judgment and deliberation.

^{*} The insanity brought on by intoxication is termed in law dementia affectata. In Scotland an habitual drunkard may place himself under the care of guardians and trustees: this is termed inhibiting oneself.

possess what may be called a disposing memory, and an accurate impression both of the extent and the nature of his estate. The name of the instrument shows that there must be a full capacity of disposing in the devision at the time of its execution; so the act of witnessing a will implies on the part of the witnesses the conviction of the mental capacity of signing,—for it is obvious that the mere corporeal power of signing or putting a mark cannot be considered valid. The testator must be compos; therefore is it urgent, to establish a will, that all the attesting witnesses should be examined when any doubt can be entertained, not only of the sanity, but of the memory or discernment of the testator.

412. Every person making a will is presumed to be of sound mind; therefore, to invalidate the instrument, it is necessary to show that he was insane at the period it was drawn out, — for although the provisions of a will may present the utmost propriety, they are not sufficient evidence of the sanity of the testator.*

413. If in the testament there appears a mixture of reason and folly, it is to be presumed that it was made when the mind was in an unsound state.† Wills manifestly improper are not on that

account to be set aside, as of insanity. ‡

414. A person labouring under bodily pain or excitement, although not insane, may make a will, the provisions of which may be so singular as to lead to a doubt of the party's soundness of mind. This is a question of great difficulty, in which the medical witness requires much experience of the sympathies that exist between the mental and corporeal faculties. Such has been the case during the excitement of furor uterinus.

415. Medical men are not unfrequently called upon to give

* On this subject Collinson observes, that the testator may have acted reasonably by accident, or the will may have been the production of another. An old man in his second childhood, who cannot remember his name; a paralytic reduced to such a state; or one whom excessive, continual intoxication has deprived of the use of his understanding, and senses, cannot make a will. — Collinson's Treatise, p. 626.

Chambeyron is of opinion that the right of making a will should be preserved inviolate, when individuals may and do retain the requisite degree of intelligence for entering into the arrangement in question, though in other respects in a state

which renders surveillance advisable.

† Swinburn on Wills, p. 2, 3.

‡ 8 Mod. s. 9. Although an exception to the provisions of a law is a difficult and even dangerous precedent, yet, as regards wills, considerable latitude should be allowed in deciding whether they are the instrument of an insane, or merely an eccentric person. When the testament is not only of a proper nature, but evinces sound ideas of benevolence, it is hard upon the objects of this benevolence that they should be deprived of the testator's charitable donations. An instance is on record where a man willed a large sum of money for the foundation of a school for sailors' orphans, yet was the will set aside in consequence of his having appointed every corporate body in England as his trustees, — an act clearly denoting much eccentricity, but not sufficient to invalid the instrument on the plea of insanity.

§ Of this nature was the case of Atty v. Parnther, 3 Brown, 443, and on which

Lord Thurlow gave a most luminous opinion.

their opinion as to prodigality constituting insanity. This is a most difficult question. By the Roman law, if a man by notorious prodigality was in danger of wasting his estate, he was looked upon as non compos, and committed by the prætors to the care of curators or tutors. But, in England, the return of a person as unthrist does not constitute mental incapacity.* This is an error; for clearly, if the prodigality of a person is likely to involve a family in utter ruin, and that such prodigality evidently shows a disordered state of mind, the party should be deprived of the power of injuring others, and the axiom, "Sic utere tuo ut alienum non lædas," is applicable. In such cases a patient examination of the party will in general show that these acts of prodigality arise from delusions, which clearly prove an unsoundness of mind.†

416. In a legal point of view, the imbecile and the demented should not be considered as constituting different classes. We have only to decide upon the extent of the unsoundness of mind,

and incapacity to conduct their affairs.

417. In this investigation we must carefully endeavour to ascertain if the judgment of the parties is sufficiently sound to be aware of their circumstances, the extent and nature of their property, their relative position in society, and all external perceptions and apprehensions, judging correctly on the objects of reflection submitted to them.

418. It is necessary in this investigation to distinguish the *stupid* from the *silly*. To the *silly* the most simple act of judgment is difficult, but the *stupid* may judge correctly on subjects to which his attention has been strongly applied, and as Hoffbauer justly observes, "occasionally come even more directly to a right conclusion than those who are possessed of superior intelligence." The stupid man, moreover, may be induced to change his opinion and correct his mistake, when some particular circumstances have led to its detection; whereas the silly man can scarcely rectify his error, being unable sufficiently to concentrate his attention on any particular subject: but the stupid man has not this defect, he views every subject on one side only, and is embarrassed by every complex idea.

419. The exact limits of every stage of mental incapacity cannot be determined, and legal culpability can only be annulled

* I have given a case of this nature in which a lady was placed in confinement from her prodigality, but I doubt much whether this restraint would have been sanctioned, had a writ de lunatico inquirendo been issued.

† In such difficult and uncertain investigations, it cannot be expected that the wisest laws can be definite, and Hoffbauer has justly observed that "all legislation ought to proceed on the ground that the objects to which it refers are well known and understood; but this knowledge failing, it is much better that the law should leave things undefined, than that it should define erroneously, and then introduce mistakes which would be perpetuated by its authority."

‡ For further distinctions on this most important subject, we must refer to Hoffbauer's works, an excellent epitome of which has been given by Dr. Pri-

chard in his invaluable treatise on insanity.

when mental alienation is clearly and unequivocally demonstrable.

420. In many instances, monomonia, in which the patient indulges in the most absurd delusions, does not constitute insanity, as on all other points he may reason and act most correctly.* But when a monomaniac entertains a false notion of himself and others, and acts upon such delusions, fancying himself sent upon a divine mission, or possessing a monarch's power — such monomaniacs are dangerous to society, and although they may reason correctly on all other matters, are unfit subjects to remain at large, since their acts must be absolved from culpability, — for although derangement may be partial, yet the culpable act was committed under an illusion, and therefore constitutes the act of a non compos at the time.†

421. During an evident and unequivocal lucid interval, an individual becomes as answerable for his conduct as if he had no deficiency of understanding; hence, the existence of a lucid interval becomes a subject of the utmost importance, both as regards

the party and the public.

422. During an examination to ascertain a lucid interval, we must bear in mind that lunatics display much cunning in evading questions that might compromise them. It is, therefore, most urgent that such dissimulation be not confounded with a return of lucidity. Such an examination requires much experience on the

part of medical practitioners.

423. In a legal point of view, wherever there is delusion there is insanity. Delusion exists when persons believe things to exist, which exist only in their own imagination. It is not sufficient to convince them of the non-existence of such things, to show that they are not insane; for such a conviction may be only a momentary return to reason, whence, in all probability, they will relapse when the evanescent conviction ceases.‡

424. Delusion may exist on one or two particular subjects; yet, if we closely examine the general conduct of such persons, their usual deportment, eccentricities, inconsistencies, and irritability, it

* The visionary Swedenborg, who was decidedly as mad as any of his followers, fulfilled the duties of his office in the most distinguished manner; and a doctor in laws who had taken it into his head that all the freemasons had entered into a league against him, yet held with high credit a chair in the university. Still on a question of religious doctrines, or on freemasonry, neither of these monomaniacs' opinions could be considered valid. I know a Swedenborgian who is perfectly insane whenever any question regarding madness or religion is brought forward, yet on some points he argues correctly.

† It has been maintained by several legists, that a distinction should be established between the commission of a civil and a criminal act. This appears most unjust; for surely if the civil acts of an individual are to be annulled on the plea of unsoundness of mind, he must also be absolved from criminal culpability

and punishability.

† On this point I am obliged to differ from the learned Sir J. Nicholl, who maintained, in Dew v. Clarke and Clarke, that insanity is evident when no argument nor proof can convince the person that he is labouring under delusion.

will be found that these peculiar delusions arise from a more general disturbance of the intellectual faculties and perversities, both in

feeling and action.

425. If there does exist a moral insanity, or, in other words, a mental disorder unaccompanied by illusion or any lesion whatever of intellect, it cannot be sufficiently brought into evidence to exonerate an offender from legal responsibility. Eccentricity of habits and character may undoubtedly border on insane conduct, but cannot constitute a condition to become matter of legislation. If such eccentricities constitute mental disease, the patient comes under the category of other persons of insane mind, and must be

dealt with according to the established laws in like cases.*

426. There are cases of homicidal madness on record, in which, previous to the commission of a crime, no lesion of intellect had been discovered; but it will be found in these instances, that the unfortunate criminals experienced a homicidal propensity which they themselves declared was irresistible. These propensities frequently occurred at different periods, and under various circumstances. To assert that no disorder of the intellect prevails in these melancholy instances of insanity, appears to be preposterous. It is true that reason cannot check the impulse; but whether the propensity arises from physical or from moral causes, it clearly constitutes insanity, and the individual should be secluded from society, until a proper treatment subdues this melancholy predisposition to crime. These acts do not constitute temporary insanity, but partial insanity, and arise from a peculiar mental delusion, which must exonerate the unfortunate lunatic from legal responsibility.†

* The report of the judgment in Dew v. Clarke and Clarke, is one of much practical importance. It was proved that the individual conducted himself and his affairs rationally, was a clever, sensible man, had amassed a considerable fortune by his profession, took good care of his property, and that several of his friends and acquaintances, some of them medical persons, never even suspected that he was deranged in mind. It was also stated that he was a man of irritable and violent temper, of great pride and conceit, very precise in all domestic arrangements, very impatient of contradiction, entertaining high notions of parental authority, rigid notions of the total and absolute depravity of human nature, of the necessity of sensible conversion, and of the expediency of confessing to other persons the most secret thoughts of the heart. But it was also found that this person having a daughter, "amiable in disposition, of superior talents, patient under affliction, dutiful and affectionate, modest and virtuous, moral and religious," was in the habit of tying her up to a bed-post, flogging her with unmerciful severity, aggravating her sufferings by the application of brine, flogging her repeatedly with a horsewhip, pulling her hair out by the roots, and compelling her to perform the meanest drudgery." Without hesitation, the judge declared him to be "non compos mentis."

† To guide us in this most important inquiry, Esquirol has laid down the

following valuable rules : --

1. Acts of homicide perpetrated or attempted by insane persons have generally been preceded by other striking peculiarities of action noted in the conduct of the same individuals; often by a total change of character.

2. The same individuals have been discovered in many instances to have

427. A drunkard is no doubt responsible for the acts he commits when in a state of inebriety; yet there are cases, where an exemption from this responsibility may be urged, when drunkenness proceeds from an actual morbid condition, and constitutes an insurmountable propensity. There are even instances where an individual commits excesses at certain periods of the year; such a case may be considered a state of insanity, and the French legists

distinguish voluntary from involuntary drunkenness.*

428. We must not conclude that insane persons are enjoying a lucid interval, when they appear to regret the commission of an offence, express their repentance, and supplicate for forgiveness. Lunatics will constantly commit excesses during a paroxysm of violence, which they will afterwards deeply lament. In general, lunatics are aware of the mischief they commit, and when detected will persist in denying the charge with the utmost ingenuity and perseverance. In a legal point of view, such a consciousness of the nature of good and evil cannot be considered to constitute a sound state of mind.†

429. A homicidal propensity often prevails in the minds of persons otherwise of sound mind. This desire to shed the blood of those they hold most dear is irresistible, although they are aware of it at the time, and have been known to call for help to prevent

them from committing such an unaccountable crime.

attempted suicide, to have expressed a wish for death; sometimes they have begged to be executed as criminals.

3. These acts are without motives; they are in opposition to the known influences of all human motives. A man murders his wife and children, known

to have been tenderly attached to them; a mother destroys her infant.

4. The subsequent conduct of the unfortunate individual is generally characteristic of his state. He seeks no escape or flight; delivers himself up to justice, acknowledges the crime laid to his charge, describes the state of mind which led to its perpetration, or he remains stupified and overcome by a horrible consciousness of having been the agent in an atrocious deed.

5. The murderer has generally accomplices in vice and crime. There are assignable inducements which led to its commission, — motives of self-interest, of revenge, displaying wickedness premeditated. Premeditated are in some instances the acts of the madman; but his premeditation is peculiar and charac-

teristic.

* According to the Article 64 of the French penal code, an accused person cannot be considered guilty of a crime, if it is proved that he was demented when the act was committed, or that he was impelled to its commission by an irresisti-

ble power.

† P. L., a young, imbecile girl under my care, is constantly doing mischief, and kicking and piuching other patients. When punished by confinement, her cries are loud and piteous, and she solemnly promises not to do it any more. M. M., another imbecile young woman, can only be kept from doing mischief by constant labour; when at work she is in general quiet and good humoured; she also roars out violently when shut up, and promises never to offend again.

† Marc relates the case of a lady who, having heard of the assassination of a child, felt a temptation to destroy her own infant. She was mending a pen at the time, and experienced a desire to plunge the penknife into the child's heart. She overcame the impulse, and carrying the instrument to her own throat, exclaimed, "Wretched woman, is it not better that thou thyself shouldst die?" Barbier reports the case of another mother, who was obliged to call in her neighbours to prevent her from murdering her child.

430. This is perhaps one of the most difficult points to resolve in medical jurisprudence. Most unquestionably, such an unnatural propensity is a proof of an unsound state of mind, and might perhaps justify the qualification of temporary insanity; but I consider it as a partial insanity, arising from a perversion of the mental faculties, since this homicidal propensity is frequently felt, and the act of homicide does not arise from any calculation or premeditation, which would constitute wilful murder, instead of an insane act: such would be the case if a parent killed a child because he could not maintain it, or even on the suspicion of its being the offspring of a criminal connexion.*

431. A crime committed under the influence of any passion, however violent the outbreak may be, cannot be considered as an insane act, unless the offender has evinced others signs of lunacy,† for in such cases there is no delusion. The desperate impulses of love, jealousy, hatred, and revenge, cannot be considered as morbid and irresistible propensities; they are or ought to be under the influence of our volition, and therefore become criminal.

432. The irresistible propensity to thieve, is a monomania which must exempt the offender from culpability; but it should appear evident that this predisposition is more or less constant. The same principle applies to incendiarism, a monomaniac propensity which is not uncommon.

433. As a crime committed during a lucid interval renders the offender responsible for the act, it is therefore most important to ascertain how far the lucidity has been sufficient to render the party perfectly sensible of the nature of his guilt, as it is a matter of considerable doubt whether an insane person ever enjoys such a restoration to a sound state of mind as to expose him to culpability. Notwithstanding the apparent temporary restoration to reason, the pathological affection still exist, although with a modified intensity, but still with a tendency to a renewed paroxysm.‡

* Homicidal propensity is not unfrequently complicated with cannibalism. In such cases the unfortunate lunatic has been in general melancholy, and apparently absorbed in deep thought. There are cases on record in which a thirst for blood seemed instinctive. Gaubius relates the case of an Anthropophagic father and daughter. Procharka knew a woman in Milan, who enticed children to her home to devour them; a woman of the name of Salome Guir was tried at Strasbourg for eating her own child, which she stewed with cabbage, a mess of which she offered to her husband. At the trial of Pappavoine, it was stated that Don Carlos d'Espagne had similar inclinations.

† Georget relates the case of Henry Fedtmann, who entertained an incestuous love for his daughter for seven or eight years, and, being disappointed in his un-

that lunatics "may at intervals become more tranquil, and less disposed to obtat lunatics "may at intervals become more tranquil, and less disposed to obtate their distempered fancies into notice. For a time their minds may be less trude their distempered fancies into notice. For a time their minds may be less active, and the succession of their thoughts consequently more deliberate; they may endeavour to effect some desirable purpose, and artfully conceal their real may endeavour to effect some desirable purpose, and artfully conceal their real opinions, but they have not abandoned nor renounced their distempered notions, opinions, but they have not abandoned nor renounced their distempered notions.

Thus will any provocation or irritation produce a relapse, perhaps of a momentary nature, but sufficient to impel a man to the commission of a criminal act under a state of mental aberration, which should exonerate him from responsibility.

434. Mental aberration cannot always be considered as a sufficient ground for interdiction. It must be unquivocally proved that the lunatic is totally unfit to manage his affairs, and that his partial derangement has actually involved his notions of property.

435. When conflicting interests are involved in the disposition of property, an interdiction may be desired by some of the parties concerned, to decide upon its expediency is a question of the utmost importance, and will require the most patient and discriminating investigation, not only as regards the lunatic, but the relatives around him. We are not to form a judgment from little peculiarities or the general deportment of the individual, but to draw our inferences from his probable future conduct. We must ascertain whether he had been guilty of any act of extravagance, and shows a reckless indifference to his interests and those of his family, by

sanity of the intellects, as that the sounding of one or two notes of a keyed

instrument could ascertain it to be in tune."

Lord Thurlow maintained that by a perfect interval he did not mean a cooler moment, an abatement of pain or violence, or of a higher state of torture — a mind relieved from excessive pressure, — but an interval in which the mind, having thrown off the disease, had recovered its general habit. Vide Parnther, 3 Brown. Chan. Cases, 234. Lord Thurlow further urged, that "the evidence in support of the allegation of a lucid interval, after derangement at any period has been established, should be as strong a demonstration of such facts, as when the

object of the proofs was to establish derangement."

This luminous and just view of the subject was, however, opposed by Lord Eldon, in the following reply: "I have seen you exercising the duties of Lord Chancellor with ample sufficiency of mind and understanding, and with the greatest ability. Now, if Providence should afflict you with a fever, which should have the effect of taking away that sanity of mind for a considerable time, (for it does not signify whether it is the disease insanity, or a fever, that makes you insane,) would any one say that it required such very strong evidence to show that your mind was restored to the power of performing such an act as making a will?" Now, with all respect to Lord Eldon, nothing could be more questionable than this objection. There is a manifold and wide difference between the delirium of a fever and insanity; delirium is but a casual symptom of the fever, and the treatment that cures the disease effectually, secures the patient from a return of an accident which was but symptomatic of the main disorder. It may be urged that incoherence is a symptom of insanity; but a man may appear coherent although mad, - such a delirious state may cease although the fever still prevails, - but delusion is the constant attendant on insanity, whereas delirium is only an occasional and accidental symptom. Dr. Ray has admirably expressed himself on this question. "Recovery from an attack of fever is a phenomenon that any one can see, but not such is recovery from an attack of mania; because, though the insane delusions or conduct by which it was manifested may disappear, it remains to be determined in every case, whether they are not purposely concealed from observation, or proper opportunity has been offered to the patient to bring them forward. Just as the existence of mania requires stronger proof than that of the delirium of fever, so does recovery from the former require stronger proof than recovery from the latter."

squandering his property on worthless persons or profligate asso-

ciates, to the manifold prejudice of his welfare.*

436. Delusions as to the disposal of property cannot always be considered as proofs of insanity sufficient to authorise an interdiction. Speculations, apparently the most absurd, may be much more sagacious than one might imagine. A merchant was considered insane on his sending a consignment of skates to the West Indies; yet as he intended to reship them for North America, where they realised a considerable profit, he showed more judgment than those who condemned his venture.

437. It would be desirable that our laws, in regard to interdiction, made a provision similar to one in the French code, by which it is stated, that " in rejecting a demand for interdiction, the court might, if circumstances required it, debar the defendant from appearing in suits, making contracts, borrowing, receiving payment for debt or giving a discharge, alienating or pledging his property, without the aid of a council which should be appointed in the same

judgment. Code Civil, Art. 499.

438. In confining the insane, we must bear three objects in view:

i. The patient's safety and restoration to health;

ii. Their comfort and well-being, whether curable or not;

iii. The security of society.

439. The violence of manner of an individual, although it may be stated as destroying the peace and comfort of his family, should be considered as a very doubtful proof of insanity. In such cases, it is no easy matter to detect the irritation to which he is exposed, by those whose interest it may be to confine him; and in our decisions we should be less influenced by the evidence of relatives, than by our own careful examination, in depriving a fellow-creature of freedom and happiness.

* Much difficulty has arisen in these cases, from legal definitions, which consider an individual who can "talk and discourse rationally and sensibly, and who is fully capable of any rational act requiring thought, judgment, and reflection, as being gifted with "perfect capacity." Many such persons may be found who are utterly unfit to manage their own affairs. This incapacity, however, must not be grounded upon false and speculative notions, but upon the manifestations of evident delusions, and extravagant if not incoherent views. For instance, a man may evince much judgment and reflection in general conversation, but would talk of building a church or a palace - another individual may entertain a most correct idea of the nature of his property, and yet express an intention of bestowing it upon some unworthy favourite, or perhaps an utter stranger. Ray has justly observed, "that the general strength of mind is but an uncertain index of its ability, when exercised on particular subjects." According to the French code, nothing less than habitual insanity can warrant interdiction. We, however, frequently see persons insane on many points, and who are capable not only of conducting their affairs with prudence, but who display considerable ability in their management of property; and there are instances on record where the very persons who were seeking to confine a relative, have consulted him on the proper arrangement of his affairs.

BOOK V.

ON PUBLIC AND PRIVATE LUNATIC ASYLUMS.

440. All Lunatics Asylums, whether public or private, should be placed under the immediate care of government.

441. They should be under the control of inspectors, metropoli-

tan and provincial.

442. A metropolitan board should be formed of inspectors, a proportion of whom should be medical men, to be placed in communication with the provincial ones.

443. Inspectors should be named for every circuit, not less than

four in number, and two of them to be medical men.

444. The metropolitan and provincial inspectors should have the power of visiting all public and private establishments as frequently as they may think proper, and carefully examining the

patients, and ascertaining the mode of treatment adopted.

445. Regular reports, at stated periods, should be transmitted to the Secretary of State for the Home Department, to be laid before parliament in duplicate forms. And the commissioners should be held responsible for the proper management of all such establishments, and of the necessity of the seclusion of their inmates.

446. No patient should be sent to a public or private institution until the case had been submitted to the inspectors, with proper medical certificates, and the confinement of the lunatic sanctioned

by them as indispensable.

447. The inspectors should also have the power of discharging those persons whose further confinement they might consider im-

proper.

448. In every public and private lunatic establishment, a register and case-book should be kept, in which should be noted the name and age of each patient, with a statement of the nature of the disease; a duplicate of these registers to be in the hands of the inspectors; and all admissions, deaths, and discharges, should be reported to them every month.

449. Every public asylum should have an infirmary, to which all the sick should be removed, and the journal of the cases, to be regularly kept by the medical officer, who should also register the

post mortem appearances.

450. A coroner's inquest should be held on all lunatics who die

out of the infirmary.

451. All appointments of officers to public asylums should be made by the government, on the recommendation of the inspectors, and their removal or dismissal should only take place on a similar recommendation.

452. No one but medical men should be allowed to keep a

private asylum, in which they will be expected to reside.* For if there does exist a malady which requires incessant care and observation more than another, it is most unquestionably insanity; when both the moral and the therapeutic treatment must be dictated by

studying the nature of the case.

453. An annual report should be made by the inspectors of lunacy, presenting to parliament a statistic view of insanity. This report to be drawn out by the metropolitan board, who will embody the several reports transmitted to them by the county commissioners. All public asylums should be placed under the superintendence of a resident physician, who will direct the moral and medical treatment, and be responsible for the medical management of the institution to the inspectors.†

* The reason why cures are more frequent in public than in private institutions is obvious. In the one it is the interest of the physician to discharge as many patients as he can, whereas in the other speculative establishment, it is the interest of the keeper to keep as many inmates as he possibly can. A medical man has a professional character to maintain, a madhouse keeper has only to maintain himself or herself. The end of all lunatic receptacles should be the recovery, and not the confinement, of the insane, and, according to the present system, the latter object must too frequently be considered the only one in view. We have lately seen a madhouse keeper affirm, that the exhibition of medicine in madness is useless, and that the care of the insane should not be committed to medical men. Nay, a prelate has been known to suggest the propriety of lunatic asylums being under the superintendence of the clergy! "There is nothing like leather," and we find a pharmacopolist maintaining that apothecaries are more fit to attend lunatics than physicians!! As the law now stands, any person can keep one lunatic in confinement, without being licensed. This is a glaring evil. There are many families in exiguous circumstances who derive their chief means of support from this permission, and whose dwellings are frequently unfit for the purpose. When the family go out, the unfortunate captive is left to the care of some ruffian keeper, who locks him up, (most probably in a strait waistcoat,) when he thinks proper to repair to the neighbouring pot-house. This practice is pregnant with misery, and leads to the most atrocious specula-

† In the choice of a medical superintendent, great discrimination and judgment is required. It should not be indispensable that he possess a degree of Doctor of Medicine of any particular university, as a well qualified surgeon may be more fit for the situation. Dr. Brown has admirably stated what these qualifications should be. "They must comprehend a familiarity with the true and practical philosophy of the human mind, in order that the disease my be understood and controlled; as general acquaintance as is practicable with the usages and workings of society, with the habits, the pursuits, and the opinions and prejudices of different classes, wiith literature and science, so far as they contribute to the instruction, happiness, or amusement of these classes - with everything, in short, which is or can be rendered influential, in what may be called adult education, in the management or modification of character, in order that as great a number of moral means of cure, of restraining, persuading, engaging, teaching the darkened and disordered mind, may be created as possible; and finally, as liberal a professional education as long preliminary study, and equally long practical observation, can accomplish, in order that the causes of alienation, the physiological condition by which its duration and intensity may be increased or diminished. To acquire and apply this amount of knowledge or discrimination, it is not only necessary that he who devotes himself to the care of the insane should see his patients, as has been recommended, once or twice a week; he must live among them; he must be their domestic associate; he ought to join in their pursuits 454. The superintendent should have the recommendation of all his subordinate officers, and the power of dismissing them for misconduct, on reporting his causes of complaint to the inspectors.

455. The matron, keepers, and nurses, should also be appointed

by the medical superintendent.

456. The superintendent should have no financial duties or responsibilities; the economy of the institution should be confined to a steward, under whose direction will be placed the necessary subordinates. The nomination of the steward should rest with the justices of the peace of the county, as it will be their duty to watch over a proper expenditure of the established rates. But while the magistrates are careful of the public revenue, they will not possess any authority to interfere in the treatment of the patients, who are placed under the responsibility of the inspectors.

457. The magistrates will, however, be fully authorised to submit to the board of inspectors any suggestion that they may deem

advisable for the welfare of the institution.*

458. The steward will be responsible to the magistracy for the financial department, and render them his accounts in a series of books, which will enable them to check the expenditure with

facility.

459. The steward will receive from the medical superintendent all orders regarding diet, clothing, heating, &c.; in short, in every duty connected with the management of the patients: the superintendent will also point out to him the repairs which from time to time may be wanted, after the necessity for such repairs has been confirmed by the inspectors, and subsequently submitted to the magistrates, to supply the means required from the county rates.

460. The matron of a lunatic asylum should be under the imme-

and pastimes; he ought to engage them in converse during the day, and listen to their soliloquies in the retirement of their cells; he must watch, analyse, grapple with insansity among the insane, and seek for his weapons of aggression in the constitution and disposition of each individual, and not in general rules or

universal specifics."

* With the very best motives, it is not probable that a committee of visiting justices can manage a lunatic asylum. The members of these committees go out by rotation, and it cannot be expected that country gentlemen, however well they may be learned in Burn's Justice, can possess the requisite knowledge to direct the management of a number of lunatics. Even laying aside the Moloch of patronage, they will entertain individual views on the subject, most likely erroneous, since they will be purely theoretical, and will counteract the exertions, not only of their predecessors, but of their colleagues; if there is a possibility of a system of jobbing and favouritism in patronage being adopted, such an evil should be guarded against by every possible legislative provision; and common sense will justify the conclusion, that proper commissioners, qualified in every respect for the duty, will be more likely to guide such a complex establishment with regularity and judgment, than persons who have not the slightest knowledge of the matter. Discord and party spirit will more probably reign amongst the magistrates of a county than amongst inspectors, whose duties should be clearly pointed out by the legislature, and who are responsible to government, whereas the magistrates too frequently consider themselves as only being responsible to their own bench.

diate orders of the medical superintendent, and be merely considered as at the head of the nurses and the female branch of the establishment. It is her duty to see that the nurses perform theirs; to superintend the work-women, and the labouring female patients - the proper distribution of their meals and tasks, their personal cleanliness and comfort.*

461. The rules and regulations for the management of all lunatic

asylums should be drawn out by the inspectors.

462. Whenever a public lunatic asylum is to be constructed, the plans should be submitted to a committee jointly formed of justices and inspectors, who will decide upon the most eligible proposal, both as regards site and building; the approved plan of the premises to be submitted to the metropolitan board of commissioners for any suggestions they might think desirable. It is impossible to be too circumspect in such expenditures, as erroneous and vicious constructions are generally discovered when the building is completed, and the public moneys have been lavishly expended.

463. The metropolitan inspectors should also visit all the public and private institutions in the kingdom, and make out a quarterly

report of their inspection.†

464. The duties of these inspectors would be:

i. To ascertain that every individual confined is a fit subject for seclusion.

ii. That their moral and medical treatment is properly con-

iii. That the diet and clothing are properly regulated, and that

they are provided both with summer and winter raiment.

iv. That the officers and subordinates of the establishment perform their duties with diligence and humanity.‡

* Nothing can be more preposterous than the attempt to place a lady in this capacity. A matron should not conceive herself above any work or duty connected with the well-being of the patients, and it is scarcely possible to expect that any female gentry born or bred could accept a situation in which her ears are constantly assailed by obscene language, or her eyes disgusted by the unblushing acts of many of these unfortunates, who have lost sight of all conventional decency. A good matron might be more easily found amongst experienced

nurses, than in pauper would-be ladies.

† The importance of such inspections for the protection of lunatics is so urgent, that I feel confident the public would never object to the expenses which would be incurred by such appointments. We have inspectors of prisons, whose active inquiries have already been attended with the most beneficial results; why should not unfortunate creatures, who cannot complain, and whose complaints are rarely attended to, be entitled to a similar protection? Let those who might murmur at the expense, recollect that Providence may afflict them with a similar visitation, and reflect on all the crimes that have been perpetrated in madhouses! and which (although checked by legislative interference) still exhibit scenes of abuse of power and capricious tyranny, but too frequently abetting sinister projects, of which a poor demented, unprotected object is the victim!! The good that would result from such a system of inspection, and its consequent responsibility, is incalculable.

‡ Dr. Conolly, in his very interesting work on insanity, is of opinion that not only every lunatic asylum should be the property of the government, but that all

v. That the registers and case books are regularly kept.

vi. By attending carefully to the complaints of the patients, however frivolous they may appear, to ascertain whether their

complaints may not be founded upon real grievances.

465. Due notice of the visits of the inspectors should be given to the public, that the relatives and friends of lunatics who are confined may have an opportunity of seeing them, and conferring with them on the state of the patient, and their ability to provide

for them out of an asylum.

466. The present law, which allows the relations of a pauper lunatic to take him out of an asylum, on his satisfying the parish officers that they are able to keep him with comfort and safety, occasions much mischief. The family of a lunatic who is constantly soliciting for his discharge, and complaining of his miserable condition, will naturally wish to bring him home; while, on the other hand, the parish officers will naturally wish to diminish the burthen the parish has to bear: the consequence is obvious, — the family of the lunatic endeavour to deceive the guardians and overseers, and these officers do not exert themselves to ascertain their actual means of supporting a lunatic, who, not being in safe custody, may injure himself and others.*

467. It is evident that the well-being of lunatics confined in a public asylum must in a great measure depend upon the conduct of keepers and nurses. It is essential, not only that the utmost discrimination may be used in the selection of such servants, but that their salary and comforts be such as to render their situation desirable. Keepers should therefore be distributed into three classes, in which they will progressively rise according to their behaviour, and it would be desirable that after a certain period they might retire upon some provision for their latter days.

468. The keepers would not only be promoted to the superior classes and rates of salary in the establishment to which they belong, but removed to other institutions, where their services might be required, while they might occasionally be placed in private asylums. By the adoption of this system, a school for their

instruction would be established,†

* I dismissed a patient at the request of his friends, people in comfortable business, the parish officers having expressed themselves satisfied as to their means of providing for him. He twice ran away from home, and attempted to drown himself, and at last chopped off his penis with a hatchet; and was brought back in a most wretched state.

† The great difficulty in procuring proper keepers arises from many and obvious circumstances; men, and women more particularly, are prone to abuses of any power vested in their hands, when they cease to be under the immediate eye of their superiors; when they will indulge in vindictive acts of oppression, forgeting that the unfortunate beings by whom they have been insulted, and probably maltreated, are deprived of their reason; it is difficult to persuade persons thus exposed to constant aggravation, even in higher grades of society, that the lunatic is not a cunning mischievous creature, who ought to be punished to teach him "better manners."

469. In many asylums the keepers take their meals with the patients; — this should not be; they should sit down to their meals with every possible comfort; one-half of them remaining in the wards, while the others are absent, to relieve them when the meal is over.

BOOK VI.

ON THE CONSTRUCTION AND DISTRIBUTION OF PUBLIC ASYLUMS.

470. The plans on which the present asylums are built are, in general, on a most erroneous principle, and more calculated to impede than to accelerate the cure of lunatics. Both in their external appearance and internal distribution and arrangement, they mostly resemble jails or barracks, and it would appear that the architects who built them, and the parties that adopted their plans, were totally ignorant of the nature of lunacy and its management.

471. With long galleries corresponding with each other, it is impossible that a proper classification can be attempted. Each class of lunatics should be separated in detached buildings, and, for the convenience of the service, they should only communicate by passages in the basements, through which the heating pipes could be also carried. Hot water should be invariably preferred to hot air, both as being more economical and more salubrious, and at the same time the heating apparatus is less less liable to get out of repair.

472. To each of these buildings should be attached a garden, laid out in as picturesque a manner as possible, and their walls of separation masked with trees and shrubs, with seats in the shade.

473. To each ward should be attached a day-room giving on the

garden.

474. The window frames of all asylums should be constructed of iron work in the cottage form; prison rails and bars should be invariably condemned. For the safety of the glazing, a wire guard should protect every window at a sufficient distance to prevent the patients from breaking it, in such wards where any lunatics likely to commit mischief are placed.

475. Each ward should have a self-acting privy, and a com-

fortable keeper's room, and each building a bath.

476. The cells in the incurable and refractory wards should be of sufficient capacity, well ventilated, and at the same time kept at the same temperature as the gallery running between them.* The

^{*} In most asylums the cells are miserably cold when compared with the galleries and day-room, a grievous inconvenience. I feel much pleasure in quoting Dr. Brown's remark on this important subject. "If it be desirable that

doors of the cells should be made to open outside, as otherwise the patients may barricade themselves in with their bedsteads. A small opening, closing with a slide, should be practised in every cell door, that the patient's conduct may be watched and observed.

477. The bedstead should be made of cast-iron, with a slope for the free course of water when they are washed, and one or two openings in the bottom for the dripping of urine. The bedsteads of the refractory should be of a massive description, to prevent them being easily moved about by the patients, and on each side of the bed should be slides for passing straps and buckles to keep down the bedding and enforce quiet. To the bedsteads of epileptic patients should be fixed a strap and buckle, to secure one of their hands during the night — a precaution highly necessary, as these unfortunates will not unfrequently turn upon their faces, and be smothered.*

478. The floor of the wards destined for the refractory and dirty may be flagged, but the other wards should be boarded. The flags should be cemented with mastic, to prevent the absorption of water when they are washed. The planked floor should be rarely washed, but kept clean by a heavy scrubbing-brush and clamp.

479. Although whitewashing the walls of the cells may be found inconvenient from the dust it creates, yet it will be found the only effectual means of keeping them sweet in the wards containing dirty patients, and which will often require the use of the chlorate of lime.†

480. Every asylum should have wards for the reception of recent cases, where they will be kept until the nature of their

mental disease is sufficiently ascertained to classify them.

481. Every lunatic asylum should have extensive grounds for gardens, arable land and pasture, on which such patients who are not acquainted with any trade may follow agricultural and horticultural occupations. Sufficient vegetables should be cultivated for the consumption of the establishment, more especially potatoes, and mangel wurzel for the cattle.

482. The kitchen should be constructed in the rear of the centre of the institution, from whence the patients' food should be carried

the lunatic should enjoy a quiet and refreshing sleep, it is indispensable that his breathing be not disturbed by foul confined air, or by the effluvia which is concentrated, as it were, in small ill-ventilated cells; and putting out of view the classification which ought to obtain in the daily pursuits and pleasures of the inmates, there exists urgent reasons for building a retreat for the insane in such a manner as to allow an extensive system of night classification to be put in operation." The insane should always sleep single. It is scarcely credible that at Hanwell a considerable number of female lunatics sleep in double beds!!!

* Epileptic patients are themselves so well aware of the necessity of this precautionary measure, that they will often request the keeper to confine one of their hands at bed-time. Epileptics, as I have already observed, should always be lodged on the ground floor, and should also wear a padded cap or turban, which

will protect the head in their sudden falls.

† To such patients the French have given the very appropriate name of "gateux," or "spoilers,"

to each division, to be cut up and distributed in a room appropri-

ated to this important service.

483. The bakehouse, brewhouse, gashouse, and storehouses, should be in the rear of the establishment. The washhouse, laundry, and airing-houses, in the rear of the male and female wings.

484. The male and female infirmaries should be near the house of the medical superintendent and house-surgeon, but totally de-

tached from the other buildings.

485. Every asylum should have, in addition to a well-ventilated dead-house, a dissecting-room, with a space for a small museum for anatomical preparations, casts, &c., &c.

486. An icehouse is indispensable in every asylum, as affording one of the most valuable means of relieving brainular excitement.

487. The dairy should be near the cowhouse.

488. Workshops should be established for the several trades, in which not only operatives belonging to them are to be engaged, but various trades taught to many patients who were not brought up to any mechanical profession.* These workshops should be safely enclosed, that other patients may not enter them to possess themselves of tools or implements which might be dangerous in their hands.

489. The grounds of an asylum should be surrounded with walls sufficiently high to prevent escape. The possibility of affecting an escape is a constant source of excitement to the patients

who are contemplating the means of getting out.†

490. Every asylum should have a male and female receptionroom, in which the dress of the establishment shall be put on, after the patient has been properly washed, and, if necessary, the hair cut. ±

491. Asylums should have a servants' hall, in which the keepers

and nurses should take their meals.

492. All the duties of an asylum should be announced by dif-

* It is the occupation of the patients, more than any pecuniary advantage that may be reaped from their labour, which should be the subject of consideration. The labour of lunatics should be looked upon as a remedial agent, and not as a speculative employment of their time, although I feel fully convinced that if their occupations are properly directed, a considerable saving in the expenditure of an asylum will accrue, when the greater part of the in-door and out-door work of the institution would be performed by its inmates.

† In the County of Middlesex Lunatic Asylum at Hanwell, any old woman could climb over the enclosing paling. In consequence of this shameful act of neglect, escapes are frequent, and are not only attended with considerable expense in bringing back the runaways, but draw the keepers from their other duties, while the facility of getting away keeps up a constant excitement amongst those

patients who plan an escape.

† The hair of young female patients should not be cut off, unless their abrasion be absolutely necessary; it is to many of them a source of pride, which should be respected. Matrons and old nurses always seem most anxious to deprive these poor creatures of any attractions that they themselves may not possess. The hair of a patient should never be cut off except by the order of the super intendent physician.

ferent calls of the bell, a system which will be productive of much

regularity and discipline.

493. During the night the clock should not strike. The striking of the hours aggravates the sufferings of the melancholy, who

count them with miserable solicitude until break of day.

494. Every asylum should be provided with a small library, from which the medical officers can distribute such books as they may deem fit for the particular patients to whom they are given for perusal. An indiscriminate circulation of religious tracts and newspapers is frequently attended with much mischief, and tends to keep up a constant excitement.

495. The staircases leading to the wards should be so constructed as not to need cages for the protection and safety of the patients.

Spiral or winding stairs should in no instance be built.

496. The male and female visiting rooms should be spacious and airy, and constructed on a plan that would allow the medical superintendent to hear the conversation that passes between the patients and their visiters, should he conceive it necessary. Much valuable information regarding the causes of insanity may be obtained by this measure, which of course should only be resorted to on particular occasions.*

497. The visiters of patients should receive tickets of admission from the medical superintendent, as in many instances the relations and friends of the insane should not be allowed to see them.

498. A bazaar may be established in every asylum for the sale of various articles worked by the female inmates; but it is not advisable that every patient able to work should be constantly exposed to the annoyance of troublesome and inquisitive visiters, who may aggravate their mental derangement by idle questions.

499. In the day-room of the convalescents, various means of amusing them should be collected, and a regular dinner served, at which it would be desirable that the medical superintendent frequently presided, and in the evening music and dancing might be

often introduced.

500. In the selection of a site for lunatic asylums, care must be taken that it is at a convenient distance from cities and towns, and in as picturesque a situation as can be procured. The mind of the insane should rest, if possible, upon the calm beauties of the creation, and not be recalled to its deformities by the constant din of the busy haunts of man.†

* It is with a similar view that the letters of the patients are submitted to the inspection of the medical attendant before they are forwarded. The greater part of these letters are of such an incoherent nature, that it would be more than absurd to expose the relatives of these unfortunates to the charge of postage.

† The excitement produced amongst the inmates of the Hanwell County Asylum when the Great Western Railroad was first opened, and they beheld the constant trains passing by, and heard the monitory whistle, which resembles the howling of a wild beast, is incredible. The effect produced by a knowledge of passing events will also frequently occasion much irritation. On the coronation of her present Majesty, I allowed an issue of roast beef and plum pudding, and

501. When criminal lunatics are confined in lunatic asylums by order of the state, they should be placed in a separate building, where their security can be enforced, without presenting a painful scene to the other inmates of the institution.*

502. It cannot be too forcibly impressed on the mind of those persons who are charged with the establishment of public lunatic asylums, that the greatest economy will be ultimately attained in

the prompt recovery of the insane.

503. By the adoption of the preceding suggestions, a uniform system of management would be established in every public and private lunatic asylum in the kingdom, and the manifold evils which now exist, be brought to light and corrected. The strictest penal enactments should oblige the medical superintendents and keepers of these establishments to assist the inspectors in the execution of their arduous duties; and any false return of the patients, or attempt to conceal them on the inspectorial visits, be considered a criminal offence; while any endeavour to withhold from their knowledge the means of restraint made use of, should be also severely punished.

the excitement was such, that I was unable to leave the establishment for three days. Several of my poor patients fancied themselves in love with the Queen. Nothing can be more absurd than building lunatic establishments in the centre or the busy suburbs of a town. Such a situation, moreover, will increase the number of visiters.

* It is obvious that a murderer kept in irons must be an unwelcome companion in the exercise grounds of other patients. Yet such a scene I have often

witnessed.

airent of the Lamberton Co. to distall with the factor of the property of the property of the state of the stat